



# DEVELOPMENT AREA 19 (MURIEL COURT)

# LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY



# DEVELOPMENT AREA 19 (MURIEL COURT) LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

Prepared for:

## CITY OF COCKBURN

Prepared by:

ENV Australia Pty Ltd Level 1, 503 Murray Street PERTH WA 6000 Phone: (08) 9214 6100 Fax: (08) 9446 4109 Email: env@env.net.au

Job No:	09.181
Report No:	11/123
Prepared by:	John Hunt
Status:	Approved
QA Review:	Paul Zahra
Technical Review:	Karen Lane
Content Review:	Karen Lane
Date:	20 September 2011



## TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXEC	UTIVE SUMMARY III
1	INTRODUCTION1
1.1	TOTAL WATER CYCLE MANAGEMENT – PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES
1.2	PLANNING BACKGROUND
1.2.1	Metropolitan Region Scheme2
1.2.2	Town Planning Scheme
2	PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
2.1	KEY ELEMENTS OF THE STRUCTURE PLAN
2.2	DISTRICT WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
2.3	ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTS
3	PRE-DEVELOPMENT ENVIRONMENT5
3.1	TOPOGRAPHY5
3.2	GEOLOGY AND SOILS
3.2.1	Acid Sulphate Soils
3.2.2	Contaminated Sites5
3.3	SURFACE WATER
3.4	GROUNDWATER
3.4.1	Groundwater Levels and Flow Direction6
3.4.2	Groundwater Quality7
3.5	VEGETATION
3.6	WETLANDS
3.7	SUMMARY OF SITE CONSTRAINTS
3.8	WORK REQUIRED AT THE SUBDIVISION STAGE9
4	DESIGN CRITERIA
4.1	WATER CONSERVATION



4.2	WATER QUANTITY MANAGEMENT	10	
4.3	WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT	10	
4.4	STORMWATER QUALITY MODELLING CRITERIA		
4.5	DISEASE VECTOR AND NUISANCE INSECT MANAGEMENT	12	
5	WATER CONSERVATION	. 13	
5.1	PROPOSED STRATEGIES	13	
5.2	WATER BALANCE MODELLING	13	
5.2.1	Pre-development Water Balance	13	
5.2.2	Post-development Water Balance	13	
5.3	DOMESTIC WATER CONSUMPTION	14	
5.3.1	Estimated Water Consumption	14	
5.3.2	Water Efficiency Measures	14	
5.4	PUBLIC OPEN SPACE	15	
5.5	COMMERCIAL WATER CONSUMPTION	15	
5.6	POTABLE WATER SUPPLY	16	
5.7	WASTEWATER	16	
5.8	MATTERS TO BE ADDRESSED AT THE SUBDIVISION STAGE	16	
6	STORMWATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY	17	
6.1	DESIGN PRINCIPLES AND GENERAL POINTS	17	
6.2	PROPOSED DRAINAGE DESIGN	18	
6.2.1	Bioretention Areas1		
6.2.2	2 Conveyance from the Site		
6.2.3	Flood Protection	23	
6.2.4	Stormwater Treatment within the Road Reserve	23	
6.2.5	Lot Drainage	23	
6.3	STORMWATER QUALITY	24	
6.3.1	Non-structural BMPs	25	



6.4	IMPACT ON WATER DEPENDANT ECOSYSTEMS	25
6.5	DISEASE VECTOR AND NUISANCE INSECT MANAGEMENT	25
6.6	MATTERS TO BE ADDRESSED AT THE SUBDIVISION STAGE	26
7	GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY	27
7.1	GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT	27
7.2	GROUNDWATER LEVELS AND FILL	27
7.3	IMPACT ON WATER DEPENDANT ECOSYSTEMS	28
7.4	GROUNDWATER QUALITY	28
7.5	ACID SULPHATE SOILS MANAGEMENT	28
7.6	WORK REQUIRED AT THE UWMP STAGE	28
8	SUBDIVISION AND URBAN WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS	29
8.1	ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES	29
8.2	WATER CONSERVATION	29
8.3	STORMWATER MANAGEMENT	29
8.4	GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT	30
9	IMPLEMENTATION	
9.1	ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES	
9.2	POST- DEVELOPMENT MONITORING	
9.3	REPORTING	32
9.4	CONTINGENCY PLAN	33
10	REFERENCES	



#### FIGURES

FIGURE 1	SITE PLAN
FIGURE 2	STRUCTURE PLAN
FIGURE 3	SITE CONDITIONS
FIGURE 4	GEOTECHNICAL
FIGURE 5	ENVIRONMENTAL
FIGURE 6	EXISTING SURFACE DRAINAGE
FIGURE 7	GROUNDWATER PLAN
FIGURE 8	DRAINAGE – 100 YEAR FLOOD EVENT PLAN
FIGURE 9	DRAINAGE – 10 YEAR FLOOD EVENT PLAN
FIGURE 10	DRAINAGE – 5 YEAR FLOOD EVENT PLAN
FIGURE11	DRAINAGE – 1 YEAR FLOOD EVENT PLAN
FIGURE 12	LANDSCAPE – PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE PLAN
FIGURE 13	ENGINEERING – OVERALL PLAN
FIGURE 14	ENGINEERING – EARTHWORKS PLAN
FIGURE 15	ENGINEERING – EXISTING SURFACE AND GROUNDWATER LEVELS
FIGURE 16	ENGINEERING – PROPOSED SURFACE LEVELS
FIGURE 17	ENGINEERING – DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 1 DESIGN LEVELS
FIGURE 18	ENGINEERING – DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 1 SECTIONS PLAN
FIGURE 19	ENGINEERING – DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 2 DESIGN LEVELS
FIGURE 20	ENGINEERING - DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 2 SECTIONS PLAN 1
FIGURE 21	ENGINEERING – DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 2 SECTIONS PLAN 2
FIGURE 22	ENGINEERING – DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 3 DESIGN LEVELS
FIGURE 23	ENGINEERING - DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 3 SECTIONS PLAN



TABLES	(IN TEXT)
TABLE 1	AVERAGE GROUNDWATER QUALITY RESULTS FOR PH, ELECTRICAL CONDUCTIVITY AND NUTRIENTS (AVERAGE OF AUGUST 2009 AND NOVEMBER 2009 RESULTS).
TABLE 2	GROUNDWATER QUALITY RESULTS FOR HEAVY METALS (AUGUST 2009).
TABLE 3	ESTIMATED ANNUAL POTABLE WATER CONSUMPTION WITH RAINWATER TANKS
TABLE 4	BIORETENTION AREA DATA
TABLE 5	ACTUAL AND ALLOWABLE MAXIMUM OUTFLOW RATES (M3/S)
TABLE 6	DIRECTLY CONNECTED IMPERVIOUS AREA.
TABLE 7	TYPICAL ANNUAL POLLUTANT LOAD REMOVAL EFFICIENCIES (SOURCE: STORMWATER MANAGEMENT MANUAL (DOW, 2004-2007)
TABLE 8	DESIGN PARAMETERS FOR LOT LEVELS
TABLE 9	IMPLEMENTATION PLAN
TABLE 10	PARAMETERS, TESTS AND ACTIONS ASSOCIATED WITH MONITORING

#### APPENDICES

APPENDIX A	GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION REPORT
APPENDIX B	LIMITED PRELIMINARY SITE INSPECTION
APPENDIX C	DEPARTMENT OF WATER CORRESPONDENCE
APPENDIX D	PRELIMINARY VEGETATION REPORT
APPENDIX E	POST DEVELOPMENT WATER BALANCE
APPENDIX F	SERVICING REPORT
APPENDIX G	CALCULATION OF AAMGL



## STATEMENT OF LIMITATIONS

#### Scope of Services

This Local Water Management Strategy ("the report") has been prepared in accordance with the scope of services set out in the contract, or as otherwise agreed, between the Client and ENV.Australia Pty Ltd (ENV) ("scope of services"). In some circumstances the scope of services may have been limited by a range of factors such as time, budget, access and/or site disturbance constraints.

#### Reliance on Data

In preparing the report, ENV has relied upon data, surveys, analyses, designs, plans and other information provided by the Client and other individuals and organisations, most of which are referred to in the report ("the data"). Except as otherwise stated in the report, ENV has not verified the accuracy or completeness of the data. To the extent that the statements, opinions, facts, information, conclusions and/or recommendations in the report ("conclusions") are based in whole or part on the data, those conclusions are contingent upon the accuracy and completeness of the data. ENV will not be liable in relation to incorrect conclusions should any data, information or condition be incorrect or have been concealed, withheld, misrepresented or otherwise not fully disclosed to ENV.

#### **Environmental Conclusions**

In accordance with the scope of services, ENV has relied upon the data and has conducted environmental field monitoring and/or testing in the preparation of the report. The nature and extent of monitoring and/or testing conducted is described in the report.

On all sites, varying degrees of non-uniformity of the vertical and horizontal soil or groundwater conditions are encountered. Hence no monitoring, common testing or sampling technique can eliminate the possibility that monitoring or testing results/samples are not totally representative of soil and/or groundwater conditions encountered. The conclusions are based upon the data and the environmental field monitoring and/or testing and are therefore merely indicative of the environmental condition of the site at the time of preparing the report, including the presence or otherwise of contaminants or emissions. Also it should be recognised that site conditions, including the extent and concentration of contaminants, can change with time.

Within the limitations imposed by the scope of services, the monitoring, testing, sampling and preparation of this report have been undertaken and performed in a professional manner, in accordance with generally accepted practices and using a degree of skill and care ordinarily exercised by reputable environmental consultants under similar circumstances. No other warranty, expressed or implied, is made.



#### **Report for Benefit of Client**

The report has been prepared for the benefit of the Client and no other party. ENV assumes no responsibility and will not be liable to any other person or organisation for or in relation to any matter dealt with or conclusions expressed in the report, or for any loss or damage suffered by any other person or organisation arising from matters dealt with or conclusions expressed in the report (including without limitation matters arising from any negligent act or omission of ENV or for any loss or damage suffered by any other party relying upon the matters dealt with or conclusions expressed in the report). Other parties should not rely upon the report or the accuracy or completeness of any conclusions and should make their own enquiries and obtain independent advice in relation to such matters.

#### Other Limitations

ENV will not be liable to update or revise the report to take into account any events or emergent circumstances or facts occurring or becoming apparent after the date of the report.

The scope of services did not include any assessment of the title to or ownership of the properties, buildings and structures referred to in the report nor the application or interpretation of laws in the jurisdiction in which those properties, buildings and structures are located.



## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This Local Water Management Strategy (LWMS) has been prepared to support the development of Development Area 19, also known as Muriel Court located in Cockburn Central.

The site has a total land area of approximately 79 ha and is located in the northwest corner of the intersection of North Lake Road and the Kwinana Freeway in Cockburn. The land is approximately 16 km South of Perth CBD.

The amended Structure Plan has been adopted by the City of Cockburn in July 2010 and Endorsed by the Western Australian Planning Commission in September 2010. Under *Better Urban Water Management (BUWM)* (WAPC 2008a), a LWMS is required to support the Structure Plan prior to subdivision and development of land zoned "Urban". As the Structure Plan has already been approved by the Western Australian Planning Commission, the LWMS is required to be approved by the Department of Water.

The objective of the LWMS is to ensure that sustainable management of the total water cycle at the Muriel Court development occurs through Water Sensitive Urban Design. This includes water conservation, wastewater management and recycling, stormwater management and groundwater management. These issues will be managed through incorporation of the design elements outlined below and detailed in Table A.

- Providing a drainage design that utilises detention bioretention areas and road reserves for stormwater quality and quantity management;
- Determining average annual maximum groundwater levels for the site;
- Providing fill for building pads to allow adequate clearance to groundwater for the onsite infiltration of lot stormwater runoff for up to the 100 year 24 hour ARI events;
- Ensuring that stormwater from the 1 year events is retained and infiltrated on site;
- Managing post development flows from the site in accordance with the District Water Management Strategy
- Ensuring that bioretention areas with a minimum area of 2% of the directly connected effective impervious area will be provided to maintain water quality;
- Sizing stormwater bioretention areas to manage stormwater runoff from the site.
- Ensuring sufficient public open space is available to meet Liveable Neighbourhood guidelines;
- Ensuring that contaminated sites, acid sulphate soils and disease, vector and nuisance insect management are considered in the design of the development; and



• Estimation of scheme and groundwater water consumption including water conservation strategies.

BUWM Design Objective	Design Element
Water Conservation and Efficiency	Information on the use of rainwater tanks, grey water systems or other alternate water sources will be made available.
	Waterwise landscaping packages will be available for residential lots, including Waterwise plants, soil amendments to improve water and nutrient retention, minimal turf areas and water efficient irrigation.
	Rainwater tanks will be promoted for use for toilet flushing and washing machines.
Water Quantity Management	The drainage concept design includes infiltration bioretention areas, swale a proposed swale at Muriel Court and side entry pits and manholes with open bases and to increase infiltration locally.
	All stormwater from all lots is to be infiltrated on the lot for all events up to 100 year 24 hr ARI storm event. The 1 in 1 year ARI storm will be fully infiltrated on-site.
	On-site soakwells will be used for individual lots.
Water Quality Management	Installation of BMP structural controls to strip pollutants including Gross Pollutant Traps (GPTs), vegetated infiltration bioretention areas, vegetated swales and possibly rain gardens.
	The developer intends to incorporate 2% of the constructed impervious area as bio-retention areas.
	Soil amendments will be used in swales and bioretention areas and irrigated POS where required. Encouragement of soil amendments in residential lawns and gardens via Waterwise landscaping packages.
	The use of fertilisers in Public Open Space (POS) will be limited.

#### Table A: Design objectives and Design Elements for Muriel Court Development



BUWM Design Objective	Design Element
Stormwater Quality Modelling Criteria	Stormwater quality modelling is not proposed for the site at this stage because currently there is no commercially available tool approved by the DoW to undertake such modelling for this area.
Disease Vector and Nuisance Insect Management	The system will be designed to ensure that detained immobile stormwater is fully infiltrated in a time period not exceeding 96 hours. Permanent water bodies are not proposed on the site.

The key design requirements for the detailed design of the Muriel Court LWMS and the critical control points that will be used to meet these requirements are listed in Table B. A summary of the drainage design details for the Muriel Court development are listed in Table C.

Design Requirement	Critical Control Point
A target of less than	Provision of water from the Water Service Provider
100 kL/p.year potable water use	and groundwater for irrigation, promotion of front
to be achieved. Water balance	yard Waterwise landscaping packages, promotion
modelling indicates that 58 kL/a	of rainwater tank provision education of ex-house
potable water use is possible.	& in-house Waterwise measures (Section 5.3).
Implementing a drainage design	Drainage design which ensures storage and
that ensures no flow off the site	infiltration onsite for the 1 in 1 year event with the
in the 1 in 1 year event from	use of bioretention areas in POS, in combination
the development.	with other BMPs (Section 6).
Base of bioretention areas to be	Significant filling of the site will be required to
set at Average Annual	maintain adequate separation between the
Maximum Groundwater Levels	potential AAMGL and the structures (Section 6.2,
(AAMGLs).	Section 7.2).



Design Requirement	Critical Control Point
At least 1.5 m of clearance from lot levels to Average Annual Maximum Groundwater Levels (AAMGLs) is available.	Fill levels have been calculated to ensure sufficient clearance from the site's calculated potential AAMGL of (Section 7.2).
Availability of water source for landscaping.	Water from the superficial aquifer will be used for POS irrigation. The City of Cockburn intends to apply for a licence to abstract up to 33 ML/a from the superficial aquifer. The Department of Water advises that this water is currently available for allocation (Section 5.4).

#### Table C: Summary of Drainage Concept Design

	Catchment				
	Northern	Western	South Eastern		
Base Invert Level for Bioretention Area(mAHD)	22.5	22.5	24		
Site Average Annual Maximum Groundwater Level (mAHD)	22.5	22.5	24		
Equivalent Impervious Area (ha)	10.9	5.0	2.3		
Maximum Storage Volume - 1 in 10 ARI (m <sup>3</sup> )	5481	1702	1284		
Maximum Storage Volume - 1 in 100 ARI (m <sup>3</sup> )	9226	2795	1943		



## 1 INTRODUCTION

This Local Water Management Strategy (LWMS) has been prepared to support the Structure Plan (SP) for Development Area 19 (Muriel Court) in the City of Cockburn. The Structure Plan and the LWMS has been prepared by the City under the City of Cockburn's Town Planning Scheme No.3 to support a mixture of residential and commercial land uses.

Area 19 is located within the City of Cockburn, approximately 16km south of the Perth Central Business District and 10km south east of Fremantle. The site is bound by Kwinana Freeway, Kentucky Court, North Lake Road, Semple Court and Verna Court, as shown in Figure 1, and covers an area of approximately 78ha.

The site is comprised of 86 semi-rural/residential lots generally ranging in size of 5,000m<sup>2</sup> to 2ha and commercial lots. The established residential suburb of South Lake is immediately west of the site and continues around to the north of the site, north of Berrigan Drive. Land ownership within the site is fragmented.

The current land use is described as semi-rural/residential, with dwellings surrounded by cleared paddocks and pockets of existing vegetation and dampland areas scattered throughout. The site generally has a very gentle grade down towards the west, with some slightly higher and lower lying areas. The total catchment currently discharges stormwater informally into Yangebup Lake located to the west of the site.

#### 1.1 TOTAL WATER CYCLE MANAGEMENT – PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES

The objective of this LWMS is to establish a development that manages the total water cycle in a sustainable manner. The objectives of total water cycle management, as described by the Draft Water Resources State Planning Policy (WAPC, 2004) are to:

- Take into account total water cycle management and water-sensitive urban design principles and ensure that the development is consistent with current best management practices and best planning practices for the sustainable use of water resources, particularly stormwater.
- Seek to achieve no net difference in water quality and quantity, such that postdevelopment water quality and quantity conditions are equal to or better than predevelopment conditions.
- Promote management of the urban water cycle as a single system in which all urban water flows are recognised as a potential resource and where the interconnectedness of water supply, stormwater, wastewater, flooding, water quality, waterways, estuaries and coastal waters is recognised.
- Maximise the opportunities for compliance with best practice stormwater management, including retention of stormwater on site/at the source.



- Promote use of water conservation mechanisms that increase the efficiency of the use of water, including stormwater.
- Incorporate the re-use and recycling of water, particularly stormwater and grey water, consistent with state water strategy recycling objectives. Alternative water sources should be considered where appropriate.
- Promote the retention and use of local native vegetation in developments to minimise water use and maximise filtration, particularly where landscaping is proposed.

#### **1.2 PLANNING BACKGROUND**

#### 1.2.1 Metropolitan Region Scheme

The site is zoned 'Urban' under the Metropolitan Region Scheme.

#### **1.2.2** Town Planning Scheme

The site is predominantly zoned 'Development' under the City of Cockburn Town Planning Scheme No. 3, with areas adjacent to North Lake Road being zoned 'Mixed Business'.



## 2 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

#### 2.1 KEY ELEMENTS OF THE STRUCTURE PLAN

The amended Structure Plan has been adopted by the City of Cockburn in July 2010 and Endorsed by the Western Australian Planning Commission in September 2010. The Structure Plan for Development Area 19 proposes a range of densities to provide a variety of housing types. This includes densities of R20, R25, R40, R60, R80 and R160. In general, the higher densities have been provided within the walkable catchment of the train station, along proposed bus routes and around areas of Public Open Space (POS). Lower densities have also been incorporated to provide a suitable land use transition and provide a variety of housing types.

The plan also entails a strip of mixed use lots fronting North Lake Road, which forms the site's southern boundary. Three Public Open Space (POS) areas have been incorporated into the Structure Plan and the existing Church and Child Care Centre are to remain, as shown.

To ensure suitable density targets are achieved, the City's Town Planning Scheme (within the DA 19 provisions) requires all subdivision and development to achieve at least 75% of the nominated density. Applying the minimum 75% density requirement will ensure that a minimum gross residential density of 31.8 dwellings per hectare is achieved over the entire structure plan area. Within the 800m walkable catchment a minimum gross residential density of 77.8 dwellings will be achieved. This is well in excess of the gross residential target density of 40 dwellings per hectare for the 800m walkable catchment nominated under the Liveable Neighbourhoods guidelines.

The Structure Plan (modified February 2010) shows proposed zoning and POS locations and is reproduced as Figure 2 in this LWMS.

#### 2.2 DISTRICT WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

The City of Cockburn Development Area 19: District Water Management Strategy (the DWMS) was prepared for the site by Cardno BSD in 2008. The District Water Management Strategy was based on the Cockburn Central and Solomon Road Development Areas Arterial Drainage Scheme Review (the ADSR) undertaken by David Wills and Associates (DWA) (2005), which investigates drainage in the broader Cockburn Central Area and sets design criteria for stormwater flows.

The ADSR sets out a drainage philosophy based on maximising the recharge of the groundwater at the source point and using fill where required to encourage this. (DWA, 2005). The subject site is divided into three catchments for drainage purposes, being a northern catchment, western catchment and south eastern catchment (DWA 2005). The ADSR also sets out Design Regional Control Groundwater Levels (DRCGLs) to be used in determining the base levels for bioretention areas (DWA, 2005).



The DWMS builds on the ADSR to set out criteria for flows from bioretention areas and earthworks levels. These criteria have been used to inform the Design Criteria shown in Section 3 and the parameters and levels used in the drainage design outlined in Sections 6 and 7.

The one main change from the DWMS and ADSR has been the placement of the bottom of the bioretention areas. The DWMS and ADSR recommend that the base of the bioretention areas be set 0.5 m below the DRCL, forming a bioretention area that may be wet for several months over winter (Cardno BSD, 2008, DWA, 2005). Based on discussions with the City of Cockburn, this report proposes that bioretention area base levels be set at AAMGL to reduce the period over which bioretention areas are inundated.

#### 2.3 ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTS

The environmental reports undertaken to support the Structure Plan are:

- Limited Preliminary Site Inspection by Ace Environmental (2008); and
- *Geotechnical Investigation Report* by Brown Geotechnical and Environmental Geotechnical, Ref 06036.01, May 2007)



## **3 PRE-DEVELOPMENT ENVIRONMENT**

### 3.1 TOPOGRAPHY

The site is generally slightly undulating, with heights ranging from 22 m AHD near the corner of Semple Court with North Lake Road, 23m AHD at the corner of Semple Court with Verna Court, 25m AHD in the north east and south east corners of the site to 26 m AHD to the north of the east end of Muriel Court (Figure 13).

### 3.2 GEOLOGY AND SOILS

Geology and soils of the site were assessed by Brown Geotechnical and Environmental (2007), who installed 34 test pits on the site (Appendix A).

The soils of the site are medium-grained grey sands of the Bassendean formation with approximately 0.2 to 0.5 m of dark grey fine to medium grained sandy topsoil (BGE, 2007). Coffee rock was found at a depth of 1.6 to 2 m in two of the test pits. Uncontrolled fill was observed in nine of the 34 test pits. The uncontrolled fill was generally sands, often containing gravel or limestone associated with road base materials.

### 3.2.1 Acid Sulphate Soils

The site is mapped as generally having a moderate to low risk of Acid Sulphate Soils (WAPC, 2004) (Figure 4). The exception to this is the area associated with the wetland in the south-east corner of the site, which is mapped as having a high risk of Acid Sulphate Soils (Figure 4). Preliminary investigations by Brown Geotechnical and Environmental (2007) (Appendix A) indicated limited potential for acid sulphate soils within the site, however it was indicated that more detailed testing would be required in areas adjacent to the high risk area.

#### 3.2.2 Contaminated Sites

A preliminary assessment for contaminated sites was undertaken by Ace Environmental (2008) (Appendix B). The assessment indicated a number of properties within the site as being potential contaminated sites and requiring further investigation due to current or former potentially contaminating activities such as nurseries or poultry farms, or evidence of fuel storage on the site (Figure 5). Additional details on this matter can be found in Appendix B.

#### 3.3 SURFACE WATER

The site is within the South Jandakot Drainage Area, and is in the catchment of Lake Yangebup. Because the previous development in Area 19 has been predominantly of a rural residential nature, the site lacks formal drainage infrastructure, except for the major roads.



The drainage for the Cockburn Central area was assessed by David Wills for the City of Cockburn in the *Cockburn Central and Solomon Road Development Areas Arterial Drainage Scheme Review* (David Wills and Associates, 2005). The ADSR report considered that the drainage systems significant to the Area 19 site were:

- Open drain along North Lake Road (North Lake Road Drain) which discharges into Yangebup Lake;
- Open drain along southern end of Semple Court (Anning Park) feeding the North Lake Road drain;
- 'Lakelands' flood storage reserve serving the South Lake residential development;
- 450mm diameter pipeline on Berrigan Drive feeding into 'Lakelands'; and
- Wetlands to the south of North Lake Road receiving local drainage (Figure 6).

The above drainage features were identified in the ADSR report for possible integration into the future development.

There are no permanent surface water features within the site boundaries.

#### 3.4 GROUNDWATER

Hydrologically, the site is located between the Jandakot Public Drinking Water Source Area (PDWSA) and Lake Yangebup, which is part of the Beeliar chain of wetlands. Groundwater flow in the area is in a generally westerly to north-westerly, towards the Beeliar Wetlands (Perth Groundwater Atlas, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, DoE, 2004). Depth to maximum groundwater levels on the site is generally less than 2 metres (Perth Groundwater Atlas, 1<sup>st</sup> edition, WRC, 1997).

Because of the site's location between two areas of hydrological interest, there are ten long term Department of Water monitoring bores in the superficial aquifer within two kilometres of the site, seven of which have been monitored since the 1970's. There is also a long term surface water monitoring point in the Tea Tree Close Wetland, immediately to the south of the site (Figure 4). As such, it is considered that the hydrology of the broader area is well understood.

Based on this information, permission was given by the Department of Water for the Local Water Management Strategy to be prepared on the basis of six months' groundwater monitoring data (Appendix C). The Department has also agreed that six months' groundwater monitoring data is adequate for the preparation of an Urban Water Management Plan in this area (Appendix C).

#### 3.4.1 Groundwater Levels and Flow Direction

Groundwater levels on the site were measured between August 2009 and January 2010 by Cardno BSD. Average Annual Maximum Groundwater Levels were then determined



through reference to DoW bore 3157, located approximately 300 m south of the site (Figure 4). This was compared to the maximum recorded groundwater levels in the local bores dated 22/9/2009. AAMGL was determined for the site by selecting a date for which a water level reading was recorded for DoW bore 3157 (22 September 2009) and subtracting the level from the calculated AAMGL (value of -0.099). The difference was used by adding it to the calculated water levels recorded for the site bores on that same day to obtain an estimate for AAMGL for the site bores (Appendix G).

The AAMGL on the site varied from 20.58 m AHD at MC5 in the south-west corner of the site to 23.99 m AHD at MW6 in the south east of the site (Figure 4). Depth to groundwater varied from being above the ground surface in the wetland area in the south-east of the site to greater than 2.6m in much of the north-west of the site to above 4.4m in the north-east. It appears that North Lake Road Drain acts as a groundwater control mechanism.

The AAMGL contours on the site are higher than the DRCGL levels quoted in the DWMS (Cardno BSD, 2008) and the ADSR (DWA, 2005). The separation ranges from approximately 1m higher along the western boundary to being within approximately 0.3m along the eastern boundary.

An 18month monitoring program of groundwater levels to assist in refining the estimated maximum groundwater level is ongoing and due for completion in early 2011.

#### 3.4.2 Groundwater Quality

Groundwater quality was monitored by Cardno BSD on two occasions in August and November 2009 for pH, electrical conductivity and nutrients. Analysis for heavy metals was also undertaken in August 2009.

The groundwater was slightly acidic, with average pH values between 5.4 and 6.7, as is common within Bassendean Sand profiles (Table 1, Figure 7). The total phosphorus levels were slightly elevated, with the average value of four wells exceeding the Healthy Rivers Action Plan Long Term Target of 0.1 mg/L (Table 1, Figure 7)). The total nitrogen exceeded the Healthy Rivers Action Plan Long Term Target of 1 mg/L at five bores (Table 1, Figure 7). In ENV's experience such nitrogen and phosphorus levels are similar to other Bassendean Sand sites with a history of extensive agriculture.



	рН	EC mS/cm	Total P mg/L	Ortho-P mg/L	Total N mg/L	NOx-N mg/L	NH4_N mg/L	TKN mg/L
MC1	5.9	0.11	0.03	0.02	1.05	0.17	0.14	0.90
MC2	5.4	0.28	0.67	0.08	8.80	1.19	0.08	7.65
MC3	6.6	0.56	0.35	0.33	2.05	0.02	0.11	2.05
MC4	6.5	0.40	0.05	0.04	1.40	0.02	0.40	1.35
MC5	5.6	0.84	0.82	0.77	5.00	0.17	0.28	4.85
MC6	6.7	0.59	0.11	0.06	0.95	0.12	0.11	0.85
Site Average	6.1	0.46	0.34	0.22	3.21	0.28	0.18	2.94
Healthy Rivers Action Plan Long Term Target			0.1		1.0			
Healthy Rivers Action Plan Short Term Target			0.2		2.0			

Table 1: Average Groundwater Quality Results for pH, Electrical Conductivity and Nutrients(Average of August 2009 and November 2009 results).

Table 2: Groundwater Quality Results for Heavy Metals (August 2009).

	Arsenic	Cadmium	Chromium	Copper	Lead	Nickel	Zinc	Mercury
_	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L
MC1	<0.001	0.0001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.005	<0.0001
MC2	0.001	<0.0001	0.006	0.008	0.003	0.006	0.034	<0.0001
MC3	0.002	< 0.0001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.005	<0.0001
MC4	<0.001	<0.0001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.005	<0.0001
MC5	0.001	<0.0001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.002	0.011	<0.0001
MC6	<0.001	<0.0001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.005	<0.0001
Freshwater Aquatic								
Ecosystems	0.024	0.0002	0.01			0.011	0.008	

Metals concentrations on the site generally met the NHMRC Freshwater Aquatic Ecosystems guidelines (Table 2). The only exception to this was zinc at MC2 and MC5, which was slightly elevated.

#### 3.5 VEGETATION

A preliminary assessment of vegetation quality was undertaken by the City, including a site survey in winter 2007. The report recommended areas of vegetation for retention (Appendix D). Discussions with the City indicate that they consider the vegetation in the south-eastern wetland to be of most importance. The City's assessment was of a preliminary nature and was not undertaken in Spring, additional botanical work may be required prior to subdivision to determine whether Declared Rare Flora or Threatened Ecological Communities are present on the site.

#### 3.6 WETLANDS

The site does not contain Conservation or Resource Enhancement Category wetlands (Figure 5).



#### 3.7 SUMMARY OF SITE CONSTRAINTS

The primary environmental constraints of the site are:

- Low depth to groundwater in the south-eastern part of the site
- Need to manage acid sulphate soils during development, and
- Potentially contaminated sites (Figure 5)

#### 3.8 WORK REQUIRED AT THE SUBDIVISION STAGE

Additional environmental work may be required by the Western Australian Planning Commission at the subdivision stage as a condition of subdivision. This work may include:

- Acid Sulphate Soils Investigations where sites have been identified in Figure 4 as being at risk;
- Dewatering Management Plans
- Review of subsoil drainage requirements



## 4 DESIGN CRITERIA

These criteria are based on *Better Urban Water Management* (WAPC, 2008a) and Cardno's *Development Area 19 District Water Management Strategy,* which covers the site (Cardno BSD, (2008)).

#### 4.1 WATER CONSERVATION

#### Principle

No potable water should be used outside of homes and buildings with the use of water to be as efficient as possible (WAPC, 2008a).

#### Design Objectives

Consumption target for potable water of 100 kL/person/year (State Water Plan Target), including not more than 40-60 kL/person/year scheme water (WAPC 2008a).

#### Site Response

The development will aim to use best practice to achieve efficient use of scheme water and to minimise using scheme water outside of the house and meet the 100 kL/person/year target.

#### 4.2 WATER QUANTITY MANAGEMENT

#### Principle and Criteria

Based on the DWMS predevelopment flow estimates, the peak discharge into the North Lake Road open drain from the bioretention area or swales is to be set at a maximum 8L/s/impervious ha for the peak of the 5 year ARI event and 9.6L/s/impervious ha for the peak of the 100 year ARI event (Cardno BSD, 2008). No peak discharge was prescribed in the DWMS for the Northern Catchment.

#### Site Response

The drainage strategy for the site will comply with the guidelines set in the DWMS.

#### 4.3 WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT

These criteria are intended to apply to run-off from impervious areas and should be met in addition to the groundwater design objectives.

#### Principle

Maintain surface and groundwater quality at pre-development levels (winter concentrations) and, if possible, improve the quality of water leaving the development area to maintain and restore ecological systems in the sub-catchment in which the development is located (WAPC 2008a).



#### Criteria

<u>Contaminated Sites</u> – To be managed in accordance with the Contaminated Sites Act 2003.

<u>All other Land</u> – If the pollutant outputs from the development (measured or modelled concentrations) exceed catchment ambient conditions, the proponent shall achieve water quality improvements in the development area or, alternatively, arrange equivalent water quality improvement offsets inside the catchment. If these conditions have not been determined, the development should meet relevant water quality guidelines stipulated in the National Water Quality Management Strategy (ARMCANZ & ANZECC 2000) (WAPC 2008a).

#### Site Response/Commitment

The development proposes to use Best Management Practices in line with the Stormwater Management Manual (DoW, 2004-2007) to manage water quality on the site. The site is considered to be unlikely to be contaminated based on the land use history of being largely vegetated. As such, contaminated sites guidelines do not apply.

#### 4.4 STORMWATER QUALITY MODELLING CRITERIA

#### Principle

If it is proposed to use a stormwater modelling tool to demonstrate compliance with design objectives, the following design modelling parameters are recommended.

As compared to a development that does not actively manage stormwater quality:

- At least 80% reduction in the average annual load of total suspended solids;
- At least 60% reduction in the average annual load of total phosphorus;
- At least 45% reduction in the average annual load of total nitrogen; and
- At least 70% reduction in the average annual load of gross pollutants (WAPC, 2008a).

#### Site Response/Commitment

Stormwater quality modelling is not proposed for the site at this stage because currently there is no commercially available tool in Western Australia approved by the DoW to undertake such modelling. Instead, bioretention areas with a minimum area of 2% of the directly connected effective impervious area will be provided to maintain water quality.



#### 4.5 DISEASE VECTOR AND NUISANCE INSECT MANAGEMENT

#### Principle

To reduce health risks from mosquitoes, retention and detention treatments should be designed to ensure that between the months of November and May, detained immobile stormwater is fully infiltrated in a time period not exceeding 96 hours.

Permanent water bodies are discouraged, but where accepted by DoW, must be designed to maximise predation of mosquito larvae by native fauna to the satisfaction of the local government on advice of the Departments of Water and Health (WAPC, 2008a).

#### Site Response/Commitment

The system has been designed to ensure that detained immobile stormwater is fully infiltrated in a time period not exceeding 96 hours between November and May.

The base of the bioretention areas will be set at AAMGL to reduce ponding from November to May.

Permanent water bodies are not proposed for this site.



## 5 WATER CONSERVATION

#### 5.1 **PROPOSED STRATEGIES**

Water use for garden irrigation accounts for approximately 50% of domestic potable water use in Perth (Coghlan and Loh, 2003). Because of the high density nature of the development, the areas of garden will be quite low. This results in a low usage of potable water within the area. However, the use of waterwise plantings and water efficient appliances will still need to be encouraged in this area to achieve the modelled outcome.

#### 5.2 WATER BALANCE MODELLING

#### 5.2.1 Pre-development Water Balance

In the pre-development scenario, it is assumed that 25% of rainfall becomes recharge to groundwater and surface water systems (Davidson, 1995). Rainfall data was taken from the Bureau of Meteorology site Jandakot for the years (1972 – 2009). Based on an average annual rainfall of 832.2mm, the total annual recharge for the site is 164 ML/yr For details of this calculation refer to Appendix E.

#### 5.2.2 Post-development Water Balance

In the post-development scenario, the total recharge is 408 ML/yr, an increase of 250% on the pre-development scenario. This increase is primarily due to the increase in hard surfaces caused by development which increases runoff and infiltration and reduces evapotransipration. Without large areas of vegetation to transpire the water, this increase is inevitable in developments with medium to high densities. The following information was used in determining the water balance. For details of this calculation refer to Appendix E.

- Land areas are as provided by City of Cockburn, 17/11/2009;
- Local Centre is assumed to be commercial;
- Estimated area of garden = 65% of OS area for low density;
- Estimated area of garden = 45% of OS area for med density;
- Estimated area of garden = 30% of OS area for high density;
- Persons per house from Water Corporation (2008) quoting ABS (2006);
- No lot drainage and no sub-surface drainage;
- Rain on Hard Surfaces is 4.5% Evap, 95.5% storm water (WAWA, 1987);



- Rain and irrigation has a 17.5% surface loss; and
- Verge has been calculated as a scaled average based on average verge length per block and total verge area based on road reserve

#### 5.3 DOMESTIC WATER CONSUMPTION

#### 5.3.1 **Estimated Water Consumption**

Water consumption was calculated for the development using residential water use figures from a range of sources (Coghlan and Loh 2003, GHD 2005, Water Corporation 2008). The calculated potable water consumption was approximately 58 kL/person/year with rainwater tanks (for toilet flushing) connected to an estimated 20% of the low and medium density homes only. This is below the 100 kL/person/year recommended in the State Water Strategy and within the Better Urban Water Management Plan target range of 40 – 60 kL/person/year. The low potable water consumption reflects the fact that the development is predominantly of a high density, with approximately 60% of the dwellings being zoned R80 or greater. This higher density means that less water is used outside the home than would otherwise be the case because there is very little garden area. Information regarding estimated water consumption is given in Table 3.

Density Type	Usage Area	Volume Per Resident (L)	Annual Usage (kL/resident/yr)	Total Usage (kL/year)
	In-house	92	34	30,101
	Ex-house	93	34	30,570
(R20,R25)	Total	185	68	60,671
Medium	In-house	93	34	39,729
	Ex-house	89	32	38,001
(R40,R60)	Total	182	66	77,730
High	In-house	116	42	147,893
(R80,R160)	Ex-house	31	11	40,034
(100,1100)	Total	148	54	187,927
			In-house	217,722
			Ex-house	108,605
			Total	326,328

Table 3: Estimated annual potable water consumption with rainwater tanks

Average scheme water usage (kL/yr/resident) Note: In-house potable water use is less for the low and medium density homes due to the use of rainwater as a substitute source. Total in-house water use is the same for all densities.

#### 5.3.2 Water Efficiency Measures

The development will be expected to comply with waterwise principles and this has been assumed in the domestic water consumption modelling. The City of Cockburn encourages the use of waterwise landscaping and rainwater tanks in this development however these practices are difficult to enforce. It is assumed that there will be a certain level of voluntary uptake particularly within the lower density areas however



58.76

this level cannot be quantified. Further investigation into the use of residential rainwater tanks will occur at the UWMP stage.

#### 5.4 PUBLIC OPEN SPACE

The development allows for a total of 6.34ha of Public Open Space. Assuming that 70% of the POS is irrigated at the DoW's accepted rate of 7500 kL/ha/yr, this will require a total of 33 ML/year.

The site is located in the Cockburn Groundwater Area and the Kogalup Groundwater Sub-area. The Department of Water indicates that the superficial aquifer in the area is currently 87% allocated and over 600,000 kL/year is available (as of October 2010). As such, it is considered that adequate ground water is available for irrigation of public open space in the area if no other allocations are made.

POS landscaping within the site will be undertaken by the City of Cockburn, as part of the Developer Contributions Scheme (DCA). POS will be developed as the land is subdivided. Water use in public open space will be minimised where possible through the use of hard surfaces and low water use plants where appropriate.

An indicative landscape plan for the POS areas is provided (Figure 12).

#### 5.5 COMMERCIAL WATER CONSUMPTION

The commercial areas within the development are zoned 'mixed business' which can include light and service industrial, wholesaling, showrooms, trade and professional services. Because of the range of possible uses, it is difficult to determine the potable water use of such a section. However, the proposed land uses are very unlikely to individually consume above 20,000 kL/year or 55 kL/day of potable water. From July 2009, businesses consuming above this amount must develop and implement Water Efficiency Management Plans (WEMP) to help reduce their water use (Government of Western Australia, 2007).

Small to medium businesses are not required to have a WEMP. A simple way of ensuring that small businesses are water efficient would be to ensure that new commercial buildings meet standard water efficiency requirements in a similar manner to new homes, based on 5 Star Plus and the Federal Government's NABERS scheme for water and energy efficiency in office and hotel buildings. These water efficiency options will be recommended but not mandated.

Commercial reuse of rainwater for toilet flushing and cooling towers is also considered to be an option. Such systems do not require a special license or treatment, but must be approved by the Department of Health. At present none of these measures will be mandated for the commercial areas of the development, but will be recommended by the developer.



#### 5.6 POTABLE WATER SUPPLY

A servicing report for the site was prepared by Cardno BSD (2008) (Appendix F). While potable water is currently available in the area, the current water mains are not considered adequate to cope with the proposed lot yield (Cardno BSD, 2008). This report recommends an extension from the existing 400 mm potable water pipe within the Beeliar Road site, approximately 550 m south of the site (Cardno BSD, 2008).

Further details for the provision of potable water services will be outlined at the subdivision stage.

#### 5.7 WASTEWATER

The site is currently not connected to the Water Corporation Wastewater system. Wastewater services are available in the North Lake Road Reserve and at the corner of Semple Court and Berrigan Drive (Cardno BSD, 2008) (Figure 6). These pipes are considered to have adequate capacity to service the site (Cardno BSD, 2008).

Arrangements will need to be made for provision of reticulated wastewater systems at the subdivision stage.

#### 5.8 MATTERS TO BE ADDRESSED AT THE SUBDIVISION STAGE

The Urban Water Management Plan should:

- Confirmation of groundwater allocation for POS and response in terms of landscaping design;
- Undertake subdivision-level water balances based on the groundwater allocation;
- Provide further details on water conservation measures in-house and ex-house to be implemented at the site;
- Provide information on the use of rainwater tanks, grey water systems or other alternate water sources used
- Details of waterwise landscaping packages to be provided to households;
- Ensure that remnant vegetation of significance is clearly identified and retained



## **6 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY**

#### 6.1 DESIGN PRINCIPLES AND GENERAL POINTS

The District Water Management Strategy (DWMS) (Cardno BSD, 2008) outlined the principles by which the stormwater management of the Development Area 19 (Muriel Court) is to be achieved. This report divides Development Area 19 into three subcatchments (Figure 3 of DWMS), each with its own bioretention areas and draining to different outfalls. These sub-catchments (and associated bioretention areas) were labelled Northern, Western and South Eastern catchment areas and bioretention areas and these labels have been adopted in this report.

Each bioretention area has an outflow pipe connecting it to existing infrastructure external to the site. A representation of these pipes can be seen in Figures 8 to 11. The Northern catchment drains northward to connect with existing infrastructure at Berrigan Drive before out-falling to Lakelands Reserve. The Western catchment connects to the Anning Park drain and the South Eastern catchment drains southward to connect to the North Lake Road drain. Storm water from both the Western and South Eastern catchments finally outfalls at Yangebup Lake.

Drainage to the bioretention areas for smaller events will be through the drainage network whereas larger events will utilise overland flow paths. Flood protection will be achieved in the development through detaining the 1 in 100 year ARI event to predevelopment flow rates through the use of stormwater bioretention areas. This is required by the DoW and is articulated in BUWM. Sizing of the bioretention areas is predominantly to provide flood protection both within the development and to the downstream catchment.

Protection of ecological assets is specified within the DWMS through infiltration of the 1 in 1 year ARI event. This infiltration area is shown in each sub-catchment in dark green in Figures 8 to 11. The infiltration of stormwater up to the 1 in 1 year ARI event has been allowed for in the design of the bioretention areas by placing the upstream invert of the outflow pipe (the bioretention area end) at a height above the volume required to store the 1 in 1 year ARI event. Street side entry pits and gullies will be bottomless to increase infiltration.

As per discussion with the City of Cockburn during project meetings, the bases of the bioretention areas have been set at AAMGL. It is understood that the department of water recommends a 300mm clearance from the base of the bioretention areas to groundwater level however due to the limitations on the site, specifically limited stormwater storage areas within the POS, the level was set to AAMGL. The City of Cockburn will design and manage the POS throughout the life of the development and will take appropriate action to address any issues that may arise from the above approach.



The City of Cockburn has advised that they will not allow lot connections for any lots with the Muriel Court development and that all lots manage stormwater through the use of soakwells and storages for up to 1 in 100 year events. All runoff into the drains and bioretention areas will therefore be from the roads and Public Open Spaces only up to the 1 in 100 year event.

For the purposes of this report North Lake Rd Drain is assumed to remain as an open drain, as indicated in discussions with the City of Cockburn. The City of Cockburn has also indicated that Anning Park will be upgraded to a piped drain in the short term. This infrastructure is outside the Structure Plan boundary.

#### 6.2 PROPOSED DRAINAGE DESIGN

The Muriel Court development area and surrounding contributing catchments were modelled using XPSTORM software. The following assumptions and input parameters were used in the model. Some of these have been modified from the requirements outlined in the DWMS with the changes proposed by the City of Cockburn during project management meetings.

- all storm water from storm event sizes up to and including the 1 in 100 year 24 hour event are retained on lots for all lot types including mixed business;
- all storm water runoff (from roads and POS only) for 1 year ARI 1 hour storms is to be retained within the bioretention areas with a maximum water level of no greater than 0.3m;
- the runoff coefficient for road reserve areas is 90%;
- the runoff coefficient for POS areas is 10%;
- the slope for roads was assumed to 0.005;
- the slope for POS was assumed to be 0.002; and
- the DWMS provided an Intensity Frequency Duration (IFD) table for the Cockburn Area. A different IFD table for rainfall was obtained from the Bureau of Meteorology specific to the Muriel Court site and was used rather than the more general DWMS IFD table.

#### 6.2.1 Bioretention Areas

The locations of the three bioretention areas have been determined in the DWMS as being within the POS area of each catchment area in the development area. The exact locations and shape of the bioretention areas within the POS will be designed in detail by the City of Cockburn.



The three bioretention areas were designed based on critical storms events and the resulting inflows from the contributing catchments. The base of the bioretention area is set at estimated AAMGL as advised by the City of Cockburn.

For each catchment, the roads surrounding the POS areas are required to be 1.2m above AAMGL (the base of the bioretention areas) (Table 8). For the Western and South Eastern catchment the flooded areas were determined by setting the depth of flooding for the 100 year event to less than 1.2m. For the Northern catchment the depth of flooding for the 1:100yr ARI 72 hr event is 1.4m. For this catchment the surrounding roads have been set a minimum of 1.7m above AAMGL.

A square bioretention area shape was modelled due to the simplicity it afforded and it is understood that this will not be the final shape of the bioretention area. The lowest part of the bioretention area has vertical walls of height 300mm. This area fully contains the 1 year ARI event and allows full recharge of this storm water.

The flood storage volumes and areas calculated using the XPSTORM model are detailed in Table 4. Surface areas indicated in Table 4 are indicative only and will depend upon the final shape of the bioretention area.

Bioretention area outflow pipe inverts are set at 300mm above the base of the bioretention areas so that all storm water entering the bioretention areas is retained and infiltrated for the 1 year 1 hour ARI event. Each bioretention area has been designed with one 300mm outflow pipe to limit the flow rate from the bioretention area to achieve the 1 in 100 year ARI pre-development.

Figures showing bioretention area sizing for a specific flood events are

- 100 Year Flood Event Plan Figure 8.
- 10 Year Flood Event Plan Figure 9.
- 5 Year Flood Event Plan Figure 10.
- 1 Year Flood Event Plan Figure 11.

The areas required to determine the POS credits are given below.

•	The total structure plan area	= 67.09 ha
•	Deductions	= 3.62 ha
•	Gross subdivisible area	= 63.48 ha
•	Public Open Space @10 per cent	= 6.347 ha
•	Public open space above 1:1 ARI	= 6.347 ha
•	Drainage - up to 1:1 ARI (no credit)	= 0.713 ha



•	Total POS /drainage required	= 7.060 ha					
•	Total POS/drainage shown on Structure Plan	= 7.060 ha					
F	From Table 4,						
•	Total submerged area for 1:1 yr event	= 0.94 ha					
•	Total submerged area for 1:5 yr event	= 1.04 ha					

Under the current design, the inundated area for the 1:1 ARI event (0.94ha) is larger than that permitted under the Liveable Neighbourhoods guidelines (0.713ha). It is proposed that a portion of the volume of stormwater produced by a 1:1 year event will be infiltrated using shallow underground drainage galleries (such as an Atlantis stormwater harvesting tank), within the POS, reducing the area of inundation to comply with the guidelines.

The underground drainage galleries will be designed to be hydraulically connected to the inundation areas and will have the same inverts (at or above the AAMGL). Storm water in the galleries will drain into the surrounding soil and will not be stored. They will be located around the perimeter of the basins within the POS in the areas that have a suitable separation to ground water to cover the galleries with soil. Stormwater for events larger than 1 in 1 year ARI will initially fill the inundation areas, then the galleries and then additional water will leave the site through the controlled outlets. The detailed design and location of the galleries will be determined by the City when they design and construct the POS areas and will be presented within future urban water management plans.



#### Table 4: Bioretention Area Data

	Northern	Western	SthEastern
Estimated AAMGL (mAHD)	22.5	22.5	24
Base Area (ha)	0.45	0.21	0.17
Bioretention area Invert Level (mAHD)	22.5	22.5	24
Outlet pipe US invert (mAHD)	22.8	22.8	24.3
Outlet Pipe Diameter (mm)	1x300	1x300	1x300
Outlet pipe slope (%)	0.333	0.333	0.333
1 Year ARI : 1hr			
Top Water Level (mAHD)	22.8	22.8	24.3
Top Water Level Area (ha)	0.45	0.27	0.22
Max Volume (m <sup>3</sup> )	1337	613	506
Peak Outflow (m <sup>3</sup> /s)	0	0	0
1 Year ARI : Critical			
Critical Duration (hr)	72	72	72
Top Water Level (mAHD)	23.0	23.0	24.5
Top Water Level Area (ha)	0.50	0.24	0.19
Runoff Volume (m <sup>3</sup> )	2567	1051	818
Peak Outflow (m <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.047	0.031	0.028
5 Year ARI : Critical			
Critical Duration (hr)	72	72	72
Top Water Level (mAHD)	23.4	23.1	24.6
Top Water Level Area (ha)	0.57	0.26	0.21
Max Volume (m <sup>3</sup> )	4600	1416	1100
Peak Outflow (m <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.054	0.054	0.047
10 Year ARI : Critical		1	
Critical Duration (hr)	72	72	72
Top Water Level (mAHD)	23.6	23.24	24.7
Top Water Level Area (ha)	0.61	0.27	0.22
Max Volume (m <sup>3</sup> )	5481	1702	1284
Peak Outflow (m <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.056	0.055	0.048
100 Year ARI : Critical			<b>T</b>
Critical Duration (hr)	72	72	72
Top Water Level (mAHD)	23.9	23.6	25.0
Top Water Level Area (ha)	n/a*	n/a*	n/a*
Max Volume (m <sup>3</sup> )	15309	4584	4368
Peak Outflow (m <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.060	0.064	0.055

\* Top water level areas for 100 year events are not provided as they will greatly depend on the shape of the bioretention areas. The top water level areas for the lesser events are provided as a guide only.



#### 6.2.2 Conveyance from the Site

Stormwater into the bioretention areas will be from road runoff and from POS runoff only. Open bottomed side entry pits will be used to convey road runoff into the bioretention areas.

Conveyance from the site is by means of a 300mm outflow pipe from each of the bioretention areas with the upstream inverts set at 300mm above the base of the bioretention areas. These pipes connect to existing stormwater infrastructure at different locations external to the Muriel Court site. These pipe details are shown in Table 4.

#### Northern Catchment

The northern catchment bioretention area outflow pipe is proposed to drain north across Verna Court to Berrigan Drive. From there the storm water drains west to join with existing storm water infrastructure at the corner of Semple Court and Berrigan Drive. This existing infrastructure drains westward for approximately 450m before crossing Berrigan Drive and discharging into Lakelands Reserve. The City of Cockburn is satisfied that there is sufficient capacity with Lakelands Reserve to manage this stormwater.

#### Western Catchment

The Western catchment bioretention area outflow pipe is proposed to drain west and connect to the existing Anning Park drain at the north east corner of the park. The City of Cockburn advises that this drain will be upgraded to a piped system and so a piped system was used for Anning Park in the stormwater modelling.

#### South Eastern Catchment

The South Eastern catchment is proposed to drain south to North Lake Road, approximately 300m east of Poletti Road and connect with existing storm water infrastructure. This infrastructure drains west along the southern side of North Lake Road before crossing over North Lake Road at Semple Court and into Anning Park. At Thomas Street the storm water then crosses back over North Lake Road before outfalling at Yangebup Lake. Figures 8 to 11 show the flow paths of the modelled network.

A maximum outflow rate was specified by the DWMS for the 5 year and for 100 year ARI events from the south eastern and western catchments (Section 4.5 of DWMS). Table 5 outlines the maximum flows determined from the DWMS compared to the modelled flow rates. No maximum flow rate was specified for the Northern catchment.



**Table 5:** Actual and Allowable Maximum Outflow rates (m<sup>3</sup>/s)

				South
		North	Western	Eastern
5 Year ARI	Peak Outflow (m <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.054	0.054	0.047
	DWMS max allowable	n/a	.076	0.084
100 Year ARI	Peak Outflow (m <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.060	0.064	0.055
	DWMS max allowable	n/a	0.091	0.101

#### 6.2.3 Flood Protection

All stormwater for up to a 1:100 year ARI 72 hour event is expected to be detained within the bioretention areas and therefore there should be no overland flow paths out of the bioretention areas for floods up to the 1 in 100 year ARI event.

A minimum freeboard of 0.3m is required between peak flood level and minimum habitable floor levels.

#### 6.2.4 Stormwater Treatment within the Road Reserve

Due to the narrowness of road reserves in the area and the high density nature of the proposed development, the City of Cockburn believes that the only suitable location of swales is Muriel Court, east of the realigned Semple Court. The use of tree pit rain gardens and permeable pavement to increase infiltration within the road reserve will be encouraged. Open bottomed manholes should be used where adequate clearance to groundwater exists.

This information should be read in conjunction with Table 8 in Section 7.2 which outlines the separation requirements as part of the groundwater management strategy.

#### 6.2.5 Lot Drainage

The City of Cockburn requires all lots, including the mixed business precinct, to store all stormwater up to the 1 in 100 year ARI 24 hr event on site (as per the City Of Cockburn On Site Drainage Requirements (Residential/Industrial/Subdivisions) (undated)). These requirements provide guidance on sizing of onsite storage, either through soak wells, drainage sumps or other approved methods and the volume and area required.

- For the R20-R60 and the Mixed Business (Non-Residential) areas the finished lot levels need to be 1.5m above the AAMGL.
- For the R80 and R160 areas (including the Mixed Business Office/ Residential R160 area) the finished lot levels need to be 2.8m above the AAMGL.

This information should be read in conjunction with Table 8 in Section 7.2 which outlines the separation requirements as part of the groundwater management strategy.


#### 6.3 STORMWATER QUALITY

Management of stormwater quality relies on the use of both structural and nonstructural best management practices (BMPs) as specified in the Stormwater Management Manual (DoW, 2004-2007).

In terms of structural BMPs, the development complies with the Department of Water's recommendation that an equivalent of 2% of the directly connected impervious area be allowed as vegetated infiltration area to remove nutrients from groundwater. This area will be vegetated with native vegetation and provided within the bioretention areas in the POS.

The total directly connected impervious area for the development for events less than 1 in 100 year ARI is given below in Table 6. 2% of the directly connected impervious area is 0.40 ha.

Table 6: Directly Connected	Impervious Area
-----------------------------	-----------------

	Total Directly	Directly Connected
	Connected Area (ha)	Impervious Area (ha)
	(114)	()
Northern		
Road (0.9)	11.7	10.5
POS (0.1)	3.3	0.3
Total	15.0	10.9
Western		
Road (0.9)	5.4	4.9
POS (0.1)	1.7	0.2
Total	7.1	5.0
South Eastern		
Road (0.9)	4.4	4.0
POS (0.1)	2.0	0.2
Total	6.4	4.2
Total Area	28.6	20.1
Total Area	28.6	20.1

The bioretention areas are expected to remove pollutants including suspended solids, nutrients, sediments and heavy metals to standards summarised in Table 7. The subsoil drain is surrounded by a mixture of blue metal and cracked pea gravel (laterite) which has a strong ability to bind phosphorus.



 Table 7: Typical Annual Pollutant Load Removal Efficiencies (Source: Stormwater Management

 Manual (DoW, 2004-2007)

Pollutant	Expected Removal
Litter	>90%
Total Nitrogen	25-40%
Total Phosphorus	30-50%
Coarse Sediment	>90%
Heavy Metals	20-60%

The use of tree pit rain gardens and permeable pavement to increase infiltration within the road reserve will be encouraged.

If fill is required beyond the standard cut to fill within the site, fill should be yellow sand with a phosphorus retention index (PRI) greater than 15.

## 6.3.1 Non-structural BMPs

The primary source of nutrients in residential developments is the fertiliser applied to the lawns and gardens of properties and POS areas. However, as the proposed development is of a higher density nature, areas of lawn and garden beds will be generally low, and as such fertiliser use by householders is not expected to be high.

The following non-structural BMPs are recommended for this site:

- Use of fertiliser within POS to be limited; and
- Buyers should be provided with information regarding minimising fertiliser use at the point of sale.

### 6.4 IMPACT ON WATER DEPENDANT ECOSYSTEMS

There are no priority wetlands within or adjacent to the site. There is some priority vegetation in the south east catchment. Detail is provided in Appendix D.

### 6.5 DISEASE VECTOR AND NUISANCE INSECT MANAGEMENT

No artificial water bodies are being constructed as part of this development. As such, the potential for midge and mosquito breeding on the site is low.



Between November and May, the predominant mosquito breeding season, groundwater levels will be below the base of the proposed bioretention areas not providing suitable conditions for breeding.

When groundwater levels are at AAMGL in winter, temperatures are usually low enough to substantially extend the breeding cycle of mosquitoes exposing them to the risk of the water drying out, killing the eggs and larvae before the breeding cycle is complete (DoH, 2004).

### 6.6 MATTERS TO BE ADDRESSED AT THE SUBDIVISION STAGE

- Provision of a detailed drainage plan for the subdivision area including swales, rain gardens and confirmation of sizing and location of structures;
- Details of landscaping for swales, rain gardens and bioretention areas;
- Confirmation of finished lot levels;
- Identify monitoring locations, analytes and frequency for post-development monitoring; and
- Identify contingency action plan and trigger values for post development monitoring.



# 7 GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

## 7.1 GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT

The site currently has groundwater levels close to the surface with some surface expressions. Fill will be required to ensure suitable separation between groundwater levels and infrastructure. In addition, fill will be required to ensure sufficient separation to allow for storm water from the lots to be infiltrated on site through the use of soak wells or other sub surface drainage device.

It is expected that up to approximately 33 ML/year of ground water may be required to maintain the POS. This water will be extracted from the superficial aquifer.

Subsoil drainage will be required under the conditions outlined in Table 8, and will be set at AAMGL to maintain the predevelopment AAMGL level. The subsoil drains will be connected to the main drainage lines which will have free draining outlets into the bioretention areas for treatment.

### 7.2 GROUNDWATER LEVELS AND FILL

Fill requirements have been based on the requirements of the DWMS and the City's *Guidelines and Standards for the Design, Construction and Handover of Subdivision within the Municipality* (2009) and are summarised in the table below.

	Mixed Business	Urban
Minimum Lot Level	1.2 m above AAMGL, but minimum 1.5 m preferred	1.5 m above AAMGL
Minimum Stormwater Disposal within lot	All to be disposed on site via soakwells (1 in 100 yr 24 hour event)	All to be disposed on site via soakwells (1 in 100 yr 24 hour event)
Lot subsoil drainage required when	Lot level less than 1.5 m above AAMGL or where lot requires fill to meet minimum clearance	Lot level less than 1.5 m above AAMGL or where lot requires fill to meet minimum clearance
Minimum Road Centreline Level	1.2 m above AAMGL	1.2 m above AAMGL
Road subsoil drainage to be required when	Road centreline is less than 1.5 m above AAMGL	Road centreline is less than 1.7 m above AAMGL
Open bottomed bioretention areas within road reserve may be considered when.	Road centreline is more than 1.7 m above AAMGL	Road centreline is more than 1.7 m above AAMGL

Table 8: Design Parameters for Lot Levels



The guidance in the DWMS was based on the DRCGL (design regional control groundwater level). As the DRCGL is lower than the AAMGL on this site, the AAMGL has been used as the groundwater control level. This is in line with the City of Cockburn's requirement that groundwater levels are not to be controlled to below the AAMGL (City of Cockburn, 2009).

Soil permeability tests are to be taken on site and used to determine the spacing of subsoil drainage lines. Data from such tests and the calculations are to be submitted (City of Cockburn, 2009).

### 7.3 IMPACT ON WATER DEPENDANT ECOSYSTEMS

The site does not contain water dependant ecosystems. There are water dependant ecosystems to the south east and the west of the site however the development is not expected to have an impact on these systems.

### 7.4 GROUNDWATER QUALITY

Groundwater quality will be maintained through the use of BMPs to manage stormwater quality prior to infiltration where ever possible and the minimisation of fertiliser use as per Section 6.3.

#### 7.5 ACID SULPHATE SOILS MANAGEMENT

The site includes areas of high risk of acid sulphate soils (ASS) (Appendix A). Developments that contain or are adjacent to high risk areas shall undertake Department of Environment and Conservation compliant investigations to determine the presence of ASS on their sites. Where ASS is present, Dewatering Management Plans shall be required at the UWMP stage.

#### 7.6 WORK REQUIRED AT THE UWMP STAGE

Work required at the UWMP includes:

- Preparation of drainage design and earthworks levels for the subject site, including subsoil drainage design where required; and
- Management of Potential Acid Sulphate Soils where appropriate.



# 8 SUBDIVISION AND URBAN WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS

An Urban Water Management Plan will be required at the point of subdivision to confirm compliance of the development with the Local Water Management Strategy. The Department of Water has agreed that the groundwater monitoring results presented in the Local Water Management Strategy are adequate to support an Urban Water Management Plan in this case (Department of Water, letter dated 19 January 2010).

## 8.1 ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Additional environmental work may be required by the Western Australian Planning Commission at the subdivision stage as a condition of subdivision. This work may include:

- Acid sulphate soils investigations where sites have been identified as being at risk (Figure 4);
- Contaminated site management plan where sites potentially contaminated sites have been identified (Figure 5);
- Dewatering management plans;
- Ensure that remnant vegetation of significance is clearly identified and retained; and
- Identify contingency action plan and trigger values for post development monitoring (refer Table 10).

### 8.2 WATER CONSERVATION

The Urban Water Management Plan should:

- Provide information on the use of rainwater tanks, grey water systems or other alternate water sources used;
- Details of any waterwise landscaping packages to be provided to households; and
- Provide further details on any other water conservation measures in-house and exhouse to be implemented at the site.

### 8.3 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

The Urban Water Management Plan should include:

• Details of landscaping for swales, rain gardens and bioretention areas;



- Confirmation of finished lot levels;
- Provision of a detailed drainage plan for the subdivision area including swales, rain gardens and bioretention areas and confirmation of sizing and location of structures;
- A detailed drainage plan which should include consideration of upstream catchments; and
- Preparation of drainage design and earthworks levels for the subject site, including subsoil drainage design where required.

### 8.4 GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT

The Urban Water Management Plan should include:

- Confirmation of groundwater allocation for POS and response in terms of landscaping design;
- Undertake subdivision-level water balances based on the groundwater allocation;
- Identify monitoring locations, analytes and frequency for post-development monitoring;
- Contingency planning for post-development monitoring;
- Management of Potential Acid Sulphate Soils where appropriate(Figure 4);
- Preparation of drainage design and earthworks levels for the subject site, including subsoil drainage design where required; and
- Provide and implementation plan which includes monitoring, construction, contingency, roles and responsibilities.



# 9 IMPLEMENTATION

#### 9.1 ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES

#### Table 9: Implementation Plan

ltem	Responsibility for Scheme Development	Interim Maintenance (first two years)	Long-term Maintenance
Waterwise fittings and rainwater tanks	Developer to encourage and provide guidance. Residents to construct their own systems.	Residents	Residents
Swales and drainage system within the road reserve, including subsoil drainage	Developer	Developer for 12 months as per City requirements.	City of Cockburn
Public Open Space	City of Cockburn	City of Cockburn	City of Cockburn
Monitoring of the development and contingency responses	Developer. The City of Cockburn will oversee the monitoring and coordinate reporting.	Developer for two years following practical completion of each stage of development.	Holder of groundwater license for monitoring in compliance with license conditions.

### 9.2 POST- DEVELOPMENT MONITORING

A detailed post-development monitoring program and contingency plan should be developed for the subdivision by the developer and submitted to the City of Cockburn before any works are commenced. These programs should be inline with the LWMS.

Post-development monitoring for each stage will include monthly measurements of ground water and surface water levels (where surface water is present) and quarterly sampling for pH, electrical conductivity, redox potential, total nitrogen, ammonia, heavy metals, Kjeldahl nitrogen, nitrate/nitrite, total phosphorus and phosphate in groundwater for which trigger levels and resulting actions are outlined in Table 10. This monitoring will be undertaken for two years following the practical completion of each stage.

Monitoring shall be undertaken at the pre-development bores and at each bioretention area (Figure 7). In addition to the predevelopment bores, a monitoring bore shall be



installed at the east end of Muriel Court adjacent to the freeway (MC7 on Figure 7). Where pre-development bores are destroyed during construction, replacement bores of a similar depth shall be installed and monitored after development.

Surface water monitoring shall be undertaken in each main bioretention area, using monthly grab samples taken when water is present.

Parameter	Test	Trigger	Action
Groundwater Levels and Quality	Groundwater level and water quality from pre- development bores, sampled quarterly	Increase in Total Phosphorus and Total Nitrogen concentration compared to pre- development baseline for two successive events (refer Table 1). Increase in groundwater level over two successive winters from predevelopment levels.	Responsible body to investigate reasons for any change. If intervention is required, this shall be undertaken prior to the following winter.
Surface water quality	Surface water quality - opportunistic event based sampling at least 4 times per year.	Increase in Total Phosphorus and Total Nitrogen concentration compared to pre- development baseline for two successive events.	Responsible body to investigate reasons for any change. If intervention is required, this shall be undertaken prior to the following winter.

Table 10: Parameters, Tests and Actions Associated with Monitoring

The contingency response to the monitoring program will be detailed in each UWMP. It will likely include trigger levels and action levels in the groundwater levels and wetlands that will require investigation and responsive actions. There will also be water quality criteria to be addressed.

### 9.3 REPORTING

Reporting will be co-ordinated by the developer and submitted to City of Cockburn and DoW for review. The reports will compare the monitoring results with the target design criteria and performance objectives and determine what, if any, further actions may be



necessary. Reports will also provide ongoing assessment of the suitability of existing monitoring and reporting frequencies. Assessment of performance compliance against water quality criteria will require careful consideration to account for inter-seasonal and inter-annual variability, and also take into account both surface and groundwater quality function of historical land use practices not only within the development area, but over the entire upstream catchment.

Reports will be prepared on an annual basis, and cover the calendar year. Developers may choose to co-operate and issue joint reports.

### 9.4 CONTINGENCY PLAN

If baseline groundwater quality values (Table 1) are exceeded for two successive events, then steps will be taken as follows:

- Re-sample the affected bores/surface water location to confirm the result;
- If the result is consistent, determine a cause through inspection (e.g. is there a blockage in the system, are the subsoil drains working correctly);
- Undertake maintenance or mitigation measures if required.

Results from the affected area should be watched closely in subsequent monitoring events, to determine if the management measures have been effective.

Given that the majority of increase in nutrient levels is expected from household fertiliser applications, household education programs could be considered a potential mitigation strategy should nutrient levels be seen to increase.

If sustained ponding is noted during the groundwater and surface water monitoring program, then this will be referred to the entity managing the asset at the time. It will trigger an investigation into the cause of the sustained ponding and an engineering remedy will likely ensue. This is a responsibility link between the water quality monitoring program and the hydraulic maintenance program.



# 10 **REFERENCES**

Ace Environmental 2008, Limited Preliminary Site Inspection

Allen, DG and Jeffery, RC 1990, Methods for Analysis of Phosphorus in Western Australian Soils, Report on Investigation No. 37, Chemistry Centre, Perth, Western Australia.

Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council and Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand (ANZECC & ARMCANZ) 2000, National Water Quality Management Strategy - Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality.

Brown Geotechnical & Environmental (BGE) 2007, *Geotechnical Investigation Report*, Ref 06036.01, May 2007).

Cardno BSD 2008, City of Cockburn Development Area 19: District Water Management Strategy

City of Cockburn 2009, Guidelines and Standards for the Design, Construction and Handover of Subdivision within the Municipality

Coghlan, P and Loh, M 2003, *Domestic Water Use Study in Perth, Western Australia*, Water Corporation, Perth.

David Wills and Associates 2005, Cockburn Central and Solomon Road Development Areas Arterial Drainage Scheme Review

Davidson, WA 1995, Hydrogeology and Groundwater Resources of the Perth Region, Western Australia, Western Australia Geological Survey, Bulletin 142, Perth.

Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) 2001, *Contaminated Sites Management Series - Reporting on Site Assessments*, Department of Environmental Protection, Perth.

Department of Environment (DoE) 2003, Assessment Levels for Soil, Sediment and Water, Contaminated Sites Management Series, Department of Environment, Perth, Western Australia.

Department of Environment (DoE) 2004b, *Contaminated Sites Management Series* - *Potentially Contaminating Activities, Industries and Land Uses,* Department of Environment, Perth.

Department of Health (DoH) 2004, *Mosquito Management Manual*, Department of Health, Perth.

Department of Water (DoW) 2004-2007, Stormwater Management Manual for Western Australia, Department of Water, Perth.



Department of Water 2010, Report for Murray Drainage and Water Management Plan and Associated Studies Floodplain Development Strategy (draft) dated February 2010

Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) 2008, *Environmental Guidance for Planning and Development. Guidance Statement No 33.* Environmental Protection Authority, Perth, Western Australia.

GHD 2005, Urban Non-Potable Water Use: guidelines for developers and consultants considering non-potable water options, report for Water Corporation, November 2005.

Government of Western Australia 2007, State Water Plan, Department of Premier and Cabinet.

Standards Australia/Standards New Zealand 1998, Water Quality: Sampling, Part I: Guidance on the Design of Sampling Programs, Sampling Techniques and the Preservation and Handling of Samples, AS 5667.1:1998, Standards Australia / Standards New Zealand, NSW.

Swan River Trust 2003, *Developing targets for the Swan-Canning Cleanup Program* (SCCP), River Science Issue 7, Government of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia.

Swan River Trust 2009, Healthy Rivers Action Plan

Water Corporation 2008, *Water Supply Consumption Tool*, Water Corporation. Available from:

<http://www.watercorporation.com.au/P/publications\_alternative\_water\_supply.cfm> [25 February 2009].

Western Australian Planning Commission 2002, *Peel Region Scheme Floodplain Management Strategy*, Western Australian Planning Commission, Perth.

Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) 2003, *Acid Sulfate Soils, Planning Bulletin 64*, Western Australian Planning Commission, Perth, Western Australia.

Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) 2008a, Better Urban Water Management, Western Australian Planning Commission, Perth, Western Australia.

Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) 2008b, *Planning Bulletin 92 Urban Water Management*, Western Australian Planning Commission, Perth, Western Australia.



# FIGURES





PRINTED: Wed 13 Oct 10

























Ē

retained vegetation at existing RL 23.00 approx

note: requires detailed examination if seperation between 1:5 and 1:100 event storage is required

1:100 event storage TWL 23.6 volume 4,584m3 area 5,953m2 base 22.80 @0.77 depth Increase depth to 0.9 for surface area of 5,093 m2

1:5 event storage adjust level to 22.70 from 23.10 ADH volume 1,416m3 area 2,600m2

@0.5 depth



en\

LANDSCAPE - PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE PLAN FIGURE 12a Australia

#### Notes:

· tree value and quality to be assessed onsite at POS

design stage, to confirm if retention is suitable,

· existing grass trees to be removed & relocated prior

to earthworks,

• no separation between 1:5 and 1:100 storage,

- 1:5 event overtops 1:1,
- maximum depth 1:1 -- 500 mm
  - 1:5 -- 800mm 1:100 -- 1500mm



muriel court

landscape sketch plan Catchment 2 - Northern POS city of cockburn 5 July 2011

Scale 1:2000 at A4



09-181-f



1:5 event storage area 5,700m2 @0.8 depth TWL 23.4

1:100 event storage is combined 1:5 and 1:1 areas TWL 23.9 volume 15,309m3 area 13,197m2 @1.16 depth



LANDSCAPE - PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE PLAN FIGURE 12b Australia

#### Notes:

 tree value and quality to be assessed onsite at POS design stage, to confirm if retention is suitable,

- · existing grass trees to be removed & relocated prior to earthworks,
- no separation between 1:5 and 1:100 storage,
- 1:5 event overtops 1:1,
- maximum depth 1:1 -- 500mm
  - 1:5 -- 800mm 1:100 -- 1500mm





7

1:100 event storage TWL 25.00 volume 4,368m3 @ 1.2m depth 3640m2 @ 1.5m depth 2912m2

1:5 event storage area 2,100m2 @0.5 depth TWL 24.6

note: no seperation between 1:5 and 1:100 event storage



en

LANDSCAPE - PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE PLAN FIGURE 12c Australia





LL DIMENSIONS IN MILLIMETRES		ALE SPEET SIZE A1 CLENT: 17UM	ENGIN	3															
12233-	COCKBURN CENTRAL BRAVING NUMBER	ENV AUSTRALIA	INEERING - OVER		<ol> <li>SERVICES AND RESTORATION:</li> <li>SERVICES MARKED ON THIS DRAWING ARE APPROXIMATE AND ARE UNCONFIRMED.</li> <li>LOCATE ALL SERVICES WITHIN THE VICINITY OF WORKS PRIOR TO COMMENSATION THAT SERVICES MAY HAVE TO BE FOUND.</li> <li>IN THE EVENT THAT SERVICES MAY HAVE TO BE FOUND.</li> <li>ARRANGE A SITE METRIM WITH THE AUTHORITY CONCERNED, LOCATE ARRANGE AS SITE METRIMS WITH THE AUTHORITY CONCERNED, LOCATE ARRANGE AS SITE METRIM WITH THE AUTOR BOTH PARTIES.</li> <li>ALL PUBLIC AND PRIVATE PROPERTY WITHIN THE ROAD RESERVE AND NUTRIFIERED WITH DURING THE WORKS.</li> </ol>	EARTHWORKS NOTES 1. STRIP TOPSOL AND STOCKPILE 2. PROOF ROLL AGEAS TO BE FILLE 3. IMPORT AND PLACE CLEAN SAND FILL 3. DIPORT AND PLACE CLEAN SAND FILL 4. REPLACE TOPSOL AND FINAL GRADE 5. STABILISE SITE WITH HYDOMULCH	NOTES : 1. TOP SOLL IS TO BE STOCK PILED ON SITE AND RESPREAD AROUND THE VERGES ON COMPLETION OF EARTHMORKS TO BATTERS 2. CONTRACTOR TO MAINTAIN ACCESS TO EXISTING LOTS AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION	1223-01         OVERALL LAYOUT PLAN           1723-02         RATURAUSES PLAN           1723-03         RATURAUSES PLAN           1723-04         RATURAUSES PLAN           1723-05         RATURAUSES PLAN           1723-06         RATURAUSES AND GROUND WATER LEVEL           17233-07         DBANAGE ALTHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-08         CATCHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-09         CATCHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-09         CATCHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-09         DBANAGE ALTHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-09         DBANAGE ALTHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-10         DBANAGE ALTHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-11         CATCHENET - CROSS-SECTIONS SHEET - 1           17233-11         CATCHENET - DESIGN LEVELS           17233-11         CATCHENET - SOCIANT LEVELS	DRA	DIRECTION OF FLOW	DESIGN ROAD LEVEL	DESIGN PAD LEVEL	FILL AREA BASIN	CUT AREA	DESIGN LEVEL CONTOURS	(PROPOSED) CATCHMENT AREAS	CONTOURS	(EXISTING)	
1-01 A	OVERALL LAYOUT PLAN	PTY LTD.	FIGURE 13		E ARE APPROXIMATE AND ARE IT(INITY OF WORKS PRIOR TO AVE TO BE FOUND, ALTHORITY CONCERED, LOCATE ALTHORITY CONCERNING, AND THEFACTION OF BOTH PARTIES, IT MATHIN THE ROAD RESERVE AND MAA CONDITION OR BETTER IF SA.	AND COMPACT IN LAYERS OF	E AND RESPREAD OF EARTHWORKS TO BATTERS I EXISTING LOTS AT ALL TIMES	LAN GROUND WATER LEVEL PLAN GROUND WATER LEVEL PLAN 17 -DESIGN LEVEL SECTIONS SHEET 1 -SECTIONS SHEET 2 -SECTIONS SHEET 2		<b>†</b> •	12.10	25.60			245.0		245.0		











**ENGINEERING - DRA** 

(	$\bigcirc$	INRed	1TUM	1:1500 SWEET SIZE A1		INAGE CAT
3RAWING NUMBER	MURIEL COURT LWMS COCKBURN CENTRAL	50T.		" FNV AIISTRA		<b>CHMENT 1 D</b>
REVISION	DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 1 DESIGN LEVELS	1111 6:			FIGURE 1	<b>INAGE CATCHMENT 1 DESIGN LEVELS</b>
	3RAWING NUMBER REVISION	RAWING NUMBER	TITLE: BAWING NUMBER	TW PROJECT MUREL COURT LWYS DRAINAGE CATCHENT 1 PROJECT MUREL COURT LWYS DESIGN LEVELS OCCRUMNACE CATCHENT 1 PROJECT P	COURT VOID     COURT     ENV AUSTRALIA     MUNEL COURT LAMS     COCREMENT CENTRAL     MUNEL COURT LAMS     COCREMENT CENTRAL	

THIS IS USED FOR NEORMATION COMPETIT APPROVAL TENDER CONSTRUCTION DO NOT USE FOR ANY PURPOSE OTHER THAN THAT NOUCATED

		0 AUTHOR: JH 14-10-10	
AAMSL NOTED INTIAL DRAWING			
83			
SCRIPTION		Datum RL: 19.00 DESIGN SURFACE DEPTH MATURAL SURFACE GROUND WATER LEVEL	
		0.00 22.93 24.12 3.26 26.18	
		20.00 22.92 24.00 3.22 26.14	
		40.00 22.91 24.00 3.00 25.91	
		60.00 22.90 24.00 2.91 25.80	
PR PR		L. SURFAC	
EA MO JBAWN CHECKE	-		
D 39.11.2010 D 11.10.2010 DATE	-		
	1	140.00 22.82 24.00 2.20 25.02	
COPYRIGHT OF ALL THIS DRAWING IS RESERVED BY THE CONSULTANT. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE REPAIL IN COMJUNCTION WITH ALL OTHER RELEVANT DRAWING BELAVING TO THE PROJECT FOR ACCURATE COMBINISTIC OF SERVICES IN CONTRACTOR SHALL BE REFURNED OF SERVICES TO DIVENSIONS BEFORE PREPARATION OF WORKING DRAWING DRAWING SHALL BE RETURNED UPON REDULEST OF THE CONSULTANT AND SHALL BE RETURNED UPON REDULEST			
URAWING IS RE ANT DRAWING R COORDINATION SUPONIZION OF WE ARRAISION OF WE HALL BE RETUR	± [ <u>\</u>	180.00 22.73 24.00 1.12 23.90	
SSERVED BY THE ELATING TO THE ELATING TO THE OF SERVICES, THE SITE ENERKING SITE ENERKING IG IS THE PROPE NED UPON REQU	SECTION H 11000 V 1100	200.00 22.75 23.93 1.14 23.90	
	OF B	220.00 22.74 23.89 1.16 23.90	(
McDowall Affleck DESIGNERS   PROJECT MANAGERS   CONSTRUCTORS 69 Great Northern Hwy Midland Mestern Australia 6056 P0 Box 1377 Midland WA 5936		240.00 22.72 23.97 1.86 24.59	
OWA ROJECT MANA ROJECT MANA Roject Mana Roject Mana Roject Manager Roject Roject Manager Roject Roject		260.00 22.71 24.00 1.94 24.65	
Aff  GERS   CONST I and 1936		280.00 22.70 24.00 2.10 24.80	
		300.00 22.69 24.00 2.61 25.30	
www.mcdow:		320.00 22.69 24.00 3.03 25.71	
T +618 9274 6444 F +618 9250 3433 E manager@mapU.nef.au W www.mcdowallaffleck.com.au		340.00 22.65 24.00 3.36 26.02	
n.au		360.00 22.65 23.96 3.37 26.02	
	RIN	380.00 22.63 23.93 3.37 26.00	
IN STATUTON	G - [	400.00 22.61 23.81 3.34 25.95	
	)RAI	420.00 22.60 23.75 3.30 25.90	
AS SHOWN AT		440.00 22.58 23.75 3.27 25.85	
	- UJ		



LL DIMENSIONS IN MILLIMETRES	$\bigcirc$	ATUM:	AS SHOWN SHEET SIZE: A1		INAGE CA
BRAWING NUMBER	MURIEL COURT LWMS COCKBURN CENTRAL		WAT FNV ANSTRANA PTYNTN		INAGE CATCHMENT T SECTIONS PLAN
12233-06	TITLE	- - -		FIG	
B	S-SECTIONS	5	TN	FIGURE 18	<b>FLAN</b>

480.00         23.06         25.00         2.67         26.33           500.00         23.70         25.00         2.99         26.68           520.00         23.73         25.00         3.17         26.90           529.27         23.75         25.00         3.08         26.83						
520.00 23.73 25.00 3.17 26.90	480.00	23.66	25.00	2.67	26.33	
520.00 23.73 25.00 3.17 26.90						
	500.00	23.70	25.00	2.99	26.68	
529.27 23.75 25.00 3.08 26.83	520.00	23.73	25.00	3.17	26.90	
	529.27	23.75	25.00	3.08	26.83	



ALL DIMENSIONS IN MILLIMETRES		SCALE: SHEET SIZE A1 CLENT	INAGE CATO		
	TO MURIEL COURT LWMS COCKBURN CENTRAL	ENV AUSTRAL	CATCHMENT 2 D		
12233-07	DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 2 DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 2 DESIGN LEVELS	IA PT	DESIGN LEVEI		
Þ	HENT 2 LS		INF 19		

									ē	z	p	g g	
AANG, NOTED NITUL DEAWNG		CHAINAGE	GROUND WATER LEVEL	NATURAL SURFACE	DEPTH	DESIGN SURFACE	Datum RL: 18.00	CHAINAGE	GROUND WATER LEVEL	NATURAL SURFACE	DEPTH 2.21	Datum RL: 18.00 DESIGN SURFACE	
		0.00	21.56	25.74	3.84	25.40		0.00	21.04	23.24	2.21	23.05	
		20.00	21.64	25.02	2.6/	25.4.0		20.00	21.72	23.04	2.17	23.89	
		20.00	21.04	23.72	3.04	23.47		40.00	21.80	23.00	2.49	2429	
		40.00	21.70	25.87	3.88	25.59							
		60.00	21.75	25.47	3.97	25.72	/	60.00	21.88	23.00	2.80	24.68	
		80.00	21.79	25.03	3.99	25.78		80.00	21.96	23.00	3.12	25.08	
								100.00	22.03	23.00	3.45	25.47	
		100.00	21.84	25.00	3.50	25.34		120.00	22.10	23.00	3.25	25.35	
		120.00	21.88	24.76	3.22	25.10	Ę						j
		140.0	21.94	24.48	2.99	24.93		140.00	22.16	23.30	3.01	25.17	
								160.00	22.23	23.25	2.96	25.19	
		160.00	22.01	24.21	2.04	24.05		180.00	22.30	23.00	3.04	25.34	
		180.00	22.08	24.00	2.42	24.50		200.00	22.27	22.6	3.12	25.4.0	
		200.0	0 22.15	24.00	2.35	24.50		200.00	22.31	23.40	5.12	23.47	
S 5		220.0	0 22.22	24.00	2.28	24.50	NATUR AL SU	220.00	22.44	23.63	3.20	25.64	
BL BL							af A CE	240.00	22.51	23.81	3.28	25.79	
8 8		240.0	22.29	24.00	2.21	24.50		260.00	22.59	23.98	3.35	25.94	
30.112010		260.0	22.36	24.00	2.14	24.50		290.00	22.67	24.07	3 20	25.87	
COPYRENT DF ALL THIS DRAWING IS RESERVED BY THE CORSULTANT. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN COMUNICITION WITH ALL OTER BELEVANT DRAWING BELATING TO THE PROJECT FOR ACCARATE COORDINATION OF SERVICES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONDED FOR WORKING DAVINGS OR CONVENCEMENT OF WORK. THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF THE CONSULTANT AND SHALL BE RETURNED UPON REDUCEST.		280.0	22.42	24.00	2.08	24.50		200.00	22.07	24.07	5.20	23.07	
OF ALL THIS THIS DRAWN THES RELEVA ACCURATE C HALL BE RES EFORE PREPJ EFORE PREPJ EFORE PREPJ EFORE PREPJ EFORE PREPJ		300.0	0 22.49	24.00	2.01	24.50		300.00	22.75	24.24	2.81	25.57	
DRAWING IS F NG IS TO BE R NT DRAWING DORONATION DORONATION DRATION OF V URATION OF V URATION OF V URATION OF A URATION OF V								320.00	22.83	24.37	2.56	25.39	
RESERVED BY RELATING TO RELATING TO RELATING TO RESERVICES R SITE CHECK VORKING DRA VORKING DRA RINED UPON R	H 1:1000 V		22.56	24.00	1.94	24.50	AAMG	340.00	22.91	24.39	2.63	25.54	
THE NICTION THE S. THE S. THE NIS ALL NINGS LUEST.	H 1000 V 100 07	340.0	22.63	24.00	1.87	24.50	AANGL 07	260.00	22.00	21.60	2.70	25.40	-
DESIG 69 Gr		360.0	0 22.70	24.00	1.80	24.50		360.00	22.99	24.00	2.70	25.69	
McDowall A Designers   PROJECT MANAGERS   69 Great Northern Hwy Midland Western Australia 6056		380.0	0 22.77	24.00	1.73	24.50		380.00	23.09	24.55	2.74	25.84	
McDowall Affleck Designers   project manngers   constructors 69 Great Northern Hwy Midland We thern Australia 6056								400.00	23.20	24.47	2.82	26.02	
Aff EERS   CON		400.0	22.83	24.00	1.67	24.50		420.00	23.30	24.52	2.98	26.28	
		420.0	22.90	24.00	1.60	24.50	DESIGN SURFACE		22.1.0	2/ 30	2 14	26.50	
T +618 9	_	440.0	0 22.97	24.00	1.53	24.50	E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	440.00	23.40	24.32	3.10	26.50	
2714 6444	ENC	460.0	23.03	24.00	1.47	24.50		460.00	23.50	24.31	3.29	26.80	
T +618 9274 6444 F +618 9250 E manager@mspl.net.au W www.mc/owalfilesk.rom.au	ENGINEERING							480.00	23.57	24.35	3.45	27.01	
9250 3433		480.0	23.09	24.00	1.41	24.50		500.00	23.60	24.44	3.31	26.91	
	NINC	500.0	23.15	24.05	1.35	24.50							
THIS IS ISSUED FOR RECEIVING COMPENTION COMPENIATION COMPENIAL FENCE RECEIVES FOR ANY PURPOSE OTHER THAN THAT NUCLED OTHER THAN THAT NUCLED	1	520.0	0 23.21	24.24	1.44	24.66		520.00	23.59	24.53	3.21	26.80	
	DRAINA	540.0	0 23.28	24.64	1.71	24.98		540.00	23.58	24.62	3.02	26.60	
	NN/	340.0		2.4.94		2.4.70		560.00	23.58	24.71	2.92	26.49	
	~	560.0	23.33	24.75	1.81	25.15							



ALL DIME	$\mathbb{D}$	SCALE: AS SHO DATUM:	NAGE	560.00	23 33	24.75	1.81	25.15		56	0.00	23.58	24.71	2.92	26.49		
DO NOT SCALE		, NM	G E		23.33		1.01	23.13		58	0.00	23.57	24.89	3.13	26.70		
		3215 13	0	580.00	23.33	25.00	1.90	25.23									
		A								60	0.00	23.57	25.00	3.34	26.90		
<u> </u>	PRO JE	CLIENT	<b>7</b>	600.00	23.32	25.22	2.01	25.33									
	CI.		CATCHMENT							62	0.00	23.56	25.00	3.55	27.11		
	COC	ENV		620.00	23.31	25.49	2.13	25.44									
	KBURN									64	0.00	23.55	25.00	3.76	27.31		
	MURIEL COURT LWMS COCKBURN CENTRAL	AUS	Г 2	640.00	23.31	25.70	2.36	25.66									
BRAWI	AL	ST								66	0.00	23.55	25.00	3.77	27.31		
NG NUMB		RA	i m	660.00	23.30	25.97	2.58	25.88									
12233	TITLE	TRALIA								68	0.00	23.54	25.00	3.62	27.16		
ĥ	A		SECTIONS PLAN				2.81	26.10									
-08	TCHME	ΡT	Ž	681.17	23.30	26.00	2.82	26.11	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	70	0.00	23.53	25.00	3.47	27.00		
	CATCHMENT 2 CROSS-SECTIONS SHEET 1	$\prec$	E S														
REVIS	ROSS-S	LTD.								72	0.00	23.53	25.00	3.32	26.85		
B	SECTION	D	l₽ I₽											3.32	26.84	/	
	SN		20 <b>1</b>													_	

		CHANNAGE         CHANNAGE				GROUND WATER LEVEL CHAINAGE	NATURAL SURFACE	Datum RL: 19.00 DESIGN SURFACE	
42		OF WATER LEVEL 0.83 23.00 24.04 2.84 25.5	91			GROUND WATER CHAINAGE	NATURAL SU	Datum RL: 19.	
42		OF WATER LEVEL 0.83 23.00 24.04 2.84 25.5	91			GROUND WATER CHAINAGE	NATURAL SU	Datum RL: 19.	
42		OF WATER LEVEL 0.83 23.00 24.04 2.84 25.5	91			GROUND WATER CHAINAGE	NATURAL SU	Datum RL: 19.	
42		OF WATER LEVEL 0.83 23.00 24.04 2.84 25.5	91			GROUND WATER CHAINAGE	NATURAL SU	Datum RL: 19/ DESIGN SURF/	
42		OF WATER LEVEL 0.83 23.00 24.04 2.84 25.5	91			GROUND WATER	NATURAL SU	Datum RL: 19.	
42		OF WATER LEVEL 0.83 23.00 24.04 2.84 25.5	91			GROUND WATER CHAINAGE	NATURAL SU	Datum RL: 19. DESIGN SURFJ	
42		OF WATER LEVEL 0.83 23.00 24.04 2.84 25.5	91			GROUND WATEF	NATURAL SU	Datum RL: 19.	
42		ATER LEVEL 23.00 24.64 2.84 25.5	91			VATER	SU	JRFL 19.	
42						( LEVEL	RFACE	ACE	
42		23.00 23.09 24.40 2.81 25.9				0.00 22.33	24.55 2.52	24.85	/
42			.90			20.00 22.33	24.03 2.75	25.07	
42		40.00 23.11 24.10 2.74 25.8	86			40.00 22.33	24.00 2.97	25.30	
42		6).00 23.14 24.00 2.61 25.7	.75	_		60.00 22.32	24.00 3.09	25.41	
		83.00 23.16 24.00 2.40 25.5	57			80.00 22.31	24.00 3.07	25.38	
8		110.00 23.18 24.00 2.21 25.3	38	NATURAL SU		100.00 22.29	24.00 3.04	25.33	RFACE
30.112010		120.00 23.19 24.00 2.01 25.2	20	SURFACE		120.00 22.28	24.00 2.86	25.14	
DE HE COL CONTRACT CONTRACT CONTRACT CONTRACT CONTRACT CONTRACT CONTRACT		140.00 23.20 24.00 1.82 25.0	.02	1		140.00 22.26	24.00 2.79	25.06	
HIT OF ALL THIS NIT. THIS DRAWN NIT. THIS DRAWN FOR ACCURATE IS BEFORE DRA SIS DEFORE DRA SIS DEFORE DRAWN SIS DRA		160.00 23.22 24.12 1.81 25.0	03			160.00 22.25	24.00 2.42	24.67	
DPANING IS RE NIG S TO BE REJ CONDUCT RAAWING IS RE CONDUCT RAAWING IS CONDUCT RAAWING IS CONDUCT RAAWING IS CONDUCT RAAWING IS SPONSALE FOR CONDUCT RAAWING IS SPONSALE FOR CONDUCT RAAWING IS REFERENCE CONDUCT FOR AWING IS REFERENCE CONDUCT FOR AWING IS REFERENCE CONDUCT FOR AWING IS REFERENCE CONDUCT FOR AWING IS REFERENCE		110.00 23.23 24.19 1.81 25.0	04	_	- 40	180.00 22.24	24.00 2.26	24.50	
COPYRONT OF ALL THIS DRAWING IS RESERVED BY THE CORVITANT. THIS DRAWING IS RESERVED BY THE CORVITALL DIFER RELEVANT DRAWING IS NOT READ IN COMUNIC TO OPERATION SHALL BE RESPONSILE FOR SITE DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES BEFORE RESPONSILE FOR SITE DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES DEFORE RESPONSILE FOR SITE DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES DEFORE RESPONSILE FOR SITE DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES DEFORE RESPONSILE FOR SITE DEFORMAL ALL DREVENDES DEFORMAL ALL D	SECTI H 1:1000 V	200.00 23.24 24.25 1.81 25.0	05	_	SECTION H 1:1000 V 1:100	200.00 22.22	24.00 2.28	24.50	
	SECTION F H 1:1000 V 1:100 07	220.00 23.26 24.37 1.42 24.0	.67			220.00 22.21	24.00 2.29	24.50	
	$\cup$	240.00 23.27 24.54 1.23 24.5	.50			240.00 22.19	24.00 2.31	24.50	AAHGL
DWAI		250.00 23.28 24.63 1.22 24.5	.50			260.00 22.18	24.00 2.32	24.50	
McDowall Affleck designers   project managers   constructors of Great Northern Hwy Midland		280.00 23.30 24.81 1.20 24.5	.50	AAMGL		280.00 22.17	24.00 2.37	24.54	Design
		300.00 23.31 25.00 1.19 24.5	.50			300.00 22.15	24.00 2.58	24.73	DESIGN SURFACE
<b>ENGINEERI</b>		320.00 23.32 25.00 2.46 25.7	.78			320.00 22.14	24.00 2.75	24.89	
GINI		340.00 23.34 25.00 2.12 25.4	46	DESIGN		340.00 22.12			
ENGINEERING		350.00 23.35 25.00 2.70 26.0				360.00 22.11			
		330.00 23.36 25.00 2.75 26.1							
G - DRA THIS IS ISSUED FOR THIS IS ISSUED FOR COMMENTION COMMENTION TAMER AND FURIOSE TO NOT USE FOR ANY PURPOSE TO THEM THAN I MUCATED						380.00 22.10			
		400.00 23.35 24.93 3.24 26.5				400.00 22.08			
		420.00 23.34 24.71 3.50 26.8 (440.00 23.33 24.51 3.03 26.3				420.00 22.07 426.42 22.06			

ALL DIMENSIONS IN MILLIMETRES DO NOT SCALE	$\bigcirc$	ATUM	VAGE CAT
BRAWING NUMBE	MURIEL COURT LWMS COCKBURN CENTRAL	ENV AUSTRA	VAGE CATCHMENT 2 SECTIONS PLAN 2 FIGURE 21
12233-09 B	TITLE CATCHMENT 2 CROSS-SECTIONS	ENV AUSTRALIA PTY LTD.	FIGURE 21
	s		21 2


09-181-f22.dgn DRAWN: TE 14-10-10 AUTHOR: JH 14-10-10

PRINTED: Tue 30 Nov 10

LL DIMENSIONS IN MILLIMETRES DO NOT SCALE	$\bigcirc$	ATUM .	ALE: SHEET SIZE: A1		<b>INAGE CA</b>
BRAWING NUMBER	MURIEL COURT LIMMS COCKBURN CENTRAL		ENV ANSTRANA PTY I TO		<b>INAGE CATCHMENT 3 DESIGN LEVELS</b>
12233-10 REV	DRAINAGE CATCHMENT 3 DESIGN LEVELS			FIGU	ESIGN LEV
A	S S		5	FIGURE 22	VELS

REVISION	×	8					<u>)-1</u>
	INITIAL DRAWING	AAMGL NOTED		1			
	6						
DESCRIPTION							
NON							
						CHAINAGE	
						198.16 200.00	23
						220.00	23
DESIGN	PR	PR		-		240.00	23
DRAWN CHE	R	EA N		-		260.00	23
ECKED DATE	MD	HD 30.11.2010		_		280.00	23
	UF ITE LUI		COPY8 CONSULT WITH A PROJECT CONTRACT DIMENSO			300.00	23
	DULIANI AND D	CEMENT OF WOR	COPYRGHT OF ALL THIS DRAWING IS RESERVED BY THE CORSULTANT. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN COMUNICTION WITH ALL OTHER RELEVANT DRAWING BELATING TO THE PORTOF OR SHALL BE RECOVENED FOR DRETO THE OFFICIAL ALL OWNERSONS BEFORE PREVARATION OF VORKING DRAWINGS DWEISONS BEFORE PREVARATION OF VORKING DRAWINGS			320.00	23
	WALL BE RE I URD	C THIS DRAWING	DRAWING IS RES NG IS TO BE REA ANT DRAWING RE COORDINATION OF SPOONSIBLE FOR S ARATION OF WO		± [V]	340.00	23
	UP THE LORGOLTANT AND SHALL BE RETURNED UP ON REQUEST	OR COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY	COPYRGIT OF ALL THIS DRAWING IS RESERVED BY THE CORSULTANT. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN COLUMICTION WITH ALL OTHER RELEVANT DRAWING RELATING TO THE PROJECT OR ALCURATE CORSUMNTION OF SERVICES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL DE RECOVERSE FOR SITE THECKING ALL DIVENSIONS EFFORE PREPARATION OF WORKING DRAWINGS		H 1:1000 V 1:100	360.00	23
PO					10	380.00	23
Box 1377 Mid	Western Australia 6056	ireat Norther	ICDO			400.00	23
PO Box 1377 Midland WA 6936	6056	69 Great Northern Hwy Midland	WAL /			420.00	23
			McDowall Affleck designers   project managers   constructions			440.00	23
A MAN	E mana	T +618	See.			460.00	23
Www.mcdowallaffleck.com.au	manager@mapl.net.au	9274 6444		E		480.00	23
leck.com.au	-au	+618 9274 6444 🖡 +618 9250 3433		ENGINEERING - DRAIN		500.00	23
				EER		520.00	23
		OTHER THAN THAT INDICATED	THIS IS ISSUED FOR INFORMATION COMMENT APPROVAL TENDER CONSTRUCTION	NG -		540.00	23
		5 >	. 8	1 1		560.00	23





LL DIMENSIONS IN MILLIMETRES	$\bigcirc$	- TUM	AS SHOWN SHEET SIZE: A1		INAGE CA
BRAWING NUMBER	MURIEL COURT LWMS COCKBURN CENTRAL		WATE FUV ALISTRALIA PTY I TO		<b>INAGE CATCHMENT 3 SECTIONS PLAN</b>
12233-11	TITLE: CATCHMENT 3 CROSS-SECTIONS			FIGU	ECTIONS F
B	-SECTIONS		כ	FIGURE 23	NAJe

# **APPENDIX A**

# GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION REPORT



# DISTRICT STRUCTURE PLAN DEVELOPMENT AREA 19 CITY OF COCKBURN WESTERN AUSTRALIA

### GEOTECHNICAL AND ACID SULPHATE SOIL ASSESSMENT

MAY 2007 Ref: 06036.01

FOR KOLTASZ SMITH



Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd Suite 4, 47 Monash A've Como WA 6152 Tel (08) 9368 2615

#### CONDITIONS RELATING TO THIS REPORT

- This report has been prepared for the sole use of the City of Cockburn. It has been issued in accordance with the agreed terms and scope detailed in the proposal for the investigation. No responsibility or liability to any third party is accepted for any damages arising out of the use of this report.
- 2. This report has been prepared by suitably qualified and experienced personnel for the purposes stated herein. Every care is taken with the report as it relates to interpretation of sub-surface conditions, discussion of findings and recommendations given. No responsibility for the consequences of extrapolation by others is accepted by the company.
- 3. Findings and conclusions produced in the report are based on the investigation of the sub-surface through isolated locations. Conditions between investigated sites are based on extrapolation, interpretation and professional estimates. Unexpected variations in ground conditions often occur which cannot always be anticipated. The conclusions and recommendations in the report were considered accurate at the time of issue and based on certain assumptions at the time. Conditions and assumptions change with time and may affect the accuracy of the report.
- Certain content within this report is based on information provided by the client and/or other parties and the accuracy of this information cannot be guaranteed.
- 5. These conditions must be read as part of the report and must be reproduced with all future copies.
- 6. The recommendations of this report should be considered a starting point. Recommendations should be continuously reviewed during the earthworks stage as sub-surface information and results from monitoring become available. It is strongly recommended that the Company be retained to provide consultancy and/or inspections during the earthwork stages.

TANKE OF CONTENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS

2	Site I	Location 1
3	Site I	Details and Background1
4	Geole	ogy and Environmental Studies1
5	Obje	ectives
6	Meth	hodology and Scope of Works
7	Field	dwork and Laboratory Testing
	7.1	Investigation Fieldwork
	7.2	ASS Field Testing
	7.3	Laboratory Testing
8	Resu	ults
	8.1	Subsurface Conditions
	8.2	<ul> <li>8.1.1 Fill</li></ul>
9	Ana	alysis and Discussion
,	9.1	Subsurface Conditions
	9.2	Site Classification
	9.3	Earthwork Requirements
	9.4	Borrow Materials
	9.5	Groundwater
	9.6	Soil Permeability and Drainage
	9.7	Public Open Spaces
	9.8	CBR for Road Pavement Design
	2.0	Acid Sulphate Soils

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Site Location Plan
Figure 2	Site Layout and Test Location Plan
Figure 3	Potential Acid Sulphate Soils Zones

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Test Pit Logs
Perth Sand Penetrometer Plots
Geotechnical Laboratory Test Certificates
Acid Sulphate Soil Field Test Results
Acid Sulphate Soil laboratory Test Certificates
Acid Sulphate Soil Assessment Criteria

#### 1 Introduction

A District Structure Plan (DSP) is currently being prepared for the City of Cockburn's Development Area 19, Jandakot. As part of the DSP a geotechnical and acid sulphate soil assessment is required. Brown Geotechnical & Environmental was commissioned by Koltasz Smith (Project Engineers) on behalf of associated land owners to undertake the assessment. This report presents the results of the assessment.

The terms of reference for the assessment were outlined in Brown Geotechnical and Environmental's proposal dated 4 August 2006. Instructions to proceed with the investigation were received from the Koltasz Smith on 4 October 2006.

Details and plans for the development area, survey plans and contact details for individual Lot owners were supplied through Koltasz Smith.

#### 2 Site Location

Development Area 19 lies at the northwest corner of the intersection of North Lake Road and the Kwinana Freeway. The land is approximately 16km south of the Perth central business district and approximately 10km southeast of Fremantle, within the City of Cockburn. The land adjoins the predominantly developed suburb of South Lake to the west along Semple Court, abuts the Kwinana Freeway to the east, and is bounded by Verna Court to the north and North Lake Road to the south.

#### **3** Site Details and Background

The area has previously been used for a mixture of rural lifestyle, horse agistment and similar related activities. Some light industrial and commercial activities have also been present in the area. Immediately to the west there is history of market gardens.

The area is characterized by low density housing surrounded by grassed paddocks and occasional trees. An area of very dense trees is present towards the south eastern corner and past aerial photographs show groundwater in a small lake bed within this area. During the investigation this area was dry; however a depression with old reeds was evident, though inaccessible to the excavator.

The site area is generally level at approximately 24m AHD with high points to approximately 27m AHD in the central south and northeast.

#### 4 Geology and Environmental Studies

The Environmental Geology sheet for the area [2] indicates the site to be underlain by Thin Bassendean Sands over the Guildford Formation (consisting of silts and clays) in the north and south, with Bassendean Sands running west to east through the centre. A pocket of Swamp deposits consisting of silty sand is present towards the south eastern corner.

The Perth Groundwater Atlas [3] shows the maximum historical groundwater level to be approximately 23m AHD.

The City of Cockburn, Arterial Drainage Scheme Review Nov 2005 [4] show design regional groundwater levels to range from 23.5m AHD in the east of the development area to 20m AHD in the west. The hydraulic gradient is therefore to the west.

The WAPC Bulletin No.64 May 2007 – *Acid Sulphate Soils, Central Perth Metro Area* [5] shows the potential for Acid Sulphate Soils (ASS) over the majority of the site to be medium to low. The exception to this is towards the south eastern corner where high risk soils are indicated and are likely to be associated with the swamp deposits show on the geological map.

#### 5 Objectives

It was essential that the geotechnical and acid sulphate soil assessment methodology for the development area was consistent with the requirements for a Structure Plan as detailed in the Town Planning Scheme and WAPC Guidelines for the Preparation of Local Structural Plans in Urban Release Areas (June 1992).

The following issues will therefore be addressed in this report:

- Subsurface conditions.
- Present site classifications in accordance with AS 2870-1996 [1].
- Earthwork required to obtain site classifications suitable for the development of the area.
- The suitability of soils within the area to be used as borrow material for residential or industrial land fill.
- Groundwater levels.
- Drainage and soil permeability issues.
- Public Open Spaces.
- Design CBR's for road pavement design.
- Potential acid sulphate soil issues.

#### 6 Methodology and Scope of Works

To enable an assessment of the geotechnical issues highlighted in Section 5, it was proposed to carry out a limited test pitting exercise across the whole development area. Perth sand penetrometer testing would also be carried out to determine the relative density of sands and current groundwater levels would be recorded in test pits. Selected soil samples would be collected for field descriptions and laboratory testing.

It was also proposed to use the test pitting exercise to assess the extent of the high risk ASS in the south eastern corner of the site. An increased density of test pits would be required in this area. ASS field testing would be carried out on samples from test pits in this area at selected depths.

The fieldwork would be followed by laboratory testing to determine relevant geotechnical properties of the soils and potential ASS risk.

#### 7 Fieldwork and Laboratory Testing

#### 7.1 Investigation Fieldwork

The fieldwork was undertaken during the period from 15 March 2007 to 23 March 2007. Thirty-four test pits were excavated across the site using a 5 tonne excavator. The test pits were extended to a maximum depth of 2.7m. Occasionally test pits were terminated early due to the test pit walls collapsing or where refusal in very dense material was encountered. Perth sand penetrometer (PSP) tests were carried out to determine relative density of the soils at thirty locations. Soil samples were obtained from the test pits for field descriptions, ASS field testing, geotechnical and ASS laboratory testing. Groundwater levels were recorded where encountered.

The original grid system envisaged proved impossible to implement due to site access problems with the high number Lots owners involved. Test pits were located on accessible Lots and an acceptable coverage of the development area was attained. Access into the dense area of trees in the southern corner of the site proved impossible due to the dense vegetation and owner access issues.

Test pit and PSP locations are shown in Figure 1, with test pit logs enclosed in Appendix A and PSP plots in Appendix B.

#### 7.2 ASS Field Testing

Thirty-six soil samples were selected for preliminary ASS testing. Field tests were carried out on all the samples and included the initial pH of the soil  $(pH_F)$  and pH after oxidation by hydrogen peroxide  $(pH_{FOX})$ , in accordance with the DoE's 'Identification and Investigation of Acid Sulphate Soils and Groundwater' [6] and 'Guidelines for Sampling and Analysis of Lowland Acid Sulphate Soils in Queensland' [7]. ASS field test results are presented in Appendix D.

#### 7.3 Laboratory Testing

Soil samples were delivered to Western Geotechnics Group laboratories for particle size distributions determinations, percent fines determinations and organic contents. Soil samples were also delivered to ALS Environmental for ASS laboratory testing. The geotechnical laboratory test certificates are presented in Appendix C and ASS laboratory test certificates in Appendix D.

#### 8 Results

#### 8.1 Subsurface Conditions

Subsurface conditions encountered in the test pits and inferred from laboratory testing and penetrometer test results are described as follows:

#### 8.1.1 Fill

Fill was encountered in TP1, 2, 17, 22, 23, 25, 29, 30 and 31. The majority of the fill material encountered consisted of reworked or imported sand often containing gravel of limestone associated with old road base. The depth of fill extended to approximately 0.5m. In TP29 fill

was encountered to 1m depth and consisted of household rubbish and building materials in a sandy matrix.

#### 8.1.2 Topsoil

Topsoil was encountered in seventeen of the test pits and generally consisted of dark grey, fine and medium grained sand with rootlets and occasional roots. The thickness of the topsoil varied from 0.2m to 0.5m.

#### 8.1.3 Sand

Medium grained, grey sand with a trace of silt was encountered below the topsoil or fill in all test pits. The sand extended beyond the base of all test pits. The sand from TP25 and 28 contained traces of organic material, with laboratory results indicating low values of up to 0.85%.

The relative density of the sand was generally medium dense, becoming dense below approximately 1.5m depth. In TP19, 20, 24, 27 and 32 the sand was dense throughout. In TP23, 26 and 33 sands were loose to 1m depth.

The test pits walls were generally stable, only occasionally collapsing in looser sands above approximately 1.5m depth as the excavations deepened.

#### 8.1.4 Coffee Rock

Very dense (weakly cemented), brown sand, colloquially named coffee rock, was encountered in TP14 and TP15 below 1.6m and 2.0m depth respectively. The 5 tonne excavator refused in the material at approximately 2.2m depth.

#### 8.1.5 Groundwater

Groundwater was encountered in a number of the test pits. Groundwater depths and reduced levels are shown in Table 1. Ground levels have been taken from survey plans provided.

Table 1 - Groundwater Depth											
Location	Groundwater Depth (m BGL)	Ground Level (m AHD)	Groundwater Level (m AHD)								
TP17	2.4	25.0	22.6								
TP20	2.2	23.6	21.4								
TP27	2.4	24.8	22.4								
TP28	2.5	24.0	21.5								
TP29	2.1	23.8	21.7								
TP30	2.3	24.0	21.7								
TP31	2.1	24.5	22.4								
TP32	2.3	24.8	22.5								
TP33	2.0	23.8	21.8								
TP34	2.1	22.8	20.7								

Table	1	-	<b>Groundwater Depth</b>	
-------	---	---	--------------------------	--

The maximum groundwater level encountered was 22.6m AHD (2.4m bgl) in the north east corner of the site (TP17). The minimum depth to groundwater encountered was 2.0m (21.8m AHD) in the west of the site (TP33).

4

#### 8.2 Test Results

### 8.2.1 Geotechnical Laboratory Test Results

Laboratory test results are summarised in Table 2.

Test Pit		Organic	Particle Size Distribution							
No.	Depth (m)	Depth (m) Content (%) Fines Sand (%)		Sand (%)		USC				
			(%)	fine	medium	coarse	(%)			
TP5	0.5 – 1.5	-	2	6	75	17	0	SP		
TP7	1.3 - 2.5	-	2	10	75	13	0	SP		
TP11	0.5 – 1.5	-	I	-	-	-	-	SP		
TP13	0.5 – 1.5	-	1	-	-	-	-	SP		
TP15	0.5 – 1.5	-	2	16	76	6	0	SP		
TP17	0.9 - 2.0	-	0	9	78	13	0	SP		
TP20	0.5 - 1.5	-	2	12	80	6	0	SP		
TP22	1.5 - 2.5	-	1	5	78	16	0	SP		
TP28	0.5 – 1.5	0.8	3	11	75	11	0	SP		

## Table 2 – Geotechnical Laboratory Test Results

Sands tested were poorly graded with low fines content. Organic contents were low.

# 8.2.2 Acid Sulphate Soil Test Results

ASS field test results are summarised in Table 3.

Test Pit No	Depth (m)	pH <sub>F</sub> (field)	pH <sub>FOX</sub> (post oxidation)	Reaction Strength
TPI	0.5	6.9	5.1	Moderate
TPI	1.5	7.2	5.5	Slight
TPI	2.5	6.9	5.0	Slight*
	0.5	6.8	4.9	Slight
TP2 TP2	1.5	7.2	5.2	Slight
TP2	2.5	7.1	5.0	Slight
TP2 TP3	0.5	6.7	4.2	Slight
TP3	1.5	6.6	4.5	Slight*
TP3	2.5	7.1	5.2	Slight
TP4	0.5	7.0	3.8	Slight
TP4	1.5	5.8	3.8	Slight*
	2.5	6.2	4.8	Slight
TP4	0.5	6.3	4.7	Slight
TP5		6.2	4.7	Slight
TP5	1.5	6.5	4.9	Slight
TP5	2.5		4.9	Slight
TP9	0.5	6.8	4.7	Slight
TP9	1.5	6.9		Slight
TP9	2.5	6.8	4.9	Slight
TP26	0.5	6.2	4.6	Slight*
TP26	1.5	6.2	4.5	Slight
TP26	2.5	6.3	4.6	Slight
TP27	0.5	6.0	4.8	
TP27	1.5	6.3	4.8	Slight*
TP27	2.5	6.0	5.9	Slight
TP28	0.5	6.1	5.0	Slight
TP28	1.5	6.2	4.8	Slight
TP28	2.5	6.3	4.9	Slight
TP29	0.5	7.9	4.9	Slight
TP29	1.5	7.7	5.2	Slight
TP29	2.5	7.3	4.6	Strong*
TP30	0.5	7.3	4.3	Moderate*
TP30	1.5	6.8	4.7	Slight
TP30	2.5	6.8	4.6	Slight
	0.5	7.0	4.5	Moderate*
TP31		7.0	5.0	Slight
TP31	1.5	7.0	5.1	Slight*
TP31	2.5		2.9	Moderate*
TP32	0.5	6.1		Slight*
TP32	1.5	6.3	4.1	Slight

Table 3 – Acid Sulphate Soil Field Test Results

\* Selected for laboratory testing.

The field results show the actual  $pH_F$  of the soil to be non-acidic i.e. generally  $pH_F > 6$ . The  $pH_{FOX}$  results however indicated that some soils in the vicinity of the high risk area may become acidic if oxidised, with  $pH_{FOX}$  of 2.9 in TP32 and 3.8 in TP4. These samples and samples showing volatile reactions were sent for confirmatory laboratory analysis to confirm sulphitic content.

ASS laboratory test results are summarised in Table 4.

	Sample		TP1	TP3	TP4	TP4	TP26	TP27	TP29	<b>TP30</b>	TP31	<b>TP31</b>	<b>TP32</b>	<b>TP32</b>
	Depth		0.25	1.5	1.5	2.5	1.5	1.5	2.5	0.5	0.5	2.5	0.5	1.5
Analyte grouping / Analyte	Units	LOR												
EA033-A: Actual Acidity														5.0
pH KCl (23A)	pH Unit	0.1	6.5	6.2	5.4	6.6	6.4	6.2	6.6	6.7	6.9	6.2	4.9	5.8
Titratable Actual Acidity (23F)	mole H+/t	2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2
sulfidic - Titratable Actual Acidity	% pyrite S	.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02
Potential Acidity										-				
Chromium Reducible Sulfur (22B)	% S	0.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02
acidity - Chromium Reducible Sulfur	mole H+ / t	10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting														
ANC Fineness Factor		0.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Net Acidity (sulfur units)	% S	0.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02	<.02
Net Acidity (acidity units)	mole H+/t	10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10

Table 4 – Acid Sulphate Soil Laboratory Test Results

All results are below critical threshold limits (see Appendix E).

#### 9 Analysis and Discussion

#### 9.1 Subsurface Conditions

Evidence from the limited test pitting exercise has shown the whole of Development Area 19 to be underlain by medium grained, grey sand to a depth of at least 2m. This formation is consistent with the Bassendean Sands shown on the geological map for the area [2].

The laboratory test results show the sand to have a low fines content (approximately 2%) and a zero gravel content. In-situ penetrometer testing has shown the density of the sand to be generally medium dense, becoming dense below approximately 1.5m depth. Some tests indicated loose sand to approximately 1m depth; however these areas appear to be sporadic across the site. The sand was usually overlain by a thin layer of sandy topsoil.

The geology map for the area indicates the Guildford Formation, consisting of silt and clay deposits, to be present in the northern and southern areas of the site. No evidence of these deposits was uncovered during the investigation.

Pockets of fill were identified during the test pitting exercise and appear to occur randomly across the site. It should be noted that the majority of test pits were located in areas easily accessible to the excavator, such as paddocks or in areas where disruption to occupiers or land owners would be minimised. The test pit positions would therefore not necessarily be located in areas where fill would be expected.

The fill encountered should be suitable for foundation support, however screening to remove deleterious material may be required in some areas. The detailed geotechnical investigations for future individual developments will be able to identify suspect fill areas.

#### 9.2 Site Classification

Future Site Classifications for the area, in accordance with AS 2870 – 1996 [1], are likely to be Site Class 'A'. This assumes the underlying sand identified during this investigation is consistent across the whole site. Detailed geotechnical investigations for future individual developments within the area will be required to confirm site classifications.

#### 9.3 Earthwork Requirements

The majority of the earthworks envisaged as part of any future development will be associated with removal of topsoil, trees, old buildings and associated fill materials. Proof compacting of surface sand will be required, and any filling with imported sands to bring future site developments up to formation levels (see Section 9.6) will require compaction to relevant residential or industrial standards.

#### 9.4 Borrow Materials

The grain size, low fines content and free draining nature of in-situ sands underlying the development area make them suitable for use as imported fill material for residential and industrial building developments.

#### 9.5 Groundwater

The maximum groundwater level encountered during the investigation was 22.6m AHD in the north eastern corner of the site. This was at a depth of 2.4m below existing ground level. The minimum depth to groundwater encountered was 2.0m (21.8m AHD) towards the western boundary of the site.

The City of Cockburn, Arterial Drainage Scheme Review Nov 2005 [4] show design regional groundwater levels to vary from 23.5m AHD in the east of the development area to 20m AHD in the west. The hydraulic gradient therefore being to the west.

It appears from the above study, that the design regional groundwater levels will be closest to the existing ground level in the south eastern corner of the site at approximately 23.5m AHD (1.5m below existing ground level).

#### 9.6 Soil Permeability and Drainage

The grain size, low fines content and free draining nature of in-situ sands underlying the development area make them suitable for the use of soakwells in future developments. It is estimated, based on particle size distribution analysis from laboratory test results, that a permeability value approximating to  $1 \times 10^{-4}$  m/sec would be appropriate for soakwell design. However, as with all geotechnical assumptions within this report, a full geotechnical investigation will be required for each future development to confirm these values.

It is not envisaged that existing ground levels would require raising for site drainage using soakwells. The approximate depth to the design regional groundwater levels is 1.5m.

#### 9.7 Public Open Spaces

The Structure Plan for development areas requires the provision of Public Open Spaces (POS). POS areas often contain lakes both ornamental and for drainage related issues. The free draining nature of the in-situ soils may require the provision of an impermeable lining for the lakes to prevent drying out in times of low groundwater levels.

#### 9.8 CBR for Road Pavement Design

The in-situ sand appears to be consistent across the site. With surface sands compacted to a minimum of 98% SMDD at optimum moisture content, a design CBR of approximately 12% should be appropriate for future road pavement designs [8]. Further geotechnical investigations will be required to confirm this value.

#### 9.9 Acid Sulphate Soils

The WAPC Bulletin No.64 May 2007 – Acid Sulphate Soils, Central Perth Metro Area [5] indicates the potential for acid sulphate generating soils within the development area to be mostly moderate to low. The exception is a pocket of potentially high risk soil towards the south eastern corner.

Moderate to low risk ASS zones require a full ASS investigation if soils are to be disturbed below a depth of 3m or below the groundwater level. High risk ASS zones require detailed ASS investigations if soils are to be disturbed below the existing ground level.

Test pitting was carried out in the vicinity of the south western corner of the development area in order to determine the extent of the high risk soils. Samples taken were field tested for actual pH (pH<sub>F</sub>) and pH after oxidation with hydrogen peroxide (pH<sub>FOX</sub>) which gives an indication of potential acidity should the soils be excavated and exposed to air. Further confirmatory testing was carried out in the laboratory. Samples could not be obtained from the very centre of the high risk hotspot, a small dried up lake area within dense vegetation.

Laboratory results revealed that some sands within the high risk ASS area contained existing acidity, however no potential acidity was identified. Sands containing existing acidity may require remediation during earthworks. This would consist of blending the sands with lime to neutralise the acidity. The extent of any remediation would be confirmed during detailed ASS investigation as part of future developments.

Based on the preliminary acid sulphate assessments, it can be concluded that the sand surrounding the dense vegetated areas denoted as high risk may contain some existing acidity but no potential acidity (refer Figure 3). It should be assumed that high risk soils exist in the centre of the area where the old lake existed.

Detailed ASS investigations will be required for all future developments in the area denoted as high risk by the WAPC Bulletin No.64. It is likely however that these investigations will show little or no potential acidity within the soils, except in the vicinity of the old lake.

If potential ASS soils are identified as part of these detailed investigations, ASS Management Plans will be required to treat acid generating soils. Dewatering Management Plans will also be required if excavations are to extend below groundwater level.

#### **BROWN GEOTECHNICAL & ENVIRONMENTAL**

**Ken Brown** 

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Standards Australia AS 2870 (1996). Residential Slabs and Footings Construction.
- [2] Geological Survey of Western Australia. 1:50,000 Environmental Geology Series, Perth.
- [3] Department of Water: <u>www.environment.wa.gov.au</u>
- [4] The City of Cockburn Cockburn Central and Solomon Road Development Areas, Arterial Drainage Scheme Review Nov 2005.
- [5] DoE and WAPC (Up-dated May 2007). Planning Bulletin No.64. Central Metropolitan Region Scheme Acid Sulphate Soils.
- [6] DoE (2004). Identification and Investigation of Acid Sulphate Soils (August).
- [7] CR Ahern et al (1998). Guidelines for Sampling and Analysis of Lowland Acid Sulphate Soils in Queensland 1998 (October).
- [8] Main Roads Western Australia (April 2004); Engineering Road Note No 9. Procedure for Thickness Design of Flexible Pavements.

# FIGURES







# APPENDIX A

Brown Geotechnical & Environmental      CLIENTCity of Cockburn PROJECT NAMEDistrict Structurial Plan - Development Area      PROJECT NUMBERJ06036.01 PROJECT LOCATIONJandakot      DATUMmAHD      DATUMmAHD      DATUMmAHD      EXCAVATION CONTRACTORBurke ContractingSLOPEBEARING      EQUIPMENT _5 Tonne Mini ExcavatorTEST PTI SIZEOfm xLOGGED BY _TWCHECKED BY _KB      NOTES      Test PTI SIZEOfm xN      Test PTI SIZEOfm xN      Material DescriptionRamana_      ProjectRamana_      ProjectRamana_      ProjectBarnjee      TotRamana_      Project	R	GI						TEST P	IT NUMBER TP1 PAGE 1 OF 1
Visit of the second				Browr	n Geote	echnical & Environmental			
In the second									Development Area 19
EXCAVATION CONTRACTOR     Burke Contracting     SLOPE		START	ED	15/3/0	)7	COMPLETED 15/3/07	R.L. SURFACE _25.6	DAT	UM AHD
EQUIPMENT     5 Tonne Mini Excavator     TEST PIT LOCATION     115.844064E     22.1190525     Mox       TEST PIT SIZE     0.5m X im     LOGGED BY     TW     CHECKED BY     KB       NOTES     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       10     0     0     0     0     0     .050     .050     .050       10     0     0     0     0     0     .050     .050     .050       25.0     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       10     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       10     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       10     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       10     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       120     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       10     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050     .050       .050     .050     .050     .050	EVCAV				TOR	Burke Contracting	SLOPE	BEA	RING
NOTES       1000000000000000000000000000000000000	FOUR	MENT	5 T(	onne N		cavator	TEST PIT LOCATION _11	15.854064E 32.119	90525 MGA
Visite         Visite<			Έ <u></u>	.5m x	<u>ım</u>				
25.5				phic Log	sification	Material Descri	iption	Tests	Additional Observations
255       -	Meth Wate	RL (m)	Depth (m)	Grap	Sym		meetone mad have	<u> </u>	
250         -		<u>25</u> .5	-		FILL	FILL: Light brown, coarse sandy gravel and li	mestone road base		
$\begin{bmatrix} 250 \\ -1 \\ -1 \\ -1 \\ -1 \\ -1 \\ -1 \\ -1 \\ -$			-		05	SAND: Madium dassa modium data ana	ace silt, moist, roots to 1 2m	pH <sub>F</sub> =6.9% pH <sub>F0X</sub> =5.1%	
Participant			0.5		SP	טאראס. ועופטע. ועופטע. ועופטע. ועופטע. ועופטע פאנא אויא אויא אויא אויא אויא אויא אויא א			
$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ q \\ p \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\$		<u>25</u> .0	-						
$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ q \\ p \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\$			-						
$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ q \\ p \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\ q \\$			-						
$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{24.5} & \frac{1}{24.5} & \frac{1}{24.5} \\ \frac{1}{24.0} & \frac{1}{2.0} \end{bmatrix}$ dense below 1.5m			.	-					
1.5     dense below 1.5m				4					
$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{24.0}{2.0} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1.5 \\ \frac{1.5}{2.0} \end{bmatrix}$ dense below 1.5m $\begin{bmatrix} pH_{FOX}=5.5\% \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$	Iterd	24.5		-					
24.0     1.5       24.0     -       -     -	Encourt			-					
24.0 1.5 24.0	L CN			1				рН <sub>F</sub> =7.2% рН <sub>FOX</sub> =5.5%	
24.0 dense below 1.5m			1 -	]					
		24.0				dense below 1.5m		· ·	
				-					
23.5         -          -         -         -			2.	0					
DIG TOT TOT TOT TOT TOT TOT TOT TOT TOT TO	23/1/0	23.5	5	-					
PHE          23.0 <td>IA.GDT</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	IA.GDT			-					
2.5         Borehole TP1 terminated at 2.5m           23.0         -           -         -	ISTRAL			-				pH <sub>e</sub> =6.9%	
2.5     Source       23.0     -       23.0     -       -     -       -     -       -     -       -     -       -     -       -     -       -     -	SINT AL			-				pH <sub>FOX</sub> =5.0%	
	S.GPJ (	+		.5		Borehole TP1 terminated at 2.5m			
REHOLE / TEST PI	T LOGS	23.	0	-					
	EST PI			-					
	OLE / T			-					
й 3.0 3.0	BOREH		3	.0					



OJEC		of Coc	J06036.0	01	PROJECT LOCATION _	Jandakot		
CAVA UIPM ST PI	ATION MENT IT SIZ	5 Ton E	RACTOR	Burke Contracting	TEST PIT LOCATION _11	R.L. SURFACE       25.3       DATUMm AHD         SLOPE        BEARING         TEST PIT LOCATION       115.853048E       32.118670S       MGA         LOGGED BY       TW       CHECKED BY _KB		
Water	RL (m)		Graphic Log Classification Symbol		Description	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
Not Encounterd	<u>25.0</u> <u>24.5</u> <u>24.0</u>			TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dar SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, n dense below 1.5m		pH <sub>F</sub> =6.7% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.2%		
	23	0 - 2.5		Borehole TP3 terminated at 2.5m		pH <sub>F</sub> =7.1% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =5.2%		





		G		Brown		technical & Environmental		ict Structurial F	PAGE 1 OF	
PRO DATI EXC	PROJECT NUMBER J06036.01 DATE STARTED COMPLETED EXCAVATION CONTRACTOR Burke Contracting EQUIPMENT _5 Tonne Mini Excavator TEST PIT SIZE 0.5m x 1m						ROJECT LOCATION R.L. SURFACE _25.4 SLOPE TEST PIT LOCATION _11	PROJECT LOCATION <u>Jandakot</u> R.L. SURFACE <u>25.4</u> SLOPE TEST PIT LOCATION <u>116.853454E</u>		
NOT			Depth (m)	phic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Descr		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS.GPJ GINT AUSTRALIA.GDT 23/1/08	Not Encounterd	<u>24</u> .0 <u>23</u> .5			SP	TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dark gre SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, trace s dense below 1.2m				
T LOGS.GPJ GINT A		23.0	2.5	5		Borehole TP6 terminated at 2.5m		_		
30REHOLE / TEST PI		<u>22</u> .5	3.							

B	G		Brow	n Geot	echnical & Environmental		TEST F	PIT NUMBER TP7 PAGE 1 OF 1	
					01			- Development Area 19	
DATE S EXCAV EQUIPI TEST F	START ATION MENT PIT SIZ	ED	15/3/0 ITRA(	)7 CTOR	COMPLETED 15/3/07 Burke Contracting	R.L. SURFACE         25.5         DATUM         m AHD           SLOPE          BEARING            TEST PIT LOCATION         115.852336E         32.116866S         MGA           LOGGED BY         TW         CHECKED BY         KB			
Method Water		Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Descri		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS.GPJ GINT AUSTRALIA GDT 23/1/08 Not Encounterd Not Encounterd	<u>25</u> .0 <u>24</u> .5				TOPSOIL: Medium dense, fine to medium, da         SAND: Medium dense, medium, light grey, tra         dense below 1.2m         Borehole TP7 terminated at 2.5m		Fines=2% Sand=98% Gravel=0%		

OJEC	CT NU	of Cockb	06036.0	1	PROJECT LOCATIO				
(CAV/ QUIPN EST P	ATION MENT		CTOR _	Burke Contracting	7         R.L. SURFACE         25           SLOPE          TEST PIT LOCATION           LOGGED BY         TW	115.850684E 3	2.118188S MGA		
Water	RL (m)	(m) Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Mate	erial Description	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations		
Not Encounterd	23.5		1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium SAND: Medium dense, medium, lig Collapse below 1.8m dense below 2.4m Borehole TP8 terminated at 2.56	ght grey, trace silt, moist				

RC	JEC	TNU	y of Coo	J06036	.01	PROJECT LOCATION _	Jandakot	
				10.07	COMPLETED 15/3/07	BI SURFACE 25.7	DAT	TUM m AHD
~			CONT	DACTOR	Burke Contracting	SLOPE	BEA	ARING
-	-	TAT	E Ton	no Mini E	veguator	TEST PIT LOCATION	15.650252L 52.11	01000 1110/1
ES		T SIZ	E 0.5	m x 1m		LOGGED BY TW	CHE	ECKED BY KB
	TES							
Method	Water	RL (m)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log Classification Symbol	Material C	Description	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
-	-	()		SP	SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, tr	ace silt, dry		
			-					
		25.5	-		light grey below 0.2m			
							pH <sub>F</sub> =6.8%	
			-				pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.9%	
			0.5					
		25.0						
					moist below 0.7m			
			-					
			1.0					
	pre							
	counte	24.5			dense below 1.2m			
	Not Encounterd							
	z						pH <sub>F</sub> =6.9% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.7%	
			1.5					
			1.5					
			-					
		24.0	' -					
			-					
			-		La			
			2.0					
		23.	5					
		23.	-					1
			-				pH <sub>F</sub> =6.8%	
			-				pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.7%	
	_	-	2.5		Borehole TP9 terminated at 2.5m			1
		23	.0					
2								
-				1				

	30	GI	Brow	n Geote	echnical & Environmental			PAGE 1 0
			of Cockbi			PROJECT NAME PROJECT LOCATION _		- Development Area 19
A T	- C - C	TADT	ED 15/3/	07	COMPLETED	R.L. SURFACE 25.6	DA	TUM _ m AHD
xc	AVA		CONTRA	CTOR	Burke Contracting	SLOPE	BE	ARING
QUIPMENT         5 Tonne Mini Excavator           EST PIT SIZE         0.5m x 1m						TEST PIT LOCATION 1	15.851142E 32.1	168665 MGA
	et pi Tes		E <u>0.5m x</u>	(1m			0	
	Water	RL (m)	(w) thtead Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Desc	ription	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
		25.5	<u>x11x</u> 17 x14	Š.	TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, grey, tra	ace rootlets, dry		
		_	<u>\\</u>				_	
				SP	SAND: Medium dense, medium, light grey, t	Iace Sill, ITOISL		
			0 <u>.5</u>					
		25.0	-					
			-					
			-					
			-					
	terd		1.0					
	Not Encounterd	24.5	-					
	Not F							
			-					
		24.0	1.5					
		24.0						
			2.0					
		23.5			dense below 2.1m			
					146136 DEIOW 2. 111			
					Borehole TP10 terminated at 2.3m			
			2 <u>.5</u>					
		23.0						
			-					
			-					

otechnical & Environmental		TEST PI	PAGE 1 OF 1			
		PROJECT NAME District Structurial Plan - Development Area 19				
COMPLETED 15/3/07	R.L. SURFACE         25.1         DATUM         m AHD           SLOPE          BEARING            TEST PIT LOCATION         115.851447E         32.115748S         MGA					
Material De	scription	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations			
		Fines=1%				
	COMPLETED _15/3/07 Burke Contracting Excavator Material De TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dark ( SAND: Medium dense, medium, light grey dense below 1.2m	PROJECT NAMEDistr PROJECT LOCATION COMPLETED15/3/07 RL_ SURFACE25_1 SLOPE Excavator TEST PIT LOCATION11 LOGGED BY _TW Material Description TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dark grey, rootlets, dry SAND: Medium dense, medium, light grey, trace silt, moilst dense below 1.2m	PROJECT NAME _District Structurial Plan- PROJECT LOCATION _Jandakot COMPLETED _15/3/07RL_SURFACE _25.1PA SLOPE			

B		GI	E	Brown	n Geot	echnical & Environmental		TEST P	PAGE 1 O	
	LIENT _City of Cockburn ROJECT NUMBER _J06036.01						PROJECT NAME District Structurial Plan - Development Area 19 PROJECT LOCATION Jandakot			
DATE	ATE STARTED _15/3/07 COMPLETED _15/3/07 XCAVATION CONTRACTOR _Burke Contracting QUIPMENT _5 Tonne Mini Excavator EST PIT SIZE _0.5m x 1m IOTES						R.L. SURFACE _24.8	DA	ATUMAHD	
equii Test							TEST PIT LOCATION	5.849439E 32.1	17146S MGA	
Method			Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Descr	iption	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
				<u>118</u> 1 <u>7</u> 1 <u>7</u> 1 <u>7</u> 1 <u>7</u> 1 <u>7</u> 1 <u>7</u>		TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dark gre	y, rootlets, dry			
	2	<u>24</u> .5	0.5		SP	SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, trace s	siit, moist			
	-	<u>24</u> .0								
	ounterd		- 1 <u>.0</u> -							
	Enco	<u>23</u> .5	-			wet below 1.5m				
			1 <u>.5</u> -			collpase below 1.5m brown below 1.6m				
		23.0	- 2 <u>.0</u>			dense below 1.8m				
		<u>22</u> .5	-	-						
	_		2.5		2	Borehole TP12 terminated at 2.5m		-		
		<u>22</u> .0		-						
			3.0							

# **TEST PIT NUMBER TP13** BG PAGE 1 OF 1 Brown Geotechnical & Environmental PROJECT NAME District Structurial Plan - Development Area 19 CLIENT City of Cockburn PROJECT LOCATION \_ Jandakot COMPLETED \_ 15/3/07 R.L. SURFACE \_ 24.5 DATUM \_\_\_\_\_ M AHD DATE STARTED 15/3/07 \_\_\_\_\_ SLOPE \_---\_\_\_\_\_\_ BEARING \_---\_ EXCAVATION CONTRACTOR Burke Contracting EQUIPMENT 5 Tonne Mini Excavator LOGGED BY TW CHECKED BY KB TEST PIT SIZE 0.5m x 1m NOTES Classification Symbol Samples Graphic Log Additional Observations Tests Material Description Remarks Method Water RL Depth (m) (m) SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, trace silt, roots to 0.5m, dry SP 0.5 24.0 dense and moist below 0.6m Fines=1% 1.0 23.5 Not Encounterd 1.5 23.0 2.0 22.5 BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS.GPJ GINT AUSTRALIA.GDT 23/1/08 2.5 22.0 Borehole TP13 terminated at 2.5m Ω
## **TEST PIT NUMBER TP14** B PAGE 1 OF 1 Brown Geotechnical & Environmental PROJECT NAME \_\_\_\_\_\_ District Structurial Plan - Development Area 19 CLIENT City of Cockburn PROJECT LOCATION Jandakot DATUM \_\_\_\_\_ M AHD COMPLETED 15/3/07 R.L. SURFACE 25 DATE STARTED 15/3/07 SLOPE \_---BEARING \_---EXCAVATION CONTRACTOR Burke Contracting TEST PIT LOCATION \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_ 115.850024E \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ 32.116053S \_\_MGA EQUIPMENT 5 Tonne Mini Excavator LOGGED BY \_TW \_\_\_\_\_ CHECKED BY \_KB TEST PIT SIZE 0.5m x 1m NOTES Classification Symbol Samples Graphic Log Additional Observations Tests Material Description Remarks Method Water Depth RL (m) (m) TOPSOIL: Medium dense, fine, grey, trace rootlets, dry 14. SAND: Medium dense, medium, light grey, trace silt, moist SP 0.5 24.5 1.0 24.0 Not Encounterd dense below 1.2m 1.5 23.5 COFFEE ROCK: Very dense, medium, brown sand, moist (weakly cemented) E F Ċ E 2.0 23.0 ċ BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS GPJ GINT AUSTRALIA GDT 23/1/08 F F Refusal Borehole TP14 terminated at 2.3m 2.5 22.5 C

		GI				echnical & Environmental	PROJECT NAME Distri	ct Structurial Plan -	PAGE 1 O
						)1		Jandakot	
		TADT	ED	15/3/0	7	COMPLETED 15/3/07	R.L. SURFACE 24	DAT	
xc	CAVA	ATION		ITRAC	TOR	Burke Contracting	SLOPE	BEA	6714S_MGA
QI	JIPN	IENT	5 To	onnel	Mini Ex	cavator	TEST PIT LOCATION         115.848346E         32.116714S         MGA           LOGGED BY         TW         CHECKED BY         KB		
			E _0		1m				
	Water		Depth	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Desc	ription	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
2	>	(m)	(m)	<u>x17</u> x		TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dark gre	ey, rootlets, dry		
			-	<u>1/ 1/1</u>					
			_	12 NU					
			-	<u>1/ \1/</u>	SP	SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, trace	silt, moist	-	
		23.5	0 <u>.5</u>						
			-						
			-						
	terd	23.0	1.0					Fines=2% Sand=98%	
	Not Encounterd	20.0						Gravel=0%	
	Not E					dense below 1.2m			
				_					
				-					
		22.5	1 <u>.</u>	5					
				-					
				-					
				]					
		22.0	2.	0		COFFEE ROCK: Very dense, medium, bro	own sand, moist (weakly cemented)	_	
				F::: - : F:					
	-	-	-		F	Refusal		-	
				-		Borehole TP15 terminated at 2.2m			
				_					
		21.	5 2	.5					
222									
				_					
		21	.0 3	.0					



	OJEC	CT NU	of Co	J0	6036.0	1	PROJECT LOCATION _	Jandakot	
c	CAVA			TRAC		Burke Contracting	R.L. SURFACE _25       DATUMm AHD         SLOPE       BEARING         TEST PIT LOCATION _115.852108E       32.113766S MGA         LOGGED BY _TW       CHECKED BY _KB		
S	ST PI	IT SIZ	E _0.	5m x	1m		LOGGED BYW		
	Water	RL	Depth	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Des	scription	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
	>	(m)	(m)		00	FILL: Medium dense, fine to medium, light	brown, sand, dry		
		<u>24</u> .5	- 0 <u>.5</u>	***	SP	SAND: Medium dense, medium, dark grey	r, trace silt, moist		
			-						
		24.0	1 <u>.0</u>			trace roots at 0.9m			
						dense below 1.2m			
		<u>23</u> .5	1.5	- 5 -				Fines=0% Sand=100% Gravel=0%	
				-					
		23.	0 2.						
		2.4m	5 2	.5		Borehole TP17 terminated at 2.4m			
				-					

	City	of Co	ockbu	rn	echnical & Environmental			PAGE 1 OF an - Development Area 19	
DATE S EXCAV EQUIPIN	START ATION MENT PIT SIZ	ED	16/3/0 TRAC	TOR	COMPLETED 16/3/07 Burke Contracting	R.L. SURFACE           SLOPE           TEST PIT LOCATION	R.L. SURFACE _24.3       DATUMm AHD         SLOPE       BEARING         TEST PIT LOCATION _115.849871E       32.113740S MGA         LOGGED BY _TW       CHECKED BY _KB		
Method Water		Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material De		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
Not Encounterd	<u>24</u> .0 <u>23</u> .5 <u>22</u> .5 <u>22</u> .0				SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, tra dense below 0.9m moist below 1.2m				
	21.5	3.0	-		Borenoie 1P18 terminated at 2.5m				

			of Cockbu	ırn	echnical & Environmental			n - Development Area 19
			MBERJ					
DAT	TE S	TART	ED 16/3/	07	COMPLETED	R.L. SURFACE 24	L	
XC	CAV	ATION	CONTRA	CTOR	Burke Contracting	SLOPE BEARING		
				Mini Ex	xcavator		15.484999E 32	
	st Pi Tes		E <u>0.5m x</u>	1m				
Method	Water	RL (m)	(ш) Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Descr	iption	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
	Not Encounterd	23.5 23.0 22.5 22.0 21.5		SP	SAND: Dense, fine to medium, grey, trace sill medium grained below 0.5m moist below 0.8m light grey, moist below 1.2m	, dry, with rootiets		
		21.0			Borehole TP19 terminated at 2.7m			

		G				echnical & Environmenta				PAGE 1 OF	
			y of C			01					
DA EX EC TE		ATIO	TED _ N COM	16/3/ NTRA	07 CTOR Mini Ex	COMPLETED	6/3/07	R.L. SURFACE       23.6       DATUMm AHD         SLOPE        BEARING         TEST PIT LOCATION       115.846517E       32.111606S       MGA         LOGGED BY       TW       CHECKED BY       KB			
Method	Water	RL (m)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol		Material Descript	ion	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
		<u>23</u> .5 <u>23</u> .0	- - 0 <u>.5</u>			SAND: Dense, medium, grey	r, trace silt, rootlets	to 0.5m, moist			
		<u>22</u> .5	- - 1 <u>.0</u> -						Fines=2% Sand=98% Gravel=0%		
		<u>22</u> .0	- 1 <u>.5</u> -								
	2.2ml	<u>21</u> .5	2.0								
		21.0	2.5	5		Borehole TP20 terminated	at 2.7m				
OKEHOLE / 1ES			3.0	_							

E	30	GI		Brow	n Geot	echnical & Environmental		TEST P	IT NUMBER TP21 PAGE 1 OF 1	
		City				01	PROJECT NAME Distric		- Development Area 19	
DA EX	TE S			16/3/0	07 CTOR Mini Ex	COMPLETED _16/3/07 Burke Contracting	R.L. SURFACE _24       DATUMm AHD         SLOPE       BEARING         TEST PIT LOCATION _115.847305E       32.116205S MGA         LOGGED BY _TW       CHECKED BY _KB			
Method	Water		Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Descri	iption	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
		23.5	0.5	<u>84</u> 5 <u>1</u> 2 <u>84</u> <u>85</u> 5 <u>1</u> 2 <u>84</u> <u>84</u>		TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, grey, dry SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, trace s				
	Not Encounterd	<u>23</u> .0	- - 1 <u>.0</u> -							
		22.5	1.5			Collapse above 1.4m dense below 1.5m				
GINT AUSTRALIA.GDT 23/1/08		22.0				Borehole TP21 terminated at 2.2m				
BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS.GPJ GINT AUSTRALIA.GDT 23/1/08		21.5								

E	30	GI		Brown	n Geote	echnical & Environmental		TEST PI	PAGE 1 OF 1
						11	PROJECT NAME Distri	ict Structurial Plan - Jandakot	Development Area 19
DAT EXC EQU TES	TE S	TART ATION MENT IT SIZ		16/3/0		COMPLETED 16/3/07 Burke Contracting	R.L. SURFACE _22       DATUM _m AHD         SLOPE       BEARING         TEST PIT LOCATION _115.845246E       32.119026S MGA         LOGGED BY _TW       CHECKED BY _KB		
Method	Water	RL (m)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Desc		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS.GPJ GINT AUSTRALIA.GDT 23/1/08	Not Encounterd	21.5 21.0 20.5 20.0 19.	2.		SP	FILL: Medium dense, fine to medium, grey, TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dark g Collapse above 1.3m SAND: Dense, medium, grey, trace silt, m Borehole TP22 terminated at 2.5m	grey, rootlets, moist	Fines=1% Sand=99% Gravel=0%	
BORE		19	.0 3	3.0					

19
rvations
_

ROJ	IEC			J06036.0	01	PROJECT LOCATION	Jandakot	- Development Area 19
KCA			5 Toppe		Burke Contracting	R.L. SURFACE         24         DATUM         m AHD           SLOPE          BEARING            TEST PIT LOCATION         115.847254E         32.120170S         MGA           LOGGED BY         TW         CHECKED BY         KB		
OTE	S	RL	phic Log	6	Material Desc		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
	<u>23</u> .5	23.5 0.5 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	SAND: Dense, medium, grey, dry, roots to 1 moist below 1.0m	n				
		<u>22</u> 5 <u>22</u> 0 <u>21</u> .5			Borehole TP24 terminated at 2.7m			

RC	JEC	CT NU	of Coo	JO	6036.0	1	PROJECT LOCATION _J	andakot	Plan - Development Area 19	
	TE S CAVA UIPN ST PI	TART ATION MENT IT SIZ		3/3/0 FRAC nne M		COMPLETED 23/3/07 Burke Contracting cavator	R.L. SURFACE _24.4 SLOPE TEST PIT LOCATION _11:	5.850024E	32.121263S MGA	
	Water		Depth (m)		Classification Symbol	Material Desc	ription	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations	
	>	(m) 24.0			SP	FILL: Medium dense, medium, brown, sand, SAND: Medium dense, medium, dark grey,				
	Not Encounterd	<u>23</u> .5 <u>23</u> .5	1.0			peaty between 1.1m and 1.3m				
		<u>23</u> .0	- 1 <u>.5</u>			dense below 1.5m				
		22.5	- - - 2 <u>.0</u>							
		22.	0 2.5	-		Borehole TP25 terminated at 2.2m				
		21	.5							







0	JEC	T NU	of Co	<b>x</b> J0	6036.0	)1	PROJECT LOCATION _	Jandakot	
C	AVA	TION		TRAC	TOR	COMPLETED 23/3/07 Burke Contracting cavator	SLOPE TEST PIT LOCATION _11	15.851879E 32.120	0780S MGA
S	T PIT	r siz	E _0.	5m x	1m		LOGGED BY _TW		
	ater		Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material De		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
		23.5			SP	FILL: Fine to medium, grey, rocks, rubbis		рН <sub>F</sub> =7.9% рН <sub>FOX</sub> =4.9%	
		23.0	- - 1 <u>.0</u>		5	yellow below 0.7m			
		22.5	1.	- - 5 -				рН <sub>F</sub> =7.7% рН <sub>Fox</sub> =5.2%	
		22.0	2	- - 0					
	2.1ml	21.				Borehole TP29 terminated at 2.5m		pH <sub>F</sub> =7.3% pH <sub>F0X</sub> =4.6%	
				-					

		GI				echnical & Environmental	PROJECT NAME	triat Structurial Dian	PAGE 1 O		
				ockbu		24					
						01 COMPLETED _23/3/07			<b>UM</b> m AHD		
AT	TE S	TART	ED _	23/3/0	)7 TOP	Burke Contracting	SLOPE	BEA	ARING		
			5 T	onnel		rcavator	SLOPE          BEARING            TEST PIT LOCATION         115.850811E         32.121440S         MGA				
				.5m x	1m		LOGGED BY TW	CHE	ECKED BY KB		
101	TES										
Methoa	Water	RL (m)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Desc		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations		
			-		FILL	FILL: Medium dense, medium, yellow and gr	ey sand, trace rootlets				
		00 F	-					pH <sub>F</sub> =7.3% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.3%			
		23.5	0.5			TOPSOIL: Fine to medium, dark grey, sand	with rootlets				
				<u>10 11</u>	SP	SAND: Dense, medium, grey, trace silt, mo	ist				
		<u>23</u> .0	1 <u>.0</u>								
		<u>22</u> .5	1.	- - 5 -				pH <sub>F</sub> =6.8% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.7%			
		22.0	2	- - 0 -							
	l me c	21.	5 2	5		Borehole TP30 terminated at 2.5m		pH <sub>F</sub> =6.8% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.6%	-		
				-							
		21	.0 3								



E	30	G	E	Browr	n Geot	echnical & Environmental		TEST PI	<b>NUMBER TP3</b> PAGE 1 OF
CLI	ENT	Cit	y of Co	ockbu	rn				Development Area 19
						)1			
DA	TE S	TAR	ED _	23/3/0	)7	COMPLETED _23/3/07	R.L. SURFACE24.8	DAT	
X	CAV	ATIO		TRAC	TOR	Burke Contracting		BEA	22035 MGA
Q	UIPN	IENT	<u>5 To</u>	onne M	Mini Ex	cavator		<u>15.852235E 52.12</u> CHE	ECKED BY KB
	ST P		<u>2</u> E _0.	5m x	1m				
Method	Water	RL (m)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Desc	ription	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
-	-	(11)	(11)	<u>x17</u> x 17 x17		TOPSOIL: Fine to medium, dark grey sand,	trace rootlets		
				<u>\\</u>					
		24.5	_	<u></u>					
			-	<u>1</u> 11				pH <sub>F</sub> =6.1% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =2.9%	
			0 <u>.5</u>	17. 3.14	SP	SAND: Dense, medium, light grey, trace silt,	, moist		
			-						
		24.0	-						
		24.0	-						
			1.0						
			-						
			-			collapse above 1.2m			
		23.5	-	-		brown and wet below 1.3m		pH <sub>F</sub> =6.3%	
								pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.1%	
			1.5						
				-					
		23.0		-					
			2.0	4					
				-					
				-					
	3ml	22.5	5	-				pH <sub>F</sub> =5.9%	
	0	4	2.5	-				pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.2%	
	+	-	2.3	<u>,</u>		Borehole TP32 terminated at 2.5m			
				]					
		22.	0	]					
			3.	0					



	of Cockbu				PROJECT NAME District Structurial Plan - Development Area 19		
STARTI	ED	D7	Burke Contracting	R.L. SURFACE <u>22.8</u> SLOPE TEST PIT LOCATION 11	PROJECT LOCATION _Jandakot         R.L. SURFACE _22.8       DATUM _m AHD         SLOPE       BEARING         TEST PIT LOCATION _115.846440E       32.118975S       MGA         LOGGED BY _TW       CHECKED BY _KB		
ES		Classification Symbol	Material Des		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observation:	
22.5			TOPSOIL: Medium dense, medium, dark g SAND: Medium dense, medium, grey, trac		pH <sub>F</sub> =7.9% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =4.9%		
22.0					pH <sub>F</sub> =7.7% pH <sub>FOX</sub> =5.2%		
21.0 E N 20.	2 <u>.0</u>		Parabala TD24 terminated at 2.5m		рН <sub>F</sub> =7.3% рН <sub>FOX</sub> =4.6%	-	
20	-		Borehole TP34 terminated at 2.5m				

## APPENDIX B

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	9
600	8
900	9
1200	7
1500	9
1800	10
2100	12
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01

Date:

15/03/2007



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007 Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	7
600	6
900	9
1200	13
1500	15
1800	14
2100	17
2400	
2700	
3000	

Depth



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot

Job No: J06036.01





Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	7
600	7
900	7
1200	9
1500	10
1800	14
2100	16
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01

Date: 15/03/2007



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	4
600	4
900	7
1200	8
1500	6
1800	7
2100	9
2400	12
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01

Date: 15/03/2007



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	8
600	9
900	10
1200	12
1500	10
1800	10
2100	
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01



3000

Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	7
600	10
900	13
1200	14
1500	15
1800	17
2100	
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01



Depth

300

600 900

1200

1500 1800

2100

2400 2700

3000

Date: 15/03/2007



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007 Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	8
600	7
900	9
1200	10
1500	12
1800	13
2100	15
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01



Depth Blow Counts Perth Sand Penetrometer Results - Test 14 **Blow Counts** 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 Depth (mm) 

Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	6
600	10
900	11
1200	10
1500	13
1800	11
2100	14
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01

Date: 15/03/2007



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	6
600	12
900	14
1200	14
1500	18
1800	20
2100	
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01





Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	8
600	16
900	14
1200	18
1500	18
1800	22
2100	24
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01





Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	2
600	5
900	3
1200	4
1500	6
1800	8
2100	10
2400	12
2700	15
3000	



Job No: J06036.01





15/03/2007

**Brown Geotechnical & Environmental** 

Date:

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	6
600	7
900	8
1200	9
1500	12
1800	14
2100	14
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01

15/03/2007 Date:



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	2
600	3
900	3
1200	4
1500	5
1800	6
2100	8
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot Date: 15/03/2007 Job No: J06036.01

Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	7
600	8
900	8
1200	9
1500	10
1800	13
2100	15
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job No: J06036.01

15/03/2007 Date:



15/03/2007

Job No: J06036.01

**Brown Geotechnical & Environmental** 

Date:
Depth (mm)	Blow Counts
300	5
600	5
900	6
1200	7
1500	9
1800	12
2100	14
2400	
2700	
3000	



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot

Job No: J06036.01

15/03/2007 Date:



Job Name: Area 19 Northlake Road, Jandakot 15/03/2007 Date:

Job No: J06036.01

**Brown Geotechnical & Environmental** 

# **APPENDIX C**



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

# TEST CERTIFICATE

Client: Project: Location: Sample No.:	Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd Muriel Court (Area 19) Jandakot	Client Job No.: Test Date: WG Job No.: Lab No.:	J06036/1 28/03/07 07-01-175 07-WG-710
Sample ID .:		Depth:	0.5 - 1.5m

# METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION

-acc to AS 1289.3.6.1



Notes: Sample supplied by client

Approved Signatory: (Mark Matthews) Date: 12/04/2007 This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements Accreditation No. 2418 SN 2411



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

# **TEST CERTIFICATE**

Client: Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd	Client Job No.:	J06036/1	
Project: Muriel Court (Area 19)	Test Date:	29/03/07	
Location: Jandakot	WG Job No.:	07-01-175	
Sample No.:	Lab No.:	07-WG-718	
Sample ID.: TP7	Depth:	1.3 - 2.5m	

# METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION

-acc to AS 1289.3.6.1



Notes: Sample supplied by client

 Approved Signatory:
 (Mark Matthews)
 Date:
 12/04/2007

 Image: Mark Matthews
 This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements

 Accreditation No. 2418
 SN 2411

# **TEST CERTIFICATE**

Client Job No:

Tested Date:

WG Job Number:

Order No:

Lab:



Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd Client: Muriel Court (Area 19) Project: Jandakot Location: Sample No: 07-WG-711 TP11 0.5 - 1.5m Sample ID:

J06036/1

12/04/2007 07-01-175 Welshpool

1

# PSD: PERCENT FINES < 0.075MM

AS1289.3.6.1 (% Fines)

Part Method

Material Finer than 75µm (%)

Notes:

Note: Sample supplied by client

Approved Signatory:

NATA ILAC-MRA Accreditation No.: 2418

This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements

Site No.: 2411 Cert No.: 07-WG-711-S306 Page: 1

Date: 12/04/2007

(M.Matthews)



1

# TEST CERTIFICATE



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN: 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

Client:Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty LtdProject:Muriel Court (Area 19)Location:JandakotSample No:07-WG-712Sample ID:TP13 0.5 - 1.5m

Client Job No: J06036/1 Order No: Tested Date: 12/04/2007 WG Job Number: 07-01-175 Lab: Welshpool

# PSD: PERCENT FINES <0.075MM

AS1289.3.6.1 (% Fines)

Part Method

Material Finer than 75µm (%)

1

Notes:

Note: Sample supplied by client

Approved Signatory:

-7

(M.Matthews)



This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements

Site No.: 2411 Cert No.: 07-WG-712-S306 Page: 1

Date: 12/04/2007



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

## **TEST CERTIFICATE**

Client Job No.: Test Date: WG Job No.: Lab No.:	J06036/1 29/03/07 07-01-175 07-WG-713	
Depth:	0.5 - 1.5m	
otechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd urt (Area 19)	rt (Area 19) Test Date: WG Job No.:	rt (Area 19) Test Date: 29/03/07 WG Job No.: 07-01-175 Lab No.: 07-WG-713

# METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION

-acc to AS 1289.3.6.1



Notes: Sample supplied by client

 Approved Signatory:
 (Mark Matthews)
 Date:
 12/04/2007

 Image: Mark Matthews
 This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements

 Accreditation No. 2418
 SN 2411



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

# **TEST CERTIFICATE**

Client: Project: Location: Sample No.:	Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd Muriel Court (Area 19) Jandakot	Client Job No.: Test Date: WG Job No.: Lab No.:	J06036/1 29/03/07 07-01-175 07-WG-714
Sample ID.:	TP17	Depth:	0.9 - 2.0

## METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION -acc to AS 1289.3.6.1

Particle Size Distribution 100 90 80 70 Sieve Size (mm) 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 100 1000 0.1 10 0.01 1 0.001 % Passing % Passing Sieve Size (mm) % Passing Sieve Size (mm) 2.36 100 100 1.18 87 0.600 0.425 54 0.300 21 0.150 1 0 0.075 4.75 100

Notes: Sample supplied by client

Approved Signatory: (Mark Matthews) Date: 12/04/2007 This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements Accreditation No. 2418 SN 2411



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

## **TEST CERTIFICATE**

Client:	Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd	Client Job No.:	J06036/1
Project:	Muriel Court (Area 19)	Test Date:	29/03/07
Location:	Jandakot	WG Job No.:	07-01-175
Sample No .:		Lab No.:	07-WG-715
Sample ID .:	TP20	Depth:	0.5 - 1.5m

# METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION

-acc to AS 1289.3.6.1



Notes: Sample supplied by client

An	mai		Certificate No.:07-WG-715 / S301
Approved Signatory:	( Mark Matthews )	Date:	12/04/2007
Accreditation No.	This document is issued in accordance wi	th NATA's accree	ditation requirements SN 2411



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

# TEST CERTIFICATE

Client: Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd	Client Job No.:	J06036/1
Project: Muriel Court (Area 19)	Test Date:	30/03/07
Location: Jandakot	WG Job No.:	07-01-175
Sample No.:	Lab No.:	07-WG-716
Sample ID.: TP22	Depth:	1.5 - 2.5m

# METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION -acc to AS 1289.3.6.1

Particle Size Distribution 100 90 80 70 Sieve Size (mm) 60 50 40 ŧ 30 20 10 0 100 1000 10 0.1 1 0.01 0.001 % Passing % Passing Sieve Size (mm) % Passing Sieve Size (mm) 2.36 100 100 1.18 84 0.600 41 0.425 13 0.300 1 0.150 0.075 1 100 4.75

Notes: Sample supplied by client

Approved Signatory: (Mark Matthews) Date: 12/04/2007 This document is issued in accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements Accreditation No. 2418 SN 2411



perth@westerngeo.com.au ABN 91105324436 ph: 1300 781 744 fx: (08) 9458 3700

# **TEST CERTIFICATE**

J06036/1 Client Job No .: Brown Geotechnical & Environmental Pty Ltd Client: 28/03/07 Test Date: Project: Muriel Court (Area 19) 07-01-175 WG Job No .: Location: Jandakot 07-WG-717 Lab No.: Sample No .: 0.5 - 1.5m Depth: Sample ID.: TP28

## METHOD FOR DETERMINATION OF PARTICLE SIZE DISTRIBUTION -acc to AS 1289.3.6.1

**Particle Size Distribution** 100 90 80 70 Sieve Size (mm) Ħ 60 50 40 30 ## 20 10 0 0 100 1000 10 0.01 0.1 1 0.001 % Passing Sieve Size (mm) % Passing Sieve Size (mm) % Passing 100 2.36 99 1.18 89 0.600 0.425 73 0.300 28 100 19.0 0.150 4 100 9.5 3 100 0.075 4.75

Notes:

Sample supplied by client

 Approved Signatory:
 (Mark Matthews)
 Date:
 12/04/2007

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews

 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthews
 Image: Mark Matthe



Page 1 of 1

# **TEST CERTIFICATE**

CLIENT: Brown Geotechnical & Enviromental Pty Ltd PROJECT: Muriel Court (Area 19) LOCATION: Jandakot JOB NO.: 07-01-175 CLIENT JOB NO.: J06036/1 DATE TESTED: 30/03/2007

Lab Ref No.: 07-WG-717 Sample Id: Sample No.: TP28 – 0.5 - 1.5m Description:

• according to ASTM D 2974, Part 9, Method C

Organic Content (%):

0.84

Note:

Approved Signatory :\_ hm man -----

Certificate No.: WG717

Date : 12/04/2007

QMS.Forms.Soils.WG086.01.C

36 Railway Parade Welshpool WA 6106 Phone (08) 9458 1700 Fax (08) 9458 3700

(M.Matthews)

# **APPENDIX D**

	D. H.(.)	pH <sub>F</sub>	pH <sub>FOX</sub>	Reaction Strength
Test Pit No	Depth (m)	(field)	(post oxidation)	Moderate
TPI	0.5	6.9	5.1	Slight
TPI	1.5	7.2		Slight*
TP1	2.5	6.9	5.0	Slight
TP2	0.5	6.8	5.2	Slight
TP2	2.5	7.1	5.0	Slight
TP2	0.5	6.7	4.2	Slight
TP3	1.5	6.6	4.5	Slight*
TP3	2.5	7.1	5.2	Slight
TP3	0.5	7.0	3.8	Slight
TP4		5.8	3.8	Slight*
TP4	1.5			Slight
TP4	2.5	6.2	4.8	Slight
TP5	0.5	6.3	4.7	Slight
TP5	1.5	6.2	4.7	Slight
TP5	2.5	6.5	4.9	Slight
TP9	0.5	6.8	4.9	
TP9	1.5	6.9	4.7	Slight
TP9	2.5	6.8	4.9	Slight
TP26	0.5	6.2	4.6	Slight
TP26	1.5	6.2	4.5	Slight*
TP26	2.5	6.3	4.6	Slight
TP27	0.5	6.0	4.8	Slight
TP27	1.5	6.3	4.8	Slight*
TP27	2.5	6.0	5.9	Slight
TP28	0.5	6.1	5.0	Slight
TP28	1.5	6.2	4.8	Slight
TP28	2.5	6.3	4.9	Slight
TP29	0.5	7.9	4.9	Slight
TP29	1.5	7.7	5.2	Slight
	2.5	7.3	4.6	Strong*
TP29	0.5	7.3	4.3	Moderate*
TP30			4.7	Slight
TP30	1.5	6.8		Slight
TP30	2.5	6.8	4.6	Moderate*
TP31	0.5	7.0	4.5	Slight
TP31	1.5	7.0	5.0	Slight*
TP31	2.5	7.0	5.1	Moderate*
TP32	0.5	6.1	2.9	
TP32	1.5	6.3	4.1	Slight*
TP32	2.5	5.9	4.2	Slight

# Acid Sulphate Soil Field Test Results

\* Selected for laboratory testing.

# **ALS Environmental**



11/F, Chung Shun Knitting Centre 1-3 Wing Yip St, Kwai Chung Tel : (852) 2610 1044 Fax : (852) 2610 2021 Email: alshk@hknet.com

# Please Note : The following information is required to expedite sample analysis. Please complete all the necessary details and return this form with your samples.

	DETAILS: Name: <u>Brow</u>	n Geotechnical & Er	nvironmer	ntal	
Client Con	ntact Name: _	Ken Brown			Date: <u>05/04/07</u>
Postal Add	dress:	POBox 4000, Vic	totia Park	WA6979	2
					Email: bge@acidss.com.au
Phone:	<u>(</u>	0368 2615		-	Fax: <u>9367 7409</u>
CLIENT C	ORDER No :	J06036.01/2		ALS QUO	OTATION NUMBER : PEN/063/06
PROJECT	NAME:	Area 19, Mur	iel Cou	rt, Jand	akot –
SECOND. Name : Address: Phone :	ARY CONT	Pe	ntal Divisio erth Order 01409		(office useoff)) Batch No: Ef(070(4,94) ∞Date Received: S/4/67 Total/No Samples: #/3
SAMPLI	E ANALY Sampl		1-8-9209 765 Matrix	5 Sampling Date/Time	lula Jones K 5/4/07 16:30 Analysis Required
only)	TP1 – 2.5m	EP07012007003	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
(2)	TP3 – 1.5m	EP07012007008	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
$\overline{(3)}$	TP4 – 1.5m	EP07012007011	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
(y)	TP4 – 2.5m	EP07012007012	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
$(\underline{S})$	TP26 – 1.5m	EP07012007020	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
(6)	TP27 – 1.5m	EP07012007023	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
$(\overline{\gamma})$	TP29 – 2.5m	EP07012007027	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
$(\tilde{g})$	TP30 – 0.5m	EP07012007028	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
(9)	TP31 – 0.5m	EP07012007031	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite

HKFM (118/2)

(CONTINUED OVERLEAF)

# SAMPLE ANALYTICAL REQUIREMENTS (continued):



Lab ID (office use	Sample ID.	Matrix	Sampling Date/Time	Analysis Required
only)	TP31 – 2.5m EP07012007033	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
(10)	TP32-0.5m EP07012007034	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
6	TP32-1.5m EP07012007035	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
AN AN	QA1	Soil	15/03/07	ASS Chromium Suite
1000	Soil samples retained by ALS			
and and a second se				
92000 92000				
ale la companya da company Companya da companya da com				
e di 1. Sector de la constante 1. Sector				
looding (19 Kanalang (19				
an San Arian An An San Arian An An Arian				

		CER	CERTIFICATE OF ANAL YSIS			
	<b>BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND</b>	Laboratory	Environmental Division Perth	Page	: 1 of 6	
	ENVIRONMENTAL	technol	· Michael Sham	Work Order	: ED0701409	
	: MR KEN BROWN : SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO WA AUSTRALIA 6152	wa Address	. micnael Sharp : 10 Hod Way Malaga WA Australia 6090			
E-mail Telephone	kenbrown@acidss.com.au 93682615	E-mail Telephone Facsimile	∴ Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com : 61-8-9209 7655 : 61-8-9209 7600			
	- Not provided - 5 J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207	Quote number	: PEN-063-06	Date received Date issued	5 Apr 2007 17 Apr 2007	
Order number	- Not provided -			No. of samples		. 13
C-U-C number Site	<ul> <li>- Not provided -</li> <li>Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot</li> </ul>				Analysed	. 13
		ALSE	ALSE - Excellence in Analytical Testing			
			the survey by the one of the survey on this re	poort and are the authorised	l signatories. Electronic	
	NATA Accredited Laboratory 825	This document has been elect signing has been carried out in	This document has been electronically signed by those names that appear on this report and are the automout opproximeter events signing has been carried out in compliance with procedures specified in 21 CFR Part 11. Department	eport and are not administed sign t 11. Department	nent	
	This document is issued in	Signatory		n dhad	Berth Increanics - NATA 825 (15847 - Perth)	847 - Perth
	accordance with NATA's accreditation requirements.	Stacey Hawkins	Instrument Chemist		ייין איש הו האין י כטווופטוט	

Page Number : 2 of 6 Client : BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL Work Order : EP0701409



# Comments

This report for the ALSE reference EP0701409 supersedes any previous reports with this reference. Results apply to the samples as submitted. All pages of this report have been checked and approved for release.

This report contains the following information:

- Analytical Results for Samples Submitted
  - Surrogate Recovery Data

The analytical procedures used by ALS Environmental have been developed from established internationally-recognized procedures such as those published by the US EPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house developed procedures are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request. The following report provides brief descriptions of the analytical procedures employed for results reported herein. Reference methods from which ALSE methods are based are provided in parenthesis.

limits). Where LOR of reported result differ from standard LOR, this may be due to high moisture, reduced sample amount or matrix interference. When date(s) and/or time(s) are shown bracketed, When moisture determination has been performed, results are reported on a dry weight basis. When a reported 'less than' result is higher than the LOR, this may be due to primary sample extracts/digestion dilution and/or insuffient sample amount for analysis. Surrogate Recovery Limits are static and based on USEPA SW846 or ALS-QWI/EN38 (in the absence of specified USEPA these have been assumed by the laboratory for process purposes. Abbreviations: CAS number = Chemical Abstract Services number, LOR = Limit of Reporting. \* Indicates failed Surrogate Recoveries.

# Specific comments for Work Order EP0701409

Liming Rate is based on results for samples as submitted and incorporates a minimum safety factor of 1.5. Retained Acidity not required because pH KCI greater than or equal to 4.5

<	-0	(ST)
		C

: 3 of 6

Page Number Client

Work Order : EP0701409								
cal Re	Sam	Client Sample ID : Sample Matrix Type / Description :	Client Sample ID : Type / Description :	TP1 2.5 SOIL	TP3 1.5 SOIL 15 Mar 2007	<b>TP4</b> 1.5 SOIL 15 Mar 2007	TP4 2.5 SOIL 15 Mar 2007	<b>TP26</b> 1.5 SOIL 15 Mar 2007
		Laboratory Sample ID :	ample ID :	15:00	15:00	15:00 EBA701409-003	15:00 ED0701409-004	15:00 FP0701409-005
Analyte	CAS number	LOR	Units	EP0/01403-001	EFU/01409-002	EL0/01403-003	EL 01 0 1403-004	EI 010 1700 000
EA033-A: Actual Acidity				e r	6.7 6.7	54	6.6	6.4
pH KCI (23A)			+ / +	<>>	20	10	<2	2
sulfidic - Titratable Actual Actual Acidity		N	teS	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
(s-23F)								
EA033-B: Potential Acidity								
Chromium Reducible Sulfur (22B)		0.02 % S		<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.0Z
acidity - Chromium Reducible Sulfur (a-22B)		10 mole H+ / t	++ / t	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10
EA033-C: Acid Neutralising Capacity								
Acid Neutralising Capacity (19A1)		0.01 % CaCO3	003	-	1	-	<0.01	
acidity - Acid Neutralising Capacity (a-19A1)		10 mole H+ / t	H+ / t	1	-	1	<10	I
sulfidic - Acid Neutralising Capacity (s-19A1)		0.01 % pyrite S	te S	-	-	1	<0.01	
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting								
ANC Fineness Factor		0.5		1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Net Acidity (sulfur units)		0.02 % S		<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Net Acidity (acidity units)		10 mole H+ / t	H+ / t	<10	<10	11	<10	<10
Liming Rate		1 kg CaCO3/t	CO3/t	<u>م</u> 1	<1	<1	<1	4
Net Acidity excluding ANC (sulfur units)		0.02 % S		<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Net Acidity excluding ANC (acidity units)		10 mole H+ / t	H+ / t	<10	<10	11	<10	<10
Liming Rate excluding ANC		1 kg CaCO3/t	CO3/t	<1	<1	<1	<1	41

Client : BROWN GEOTE Work Order : EP0701409	BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL E EP0701409					ALS ENURIDIMENTE
Analytical Results	Client Sample ID :		TP29 2.5	TP30 0.5	TP31 0.5	TP31 2.5
	Sample Matrix Type / Description : Sample Date / Time : Laboratory Sample ID :	on : SOIL ne : 15 Mar 2007 15 :00	SOIL 15 Mar 2007 15:00	SOIL 15 Mar 2007 15:00	SOIL 15 Mar 2007 15:00	SOIL 15 Mar 2007 15:00
Analyte	CAS number LOR Units	EP0701409-006	EP0701409-007	EP0701409-008	EP0701409-009	EP0701409-010
EA033-A: Actual Acidity						
pH KCI (23A)	0.1 pH Unit	6.2	6.6	6.7	6.9	6.2
Titratable Actual Acidity (23F)	2 mole H+ / t	2	<2	<2	<2	2
sulfidic - Titratable Actual Acidity (s-23F)	0.02 % pyrite S	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
EA033-B: Potential Acidity						
Chromium Reducible Sulfur (22B)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
acidity - Chromium Reducible Sulfur (a-22B)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10
EA033-C: Acid Neutralising Capacity						
Acid Neutralising Capacity (19A1)	0.01 % CaCO3	-	0.06	0.24	0.30	1
acidity - Acid Neutralising Capacity (a-19A1)	10 mole H+ / t		11	48	61	1
sulfidic - Acid Neutralising Capacity (s-19A1)	0.01 % pyrite S	1	0.02	0.08	0.10	
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting						
ANC Fineness Factor	0.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Net Acidity (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Net Acidity (acidity units)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10
Liming Rate	1 kg CaCO3/t	~1	<1	<1	41	4
Net Acidity excluding ANC (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02
Net Acidity excluding ANC (acidity units)	10 mole H+ /t	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10
Liming Rate excluding ANC	1 kg CaCO3/t	4	<1 41	¢1	₹	4

SIS SIS

A Campbell Bruthers Linked Com



: BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL : EP0701409 : 5 of 6 Page Number Client

Work Order

Analvtical Results	Client Sa	Client Sample ID : TP32	TP32 1.5	QA1	
	Sample Matrix Type / Description : Sample Date / Time :	te / Time : 500 15:00	SOIL 15 Mar 2007 15:00	SOIL 15 Mar 2007 15:00	
	Laboratory Sample ID :				
Analyte	CAS number LOR	Units EP0701409-011	EP0701409-012	EP0701409-013	
EA033-A: Actual Acidity					
ph KCI (23A)	0.1 pH Unit	it 4.9	5.8	5.9	
Titratable Actual Acidity (23F)	2 mole H+ /t	H+ / t 5	2	2	
sulfidic - Titratable Actual Acidity	0.02 % pyrite S	te S <0.02	<0.02	<0.02	
EA033-B: Potential Acidity					
Chromium Reducible Sulfur (22B)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	
acidity - Chromium Reducible Sulfur (a-22B)	10 mole H+ /t	H+ / t <10	<10	<10	
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting					
ANC Fineness Factor	0.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	
Net Acidity (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	
Net Acidity (acidity units)	10 mole H+ / t	H+ /t <10	<10	<10	
Liming Rate	1 kg CaCO3/t	CO3/t <1	<1×	4	
Net Acidity excluding ANC (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	
Net Acidity excluding ANC (acidity units)	10 mole H+ /t	H+/t <10	<10	<10	
Liming Rate excluding ANC	1 kg CaCO3/t	CO3/t <1	<1	2	



Client       EROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRO       Laboratory       Environ         Contact       MIChael       MIChael       MIChael         Address       SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO       Address       10 Hold         Address       SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO       Address       10 Hold         Address       J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207       Quote number       10 Hold         Project       J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207       Quote number       10 Hold         Order number       - Not provided -       0       Address       10 Hold         Co-C number       - Not provided -       0       Address       10 Hold         Co-C number       - Not provided -       0       Co-C number       10 Hold         Co-C number       - Not provided -       0       Fernali       MICha         Co-C number       - Not provided -       0       Fernali       10 Hold         Cate       - Area 19, Muried       Micha       Fernali       61-8-1         Facilia       - Kenbrown@acidss.com.au       Telephone       61-8-1         Facilia       - Not provided -       -       51-8-1         Facilia       - Not provided -       -       51-8-1         Facilia       - Not pro	Laboratory       : Environmental Division Perth         Laboratory       : Michael Sharp         Contact       : Michael Sharp         Address       : 10 Hod Way Malaga         WA       Australia 6090         Quote number       : PEN-063-06         Quote number       : PEN-063-06         E-mail       : Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com         Telephone       : 61-8-9209 7655         Facsimile       : 61-8-9209 7600         Ipersedes any previous reports with this reference.       : have been checked and approved for release.	Page : 1 of 5 Work order : <b>EPO</b> Amendment No. : <b>EPO</b> Date received : 5 Apr Date received : 5 Apr Date issued : 17 Ap Received : 13 Received : 13 Analysed : 13	1 of 5 EP0701409 5 Apr 2007 17 Apr 2007
ent       : BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRO         ntact       : MR KEN BROWN         dress       : SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO         isert       : SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO         isert       : SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO         isert       : SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO         isert       : Not provided -         often       : Not provided -         isert       : Not provided -         isert       : Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot         ail       : kenbrown@acidss.com.au         isert       : Sinal report for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse         isimile       : - Not provided -         :simile	Laboratory       : Environmental Division Perth         Contact       : Michael Sharp         Address       : 10 Hod Way Malaga         Address       : 10 Hod Way Malaga         Address       : 10 Hod Way Malaga         Quote number       : PEN-063-06         Quote number       : PEN-063-06         E-mail       : Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com         Telephone       : 61-8-9209 7600         Facsimile       : 61-8-9209 7600         Ipersedes any previous reports with this reference.       : have been checked and approved for release.	order : idment No. : received : issued : f samples : eived :	of 5 P0701409 Apr 2007 Apr 2007
tact       MR KEN BROWN         ress       SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO         ress       J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207         er number       - Not provided -         -C number       - Not provided -         - Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot       -         ail       : kenbrown@acidss.com.au         sinal       : kenbrown@acidss.com.au         is base615       : 93682615         simile       : - Not provided -         : steport for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse         ults apply to the samples as submitted. All pages of this report have         infite       : - Not provided -         infite       : - Not provided -         infite       : - Not provided -         infits apply to the samples as submitted. All pages of this report have         infits apply to the samples as submitted and incorporation:         • Matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits         • Matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits         • Matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits </td <td>Contact       Increated on target         Address       10 Hod Way Malaga         Address       10 Hod Way Malaga         Quote number       PEN-063-06         Quote number       PEN-063-06         E-mail       Michael Sharp@alsenviro.com         Telephone       61-8-9209 7655         Facsimile       61-8-9209 7600         persedes any previous reports with this reference.       Inve been checked and approved for release.</td> <td>ble d v</td> <td>P0701409 Apr 2007</td>	Contact       Increated on target         Address       10 Hod Way Malaga         Address       10 Hod Way Malaga         Quote number       PEN-063-06         Quote number       PEN-063-06         E-mail       Michael Sharp@alsenviro.com         Telephone       61-8-9209 7655         Facsimile       61-8-9209 7600         persedes any previous reports with this reference.       Inve been checked and approved for release.	ble d v	P0701409 Apr 2007
ect : J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207 r number : - Not provided - . C number : - Not provided - . Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot . Area 10, Muriel Court, Janakot . Area 10, Method Blank (MB) and Laboratory Control Samples (LCS); Re . Matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits . Arouer specific comments . Arouer specif	Quote number       : PEN-063-06         Quote number       : PEN-063-06         E-mail       : Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com         Telephone       : 61-8-9209 7655         Facsimile       : 61-8-9209 7600         persedes any previous reports with this reference.         thave been checked and approved for release.		Apr 2007 Apr 2007
ect       : J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207         r number       : - Not provided -         C number       : - Not provided -         Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot       : Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot         iii       : kenbrown@acidss.com.au         phone       : 93682615         imile       : Not provided -         imile       : Not provided -         imile       : Not provided -         imile       : - Not provided -         interport for the samples as submitted. All pages of this report have         if apply to the samples as submitted. All pages of this report have         report contains the following information:         • Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference -         • Matrix Spikes (MS): Recovery and Acceptance Limits         k order specific comments         ned Acidity not required because pH KCl	Quote number     :     PEN-063-06       E-mail     :     Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com       Telephone     :     61-8-9209 7655       Facsimile     :     61-8-9209 7600       Ipersedes any previous reports with this reference.     :       Inve been checked and approved for release.     :		Apr 2007 Apr 2007
<ul> <li>r number : - Not provided -</li> <li>C number : - Not provided -</li> <li>Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot</li> <li>Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot</li> <li>in : kenbrown@acidss.com.au</li> <li>blone : 93682615</li> <li>blone : 93682615</li> <li>blone : 93682615</li> <li>imile : - Not provided -</li> <li>93682616</li> <li>imile : - Not provided -</li> <li>Interport for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse</li> <li>final report for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse</li> <li>final report for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse</li> <li>final report for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse</li> <li>final report for the ALSE work order reference Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference</li> <li>Method Blank (MB) and Laboratory Control Samples (LCS); Re</li> <li>Matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits</li> <li>K order specific comments</li> <li>Inted Acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line Acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the line acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal</li></ul>	E-mail       : Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com         Telephone       : 61-8-9209 7655         Facsimile       : 61-8-9209 7600         ipersedes any previous reports with this reference.         thave been checked and approved for release.	 <u>s</u>	Apr 2007
<ul> <li>if kenbrown@acidss.com.au</li> <li>93682615</li> <li>93682615</li> <li>93682615</li> <li>93682616</li> <li>93682616</li> <li>93682616</li> <li>93682616</li> <li>93682616</li> <li>93682617</li> <li>93682616</li> <li>93682617</li> <li>93682617</li> <li>93682617</li> <li>9368261</li> <li>936826</li> <li>937826</li> <li>937826</li> <li>93826</li> <li>93826</li></ul>	E-mail       : Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com         Telephone       : 61-8-9209 7655         Facsimile       : 61-8-9209 7600         ippersedes any previous reports with this reference.       : have been checked and approved for release.	No. of samples Received : Analysed :	
<ul> <li>imile : 93682615</li> <li>inile : - Not provided -</li> <li>inal report for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse final report for the amples as submitted. All pages of this report have report contains the following information:</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference -</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference for the matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits corder specific comments</li> <li>Is Rate is based on results for samples as submitted and incorporatined Acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the distance of the matrix spikes (MS); Recover and Scienter than or equal to the matrix spikes (MS); Recover and Scienter than or equal to the matrix spikes (MS); Recover and Scienter than or equal to the matrix spikes (MS); Recover and Scienter than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and Scienter than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater than or equal to the matrix spike (MS); Recover and RCI greater the matrix spike (MS); Recover and R</li></ul>	Telephone       : 61-8-9209 7655         Facsimile       : 61-8-9209 7600         Ipersedes any previous reports with this reference.       : have been checked and approved for release.	Received : Analysed :	
<ul> <li>imile : - Not provided -</li> <li>imile : - Not provided -</li> <li>final report for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse fits apply to the samples as submitted. All pages of this report have report contains the following information:</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference -</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference -</li> <li>Method Blank (MB) and Laboratory Control Samples (LCS); Re</li> <li>Matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits</li> <li>corder specific comments</li> <li>ined Acidity not required because pH KCl greater than or equal to the following information in the following interverse inte</li></ul>	Facsimile : 61-8-9209 7600 persedes any previous reports with this reference. have been checked and approved for release.	Analysed :	13
final report for the ALSE work order reference EP0701409 superse lits apply to the samples as submitted. All pages of this report have report contains the following information: • Laboratory Duplicates (DUP); Relative Percentage Difference • Method Blank (MB) and Laboratory Control Samples (LCS); Re • Matrix Spikes (MS); Recovery and Acceptance Limits • order specific comments ined Acidity not reguired because pH KCI greater than or equal to rined Acidity not required because pH KCI greater than or equal to	upersedes any previous reports with this reference. have been checked and approved for release.		13
NATA Accredited Laboratory - 825 This document is issued in accordance with NATA's Stac accreditation requirements.	nce in Analytical Testing signed by those names that appear on the with procedures specified in 21 CFR	is report and are the authorised signatories. Electro Part 11. <b>Department</b> Perth Inorganics - NATA 825 (15847 - Perth)	opic

Environmental
ALS

: 17 Apr 2007 : 2 of 5

Page Number Issue Date

: EP0701409 PEN-063-06

Work Order

..

ALS Quote Reference J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207 . Project

BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL

...

Client

Quality Control Report - Laboratory Duplicates (DUP)

Laboratory Duplicates (DUP) Report The quality control term Laboratory Duplicate refers to an intralaboratory split sample randomly selected from the sample batch. Laboratory duplicates provide information on method precision and sample heterogeneity. - Anonymous - Client Sample IDs refer to samples which are not specifically part of this work order but formed part of the QC process lot. *Abbreviations: LOR* = *Limit of Reporting*, *RPD* = *Relative Percent Difference*. - Indicates failed QC. The permitted ranges for the RPD of Laboratory Duplicates (relative percent deviation) are specified in ALS Method QWI-EN/38 and are dependent on the magnitude of results in comparison to the level of reporting: - Result < 10 times LOR, no limit - - Result between 10 and 20 times LOR, 0% - 50% - Result > 20 times LOR, no limit

IIOS . Matriv Tur

		Ansing name	LOR	Original Result	Duplicate Result	RPD
Laboratory Sample ID	Client Sample ID	Analyce name				
EA033-A: Actual Acidity						;
EA033-A: Actual Acidity - ( OC Lot: 389856 )	( OC Lot: 389856 )		1001	pH Unit	pH Unit	%
EP0701409-001	TP1 - 2.5	ph KCI (23A)	0.1 pH Unit	6.5	6.5	0.0
		Titratable Actual Acidity (23F)	2 mole H+ / t	<2	<2	0.0
		sulfidic - Titratable Actual Acidity (s-23F)	0.02 % pyrite S	<0.02	<0.02	0.0
FP0701409-011	TP32 - 0.5	ph KCI (23A)	0.1 pH Unit	4.9	5.5	11.1
		Titratable Actual Acidity (23F)	2 mole H+ / t	5	4	28.4
		sulfidic - Titratable Actual Acidity (s-23F)	0.02 % pyrite S	<0.02	<0.02	0.0
EA033-B: Potential Acidity						
EA033-B: Potential Acidity - ( QC Lot: 389856 )	by - ( QC Lot: 389856 )			% S	% S	%
EP0701409-001	TP1 - 2.5	Chromium Reducible Sulfur (22B)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	0.0
		Acidity - Chromium Reducible Sulfur (a-22B)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	0.0
EP0701409-011	TP32 - 0.5	Chromium Reducible Sulfur (22B)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	0.0
		Acidity - Chromium Reducible Sulfur (a-22B)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	0.0
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting	unting					
EA033-E: Acid Base Acco	EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting - ( QC Lot: 389856 )		And in particular of the second s			%
EP0701409-001	TP1 - 2.5	ANC Fineness Factor		1.5	1.5	0.0
		Net Acidity (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	0.0
		Net Acidity (acidity units)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	0.0
		Liming Rate	1 kg CaCO3/t	<1	4	0.0
		Net Acidity excluding ANC (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	0.0
		Net Acidity excluding ANC (acidity units)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	0.0
		Liming Rate excluding ANC	1 kg CaCO3/t	4	<1	0.0
EP0701409-011	TP32 - 0.5	ANC Fineness Factor		1.5	1.5	0.0
		Net Acidity (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	<0.02	0.0
		Net Acidity (acidity units)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	0.0
		Liming Rate	1 kg CaCO3/t	41	4	0.0

SIS

: 17 Apr 2007

Page Number : 3 of 5 Issue Date : 17 Apr 2

 Work Order
 :
 EP0701409

 ALS Quote Reference
 :
 PEN-063-06

BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL J06036.01 2 EX EP0701207 Project

.. ..

Client

Matrix Tyne: SOII					·	
Laboratory Sample ID	Client Sample ID	Analyte name	LOR	Original Result	Duplicate Result	RPD
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting - continued	counting - continued					
EA022 E. Acid Base Ac	EAA33 E. Acid Base Accounting - ( OC L of: 389856 ) - continued			S %	% S	%
EAU33-E. Acid Base A				0007	<0.02	00
EP0701409-011	TP32 - 0.5	Net Acidity excluding ANC (sulfur units)	0.02 %	20.02	10.0	
		Net Acidity excluding ANC (acidity units)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	<10	0.0
		Liming Rate excluding ANC	1 kg CaCO3/t	<1	4	0.0

ALS I	Enulranmental
	ALS

17 Apr 2007 : 4 of 5 ...

Page Number

: EP0701409

Work Order

BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL

Client

Issue Date

Quality Control Report - Method Blank (MB) and Laboratory Control Samples (LCS) PEN-063-06 ... ALS Quote Reference J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207 Project

The quality control term Method / Laboratory Blank refers to an analyte free matrix to which all reagents are added in the same volumes or proportions as used in standard sample preparation. The purpose of this QC type is to monitor potential laboratory contamination. The quality control term Laboratory Control Sample (LCS) refers to a known, interference free matrix spiked with target analytes or certified reference material. The purpose of this QC type is to monitor method precision and accuracy independent of sample matrix. Dynamic Recovery Limits are based on statistical evaluation of actual laboratory data. Flagged outliers on control limits for inorganics tests may be within the NEPM specified data quality objective of recoveries in the range of 70 to 130%. Where this occurs, no corrective action is taken. Abbreviations: LOR = Limit of reporting.

		Method	Actual	Actual Results	Recove	Recovery Limits
		result	Spike concentration	Spike Recovery	Dynamic Re	Dynamic Recovery Limits
Analyte name	LOR			7CS	Low	High
EA033-A: Actual Acidity			and the second se			
EA033-A: Actual Acidity - ( QC Lot: 389856 )		pH Unit	pH Unit	%	%	%
pH KCI (23A)	0.1 pH Unit	<0.1	1		I	I
sulfidic - Titratable Actual Acidity (s-23F)	0.02 % pyrite S	<0.02	I		I	I
Titratable Actual Acidity (23F)	2 mole H+ / t	<2	I	I	I	Ι
EA033-B: Potential Acidity						
EA033-B: Potential Acidity - ( QC Lot: 389856 )		mole H+ / t	mole H+ / t	%	%	%
Acidity - Chromium Reducible Sulfur (a-22B)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	I	I	I	I
Chromium Reducible Sulfur (22B)	0.02 % S	<0.02	I	-	I	
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting						
EA033-E: Acid Base Accounting - ( QC Lot: 389856 )				%	%	%
ANC Fineness Factor		<0.5		I	I	I
Liming Rate	1 kg CaCO3/t	4	I	I	-	I
Net Acidity (acidity units)	10 mole H+ / t	<10	I	1	I	I
Net Acidity (sulfur units)	0.02 % S	<0.02	1	1	I	I

ALS Environmental (ALS

> : 17 Apr 2007 : 5 of 5

Page Number Issue Date

: EP0701409 PEN-063-06

..

ALS Quote Reference Work Order

> Quality Control Report - Matrix Spikes (MS) J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207 Project

BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL

. .

Client

The quality control term **Matrix Spike (MS)** refers to an intralaboratory split sample spiked with a representative set of target analytes. The purpose of this QC type is to monitor potential matrix effects on analyte recoveries. Static Recovery Limits as per laboratory Data Quality Objectives (DQO's). Ideal' recovery ranges stated may be waived in the event of sample matrix interferences. - Anonymous - Client Sample IDs refer to samples which are not specifically part of this work order but formed part of the QC process lot. *Abbreviations:* **LOR** = *Limit of Reporting,* **RPD** = *Relative Percent Differences.* - Anonymous - Client Sample IDs refer to samples which are not specifically part of this work order but formed part of the QC process lot. *Abbreviations:* **LOR** = *Limit of Reporting,* **RPD** = *Relative Percent Difference.* 

Matrix Spike (MS) Report

Recovery Limits

Actual Results

MS . 10W						Sample Result	Spike Recovery	Static	Static Limits
	Analyte name	Laboratory Sample ID	Client Sample ID	LOR	Spike Concentration		SW		
	- ( QC Lot: )						%	%	%

No Matrix Spike (MS) carried out on this Work Order.



# Environmental ALS

# EP0701409 5 Apr 2007 17 Apr 2007 : 1 of 5 13 ... .. Amendment No. No. of samples Date received Date issued Received Analysed Work order Page INTERPRETIVE QUALITY CONTROL REPORT : Michael.Sharp@alsenviro.com Environmental Division Perth 10 Hod Way Malaga WA Australia 6090 61-8-9209 7655 61-8-9209 7600 Michael Sharp : PEN-063-06 Quote number Laboratory Telephone Facsimile Address Contact E-mail BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SUITE 4 / 47 MONASH AVENUE COMO WA AUSTRALIA 6152 Area 19, Muriel Court, Janakot J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207 kenbrown@acidss.com.au MR KEN BROWN - Not provided -- Not provided -- Not provided -93682615 ... ... C-O-C number Order number Telephone Facsimile Address Project Contact E-mail Client Site

This Interpretive Quality Control Report was issued on 17 Apr 2007 for the ALS work order reference EP0701409 and supersedes any previous reports with this reference.

This report contains the following information:

- Analysis Holding Time Compliance
- Quality Control Type Frequency Compliance
  - Summary of all Quality Control Outliers
- Brief Method Summaries

|--|

: 2 of 5 : 17 Apr 2007

Page Number Issue Date

ALS Quote Reference : PEN-063-06

: EP0701409

Work Order

 Project
 :
 J06036.01 2 EX EP0701207
 ALS Quote Ref

 Interpretive Quality Control Report - Analysis Holding Time

BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL

...

Client

The following report summarises extraction / preparation and analysis times and compares with recommended holding times. Dates reported represent first date of extraction or analysis and preclude subsequent dilutions and reruns. Information is also provided re the sample container (preservative) from which the sample aliquot was taken. Elapsed time to analysis represents time from sampling where no extraction / digestion is involved or time from extraction where this is present. For composite samples, sampling date/time is taken as that of the oldest sample contributing to that composite. Sample date/time for laboratory produced leaches are taken from extraction / digestion where this is present. For composite samples, sampling date/time is taken as that of the oldest sample contributing to that composite. Sample date/time for laboratory produced leaches are taken from the completion date/time of the leaching process. Outliers for holding time are based on USEPA SW846, APHA, AS and NEPM (1999). Failed outliers, refer to the 'Summary of Outliers'.

		Date Sampled	Û	Extraction / Preparation			Analysis	
Method Container / Client Sample ID(s)		on agent to a final succession to the structure of the st	Date extracted	Date extracted Due for extraction	Pass?	Date analysed	Due for analysis	Pass?
EA033: Chromium Suite for Acid Sulphate Soils	Soils							
80* dried soil								
TP1 - 2.5.	TP3 - 1.5,	15 Mar 2007	13 Apr 2007	14 Mar 2008	Pass	16 Apr 2007	12 Jul 2007	rass
TP4 - 1.5.	TP4 - 2.5,							
TP26 - 1.5.	TP27 - 1.5,							
TP29 - 2.5.	TP30 - 0.5,							
TP31 - 0.5.	TP31 - 2.5,							
TP32 - 0.5,	TP32 - 1.5,							
QA1								

SIS SI	Enulranmental
	ALS

: 17 Apr 2007 : 3 of 5

Page Number Issue Date

: EP0701409

Work Order

ALS Quote Reference : PEN-063-06 BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL J06036.01 2 EX EP0701207 ... Project

..

Client

Interpretive Quality Control Report - Frequency of Quality Control Samples

The following report summarises the frequency of laboratory QC samples analysed within the analytical lot(s) in which this work order was processed. Actual rate should be greater than or equal to the expected rate.

Matrix Type: SOIL

Frequency of Quality Control Samples

Ouslitu Control Sample Type	0	Count	Rate (%)		Quality Control Specification
duality domain dampine 13pd	ac	Regular	Actual Expected	Expected	
				1000	
Laboratory Duplicates (DDP)					100 NEDM 1000 School is B/3) and ALSE OCS3 requirement
EA033: Chromium Suite for Acid Sulphate Soils	2	13	15.4	10.0	INELINI 1999 Ochedale D(3) and ALOE & OCO ICAMICITIC
Laboratory Control Samples (LCS)					
EA033: Chromium Suite for Acid Sulphate Soils		13	7.7	5.0	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALSE QCS3 requirement
Method blanks (ivid)		12	77	5.0	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALSE QCS3 requirement
EA033: Chromium Suite for Acid Sulphate Soils	-	2		2.2	



: 4 of 5 : 17 Apr 2007

Page Number Issue Date

EP0701409 PEN-063-06

ALS Quote Reference

...

Work Order

# Interpretive Quality Control Report - Summary of Outliers

BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL

J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207

Client Project

# **Outliers : Quality Control Samples**

The following report highlights outliers flagged on the 'Quality Control Report'. Surrogate recovery limits are static and based on USEPA SW846 or ALS-QWI/EN/38 (in the absence of specific USEPA limits). Flagged outliers on control limits for inorganics tests may be within the NEPM specified data quality objective of recoveries in the range of 70 to 130%. Where this occurs, no corrective action is taken. - Anonymous - Client Sample IDs refer to samples which are not specifically part of this work order but formed part of the QC process lot.

# Non-surrogates

- For all matrices, no RPD recovery outliers occur for the duplicate analysis.
- For all matrices, no method blank result outliers occur.
- For all matrices, no laboratory spike recoveries breaches occur.
- For all matrices, no matrix spike recoveries breaches occur.

# Surrogates

For all matrices, no surrogate recovery outliers occur.

# **Outliers : Analysis Holding Time**

The following report highlights outliers within this 'Interpretive Quality Control Report - Analysis Holding Time'.

No holding time outliers occur.

# **Outliers : Frequency of Quality Control Samples**

The following report highlights outliers within this "Interpretive Quality Control Report - Frequency of Quality Control Samples'.

No frequency outliers occur.

ALS)	Environmental
	ALS

: 5 of 5 : 17 Apr 2007

Page Number Issue Date

> EP0701409 PEN-063-06

> > Work Order ALS Quote Reference

...

# **Method Reference Summary**

J06036.01 2 Ex EP0701207

Client Project

BROWN GEOTECHNICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL

The analytical procedures used by ALS Environmental are based on established internationally-recognized procedures such as those published by the US EPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house procedure are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request. The following report provides brief descriptions of the analytical procedures employed for results reported herein. Reference methods from which ALSE methods are based are provided in parenthesis.

Matrix Type: SOIL

Method Reference Summary

Preparation Methods

EN020PR : Drying at 85 degrees, bagging and labelling (ASS) - In house

# Analytical Methods

EA033 : Chromium Suite for Acid Sulphate Soils - Ahern et al 2004. This method covers the determination of Chromium Reducible Sulfur (SCR); pHKCI; titratable actual acidity (TAA); acid neutralising capacity by back titration (ANC); and net acid soluble sulfur (SNAS) which incorporates peroxide sulfur. It applies to soils and sediments (including sands) derived from coastal regions. Liming Rate is based on results for samples as submitted and incorporates a minimum safety factor of 1.5.

# APPENDIX E

## APPENDIX E

## Soil Assessment Criteria

Western Australia's Draft Acid Sulphate Soil Guidelines (2006) have established action criteria for the assessment of the environmental risk of acid sulphate soils. The action criteria are based on the sum of existing plus, potential acidity, calculated as equivalent sulphur (e.g. s-TAA +  $S_{CR}$  in %S units) or equivalent acidity (e.g. TAA + TPA in mol H<sup>+</sup>/tonne). The highest laboratory result was used to assess against the action criteria.

As clay content tends to influence the soils natural pH buffering capacity, the action criteria are grouped by three broad texture categories – coarse, medium and fine. The criteria are used to define when acid sulphate soils disturbed at a site will need to be treated and managed. The Table below summarises the action criteria.

Type of	Material	Action Criteria if <1,000 tonnes of material is disturbed		Action Criteria if >1,000 tonnes of material is disturbed	
Texture Range	Approx. Clay Content	Equivalent Sulphur (%)	Equivalent Acidity (mol H <sup>+</sup> /tonne)	Equivalent Sulphur	Equivalent Acidity (mol H <sup>+</sup> /tonne)
Coarse – sands to loamy sands	≤ 5%	0.03	18.7	0.03	18.7
Medium – sandy loams to light clays	5-40%	0.06	37.4	0.03	18.7
Fine – medium to heavy clays and silty clays	$\geq 40\%$	0.1	64.8	0.03	18.7

## Texture based acid sulphate soils action criteria

In addition to the action criteria, the guidelines define indicator pH values for field pH (pH<sub>F</sub>) and field peroxide pH (pH<sub>FOX</sub>) to assist with identifying likely acid generating soils. The pH indicator values are defined as:

- $pH_F \le 4$  (when pH >4 but<5 may indicate some existing acidity); and
- $pH_{FOX} < 3$  or a much lower  $pH_{FOX}$  than  $pH_F$  (greater than 1 pH unit change).

# **APPENDIX B**

# LIMITED PRELIMINARY SITE INVESTIGATION



# ACE ENVIRONMENTAL

DISTRICT STRUCTURE PLAN DEVELOPMENT AREA 19 CITY OF COCKBURN

# WESTERN AUSTRALIA

# LIMITED PRELIMINARY SITE ASSESSMENT

FOR CITY OF COCKBURN

> JANUARY 2008 Ref: J07030.01

Ace Environmental Pty Ltd Shop 17, 2 South Western Highway, Armadale WA 6112 Tel (08) 9497 5000; Fax (08) 9497 5111

ABN: 15 125 509 775
#### CONDITIONS RELATING TO THIS REPORT

- This report has been prepared for the sole use of the City of Cockburn. It has been issued in accordance with the agreed terms and scope detailed in the proposal for the investigation. No responsibility or liability to any third party is accepted for any damages arising out of the use of this report.
- 2. This report has been prepared by suitably qualified and experienced personnel for the purposes stated herein. Every care is taken with the report as it relates to interpretation of sub-surface conditions, discussion of findings and recommendations given. No responsibility for the consequences of extrapolation by others is accepted by the company.
- 3. Findings and conclusions produced in the report are based on the investigation of the sub-surface through isolated locations. Conditions between investigated sites are based on extrapolation, interpretation and professional estimates. Unexpected variations in ground conditions often occur which cannot always be anticipated. The conclusions and recommendations in the report were considered accurate at the time of issue and based on certain assumptions at the time. Conditions and assumptions change with time and may affect the accuracy of the report.
- 4. Certain content within this report is based on information provided by the client and/or other parties and the accuracy of this information cannot be guaranteed.
- 5. These conditions must be read as part of the report and must be reproduced with all future copies.
- 6. The recommendations of this report should be considered a starting point. Recommendations should be continuously reviewed during the earthworks stage as sub-surface information and results from monitoring become available. It is strongly recommended that the Company be retained to provide consultancy and/or inspections during the earthwork stages.

i

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Introduction		1
	1.1	Objectives	1
	1.2	Scope of Work	1
2	Method	lology	2
3	Site De	scription	3
	3.1	Site Inspection	3
	3.2	Neighbouring Land Use	9
	3.3	Zoning and Proposed Land Use	9
4	Site His	story	10
	4.1	Council or Local Government Records	10
	4.2	Freedom of Information Searches	10
	4.3	Historical Aerial Photography Review	10
5	Environmental Settings		27
	5.1	Topography	27
	5.2	Geology	27
	5.3	Acid Sulphate Soils	27
	5.4	Surface Hydrology	27
	5.5	Hydrogeology	27
	5.6	Groundwater Resources and Beneficial Uses	27
	5.7	Groundwater Quality	28
6	Metho	dology	29
	6.1	Groundwater Methodology	29
7	Enviro	onmental Investigation Levels	30
8	Results	s and Discussion	31
	8.1	Groundwater Analytical Results	31
	8.2	QA/QC and Analytical Data Validation	32
		<ul><li>8.2.1 Field Method Validation</li><li>8.2.2 Analytical Data Validation</li></ul>	
9	Conch	usion	
7	Concil	цутуп	
10	Refere	ences	35

# LIST OF TABLES IN TEXT

Table 4.1	Aerial Photography Review
Table 6.1	Summary of Groundwater Assessment
Table 6.2	Grid Reference of Groundwater Bores
Table 7.1	Groundwater Investigation Levels
Table 8.1	Summary of Groundwater Analytical Results
Table 8.2	Field Method Validation
Table 8.3	Relative Percentage Differenceo
Table 8.4	Analytical Data Validation

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Site Location Map
Figure 2	Detailed Site Map showing Monitoring Bore Locations
Figure 3	Detailed Site Layout Map

# APPENDICES

Appendix A	Site Photographs
Appendix B	Letter from City of Cockburn
Appendix C	FOI from DoW
Appendix D	<b>Copies of Historical Aerial Photographs</b>
Appendix E	Groundwater Bore Logs
Appendix F	Gauging Records
Appendix G	Table of Results
Appendix H	Laboratory Reports and Chain of Custody Documents

### 1 Introduction

In August 2007, Ace Environmental Pty Limited (Ace) was commissioned by Koltasz Smith on behalf of the City of Cockburn to undertake a Limited Preliminary Site Investigation (PSI) of Development Area 19, Jandakot, Western Australia (the site). Brown Geotechnical and Environmental Pty Limited (BGE) was initially commissioned to undertake the PSI in October 2006, but were not able to complete the investigation. This report includes the findings and data collected during both investigations.

A site locality map is presented in Figure 1 and detailed site layout maps are included in Figures 2 and 3.

This report summarises the findings of the limited PSI conducted at the site from the 26 to 30 March and 31 October 2007 to provide an assessment of the human health and environmental risks associated with the site from past and current activities.

### 1.1 Objectives

The objective of the scope of work was to provide the client with the results of the desktop study enabling them to have a better understanding of the environmental issues that may need addressing during the development stage.

### 1.2 Scope of Work

As detailed in BGE's and Ace's proposal dated 4 August 2006 and 6 August 2007, respectively, the following scope of works was undertaken:

- Site inspection
- Collection and review of historical information
- Assessment of the potential contamination status of the site
- Preparation of a report that provides recommendations for any further investigations if potentially contaminating activities are identified.

### 2 Methodology

A limited PSI was undertaken to identify past and present potentially contaminating land use and to determine whether a detailed soil sampling program is required. The following activities were undertaken as part of the PSI:

- Site inspection encompassing interviews with available personnel, identifying neighbouring land use and a site walkover by qualified personnel
- Review of current and historical aerial photography from the Department of Land Information (DOLI)
- Determine likely groundwater elevations and quality near the site including a search of DEC AQWA database bore data
- Review of geological data to determine the topography and geology of the area
- Review of the City of Cockburn's Planning, Health and Environment Departmental records.
- Review of the WAPC Planning Bulletin 64 to determine ASS classification.
- Installation of 6 groundwater monitoring bores to depths of approximately 3 to 4 metres below ground level enabling the bores to be screened from above the watertable to the end of the hole.
- Collection of one groundwater sample from each well and measurement of groundwater level, field pH, conductivity and dissolved oxygen one week after installation.
- Laboratory analysis of 7 groundwater samples (including 1 QA/QC sample) by a NATA accredited laboratory for low level OC/OPs and heavy metals (As, Cd, Hg, Cu, Cr, Ni, Pb and Zn), total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) and benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene and xylenes (BTEX).
- Preparation of a report detailing the results of the limited PSI investigation.

#### 3 Site Description

Development Area 19 is approximately 79 ha in size and lies at the northwest corner of the intersection of North Lake Road and the Kwinana Freeway. The land is approximately 16 km south of the Perth central business district and approximately 10 km southeast of Fremantle, within the City of Cockburn. The land adjoins the predominantly developed suburb of South Lake to the west along Semple Court, abuts the Kwinana Freeway to the east, and is bounded by Verna Court to the north and North Lake Road to the south.

The area has previously been used for a mixture of rural lifestyle, horse agistment and similar related activities. Some light industrial and commercial activities have also been present in the area. Immediately to the west there is history of market gardens.

Development Area 19 encompasses 95 Lots including Lots 1, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39 and 40 Verna Court; Lots 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47 and 500 Semple Court; Lots 1, 2, 3, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 20, 21, 30, 31, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 80, 100(1), 100(2), 101, 102, 130, 200 and 201 Muriel Court; Lots 16, 17, 53, 54 and 55 Tea Tree Close; Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 18, 19, 32, 33, 50, 52, 53, 71, 73, 74, 75, 76, 81 and 131 North Lake Road and Lot 411 Kentucky Court.

#### 3.1 Site Inspection

#### Lot 1 Verna Court

A partially completed large building is situated in the middle of the Lot. Some building debris, fill and stockpiles were observed.

Lot 30 Verna Court

Rubbish was seen at the roadside (Verna Court) and rear of the Lot and a stockpile at the front of the Lot containing bricks and rubble.

Lot 31 Verna Court

Horses and stables and fenced off paddocks

Lot 32 Verna Court

Rubbish including an old battery and paint tins were observed at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 33 Verna Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and goats on bare land were observed at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 34 Verna Court An old greenhouse is located on the Lot and some sheep.

Lot 35 Verna Court

Junk and rubbish including old tyres and sand was observed on the Lot.

Lot 36 Verna Court

Stockpiles and potentially contaminated fill was observed at the front of the Lot and old vehicles and piles of rubbish were scattered around the Lot.

Lot 37 Verna Court

An old car and piles of rubbish were observed on the Lot.

*Lot 38 Verna Court* Disused stables and sheds

Lot 39 Verna Court

There is development occurring at the front of the Lot and some excavation in the middle of the Lot, which contained some rubbish. Potentially uncontrolled fill may have been brought onto the Lot. Some scrub at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 40 Verna Court Some irrigation risers and an old shed.

Lot 11 Semple Court A residential dwelling is located on the Lot and signs of possible market gardening/nursery activities in the past.

Lot 12 Semple Court A residential dwelling

Lot 13 Semple Court The Lot contains irrigation risers and sheds.

Lot 14 Semple Court Large amounts of stockpiles (sand)

Lot 15 Semple Court Lots of junk including old oil drums

Lot 16 Semple Court A shed and some rubbish was observed on the Lot

Lot 17 Semple Court The Lot contained a residential dwelling, sheds and some garden.

Lot 18 Semple Court A residential dwelling – some rubbish around the Lot.

Lot 41 Semple Court Some old irrigation risers, sheds, junk and old cars were observed.

Lot 42 Semple Court Some old irrigation risers, a shed and bricks in a hollow at the rear of the Lot were observed.

Lot 43 Semple Court An old shed and dead trees were observed.

Lot 44 Semple Court Irrigation risers and horses were observed on the Lot.

Lot 45 Semple Court A derelict house was located at the front of the Lot and a concrete pad and old sheds were observed at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 46 Semple Court Old cars and stockpiles, old batteries and oil/paint drums were observed around the Lot. Lot 47 Semple Court

A workshop was located on the Lot and piles of rubbish, bricks, timber, old vehicles, oil drums and tyres.

Lot 500 Semple Court An operational garden centre with a "Dutch Windmill" was observed.

Lot 1 Muriel Court A residential dwelling was located at the front of the Lot with sheds and horses at the rear.

Lot 2 Muriel Court A residential dwelling was located at the front of the Lot and grape vines and fruit trees at the rear and a large shed.

Lot 3 Muriel Court A residential dwelling was located at the front of the Lot and grape vines at the rear with irrigation.

Lot 7 Muriel Court A residential dwelling was located at the front of the Lot and horses, sheds and stables at the rear.

Lot 9 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and scrub at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 10 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and scrub at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 11 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and trees and vacant land at the rear.

Lot 12 Muriel Court Scrub at the front of the Lot

Lot 13 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and what appeared to be an asbestos fence was observed.

Lot 15 Muriel Court Lot 15 had old buildings and piles of rubbish, debris and irrigation – potential that welding was undertaken in the past.

Lot 20 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot.

Lot 21 Muriel Court Residential dwelling with irrigation risers for trees, some rubbish and a pile of old steel which were not considered potentially contaminating.

Lot 30 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and piles of rubbish, tyres and fill were observed at the rear of the Lot.

#### Lot 31 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and old sheds, fences and trees were observed at the rear.

#### Lot 48 Muriel Court

A day care centre was located on the corner and piles of sand and fill were observed around the Lot.

### Lot 49 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and sheds and old cars at the rear.

Lot 50 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and old sheds, fruit trees and irrigation at the rear.

Lot 51 Muriel Court A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and sheds and greenhouse at the rear.

#### Lot 52 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling and shed is located at the front of the Lot and a field was observed at the rear of the Lot.

### Lot 53 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and a shed, rubbish and scrub at the rear.

Lot 54 Muriel Court Vacant land with a few trees.

#### Lot 55 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and irrigation and an old vegetable patch at the rear.

#### Lot 56 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and sheds and piles of rubbish at the rear.

Lot 57 Muriel Court No site access

#### Lot 58 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and some old tyres, sheds, scrub and horses at the rear.

#### Lot 59 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and an old car, stables, horses and batteries and tyres were observed at the rear of the Lot.

#### Lot 60 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and scrub at the rear with a shed and some rubbish, which did not appear to be potentially contaminating.

#### Lot 61 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the rear of the Lot as well as a workshop. The site had old oil drums, some junk, rubble, fill and bricks.

#### Lot 62 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and a shed at the rear full of rubbish, lots of old vehicles, piles of rubbish, a large number of blue drums and horses and goats were also observed.

#### Lot 63 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot with a workshop at the back. Two above ground fuel storage tanks were found on the site with obvious signs of fuel leakage. Other observations were a fuel truck at the Lot, oil drums, containers, old vehicles, rubbish and a pile of old batteries.

#### Lot 64 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and at the rear was a large shed, sheep, irrigation and a large stockpile of sand overgrown with grass.

#### Lot 65 Muriel Court

Vacant land with trees and sheds. Bricks and rubbish including roofing material that could be potentially asbestos material were observed around the Lot.

Lot 80 Muriel Court No site access

#### Lot 100 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling was at the front of the Lot, which had irrigation for lawn and trees. Part of the site at the back of the Lot had been cleared – stockpiles of soil and vegetation were still present.

#### Lot 101 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling was at the front of the Lot. At the side and back of the Lot were an old car wreck, workshop, old tyres, car parts, oil drums, and a pile of sand. Some oil staining was observed.

Lot 102 Muriel Court Vacant land with scrub

Lot 130 Muriel Court A paddock with a horse and irrigation was observed on the Lot.

Lot 200 Muriel Court No site access

Lot 201 Muriel Court

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and sheds and an old car were at the rear.

Lot 16 Tea tree Close Horse paddocks with irrigation were observed on the Lot.

Lot 17 Tea Tree Close Horse paddocks with irrigation were observed on the Lot.

Lot 53 Tea Tree Close Two Residential dwellings were located at the front of the Lot. Lot 54 Tea Tree Close

It was in the past an operational nursery. The Lot contained stockpiles, old cars and left over plants.

Lot 55 Tea Tree Close A veterinary clinic was located at the front and fibre cable optics are in the vicinity of the Lot.

Lot 1 North Lake Road A hire firm (Delta Handy Hire) is located on the Lot and a workshop is at the rear – possible fuel storage on the Lot.

Lot 2 North Lake Road No access to Lot - residential

Lot 3 North Lake Road No access to Lot - residential

Lot 4 North Lake Road No access to Lot - residential

Lot 5 North Lake Road Piles of sand were observed on the Lot and it is being used as a building site for storage units.

Lot 6 North Lake Road Residential dwelling

Lot 7 North Lake Road A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and sheds at the rear.

Lot 8 North Lake Road A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and sheds at the rear.

Lot 18 North Lake Road A residential dwelling is located at the front of Lot and scrub and rubbish was observed at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 19 North Lake Road Pete's Discount Salvage and Hardware is located on this Lot. A large workshop and storage shed was observed and some rubbish was at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 32 North Lake Road

His and Hers Home Garden Supplies is located on the Lot. It consisted of sand, dirt and gravel storage, large shed, house and a rubbish tip was observed at the rear of the Lot.

Lot 33 North Lake Road

Two residential dwellings were observed at the front of the Lot and at the rear were trees, irrigation risers and a shipping container.

Lot 50 North Lake Road

A liquor store is located on this Lot and there is some shipping containers at the rear of the Lot.

#### Lot 52 North Lake Road

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and scrub and grass and a large pile of rubbish was observed at the rear of the Lot.

#### Lot 53 North Lake Road

Two residential dwellings are located at the front of the Lot.

#### Lot 71 North Lake Road

A large residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and a vegetable garden, sheep, turkeys, some rubbish and sea containers were observed at the rear of the Lot.

#### Lot 73 North Lake Road

A residential dwelling and paddock are located at the front of the Lot and a nursery is located at the rear – some chemical storage on the Lot.

#### Lot 74 North Lake Road

A medical centre is located at the front and at the rear is an old house, sheds, greenhouse and stockpiles, piles of rocks and pushed up mounds of soil and vegetation.

#### Lot 75 North Lake Road

It appears to be used as a place to park large trailers and shipping containers. Piles of rubbish, a large shed/workshop, stable, rubbles and a house that is being demolished was observed on the Lot. Also observed were a truck wash area and some oil staining.

#### Lot 76 North Lake Road

A residential dwelling is located at the front of the Lot and horses at the rear.

#### Lot 81 North Lake Road

The Australian Institute of Holistic Medicine is located on this Lot. There is two main buildings at the front and a car park at the rear of the Lot.

#### Lot 131 North Lake Road

A mechanic is located on this Lot. The Lot contains a mechanical workshop and previously had working underground fuel storage tanks (USTs), which are still in the ground beneath the Lot. LPG storage tanks were also observed on the Lot.

Lot 411 Kentucky Court

Horses and stables and fenced off paddocks.

Site photographs taken during the site inspection are included in Appendix A.

#### 3.2 Neighbouring Land Use

Land use in the vicinity of the site includes:

North: church, bus depot and undeveloped land

- East: Kwinana freeway
- South: vacant land; South-east: undeveloped land and Cockburn central town centre

West: residential subdivision; South-west: industrial area

#### 3.3 Zoning and Proposed Land Use

The zoning for the site is Development Area 19; split zoning: mixed business/development. The proposed land use is for a low-high density residential subdivision.

# 4 Site History

# 4.1 Council or Local Government Records

The City of Cockburn found no records relating to current or historical environmental health issues; complaints, cleanup notices, buried waste or applications of fuel tanks for Lots 10, 15, 21, 60, 61, 63, 100, 101, 102 Muriel Court, Lots 16 and 17 Tea Tree Close and 411 Kentucky Court. A copy of the letter is included in **Appendix B.** Records for the remaining Lots were not accessed for this PSI.

# 4.2 Freedom of Information Searches

Records obtained from the Department of Water under the freedom of Information (FOI) Act are included in **Appendix C**. A summary of the information collected is outlined below:

# Department of Water

The Department of Water conducted a thorough search and confirmed that they had no documents relating to the properties. The site is located within a proclaimed groundwater area and a proclaimed surface water area (Murray River Catchment) and licenses would be required to take water.

# 4.3 Historical Aerial Photography Review

Historical aerial photos are shown in Appendix D and summarised in Table 4.1.

Date	Observation
	Limit of DOLI supplied aerial photography
17/12/2005- colour	$\frac{\text{Lot 15}}{5}$
	• Mostly vacant lot, old shed pad, small shed and trees bordering lot
	Surrounds <ul> <li>North- Residential house and workshop. Kwinana freeway.</li> </ul>
	North- Residential house and workshop, Rwinana neeway
	• East- see lot 411
	• South-see lot 102
	• West- see lot 101
	$\frac{\text{Lot 16}}{2}$
	<ul> <li>Stables and paddocks bordered by trees</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	• North- see lot 411
	• East- see lot 17
	<ul> <li>South- Vacant land and cleared land for development</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West- commercial buildings front of lot, residential house in middle</li> </ul>
	of lot, nursery plants across rest of lot
	Lot 17
	Paddocks bordered by trees
	Surrounds
	• North- see lot 411
	<ul> <li>East- Vacant scrub land, Kwinana freeway</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Vacant land and cleared land for development</li> </ul>
	• West- see lot 16
	Lot 21
	<ul> <li>Building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation with bush at</li> </ul>
	back of lot
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- Several buildings front of lot with swimming pool, more</li> </ul>

Table 4.1Aerial Photography Review

buildings on lot some grass/ vegetation
<ul><li>East- see lot 100</li><li>South- large industrial building front of lot with car park, bushland</li></ul>
at back of lot
<ul> <li>West- residential property middle of lot, large shed at rear,</li> </ul>
remainder grass and bushland
Lot 100
<ul> <li>Building middle of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- large residential building front of lot, small shed remainder</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 101</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- large commercial building front of lot with car park, bushland</li> </ul>
at back of lot
<ul> <li>West- see lot 21</li> </ul>
<u>Lot 101</u>
• No land development, grass and vegetation comprise lot
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- vacant lot, front of lot sandy, remainder grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 15</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- large commercial building front of lot with car park, bushland</li> </ul>
at back of lot
<ul> <li>West- see lot 100</li> </ul>
<u>Lot 102</u>
<ul> <li>No land development, grass and bushland covers lot</li> </ul>
Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 15</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>East- see lot 11</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- commercial building and residential at front of lots, nursery</li> </ul>
and vacant bush land at back of lots
<ul> <li>West- see lot 101</li> </ul>
Lot 411
<ul> <li>Several buildings between middle and back of lot, remainder grass and vegetation, with a tree border</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- Kwinana Freeway, large commercial buildings</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>East- grass and bushland, no evidence of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- see lot 16 and 17 Tea Tree CL</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>West- see lot 15 and 102</li> </ul>
Lot 10
<ul> <li>Front of lot has several buildings, back of lot cleared, trees bordering the west edge</li> </ul>
the west edge Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- several residential buildings front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
vegetation
<ul> <li>East- vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- several industrial buildings, market gardening takes up</li> </ul>
majority of lot West several residential buildings front of lot remainder grass and
<ul> <li>West- several residential buildings front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
Lot 60
<ul> <li>Residential house, with swimming pool, remainder bushland</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- large industrial building, remainder of lot cleared</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>East- see lot 61</li> <li>South providential huilding front of lat remainder errors and</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- residential building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
vegetation West- residential building front of lot, track at rear with grass and vegetation
Lot 61
<ul> <li>Residential house at rear of site, trees across rest</li> </ul>

Surrou	
•	North- large industrial building, remainder of lot cleared
•	East- residential building front of lot, track back of lot, remainder
	grass and vegetation
	•
	South- residential building front of lot, remainder grass and
	vegetation
•	West- see lot 60
Lot 63	
	Residential house and swimming pool front of lot, sheds, parking
	area, grass and trees on boundaries
Surrou	
•	North- Freeway
	East- building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation
	South- large residential building middle of lot, remainder grass and
	vegetation
•	West- residential building front of lot, track back of lot remainder
	grass and vegetation
Lot 54	
	Commercial nursery with many buildings
Surrou	· · -
•	South- Vacant land
Lot 53	
-	Front of site buildings, back of site bush
Surrou	
	South - Vacant land
L + 55	South - Vacant land
<u>Lot 55</u>	
•	Front partially cleared, large car park, commercial development,
	remainder grass and vegitation
Surrou	nds
	South- Vacant land
Lot 52	
	Prove of late buildings and successful and such land
-	Front of lot buildings, remainder of lot grass and bushland
	towards back
Surrou	nds
•	South- Vacant land
Lot 81	
	Car park at front of lot and several buildings, car park at back of
· · ·	•
	lot, remainder grass and vegetation
Surrou	
•	South- Vacant land
Lot 76	
	One building front of site, grass and vegetation remainder
Surrou	
Surrou	
	South- Vacant land
Lot 75	
	Car park and buildings towards centre of site, remainder grass
	and vegetation
Surrou	
Surrou	
	South- Vacant land
Lot 74	
	Large building and car park front of land, bush back section of
	site
Surrou	
Suriou	
	South- Vacant land
Lot 73	
•	Front of site grass and vegetation and a car park, Buildings centre
	of site, Possible market gardening at rear of site delineated by
	lines
Surrou	
Surrou	
•	South- Vacant land

<u>Lot 53</u>	Front of site cleared land, small building centre of site, shrub land
	towards back of site
Surrou	nds South- Vacant land
Lot 18	South Vacant land
•	Building front of site, remainder cleared land and vegetation
Surrou	nds South- Vacant land
Lot 19	Soun- vacant land
•	Cleared land, small building middle of site
Surrou	nds South- Vacant land
Lot 32	South- vacant land
•	Car park front of site, buildings middle of site, grass and
	vegetation back of site
Surrou	nds South- Vacant land
Lot 33	
	Buildings front of site, land cleared, trees bordering back of site
Surrou	nds South- Vacant land
Lot 71	South- vacant land
•	Buildings front right corner, remainder of land cleared, trees neighbouring back of lot
Surrou	
Lot 131	South- Vacant lot
	Building at front of site, remainder of site grass and lots of trees
Surrou •	nds South- Vacant lot
Lot 50	I and showed with large building and our park taking up majority
•	Land cleared with large building and car park taking up majority of lot
Surrou	
	South- Vacant lot
Lot 8	Building front of lot, small building centre of lot remainder grass
	and vegetation
Surrou	
Lot 7	South- Vacant lot
	Several small buildings front have of lot, remainder grass and
_	vegetation
Surrou	nds South- Vacant lot
Lot 6	South- vacant for
	Small buildings towards front of lot, remainder grass and
Surrou	vegetation
Surrou	South- Vacant lot
<u>Lot 5</u>	
•	Most of land cleared except for a few trees around edge of
Surrou	property Inds
	South- Vacant land
Lot 4	
∎ Surroi	Land cleared, no vegetation or grass
	South- Vacant lot

Lot 3 - Desidential Duilding front of lot remainder gross and vegetation
<ul> <li>Residential Building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> <li>Surrounds</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- Vacant lot</li> </ul>
<u>Lot 2</u>
<ul> <li>Building front and centre of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
South- Vacant lot
<ul> <li>West- Bushland and grass, no signs of development</li> </ul>
Lot 1
• Land cleared, car park and large building at front of lot
Surrounds South- Vacant Lot
<ul> <li>West- Bushland and grass, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<u>Lot 130</u>
• No signs of development, lot consists of grass and vegetation
<ul> <li>South- Lot 131, East- Lot 71, West- Lot 3, North- Lot 2</li> </ul>
Lot 3
<ul> <li>No signs of development, Lot consists of grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
Surrounds South- Lot 50, East lot 130, North- lot 1, West- Lot 8, 500, 11,
12,13, 14, 15
Lot 500
<ul> <li>Nursery back of site, front of site buildings and vegetation</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>West- Bushland and grass, no signs of development</li> </ul>
Lot 11
<ul> <li>Front of lot cleared, back of land building with grass and</li> </ul>
vegetation
<ul><li>Surrounds</li><li>West- Bushland and grass, no signs of development</li></ul>
Lot 12
<ul> <li>Two residential buildings towards centre of lot, remainder grass</li> </ul>
and trees bordering lot Surrounds
<ul> <li>West- Bushland and grass, no signs of development</li> </ul>
Lot 13
<ul> <li>Buildings at the front and back of lot, remainder grass with trees bordering lot</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>West- Bushland and grass, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Lot 14</li> <li>South side of lot cleared, North side of lot has a building and</li> </ul>
grass with trees bordering the lot
Surrounds
• West- grass and bushland, no signs of development
<ul> <li>Front of lot residential building, remainder of lot covered in grass</li> </ul>
and some bushland
Surrounds
<ul> <li>West- grass and bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>One building front of lot, remainder covered in bushland</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>West- grass and bushland no signs of development, South Lake</li> </ul>
road Lot 17
<ul> <li>Several buildings north west side of property, remainder cleared</li> </ul>
land with grass and vegetation

	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>West- Residential subdivision</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Several buildings front the front to the middle of the lot,</li> </ul>
	remainder grass with a tree border on the north side
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>Residential subdivision</li> </ul>
	<u>Lot 200</u>
	<ul> <li>Several buildings on centre of lot and a swimming pool,</li> </ul>
	remainder of lot trees and vegetation Surrounds
	<ul> <li>West- Residential subdivision</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>North- See lot 48</li> </ul>
	Lot 201
	<ul> <li>Building on south side of lot, remainder grass with trees</li> </ul>
	bordering entire lot
	Surrounds
	• North- See lot 48
	Building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation
	Surrounds
	• North- see lot 48
	<u>Lot 2</u>
	<ul> <li>Buildings front of site, orchard through middle of lot, rest grass</li> </ul>
	and vegetation
	Surrounds
	• North- See lot 49
· · · ·	Buildings back of lot and middle of lot, remainder grass and trees
	with more trees to the back of the lot
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- See lots 50 and 51</li> </ul>
.	Lot 30
	<ul> <li>Building front of lot with a swimming pool on the east side,</li> </ul>
	remainder grass and vegetation Surrounds
	North- See lot 52
	Lot 31
-	Building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation
:	Surrounds
	• North- See lots 53 and 54
-	Lot 9
	<ul> <li>Front of lot has a few small buildings, the remainder is grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
	vegetation Surrounds
,	• North- see lots 54,55,56
	Lot 10
	<ul> <li>Front of lot has several buildings, back of lot cleared, trees</li> </ul>
	bordering the west edge
	Surrounds
	• North- See lot 57
<u> </u>	<ul> <li>No evidence of land development, Land cleared with some grass</li> </ul>
	and vegetation
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- See lot 58</li> </ul>
<u>]</u>	Lot 12
	<ul> <li>Small building front of lot and Several buildings towards back of</li> </ul>
	lot, remainder grass and vegetation
	Surrounds

■ Lot 13	North- See lot 59
<u>Lot 13</u>	Building and bushland front of lot, centre of lot cleared land and
	grass, back of lot bush
Surrou	nds North- See lot 60
Lot 80	ווטונוו- ככל וטו טט
	Two buildings front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation
Surrou	nds North- See lot 61
Lot 20	North- See lot of
•	Building middle and back of lot, remainder grass with trees
Surrou	bordering
	North- See lot 62
Lot 65	
surrou	Vacant lot with some trees
Surrou	North- Freeway
<u>Lot 64</u>	
• Surrou	Residential house, small shed, grass and some trees
Surrot	North- Freeway
<u>Lot 62</u>	
• Surrou	Residential house, parking, horse track at rear of site
Juriot	North- Freeway
Lot 59	
Lot 58	Residential house, trees and track at rear
	Residential, grass and trees at rear
Lot 57	
Lot 56	Residential house, small sheds, grass
<u>B0030</u>	Residential house, small sheds, possible small orchard in middle
1.455	of site, scrub at rear
Lot 55	Vacant land, grass some trees
<u>Lot 54</u>	-
Lot 53	Residential house, one shed, trees
<u>Lot 53</u>	Residential house, two sheds, scrub
Lot 52	
Lot 51	Residential house, shed, large cleared pad, grass
	Residential house, large sheds, possible greenhouses, grass
<u>Lot 50</u>	
• Lot 49	Residential house, small sheds, small orchard, grass
•	Residential house, shed, grass
<u>Lot 48</u>	
Surro	Vacant land, grass ands
- Surro	West- new subdivision
Lot 47	Residential house, large shed, fenced paddocks at rear of site
Surro	
	West- new subdivision
Lot 46	Residential house, shed, trees
L	וווווווווווווווווווווווווווווווווווווו

Surrounds
West- new subdivision
Lot 45 Two sheds, vacant land and track
<ul> <li>Two sheds, vacant land and track</li> <li>Surrounds</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>West- new subdivision</li> </ul>
Lot 44
<ul> <li>Residential house, trees and track</li> </ul>
Surrounds
• West- new subdivision
Lot 43 Besidential house trees and treely
<ul> <li>Residential house, trees and track</li> <li>Surrounds</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>West- new subdivision</li> </ul>
<u>Lot 42</u>
<ul> <li>Residential house, significant amount of trees front of property,</li> </ul>
back of property grass
Surrounds
<ul> <li>West- new subdivision</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Lot 41</li> <li>Two buildings front of site, car park and tress with grass</li> </ul>
remainder of lot
Surrounds
<ul> <li>West- new subdivision</li> </ul>
<u>Lot 40</u>
• West side of lot grass with tree border, east side corner residential
house with a swimming pool Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with</li> </ul>
industrial buildings and car park
Lot 39
<ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with inductive building on the second secon</li></ul>
industrial buildings and car park <u>Lot 38</u>
<ul> <li>Several buildings at front of lot, remainder grass with significant</li> </ul>
amount of bushland
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with</li> </ul>
industrial buildings and car park
Lot 37 Building at front of property, remainder bushland
<ul> <li>Building at front of property, remainder bushland</li> <li>Surrounds</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with</li> </ul>
industrial buildings and car park
<u>Lot 36</u>
<ul> <li>Several buildings towards front of property with a swimming</li> </ul>
pool, remainder grass and vegetation
<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with</li> </ul>
industrial buildings and car park
Lot 35
<ul> <li>Residential building at front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
vegetation
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with industrial buildings and car park</li> </ul>
industrial buildings and car park Lot 34
<ul> <li>Residential building and tress front of lot, back half of lot grass</li> </ul>

	with one tree
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with inductive buildings and say parts</li> </ul>
	industrial buildings and car park
	Lot 33 • Residential building and trees front of lot remainder grass and
	Residential balleting and frees from of log, remainder grass and
	vegetation
	<ul> <li>Lot 32</li> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and bushland</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with</li> </ul>
	industrial buildings and car park
	Lot 31
	<ul> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with</li> </ul>
	industrial buildings and car park
	Lot 30
	<ul> <li>Residential building and trees front of lot, remainder of lot</li> </ul>
	cleared
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with</li> </ul>
	industrial buildings and car park
	Lot 1
	<ul> <li>Large industrial building with track, remainder of grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation
	Surrounds
	North- large block of land, majority grass and vegetation with industrial
0/01/10051	buildings and car park
06/01/1995- colour	Lot 15 • Residential house and sheds, trees bordering lot
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- Small vacant lot with trees</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>East- see lot 411</li> </ul>
	• South- see lot 102
	• West- see lot 101
	Lot 16
	<ul> <li>Stables and paddocks bordered by trees</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> </ul>
	• East- see lot 17
	South- Vacant scrubland
	-
	-
	<ul> <li>East- see lot 100</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- large industrial building front of lot with car park, bushland</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West- commercial buildings front of lot, residential house in middle of lot, nursery plants across rest of lot</li> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Paddocks bordered by trees</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>

<ul> <li>West- residential property middle of lot, large shed at rear, remainder grass and bushland</li> </ul>
Lot 100
Building middle of lot, remainder grass and vegetation
<ul> <li>North- large residential building front of lot, small shed remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>East- see lot 101</li> <li>South- large commercial building front of lot with car park, bushland at back of lot</li> </ul>
• West- see lot 21
Lot 101
No land development, grass and vegetation comprise lot
<ul> <li>North- vacant lot, front of lot sandy, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
■ East- see lot 15
<ul> <li>South- large commercial building front of lot with car park, bushland at back of lot</li> </ul>
• West- see lot 100
<ul> <li>Interpretation</li> <li>No land development, grass and bushland covers lot</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- see lot 15</li> </ul>
• East- see lot 411
<ul> <li>South- commercial building and residential at front of lots, nursery and vacant bush land at back of lots</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>West- see lot 101</li> </ul>
Lot 411
<ul> <li>Several buildings between middle and back of lot, remainder grass and vegetation, with a tree border</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- Kwinana Freeway, large commercial buildings</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>East- grass and bushland, no evidence of development</li> </ul>
• South- see lot 16 and 17 Tea Tree CL
• West- see lot 15 and 102
<ul> <li>Building front of lot, remainder of lot cleared with track, some vegetation</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- Several buildings front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>East- Vacant lot with track around sides</li> <li>South Industrial buildings, purpary</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- Industrial buildings, nursery</li> <li>West- Back of lot grass and bushland, front of lot residential building and</li> </ul>
orchard
Lot 60
<ul> <li>Small residential building front of lot with swimming pool,</li> </ul>
remainder bush and grass
<ul> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>East- See lot 61</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>South- Small residential property front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
vegetation
<ul> <li>West- Residential building front of lot, track through middle of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
Lot 61
<ul> <li>Residential building back of lot, remainder grass and vegetation- trees bordering, driveway down centre</li> </ul>
Surrounds
<ul> <li>North- Bushland, vacant lot with no signs of development</li> </ul>

	• East- Small residential building front of lot, cleared land with track
	round the lot
	<ul> <li>South- Residential building centre of lot, remainder grass and vegetation with tree border</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West- see lot 60</li> </ul>
	Lot 63
	<ul> <li>Buildings front of lot with swimming pool, remainder of lot cleared</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- Kwinana Freeway</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>East- Residential building front of lot, remainder of lot cleared with</li> </ul>
	some vegetation
	<ul> <li>South- Residential property front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation, bushland towards back
20/04/1985 Colour	• West- Small residential building front of lot, cleared land with track.
20/04/1985 Colour	<ul> <li>Lot 15</li> <li>No border between lot 100, 101, 15, 102- large grass oval, several</li> </ul>
	buildings with garden borders/ decorative gardens to eastern side of
	property
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- two lots- residential property at front remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	bushland, eastern lot has a track
	• East- see lot 411
	<ul> <li>South- joined to lot 102</li> </ul>
	• West-joined to lot 101
	$\frac{\text{Lot 16}}{1}$
	<ul> <li>Vacant lot with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> </ul>
	• North- see lot 411
	<ul> <li>East- Kentucky CT, bushland no signs of development</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, bushland no signs of development</li> </ul>
	• West- see lot 17
	Lot 17
	<ul> <li>Vacant lot with no signs of development</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- see lot 16</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>East- see for To</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL- bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West- residential building middle of lot, several buildings front of lot</li> </ul>
	remainder grass and vegetation
	Lot 21
	<ul> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation
	<ul> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- Several buildings front of lot, remainder grass, bushland at</li> </ul>
	- South- Several buildings front of lot, remainder grass, businand at back of lot
	<ul> <li>West- Residential building front of lot with swimming pool,</li> </ul>
	remainder grass/ vegetation with a track
	Lot 100
	<ul> <li>No border between lot 100, 101, 15, 102 large grass oval, several</li> </ul>
	buildings with garden borders/ decorative gardens to eastern side of
	property
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>East- Joined with lot 101, 15, 102</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Industrial building, car park and swimming pool front of lot,</li> </ul>
	remainder grass and bushland
	• West- see lot 21
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

bui	border between lot 100, 101, 15, 102- large grass oval, several dings with garden borders/ decorative gardens to eastern side of
-	perty
Surrounds	4. We sout lat up signs of development
1 1	th- Vacant lot, no signs of development
	t- joined to lot 15 th Industrial building, car park and swimming pool front of
lot,	remainder grass and bushland st- Joined with lot 100
1	st- joined with lot 100
bui	border between lot 100, 101, 15, 102- large grass oval, several dings with garden borders/ decorative gardens to eastern side of perty
Surrounds	berty
	th- Joined to lot 15
	t see lot 411
	the two residential properties, eastern lot several buildings
	ainder grass and bushland, western
• We	st- residential building front of lot, remainder lot cleared with ne bushland at the back
Lot 411	
Sp Sp	lit into two properties, eastern lot- residential building middle of remainder grass and vegetation, western lot- vacant block of land h grass and vegetation and track round the sides
Surrounds	
	rth- Two properties, one vacant lot, western lot- residential
	lding remainder grass and vegetation
	t- Kentucky CT, bushland no signs of development
• Sou	th- see lots 16 and 17 Tear Tree CL
• We	st- see lot 102, 15, 101, 100
Lot 10	
• Bı	ilding front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation, track around
sid	es of property
Surrounds	
• No	rth- Several buildings front of lot, remainder grass and
veg	etation, dense bushland at back
	st- Vacant land, no signs of development
	th- Two buildings, remainder grass and vegetation
ren	est- Residential building front of lot, evidence of orchard, nainder of lot bushland
Lot 60	
ren	all residential building front of lot with swimming pool, nainder bushland
Surrounds	
	rth- Vacant lot, no signs of development
	st- See lot 61
	uth- Small residential building with swimming pool front of lot,
	nainder vegetation- track around side
	est- Small building front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation, ck around sides
<u>Lot 61</u>	
	nall residential building with swimming pool back of lot, nainder bushland with driveway through the middle
Surrounds	· -
• No	orth- Front of lot building and swimming pool, grass and
ve	getation remainder of lot cleared
■ Ea are	st- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass with track bund sides
• So	uth- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and

	vegetation
	<ul> <li>West- See lot 60</li> </ul>
	<u>ot 63</u>
	<ul> <li>Residential building front of lot with swimming pool, remainder</li> </ul>
	grass and vegetation, dense bush at back
S	urrounds
	<ul> <li>North- Kwinana freeway no longer passes through top of lot, Lot</li> <li>on group and upgetation residential building front of lot</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>90- grass and vegetation, residential building front of lot</li> <li>East- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation
	<ul> <li>South- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation
	<ul> <li>West- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass with track</li> </ul>
	around sides
11/06/1975 B&W L	.ot 15
	<ul> <li>No distinctive boundaries between lot 100,101,15 and 102, large</li> </ul>
	track around outside, some decorative garden layout left side of lot
s	urrounds
	<ul> <li>North- several buildings front of lot, remainder grass / vegetation</li> </ul>
	with small lake and back of lot
	• East- see lot 411
	<ul> <li>South- joined with lot 102</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul>
	<u>.ot 16</u>
	<ul> <li>Building front of lot, remainder cleared with some grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation
S	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>Fast Kantuchu CT hushland na signa af davalanment</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>East- Kentucky CT, bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, businand, no signs of development</li> <li>West- see lot 17</li> </ul>
	Lot 17
1 ×	<ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development, small lake</li> </ul>
	middle of lot?
	Surrounds
	• North- see lot 411
	• East- see lot 16
	<ul> <li>South- Tea Tree CL- bushland, with no signs of development</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West- vacant block of land, with what looks like sheep</li> </ul>
	Lot 21
	<ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> </ul>
5	Surrounds
	North- Vacant block of land, bushland, no signs of development
	<ul> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South - Large building and car park front of lot remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Large building and car park front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>vegetation</li> <li>West- no distinctive border with lot 20, grass and bushland, vacant</li> </ul>
	• West- no distinctive border with lot 20, grass and businand, vacant land
ľ	Lot 100
	• No distinctive boundaries between lot 100,101,15 and 102, large
	track around outside, some decorartive garden layout left side of lot
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	bushland with a track to back
	<ul> <li>East- joined with lot 101</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Large building and car park front of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation
	• West- see lot 21
	Lot 101
	<ul> <li>No distinctive boundaries between lot 100,101,15 and 102, large</li> </ul>

	trook around outside, some descriptive souder layout left side of let
Surrou	track around outside, some decorative garden layout left side of lot
Surrot	North- Vacant lot of land with no signs of development
-	East- Joined with lot 15/21
-	South- Vacant block of land, with what looks like sheep?
•	West- joined with lot 100
Lot 10	
	No distinctive boundaries between lot 100,101,15 and 102, large
	track around outside, some decorative garden layout left side of lot
Surrou	nds
•	North- Joined with lot 15
-	East- see lot 411
•	South- vacant block of land, remains of lake
•	West- joined with lot 101
Lot 41	
	Several buildings back of lot with car park, remainder grass and vegetation
Surrou	
	North- Two lots- western lot- several buildings front of lot,
	remainder grass and vegetation, eastern lot-vacant lot with no signs
	of development
-	East- Kentucky CT, Bushland no signs of development
-	South- see lot 16 and 17 Tea Tree CL
•	West- see lot 102 and 15
Lot 10	
•	Residential property front of lot, remainder grass and vegetation- back of lot cleared
Surrou	
Surrou	North- Vacant lot, no signs of development
-	East- vacant lot, bushland front of lot, back of lot slightly cleared
	with track
•	South- Several buildings centre of lot, remainder grass and
	vegetation
	several buildings front of lot, remainder bushland
Lot 60	
•	Residential buildings front of lot, middle cleared, remainder bushland
Surrou	
•	North- Vacant lot, no signs of development- bushland
	East- See lot 61 South- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and
-	vegetation
•	West- Vacant lot, no signs of development, some land cleared
Lot 61	
	Vacant lot, no signs of development, track through middle of
	property
Surrou	nds
•	North-Vacant lot, no signs of development- bushland
-	East- Residential property back of lot, remainder bushland
•	South- Residential building front of lot, remainder grass and
	vegetation, with track around sides
T - 4 63	West- See lot 60
<u>Lot 63</u>	Front of lot cleared remainder husbland
Surrou	Front of lot cleared, remainder bushland
Surrou	North- Residential property front of lot, remainder grass and
	vegetation
•	East- Residential property front of lot, remainder bushland with a
	track
-	South- Vacant lot with no signs of development
•	West- Residential property back of lot, remainder bushland
1	

11/03/1965–B&W	Lot 15
	• No distinctions between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, track around land,
	no signs of development
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- small residential property middle of lot, remainder grass and</li> </ul>
	vegetation
	■ East- see lot 411
	<ul> <li>South- joined lot 102</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West-joined with lot 101</li> </ul>
	-
	<u>Lot 16</u>
	<ul> <li>Native vegetation with swamplands</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>East- Kentucky CT- swamp and bushland</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, Cleared lot, no signs of development</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West-joined to lot 17</li> </ul>
	Lot 17
	<ul> <li>Native vegetation with swamplands</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	• North- see lot 411
	<ul> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, cleared lot, no signs of development, evidence</li> </ul>
	of swamp further south east
	<ul> <li>West- vacant lot, native vegetation with swamp</li> </ul>
	$\underline{Lot 21}$
	<ul> <li>Vacant block of land, merged with lot 20, no signs of development</li> </ul>
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- vacant land, with no signs of development</li> </ul>
	• East- see lot 100
	C (1 (1 1)) (1 ) is a strong of description meant
	• South- vacant land, with no signs of development
	<ul> <li>West- vacant land, with no signs of development</li> </ul>
	Lot 100
	<ul> <li>No distinctions between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, track around land,</li> </ul>
	no signs of development
	Surrounds
1	
	<ul> <li>North- vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul>
	• East- joined with lot 101
1	<ul> <li>South- vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>West- see lot 21</li> </ul>
	$\frac{\text{Lot 101}}{100}$
	<ul> <li>No distinctions between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, track around land,</li> </ul>
	no signs of development
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- vacant lot no signs of development</li> </ul>
1	<ul> <li>East- joined with lot 15</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>South- vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul>
1	<ul> <li>West-joined with lot 100</li> </ul>
	Lot 102
	• No distinctions between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, track around land,
	no signs of development
1	
	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North-joined with lot 15</li> </ul>
1	-
	• East- see lot 411
	<ul> <li>South- vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul>
1	<ul> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul>
	Lot 411 Kentucky CT
	<ul> <li>Vacant lot with no signs of development, small lake middle of lot</li> </ul>
	bordering lot 15
1	Surrounds
	<ul> <li>North- vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul>

<ul> <li>East - scrubland no signs of development</li> <li>South - see tot 16, 17</li> <li>West- see tot 102, 15</li> <li>Lot 10</li> <li>Small residential building front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation</li> <li>East - residential building front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation</li> <li>East - residential building contro of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>South- Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West- Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 60</li> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 61</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Suth- Indukand, no signs of development</li> <li>Suth- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Mest- See tot 40</li> <li>North- semant sectional building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see tot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See tot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- see tot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- kake and native vegetation</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li></ul>	·	
<ul> <li>West- see lot 102, 15         <ul> <li>Small residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- Several buildings front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation                 <ul></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
Lot 10         wrrounds         • North- Several buildings front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation         • East- residential building front of lot, remainder bushland         • South- Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation         • West- Vacant lot, no signs of development         Lot 60         • North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 61         • North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 63         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • Surrounds         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 63         • Orth/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 63         • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         66/11/1953- B&W         Lot 15         • Morth- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411         • South-ipoined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 15         • West- lake and native vegetation         • East- scubland, no signs of development         •		<ul> <li>South- see lot 16, 17</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Small residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North - Several buildings front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation</li> <li>East - residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>South - Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West - Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 60</li> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 61</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Sourb - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Sourb - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 53</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 54</li> <li>North East/ South/West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>06/11/1953 – B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15</li> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> </ul> <li>Surrounds     <ul> <li>North - stel tot 11</li> <li>South - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South - bush and, no signs of development</li> <li>West - joined with lot 15</li> <li>West - lot 411</li> <li>East - ser lot 411</li> <li>East - ser lot 411</li> <li>South - vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West - lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West - lake and native vegetati</li></ul></li>		<ul> <li>West- see lot 102, 15</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Small residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North - Several buildings front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation</li> <li>East - residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>South - Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West - Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 60</li> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 61</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Sourb - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Sourb - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 53</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 54</li> <li>North East/ South/West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>06/11/1953 – B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15</li> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> </ul> <li>Surrounds     <ul> <li>North - stel tot 11</li> <li>South - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South - bush and, no signs of development</li> <li>West - joined with lot 15</li> <li>West - lot 411</li> <li>East - ser lot 411</li> <li>East - ser lot 411</li> <li>South - vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West - lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West - lake and native vegetati</li></ul></li>		Lot 10
Surrounds         • North- Several buildings front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation         • East- residential building front of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation         • West- Vacant lot, no signs of development         Lot 60         • North, East, South, Mest – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 61         • North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 61         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 63         • Bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 15         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W         Lot 15         • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411         • South- joined with lot 15         • West- Siend with lot 161         • North- see lot 411         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         • West- lake and native vegetation		
<ul> <li>North - Several buildings front of lot, driveway down side, remainder grass and vegetation         <ul> <li>East - residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>South - Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West - Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 60         <ul> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West - Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 61         <ul> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>Surrounds             <ul> <li>North - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South - bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West - See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63                       <ul> <li>North / East / South/ West - Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West - See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>grass and vegetation         <ul> <li>East-residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>South-Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation             <ul> <li>West-Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> </ul> <li>East-residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West-Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> <li>East-South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li></li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>East- residential building front of lot, remainder bushland</li> <li>South- Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West- Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 60</li> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 61</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 15</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Invorth/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development in adverter with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East-see lot 411</li> <li>South- binded with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 15</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- sciot 101</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of</li></ul>		
<ul> <li>South- Industrial and small building centre of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>West- Vacant lot, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 60</li> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 61</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- East- South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Of/11/1953-B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15</li> <li>Noth/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West- slake and native vegetation</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetat</li></ul>		
cleared with some vegetation         West- Vacant lot, no signs of development         Lot 60         • North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 61         • North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds         • North- bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 63         • Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953-B&W         Lot 15         • No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds         • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • North- see lot 411         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- scrubland, no signs of development         • South- vacant land,		
<ul> <li>West- Vacant lot, no signs of development         <ul> <li>Lot 60</li> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 61</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
Lot 60       • Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation         Surrounds       • North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 61       • Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds       • North- bushland, no signs of development         • North- bushland, no signs of development       • East- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development       • West- See lot 60         Lot 63       • Bushland, no signs of development         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W       Lot 15         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W       Lot 15         • North- Small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411       • South- joined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 15       • West- joined with lot 101         Lot 16       • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds       • North- see lot 411         • East- see lot 411       • East- scibland, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development       • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development       • South- vacant land, no sig		
<ul> <li>Residential building front of lot, remainder cleared with some vegetation</li> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63</li> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>O6/11/1953- B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15</li> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation<!--</th--><th></th><th></th></li></ul>		
vegetation         Surrounds         North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 61         • Bushland, no signs of development         • Surrounds         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • East- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 63         • Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W         Lot 15         • No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds         • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411         • South- joined with lot 15         • West- lake and native vegetation         • North- see lot 411         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Sumplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds		
Surrounds         • North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development         Lot 61         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • South- bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 63         • Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W         Lot 15         • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411         • South- joined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 15         • West- see lot 411         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • North- see lot 411         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • Surrounds         • North- vacant land, no signs of development         • South- vacant block of land with no signs of developm		
<ul> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Lot 61         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		vegetation
Lot 61       • Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds       • North-bushland, no signs of development         • East-bushland, no signs of development       • South-bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60       Lot 63         • West- See lot 60       Lot 63         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W       Lot 15         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W       Lot 15         • North- signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- signs of development         • South - Joined with lot 15       • West- Joined with lot 101         Lot 16       • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds       • North- see lot 411         <		
<ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 63         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 63         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>06/11/1953- B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15         <ul> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- bioined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 16         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds             <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds             <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>Wacant block of la</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		<ul> <li>North, East, South, West – Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 63         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 63         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>06/11/1953- B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15         <ul> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- bioined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 16         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds             <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds             <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>Wacant block of la</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		Lot 61
Surrounds         • North- bushland, no signs of development         • East- bushland, no signs of development         • West- See lot 60         Lot 63         • Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W         Lot 15         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W         Lot 15         • North- Signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds         • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411         • South- joined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 101         Lot 16         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16         • and 17         Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- scinel with lot 16         • South- vacant land, no signs of development		
<ul> <li>North- bushland, no signs of development         <ul> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> </ul> </li> <li>Ed 53         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>East- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>06/11/1953- B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15         <ul> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 16         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Ta Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Ea</li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>South- bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- See lot 60         <ul> <li>Lot 63                 <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>West- See lot 60</li> <li>Lot 63         <ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>06/11/1953- B&amp;W         <ul> <li>Lot 15</li> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South - Joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Surrounds                     <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>South - joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		<ul> <li>South-bushland no signs of development</li> </ul>
Lot 63         • Bushland, no signs of development         Surrounds         • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W         Lot 15         • No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds         • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411         • South- joined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 101         Lot 16         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East-see lot 411         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East-scrubland, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- joined with lot 16         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- joined with lot 16         • South- vaca		
<ul> <li>Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> </ul> </li> <li>06/11/1953- B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15         <ul> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- secrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- oine and na signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
Surrounds       • North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development         06/11/1953- B&W       Lot 15         • No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411       • South-joined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 101       Lot 16         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds       • North- see lot 411         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds       • North-see lot 411         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds       • North- see lot 411         • South- tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17       • South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation       • West- lake and native vegetation         • We		
<ul> <li>North/ East/ South/ West- Bushland, no signs of development</li> <li>06/11/1953- B&amp;W</li> <li>Lot 15         <ul> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
06/11/1953-B&W       Lot 15         • No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side         Surrounds       • North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation         • East- see lot 411       • South- joined with lot 15         • West- joined with lot 101       Lot 16         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds       • North- see lot 411         • East- scrubland, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- scrubland, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- joined with lot 16         • South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 121         • Vacant block of land with no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 21         <		
<ul> <li>No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds             <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 16 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	06/11/1953-B&W	
<ul> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 16 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>North- small residential building middle of lot, remainder of lot cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li></ul>		
<ul> <li>cleared with some grass and vegetation</li> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>East- see lot 411</li> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>South- joined with lot 15</li> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> <li>Lot 16</li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
Lot 16       • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds       • North- see lot 411         • East- scrubland, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- joined with lot 16         • South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 21         • Vacant block of land with no signs of development         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         • Surrounds         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         • Surrounds         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         • Surrounds         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         • East- see lot 100         • South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot		
<ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds             <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>		<ul> <li>West- joined with lot 101</li> </ul>
and 17 Surrounds North- see lot 411 East- scrubland, no signs of development South- vacant land, no signs of development West- lake and native vegetation Lot 17 Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17 Surrounds North- see lot 411 East- joined with lot 16 South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development West- lake and native vegetation Lot 21 Vacant block of land with no signs of development Surrounds North- vacant block of land with no signs of development East- see lot 100 South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot		Lot 16
Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- scrubland, no signs of development         • South- vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 17         • Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17         Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- joined with lot 16         • South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 21         • Vacant block of land with no signs of development         Surrounds         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         Surrounds         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         Surrounds         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         • South- vacant block of land with no signs of development         • East- see lot 100         • South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot		<ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>		and 17
<ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>		Surrounds
<ul> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17 <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21 <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds</li></ul></li></ul>		<ul> <li>East- scrubland, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		<ul> <li>South- vacant land, no signs of development</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Lot 17         <ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> </ul> </li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul> </li> </ul>		West- lake and native vegetation
<ul> <li>Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16 and 17</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> </ul> </li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
and 17 Surrounds North- see lot 411 East- joined with lot 16 South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development West- lake and native vegetation Lot 21 Vacant block of land with no signs of development Surrounds North- vacant block of land with no signs of development East- see lot 100 South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot		• Swamplands, edge of lake on border, no distinction between lot 16
Surrounds         • North- see lot 411         • East- joined with lot 16         • South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development         • West- lake and native vegetation         Lot 21         • Vacant block of land with no signs of development         Surrounds         • North- vacant block of land with no signs of development         East- see lot 100         • South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot		
<ul> <li>North- see lot 411</li> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>East- joined with lot 16</li> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>South- Tea Tree CL, vacant land, no signs of development</li> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>West- lake and native vegetation</li> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>Lot 21         <ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds                 <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>		
<ul> <li>Vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>Surrounds         <ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		-
<ul> <li>Surrounds</li> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul>		Lot 21 Verset black of land with up sizes of development
<ul> <li>North- vacant block of land with no signs of development</li> <li>East- see lot 100</li> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul>	1	
<ul><li>East- see lot 100</li><li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li></ul>		
<ul> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> <li>West- vacant block of land no signs of development</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>West- vacant block of land no signs of development</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>South- vacant block of land, lake at back of lot</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>West- vacant block of land no signs of development</li> </ul>

Lot 100	
•	No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of
	land, no signs of development
Surroun	ds
•	North- vacant block of land, no signs of development
•	East- joined with lot 101
•	South- vacant block of land, swamp at back of lot
•	West- see lot 21
Lot 101	
	No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of
	land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side
Surroun	
	North- vacant block of land, no signs of development
	East- joined with lot 15 and 102
-	South- vacant block of land, swamp at back of lot
•	West- joined with lot 100
Lot 102	-
	No distinction between lot 100, 101, 15 and 102, vacant block of
	land, no signs of development, lack bordering eastern side
Surrou	
	North- joined with lot 15
	East- see lot 411
-	South- vacant block of land with swamp at back of lot
	West- joined with lot 101
Lot 411	
	Vacant block of land, swamp bordering lot 15, mostly cleared
Surrou	nds
•	North- vacant block of land, with no signs of development
	East- scrubland, no signs of development
-	South- see lot 16 and 17
-	West- see lot 102
<u>Lot 10</u>	
	Bushland, no signs of development
Surrou	nds
-	North- bushland, no signs of development
•	East- bushland, no signs of development
	South- Several buildings centre of lot, remainder grass and
	vegetation
	West- bushland, no signs of development
<u>Lot 60</u>	
-	Residential building middle of lot
Surrou	nds
	North/ East/ South/ West- bushland, no signs of development
<u>Lot 61</u>	
	Bushland, no signs of development
Surrou	nds
Juilot	North/ East/ South/ West- bushland, no signs of development
Lot 63	
<u></u>	Bushland, no signs of development
Surrou	unds
surrot	North/ East/ South/ West- bushland, no signs of development

# 5 Environmental Settings

# 5.1 Topography

The site is predominantly flat at a height of approximately 25 m above Australian Height Datum (AHD) increasing to approximately 27 m AHD in the central south and north east of the site (DoE, 2005).

# 5.2 Geology

Based on the hydrogeology and Groundwater Resources of the Perth Region Western Australia, surface geology of the site comprises Quaternary aged Bassendean Sand. Underlying this unit at depth is Kardinya member of the Osborne Formation a Cretaceous aged formation of Sandstones and Shales.

The Bassendean Sand Formation which is present over most of the central Perth region unconformably overlies the Cretaceous and Tertiary strata and inter-fingers to the east with the Guildford Clay, which both unconformably overlie the Kardinya member of the Osborne Formation. The stratigraphic relationships of the Bassendean Sand with the Guildford Clay and Gnangara Sand indicate that the formation was deposited under changing and perhaps alternating fluvial, estuarine and shallow-marine environments.

# 5.3 Acid Sulphate Soils

The Quarternary sands beneath the majority of the site have moderate to low risk of acid generation. Soils containing peat in the south eastern corner of the site have high risk of acid generation, which is likely to be associated with the swamp deposits shown on the geological map (http://www.wrc.wa.gov.au/infocentre/atlas/atlas\_html/, accessed 27/06/07).

### 5.4 Surface Hydrology

No surface water bodies were identified within 500 m of the site. The nearest water bodies to the site are Yangebup Lake and Kogolup Lake, which are approximately 1.5 km to the west and southwest of the site, respectively. There are also other unnamed lakes and swamps in the area.

### 5.5 Hydrogeology

The Perth Groundwater Atlas shows the watertable to be at approximately 23 m AHD at the site, with a groundwater flow to the west.

Water bearing layers and aquifers potentially occurring beneath the site is the superficial aquifer – Jandakot Mound, which has a maximum saturated thickness of approximately 40 m with total dissolved solids of 250-1000 mg/L. The groundwater has potential potable use and the flow direction should be to the west. Based on the depth to groundwater, the vulnerability of contamination to groundwater beneath the site is high.

### 5.6 Groundwater Resources and Beneficial Uses

Land use in the general area surrounding the site includes residential/semi rural, vacant land, grazing of horses, nurseries and commercial buildings and the Kwinana Freeway is adjacent to the site.

A bore search identified 27 registered bores and 167 registered bores located within 1 and 2 km of the site, respectively. The recorded purpose of registered bores included monitoring, observation, investigation, production, irrigation, livestock and domestic/household.

With respect to the use of groundwater beneath the site the Department of Health (DoH) considers it an unsafe practice to drink or swim in untreated groundwater as experience has shown the groundwater may contain microbiological and chemical contamination. Groundwater should always be tested, assessed by an experienced person and then treated appropriately to ensure that it is safe for the intended use.

Based on a TDS value of 250-1000 mg/L the most beneficial use of groundwater beneath the site is for drinking purposes. However, as discussed above, the use of untreated groundwater beneath the site for drinking water purposes is not advised.

### 5.7 Groundwater Quality

Groundwater quality for the south east portion of the site was obtained from the groundwater investigation undertaken on the site by Ace Environmental in October 2007. A summary of the findings is outlined below:

- The depth to shallow groundwater within monitoring wells across the site ranged from 1.413 to 2.775 m below top of casing. Based on gauging and surveying of wells, the inferred hydraulic gradient is flowing to the west.
- Measured pH values ranged from 5.88 to 6.45
- Electrical conductivity readings ranged from 375 to 1390 µS/cm (hence approximately 259 to 959 mg/L TDS), thereby indicating that groundwater is suitable for drinking water purposes.
- Dissolved oxygen (DO) levels ranged from 1.47 to 2.15 mg/L.
- Redox potential values ranged from -139 to -10 mV.

An additional groundwater investigation needs to be undertaken for the entire site as the groundwater investigation undertaken was only for the south east portion of the site encompassing Lots 10, 15, 21, 60, 61, 63, 100, 101 and 102 Muriel Court, Lots 16 and 17 Tea Tree Close and Lot 411 Kentucky Court. The results should not be extrapolated to include the entire site as potentially contaminating activities including the storage of underground fuel tanks were found on other Lots.

Analytical results and the methodology used for the groundwater investigation have been included in this report for reference only.

# 6 Methodology

# 6.1 Groundwater Methodology

Field activities conducted as part of the groundwater assessment program were undertaken on 27 March and 31 October 2007. Field activities are summarised in **Table 6.1** and grid references of the groundwater monitoring bores are included in **Table 6.2**. Groundwater bore logs and gauging sheets are included in **Appendices E** and **F**, respectively.

lable 6.1	Summary of	Groundwater Assessment
Activity	Location	Details
Clearance of underground services	MB01 to MB06 inclusive	Service Location survey by MP Electrolocation
Well construction and installation	MB01 to MB06 inclusive	Wells were constructed with 50 mm, class 18, uPVC threaded screen and casing in accordance with BGE well construction procedures.
Well development	MB01 to MB06 inclusive	Wells were purged of 5 well volumes or until bailed dry upon completion of construction
Well gauging	MB01 to MB06 inclusive	Wells were gauged for the presence of phase separated hydrocarbons and standing water levels using oil/water interface probe, which was decontaminated in between each measurement. Field measurements of pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, redox and EC were taken every 12 L or until the parameters stabilised.
Sampling method	MB01 to MB06 inclusive	Disposable bailers were used to obtain the groundwater samples. A base volatile valve was not used to prevent agitation as it was not deemed necessary since Ace do not invert the bailer when collecting groundwater samples. The sample is collected from the bottom of the bailer, which minimises agitation.
Decontamination procedure	MB01 to MB06 inclusive	New disposable gloves and new strings were used for each well to avoid the risk of cross contamination
Sample preservation	MB01 to MB06 inclusive	Samples were collected in laboratory supplied bottles and immediately stored in an insulated esky chilled with ice bricks upon sampling until transit to the laboratory

 Table 6.1
 Summary of Groundwater Assessment

Table 6.2	Grid Reference of Groundwater B	Bores
-----------	---------------------------------	-------

GW Bore	Grid Reference
MB01	115.854985E; 32.120901S
MB02	115.853617E; 32.123196S
MB03	115.852894E; 32.118617S
MB04	115.852417E; 32.117212S
MB05	115.853599E; 32.117722S
MB06	115.850562E; 32.118043S

# 7 Environmental Investigation Levels

Groundwater investigation levels adopted for this PSI are based on Table 3, Assessment Levels for Water (DoE, November 2003).

The highest potential beneficial use of groundwater of the superficial aquifer beneath the site is for drinking water purposes as total dissolved solids were approximately 259 to 959 mg/L. The WA Drinking Water guidelines have been adopted and the Long-term Irrigation guidelines adopted in the absence of Drinking Water guidelines. No marine water ecosystems have been identified within 1 km of the site.

The investigation levels adopted for assessing the contamination status of groundwater at the site are provided in **Table 7.1**.

	Lable /.1	Groundwater investigation Levels					
Analytical Groupings	Analyte	Drinking Water (µg/L)	Long-Term Irrigation (µg//L)	Adopted Guideline (µg/L)			
OC/OPs	Aldrin	0.3	-	0.3			
	Dieldrin	0.3	-	0.3			
	Chlordane	1	-	1			
	DDT	20	-	20			
<u> </u>	Chlorpyrifos	30	-	30			
	Diazinon	3	-	3			
Metals	Lead (mg/L)	0.01	2.0	0.01			
	Arsenic (mg/L)	0.007	0.1	0.007			
	Cadmium (mg/L)	0.002	0.01	0.002			
	Chromium (mg/L)		0.1	0.1			
	Copper (mg/L)	2.0	0.2	0.2			
	Mercury (mg/L)	0.001	0.002	0.001			
	Nickel (mg/L)	0.02	0.2	0.02			
	Zinc (mg/L)	3.0	2.0	3.0			
TPH, BTEX	$C_6 - C_9$	_	-	-			
	$C_{10} - C_{14}$	-	-	-			
	$C_{15} - C_{28}$	-	-				
	$C_{29} - C_{36}$	-	-	-			
	Benzene	1	-	1			
<u> </u>	Toluene	800	-	800			
	Ethylbenzene	300	-	300			
	Xylenes	600	-	600			

Table 7.1Groundwater Investigation Levels

Notes:

- No investigation level available

### 8 Results and Discussion

### 8.1 Groundwater Analytical Results

The number of groundwater samples analysed, analytes tested for, minimum/maximum constituent concentrations and samples that exceeded the investigation levels are detailed in **Table 8.1**. Tables of groundwater analytical results, copies of laboratory certificates and signed chain of custody documents are included in **Appendices G** and **H**, respectively.

Number of Samples Analysed	Analyte	Min Conc. (µg/L)	Max Conc. (µg/L)	Samples Exceeding Investigation Levels
6	Aldrin	<0.010	<0.010	None
6	Dieldrin	< 0.010	< 0.010	None
6	Chlordane	< 0.010	< 0.010	None
6	DDT	< 0.010	< 0.010	None
6	Chlorpyrifos	< 0.050	< 0.050	None
6	Diazinon	<0.10	<0.10	None
6	Lead (mg/L)	< 0.001	0.003	None
6	Arsenic (mg/L)	< 0.001	0.003	None
6	Cadmium (mg/L)	0.0001	0.0004	None
6	Chromium (mg/L)	< 0.001	< 0.001	None
6	Copper (mg/L)	< 0.001	0.003	None
6	Mercury (mg/L)	< 0.0001	<0.0001	None
6	Nickel (mg/L)	0.001	0.006	None
6	Zinc (mg/L)	0.014	0.024	None
6	ТРН C <sub>6</sub> – C <sub>9</sub>	<20	<20	None
6	TPH C <sub>10</sub> – C <sub>14</sub>	<50	60	None
6	TPH C <sub>15</sub> - C <sub>28</sub>	<100	400	None
6	TPH C <sub>29</sub> - C <sub>36</sub>	<50	100	None
6	Benzene	<1	<1	None
6	Toluene	<2	<2	None
6	Ethylbenzene	<2	<2	None
6	Xylenes	<2	<2	None

 Table 8.1
 Summary of Groundwater Analytical Results

Field gauging results of the groundwater, with the exception of MB01 did not suggest the presence of phase separated hydrocarbons and the water appeared to be free of sheen.

OC/OPs, metals and BTEX were either reported at below the laboratory detection limits or at concentrations less than the WA Drinking Water and Long Term Irrigation Guidelines for all groundwater samples. TPH was reported above laboratory detection in MB01, but not in any of the other monitoring bores. Western Australia does not currently have guidelines for TPH in water and hence the Dutch guidelines are typically referred to when assessing TPH impacts in groundwater. The concentrations of TPH found in MB01 were well below the Dutch guidelines.

# 8.2 QA/QC and Analytical Data Validation

### 8.2.1 Field Method Validation

Field methodologies were consistent with Ace's field procedures and are summarised in Table 8.2.

QA/QC Requirement	Yes/No	Comments				
Sampling equipment properly decontaminated	Yes	None				
Sample preservation following collection in the field	Yes	None				
Sufficient field QA/QC samples collected	Yes	None				
Samples delivered to laboratory within holding times	Yes	None				
Review of field quality control (QC) sample results	Yes	None				
Other anomalies	No	None				

Table 8.2Field Method Validation

### 8.2.2 Analytical Data Validation

Relative percentage differences (RPD) calculations for the inter-laboratory field duplicates are shown in **Table 8.3** and analytical data validation interpretations are summarised in **Table 8.4**.

Sample Number	<b>QA Type</b>	Aldrin	Dieldrin	Chlordane	Heptachlor	As
MB01	Primary	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.005	< 0.001
QA1	Split sample	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.005	<0.001
RDP (%)		na	na	na	na	na

 Table 8.3 Relative Percentage Difference

Sample Number	QA Type	Hg	Cd	Cr	Pb	Zn	Cu	Ni
MB01	Primary	< 0.0001	0.0002	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.023	< 0.001	0.001
QA1	Split sample	< 0.0001	0.0002	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.027	0.002	0.002
RPD (%)		na	na	na	na	16	66	66

Sample Number	QA Type	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	meta-& para-Xylene	ortho-Xylene
MB01	Primary	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
QA1	Split sample	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
RPD (%)		na	na	na	na	na

Sample Number	QA Type TPH fraction	C6-C9	C <sub>10</sub> -C <sub>14</sub>	C <sub>15</sub> -C <sub>28</sub>	C <sub>29</sub> -C <sub>36</sub>
MB01	Primary	<20	60	400	100
QA1	Split sample	<20	100	600	140
RPD (%)		na	50	40	33

RPD Relative Percentage Difference

na Not applicable as primary and/or QC sample are less than Practical Quantitation Limits

QA/QC Requirement	Yes/No	Comments
Holding times	Yes	None
Laboratory accreditation	Yes	None
Sample preservation methods	Yes	None
Review of laboratory quality control results	Yes	None
Required analytical detection limits met	Yes	None

Table 8.4Analytical Data Validation

It is considered that the accuracy and precision of the groundwater data, implied from the field QA/QC information available for this project are of sufficient standard and that the analytical results can be used as a basis for interpretation.
#### 9 Conclusion

Within the limitations of the scope of works, Ace has concluded that:

• The PSI established that farming, poultry farming and a mechanical workshop with an underground fuel storage tank were the only potentially contaminating activities occurring in the proposed development area. However, a site inspection across the entire area found a large amount of materials that are considered potentially contaminating. These included piles of rubbish and uncontrolled Fill, car wrecks, workshops, old tyres, oil drums, signs of oil staining and fuel leakages and piles of batteries.

Based on the information available and within the limitations of the PSI, Ace recommends that Detailed Site Investigations be carried out prior to subdivision and development occurring and site remediation/validation be implemented as required. In addition, Ace did not identify any environmental issues with the exception of the underground fuel storage tank that would prevent the proposed development area from being classified suitable for residential development. Removal of the tank would eliminate the potential risk to human health and the environment and hence make the site suitable for residential development.

#### ACE ENVIRONMENTAL

GINA PEMBERTON MANAGING DIRECTOR

### 10 References

DoE and WAPC (Nov 2003). Planning Bulletin No.64. Central Metropolitan Region Scheme Acid Sulphate Soils.

Department of Water (2006): www.environmental.wa.gov.au

Department of Environment. December 2001. Contaminated Sites Management Series. Contaminated Sites Technical Guidelines.

Department of Environment. 2004. Perth Groundwater Atlas (2<sup>nd</sup> ed).

# FIGURES







# APPENDIX A



Site Photograph: Lot 411 Kentucky Court, Jandakot.



Site Photograph: Lots 16 and 17 Tea Tree Close, Jandakot.



Site Photograph: Lot 102 Muriel Court, Jandakot.

1





Site Photograph: Lot 101 Muriel Court, Jandakot.

1



Site Photograph: Lot 100 Muriel Court, Jandakot.



Site Photograph: Lot 21 Muriel Court, Jandakot.



Site Photograph: Lot 10 Muriel Court, Jandakot.



Site Photograph: Lot 61 Muriel Court, Jandakot.



Site Photograph: Lot 63 Muriel Court, Jandakot.



Site Photograph: Lot 63 Muriel Court, Jandakot.

# APPENDIX B



*City of* Cockburn ABN: 27 471 341 209 PO Box 1215, Bibra Lake DC, Western Australia 6965

9 Coleville Crescent, Spearwood, Western Australia 6163

> Telephone (08) 9411 3444 Facsimile (08) 9411 3416

19 January 2007

Attention: Gina Pemberton Brown Geotechnical & Environmental 4/47 Monash Avenue COMO WA 6152

## RE: HEALTH SEARCH – LOTS 411, 102, 15, 101, 100, 21, 16, 17, 60, 61, 63 & 10 MURIEL COURT - JANDAKOT

Please be advised that your request for a search on the above properties with respect to current & historical environmental health issues; records of complaints, cleanup notices, buried waste, applications for installation of fuel tanks etc. has been completed. No issues were found in this regard.

Should you have any further queries, please contact Health Services on 9411 3589.

G Taylor

Gail Taylor Health Services Clerical Officer

# APPENDIX C



epartment of Water ofercrisht of Materia Australia

FOI Ref number: DOW LR 30

FOI Coordinator: Gérard Fabien

Contact Number: 08 6364 6489

Ms Gina Pemberton Brown Geotechnical and Environmental 4/47 Monash Avenue COMO WA 6152

Dear Ms Pemberton

### FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (FOI) APPLICATION NO: DOW LR 30 PROPERTY: AREA 19 NORTHLAKE ROAD, JANDAKOT

This letter refers to your FOI application requesting information about the above-mentioned premises.

The Department has conducted searches of relevant databases, using the description of the Properties contained in your application, and no documents have been located.

Please note there are one licence issued under the *Metropolitan Water Sewerage Supply and Drainage Act 1909* and not the *Rights in Water and Irrigation Act 1914* (*RIWI Act*) this Property. The Property is located in a proclaimed groundwater area under the *RIWI Act* where groundwater from non artesian aquifer systems cannot be taken without a 5c licence to take water. Additional information relating to licensing is available on the Department's website at

http://portal.water.wa.gov.au/portal/page/portal/LicensingWaterIndust
ryServices

The Property is located within a proclaimed surface water area (Murray River Catchment) under the *RIWI Act* hence licences/permits for surface water is also required, however GIS Viewer does not show a watercourse on the property.

If you wish to contest the decision in regard to access to the documents, you have a right to have the decision reviewed. Details of the review process are set out in the attached extract from the Act.

Yours sincerely

Gérard Fabien FOI COORDINATOR GOVERNMENT RELATIONS BRANCH

22 February 2007

Enc

# APPENDIX D





Aerial Photograph: Area 19, Jandakot; 6 November 1953.



Aerial Photograph: Area 19, Jandakot; 11 March 1965.



Aerial Photograph: Area 19, Jandakot; 11 June 1975.



Aerial Photograph: Area 19, Jandakot; 20 April 1985.



Aerial Photograph: Area 19, Jandakot; 6 January 1995.



Aerial Photograph: Area 19, Jandakot; 17 December 2005.

# APPENDIX E

					BOREHOLE	PAGE 1 OF 1
Ace	Ace E	nvironmen	ntal Pty Ltd			
CLIENT L	_i andowne	r group 2		PROJECT NAME Dev	elopment Area 19	
PROJECT N	UMBER	_J07030		PROJECT LOCATION	Jandakot	
		4107		R.L. SURFACE	DA	TUM
DOH LING (	ONTRA	TOR G	S Drilling	SLOPE 90°	BE	ARING
	T <u>Drillin</u>	ng Rig		LOGGED BY TW	CH	
ethod ater	Depth	Graphic Log Classification Symbol	Materal Des		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
ž 3 (m)	) (m)	ອ ບໍລິ SP	SAND: Loose, coarse, dark grey, moist, roc	ots to 1m		<u></u>
GOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS GPJ GINT STD AUSTRALIA GDT 20/1/08			medium dense and medium grained below dense below 1-3m pale grey, wet below 2.5m Borehole MB01 terminated at 4-5m	• 1 Jm		

				PROJECT NAME _De		
ATE STAF	RTED 4/4/0	7	COMPLETED _4/4/07	R.L. SURFACE	D/	ATUM
			S Drilling		3.03301/L 32.120	1000
ater		Classification Symbol	Material De:	scription	Sampies Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
≦ <u></u>		SP	SAND: Dense, fine to medium, grey, moist	t, trace rootlets		
	0.5					
	10					
	1 <u>.5</u>		brown below 1 6m			
<u>¥</u>	2.0		grey brown, wet below 2.0m			
	2.5					
	3 <u>0</u>					
	3 <u>.5</u>					
	4.0					
BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS GPJ GINTSID AUSTRALIA OD LE			Borehole MB02 terminated at 4m			
OGS GPJ GIN	4.5					
1 TEST PIT L	5.0					
BOREHOL	55					

-

.....

	 \		Ace F	Enviro	nmenta	al Pty Ltd	E	BOREHO	PAGE 1 OF 1
	4C6	-						Iooment Area 1	9
CLI	ENT		down	er gro	up 2			Jandakot	
						COMPLETED 4/4/07			DATUM
DAT	re s'			4/4/07	<b>२</b> 6.5	COMPLETED 4/4/07			BEARING
EQ			Drill	ing Ri	g	Drilling	HOLE LOCATION 115.8	52894E 32.1	CHECKED BY GP
но	LE S	IZE _	100m	nm			LOGGED BY _1W		
	TES			Graphic Log	Classification Symbol	Material Descri	otion	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
Method	Water	RL (m)	Depth (m)		Syr	TOPSOIL. Medium dense, medium, dark grev	y, with many rootlets to 1.1m		
			-	1 14		SAND: Medium dense, medium grained, grey		-	
			-			SAND: Medium dense, medium gramed, g.e.			
			0.5	1					
			-						
			-						
			1.0						
				]					
			1.5	2		dense below 1 5m			
				-					
			2						
			2.0	4					
				-					
			2	5					
			-						
			3	0		to to the 2.0m			
		-				paler grey, wet below 3 0m			
	-	Y		-					
			3	3.5					
20/1/08				-					
DT 20/				-					
IN G				4.0					
<b>A</b> STRA				-					
STD A				-					
GINT				4.5					
1 051 5	5			-† -					
500-									
100 P.M				5.0					
LITERALIA CON COLLECTED AUSTRALIA GDT	11			-					
	REHO			-					
	<u>g</u>		<u> </u>	55		Borehole MB03 terminated at 5.5m			

							<u></u>	BOREHOL	E NUMBER MB04
4	Ac	e	Ace 8	Enviro	nment	al Pty Ltd			PAGE 1 OF 1
CLIE	ENT	_Lar	ndown	er gro	up 2				
PRC	JEC	T NU	IMBEF	<b>ર</b> _J0	7030		PROJECT LOCATION		
DAT	ES	TARI	ED _	4/4/07		COMPLETED 4/4/07	R.L. SURFACE	D4	ATUM
							HOLELOCATION 113.	002417C 02.117	120 110/
нοι	E S	IZE	100m	im				0	
NO	res								
Method	Water	RL (m)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Classification Synbol	Material De		Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
	_			<u> 17</u> 1 17 11		TOPSOIL. Medium dense, fine to medium	i, dark grey rootlets, dry		
				ديند		SAND: Medium dense, medium grained,	ight grey trace silt, moist		
			0.5						
			_						
			-						
			1.0						
			-						
			-			dense below 1.2m			
	ļ		1.5						
			-	]					
			-	1	1				
			2.0						
			2.0						
				-					
		Ì	2.5	2					
				-					
	1	-		-		paler grey, wet below 2.3m			
			3.(	2					
				-					
			3.	5					
/1/08									
11 20				_					
LIA G			4	ō					
STRA				-					
ru AU									
SIN			4	5					
ir) G	ļ								
DGS G									
31. FC				5.0					
IEST F					<u></u>	Borehole MB04 terminated at 5m			
BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS GPJ GINF STU AUSTRALIA GUT 20/1/08				-					
REHC				Ę					
BO				5.5					

A		•	Ace I	Enviro	nment	al Pty Ltd	I	BOREHOLI	E NUMBER MB05 PAGE 1 OF 1
CLIE	NT	Lar						elopment Area 19	
PRO	JEC	TNU	JMBEF	<b>२</b> _JO	7030		PROJECT LOCATION		
DAT	E S'	TAR1	ED _	4/4/07		COMPLETED 4/4/07		DF BE	EARING
EQU	IPM E S		_ <u>Drill</u> 100m	ing Ki m	g		LOGGED BY TW	Cł	HECKED BY GP
	Water	RL	Depth		Classification Symbol		)escription	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
2	5	(m)	(m)			TOPSOIL. Medium dense medium, dark	k grey, rootlets, dry		
				1, 11,	SP	SAND: Medium dense, medium grained.	. grey. trace silt, moist		
			-						
			0.5						
			-						
			-						
			1.0						
			-			dense below 1 2m			
			1.5						
			2.0	+					
				-					
			2.5	5					
				-					
				-					
			3.	0					
				+					
						pale grey, wet below 3 3m			
			3	5					
11/08				-					
DT 20				-					
ALIA G			4						
USTR				-					
STD A				-					
GINT			4	15					
S GPJ				-					
106									
III IS				5. <u>0</u>					
BOREHOLE / TEST PIT LOGS GPJ GINT STD AUSTRALIA GDT 201/08				-					
REHOL									
ŝ		<u> </u>		5.5		Borehole MB05 terminated at 5 5m			

						E	BOREHOLE	NUMBER MB06
A	ce	A	ce Env	ironmental	Pty Ltd			
		1				PROJECT NAME Deve	elopment Area 19	
CLIE	NT	Lando	owner	group 2		PROJECT LOCATION	Jandakot	
PRO	JECT	NUM	BER	<u>JU/030</u>	20011DL ETED 4/4/07	R.L. SURFACE	DA	ATUM
DAT	E STA	ARTE	D <u>4/4</u>	/07	COMPLETED _4/4/07 Drilling	SLOPE 90°	Bt	043S MGA
DRIL	LING		ITRAC	TOR <u>GS</u>	Drilling	HOLE LOCATION 115	850562E <u>52.110</u> C	HECKED BY _GP
EQU	JPME C SIZ	±NI _ 7F 1	.00mm	<u> </u>	Drilling	LOGGED BY		
NO	LE SIZ	-L						
				Graphic Log Classification Symbol	Material Des	contion	Samples Tests Remarks	Additional Observations
Method		RL (m)	Depth (m)	Grap Clas Sym	TOPSOIL. Medium dense, medium graine	d, grey, trace rootlets, dry		
+			-1-		TOPSOIL. Medium dense, modulum g	-		
			- <u> </u>	19 1				
			0.5		SAND: Medium dense, medium grained, I	ight grey, trace silt, moist		
			0.5					
			-					
			1.0					
			-					
			-					
			1.5					
				-				
			2.0	2				
				-				
1					dense below 2.4m			
			2	5	(16136 2010) -			
				-				
			3	30				
				-				
				-	1 June 2 400			
		1		35	paler grey, wet below 3.4m			
	98			4				
	r 20/1							
	A GD			40				
	IRAL			-				
	D AUS							
	41 STI			4.5				
	ol Git							
	CS CF							
	01 []			5.0				
	Id 1SE							
	BOREHOLE / TEST P11 LOGS GPJ GINT STO AUS IRALIA GDT 2011/08							
	кено			55		6m		
	õ			55	Borehole MB06 terminated at 5	) JUN		



mainst: August	19		Purgin	g Date: 3/	$Oct 2\alpha$	57	
Project: Area l			Sampling Date: 3/ Oct 2007				
Site Location: Ja							
MG4 Grid Coerdinates (M"	<u>GS 841</u>		Well depth from TOC (m) 4.50 Depth to groundwater from TOC (m), 1,906				
Easting			Depth to	i be ourged (m)	2.5		
Nariaing		Purging In				······································	
		Furging					
Purge 5 casing volumes of 1 basing volume = 21/m fo	r until idry or wells of 50m	m ID					
: casing volume = 3 1/m f	for wells of 100	mm 'D			5	Érroz	
Method oumo type - subm		/	One pur	rge volume		1,785	
Tubing material -OPE		S/Steel O		mes ourges	5	Ltres	
Start oma (2400hr).			~	urge volume	25		
		<b>Field Results</b>	While			Temp. °C	
	pН	Conductivity (	mS.cm)	Redox (mV)	DO (ppm)	19.1	
After 1 ourge volume	5.91	390		-132	2.04	18.9	
Alter 4 ourge volumes	5.90	363		-131	2.27	20.7	
Aiter 5 ourge volumes:	5.96	375		-126	2.15	2001	
Extra / required							
. Extra integuited					<u> </u>	esclued okyder	
				iors for conductivi	y san yangu	30000000	
	rould be wrown	0.1 pH units and me	8850 8 9 	is campiad			
Measurements for pH sh ishou pipelili thin 10% an	id temperature	Within 0.5 TO Delore					
	id temperature	Within 0.5 TO Delore		NO	TND laborid acon	ional ourge data.	
Measurements for pH sh should be u thin 10% an Are the file piresuits acce	no temperature aptable to a 'ow apting Details	with die food alore visampling? (srole on s		NO		ional ourge data.	
Measurements for pH sh should be u thin 10% an Are the file piresuits acce	no temperature eotable to a 'ow apling Details	withAle 5 for barble visampling? (prote pr s Grundios MPrillo		NO	equired (tick	ional ourge data.	
Measurements for pH sh should be uithin 10% an Are the file pirasults acce Sam	io temperature epitable to a 'ow inpling Details mail: Dioaler	withAle 5 for ball is / sampling? (prote pri- s Grundios MPLIC S. Staar		3 NO Analysis R	equired (tick	ional ourge data.	
Measuramenta for oH sh shou o oe lu th h 10% an Are the freic results acce Sam Merco oumo type – water Subrig material – HDP Is there a hidroparpon	io temperature epitable to a fow opling Details ma O baller E O PVC sheen? Y	Artha G 5 °C Galo s v sampling? (prote pr s Grundios VIP) C S, Steer es No	е, Yэ ) ТРН ) ВТЕХ VOC3	3 No Analysis R	equired (tick	ional ourge data.	
Measuramenta for oH sh shou o oe lu th h 10% an Are the freic results acce Sam Merco oumo type – water Subrig material – HDP Is there a hidroparpon	io temperature epitable to a fow opling Details ma O baller E O PVC sheen? Y	Artha G 5 °C Galo s v sampling? (prote pr s Grundios VIP) C S, Steer es No	а, <u>Y</u> а	3 NO Analysis R	equired (tick Ammonia SVOOs	ional ourge data.	
Measuramenta for oH sh shou o oe lu th h 10% an Are the freic results acce Sam Merco oumo type – water Subrig material – HDP Is there a hidroparpon	io temperature epitable to a fow opling Details ma O baller E O PVC sheen? Y	ArthAle 5 10 0810 1 y sampling? (prote pr s Grundios VIP) - C S/Steet - C	а, Ya трн р трн р втех VOC3 Слаг рцнз	3 NO Analysis R	equired (tick Ammonia SUDOs Crui Other	if yes)	
Measurementa for pH sh should be thin 10% an Are the file pirasurts acce Sam Merco putto type (water Tubrig materia) (HDP) Is there a hidrobarboh Copur (a slight	io temperature epitable to a fow opling Details ma O baller E O PVC sheen? Y	Artha Concord Coded Co y sampling? (orce on s Grundios MP. Co S. Steer of S. Steer Co S. Steer S. Steer Co S. Steer Co S. Steer Co S. Steer S. S	е, Ye () ТРН () ВТЕХ () ОСа () Слал () Слал () Олан () Слал () Слал () Слал () Слал () Слал () Слал	3 NO Analysis R Ce 3 (3ee C	equired (tick Ammonia SUCOs Cru Other	if yes)	
Measuramenta for oH sh shou o os u thin 10% an Are the Kelo rasults acce Sam Menoo ourto type (water Tubrig material (HOP) Is there a hidroparoph Occur (a Slight Colour	io temperature epitable to a low opling Details rra O baler E O PVC sheen? Y thydyoco	Artha Concord Code Code Code Code Code Code Code Cod	е, Ye () ТРН () ВТЕХ () ОСа () Слал () Слал () Олан () Слал () Слал () Слал () Слал () Слал () Слал	3 NO Analysis R Ce 3 (3ee C	equired (tick Ammonia SUCOs Crui Other Other Ustody form for a	if yes)	

# **APPENDIX F**



Sampling Point: MB02 Job Number: Jo7030 Purging Date: 31/10/07 Project: Area 19 Sampling Date: 31/10/07 Site Location: Jandakot Well depth from TDC mi 4M MG4 Grid Coordinates (WGS 84 Deptin to grounowater from FDO .m). 2.701 Easting Depth to be burged in: 1.5 Narching **Purging Information** Purge 5 casing volumes or until "dry" t casing volume = 25/m for wells of 50mm (D t casing volume = 8 Lum for wells of 100mm 'O 3 Meineoloumoliyoa suom O bailer 🐓 GrundfosMPLO One purga volume litres Tubing materia HDPE O PVC S/Steel O No of times ourges 15 tires. Total purge volume. Start time (2400nr.t) Field Results While Purging Temp. °C Conductivity (mS.cm) Redox (mV) DO (ppm) pН 19.8 2.23 -106 5,70 1375 Aftar 1 ourge volume 19.8 2.20 -121 1388 5.80 After 4 ourge volumes 19.9 2.09 -1221390 5.78 After 5 ourge volumes: Ektral firsquired Measurements for pH should be within 0-1 pH units and measurements for conductivity, salinity and dissolved oxygen should be ... thin 10% and temperature within 0.5 °C before the well is sampled it No lappend add tional ourge dala Are the field results acceptable to allow sampling? torcle the N0 (Yes) Analysis Required (tick if yes) Sampling Details immonia GrundicaMP 0 TOH paler 🖌 . Merros pumo tupe - waterral O SLOOS этех PVC 🖌 S/Steel 0 Tuo gimererer LOPE O 21.1 /00s No, s mere a hypreparbon sneeh?. Yes Orner Ovan de Door no Smell Other 2473 Colour (see oustably form for hist Metais М Turo Di l Weather Conditions % ) Ciqua caver ъС Temperature Zşir Other comments and observations Barcarara Grina Pemberton Barara Gun Pemberton



Sampling Point: MBO3 Job Number: 307030 Purging Date: 31/10/07 Project: Area 19 Sampling Date: 31/10/07 Site Location: Jandakot Well decth from TOO (m. 5.5 MG4 Grid Coordinates (WGS 84 Depth to groundwater from TOC (m), 2, 514 Easting Depth to be burged (m, 2 Narining **Purging Information** Purge 5 casing volumes or until "dry" f basing volume = 211m for wells of 50mm ID t basing volume = 3 1 m for wells of 100mm/D Method pump type - subminition - bailler 🤡 GrundfosMPt O - One purge volume 4-Bres o No of times ourges PVO 👽 SiSteel Tubing materia HDPE IO l:res Total purge volume 20 Start time (2400hr) Field Results While Purging Temp. °C DO (ppm) Redox (mV) Conductivity (mS.cm) рH 19.9 1.87 -140 972 6.48 After i ourge volume 2.06 19.6 -137 993 6.4-6 Atter 4 purge vorumes 20.1 1.94 -/39 936 6.45 After 5 ourge volumes Extra Frequired Extra Fraquired. Measurements for pH should be within 0.1 pH units and measurements for conduct . 17 set hit, and dissolved bxygen should be within 10% and temperature within 0.5 °C before the welt is sampled No laborid addirional burge data Are the field results acceptable to allow sampling? (proepre) (Yes NC Analysis Required (tick if yes) Sampling Details Алтопіа baller Stundies VP D Mernet burns type - waterral O \$200s BIEX 0 PVC 🖌 S/Stee -0PS 0 fuol≓g matar ∋i 241 VOOs (NO s there a nudrocarbon sheen? Yes 1 Other Cyan de coor no smell . Other ⊇≟∺s Colour (see pustody form for ils) Metais  $\mathbf{M}$ Turo Di L Weather Conditions 25 rg - Cloud polar Temperature ⊇ a ⊂ Criai comments and poservations Sarconstante Gina Pemberton Sara Gurlemberton


Groundwater Field Parameters

t basing volume = 21/m for w t basing volume = 3 Lum for Method pump type - subm - O Tuping material - HDPE - O	34 htti 'dry' zel's pi 50m wel's pi 100	Purging In	We <sup>2</sup> der Deoth tr Deoth tr	ling Date: 3 oth from TDC m. o groundwater fro o be ourged (m)	5m	.190					
WGH Grid Operainates (WGS Easting Norming Purge 5 basing volumes or ur tipasing volume = 21/m for w tipasing volume = 3 Lim for Metrop pump type i submill O Tuping material HDPE I O	34 htti 'dry' zel's pi 50m wel's pi 100	Purging In	We <sup>2</sup> der Deoth tr Deoth tr	oth from TOC im. o groundwater fro	5m	,190					
Easting Harring Purge 5 basing volumes or ur t basing volume = 21/m for w t basing volume = 3 Lim for Method pump type - subm - O Tuging material - HDPE - O	nti 'dry' zelis pi 50m welis pi 100	Purging In	Depth to			,190					
Norming Purge 5 basing volumes or ur t basing volume = 21/m for v t basing volume = 3 1/m for Method pump type - subm - 0 Tuping material - HDPE - 0	verts of 50m welts of 100	Purging In	Depth to			Depth to groundwater from TCC (m), 2.190					
Purge 5 basing volumes or ur 1 basing volume = 21/m for + 1 basing volume = 3 1/m for Method pump type = subm = 0	verts of 50m welts of 100	Purging In			<u> </u>						
t basing volume = 21/m for w t basing volume = 3 Lum for Method pump type - subm - O Tuping material - HDPE - O	verts of 50m welts of 100			tion							
Method oump type i submil O Tuging material i HOPE I O		m ID mm ID									
Tuoing material HDPE O	baller <b>b</b>		One pu	rge volume	6	teres					
			5								
			Totai p.	urge volume	30	stres.					
		Field Results	While	Purging							
	pН	Conductivity (r	nS.cm)	Redox (mV)	DO (ppm)	Temp. °C					
After Lourge volume	5.94	279		-128	2.16	19.5					
	5.91	390		-126	1.88	21.0					
	5.92	391		-128	1.74	20.9					
Extra li required	<b>·</b>										
Evralinedured					- -						
Measurements for pH should should be wittin 10% and te	moerature	within 0.5 °C pefore	ine well	s sampled	<ul> <li>sami, and dis</li> <li>No appendiadoi:</li> </ul>						
Are the field results addedta				1	equired (tick i						
Samplir	ng Details			Analysis R	2mmonia						
Merco ourto (voe - waterra C	D paller										
Tubrig materiar (HDPE) (	<u>0 PVC</u>	S,Stee O			0.003						
s mere a hi drocarbon shee	; ۲ ( - و	es eno	7003								
Door no smell			Oyanide Other								
Centur			PAHs								
, Turo a :	N1	H	Metai		ustoay form for list	•					
		Weather	Condu								
331		Temperature		20 <u> </u> 01	2 0 0 . BY						



**Groundwater Field Parameters** 

Job Number: J07030 Sampling Point: MBO5 Purging Date: 31/10/07 Project: Area 19 Sampling Date: 31/10/07 Site Location: Jandakot Weil depth from TOC (m. 5.5 MGA Grid Coord nates (WGS 84 2.775 Depth to groundwater from TOD (m) Easting 2 Depth to be ourged im-Narthing **Purging Information** Purge 5 basing volumes or until dry' r basing volume = 25/m for we'ls of 50mm (D pasing volume = 3 tum for wells of 100mm -D baller 🧭 GrundfosMPI O | One purge volume 4 litres. Memodiquimo type i suomi O 5 O No of times ourges S/Steal 2V0 У HORE O Tubing material Total purge volume 20 a:res Start uma (2400nr / Field Results While Purging Temp. °C DO (ppm) Redox (mV) Conductivity (mS.cm) pН 21.0 2.08 -55 394 6.05 After it burge volume 20.6 1.90 -65 388 5.92 After 4 ourge volumes 21,6 1.42 -94 383 5.88 After 5 ourge volumes. Extra Predured Extra il required Measurements for pH should be within 0-1 pH units and measurements for conduct vity isalinity and dissolved pkygen should be within 10% and temperature  $\lambda$  thin 0.5 °C before the well is sampled involiaccend additional curge data (Yes) Are the field results acceptable to allow sampling? (byte the No Analysis Required (tick if yes) Sampling Details Grundics VP 0 724 ,∸mmor a baller 🗹 Vertic bump type – watemal O SVOCs. o | BTEX 270 **O** S/Stee HOPE O fuolig mareria⊦ Cr. 700s sithere a hudroparbon sheen? Yes <u>Ciner</u> Ovaride Don no small Other 2143 Colour (see oustably form for list, Mera s  $\mathbb{N}^{1}$ Turo D I Weather Conditions % ٢C Chud balleri Temperature 23.1 Chericomments and observations Sancersone Gina Pemberton Sanaus Gulemberton

Sampling Point: MBOG Job Number: J07030 Purging Date: 31/10/07 Project: Area 19 Sampling Date: 31/10/07 Site Location: Jandakot 5.5 We'l depth from TOO (m) MG4 Grid Coordinates (MGS 84 Depth to groundwater from TOD (m) \_ 1. 4413 Easting Depth to be burged (m) 4-Norreieg **Purging Information** Purge 5 basing volumes or until "dry" 1 basing volume = 21/m for wells of 50mm (D t casing volume = 3 Lim for wells of 100mm D 8 letres. Metrodioumo type i submi O i bailer 🕼 GrundfosMP, O i One purge volume O No of times burges PVC S/Steel HOPE O Tong materia: .tres 40 Total curge volume Start tima (2400nr): Field Results While Purging Temp. °C DO (ppm) Redox (mV) Conductivity (mS.cm) pН 18.3 2,34 79 6.06 450 After i burge volume 1.93 18.8 20 362 5.47 Alter 4 ourge volumes 18.9 1.70 -8 464 5.95 After 5 ourge volumes 18.9 1.62 -10 5.95 Extra ficequired Extra / reduced. Measurements for perishculd be wrow 0.1 per units and measurements for conduct 4.1, issued, and dissolved oxygen should be ultrin 10% and temperature within 0.5 °C before the wetliks sampled No accend accitional purge data. (Fyes) Are the field nesults acceptable to allow sampling? (orce the NC Analysis Required (tick if yes) Sampling Details Zundics VP 0 FPH immor.a paler S vienas pumo vide - waterral O S1, DOs 0 ! BTEX evo d S, Steel -0PE 0 Fupilig mareriel Cr. VODs ( NO Yes. is mere a hydropardon sneehn Cirer Oyanide Com no smell - Other 24,⊣3 Cerpur (see pustod) form for 4st, Merais  $\mathbb{M}^1$ Turo di l Weather Conditions ₽6 10 Cibud bit lar Temperature ⊒ a n Greet comments and poservalions Servers reto Gina Pembeston Saraus Gul enterton

### APPENDIX G

	Sample	QA				Metal	s			
Sample Identification	Date	Sample	Arsenic	Cadmium	Chromium	Copper	Lead	Nickel	Zinc	Mercury
Number		Туре								
Jnits						mg/L				
Assessment Crite	eria									
Adopted Investiga			0.1	0.01	0.1	0.2	2.0	0.2	2.0	0.002
Analytical Result	s					<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.023	<0.0001
Analytical Result MB01	s 31/10/2007		<0.001	0.0002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001		<0.0001
			<0.001 0.003	0.0002	<0.001	0.003	0.001	0.006	0.006	<0.0001
MB01	31/10/2007					0.003	0.001 <0.001	0.006	0.006	<0.000
MB01 MB02 MB03	31/10/2007 31/10/2007 31/10/2007		0.003	0.0002	<0.001	0.003	0.001	0.006	0.006 0.017 0.020	<0.000 <0.000 <0.000
MB01 MB02 MB03 MB04	31/10/2007 31/10/2007 31/10/2007 31/10/2007		0.003 0.002 <0.001	0.0002	<0.001 <0.001	0.003	0.001 <0.001	0.006	0.006	<0.000 <0.000 <0.000
MB01 MB02 MB03	31/10/2007 31/10/2007 31/10/2007		0.003	0.0002 0.0001 0.0002	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001	0.003 0.002 0.003	0.001 <0.001 0.003	0.006 0.001 0.002	0.006 0.017 0.020	

٦

-

Table 2 – Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons and BTEX

					Total Pet	roleum Hydroc	arbons & BTE	x		
Sample Name	Sample Date	C6 – C9 Fraction	C10 - C14 Fraction	C15 – C28 Fraction	C29 – C36 Fraction	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Meta- & para-Xylene	Ortho-Xylene
					<u> </u>					
 	31/10/2007	<20	60	400	100	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
MB02	31/10/2007	<20	<50	<100	70	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
MB02	31/10/2007	<20	<50	<100	<50	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
	31/10/2007	<20	<50	<100	<50	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
MB04		<20	<50	<100	<50	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
MB05	31/10/2007			<100	<50	<1	<2	<2	<2	<2
MB06	31/10/2007	<20	<50	<100						•

			Organochlorine Pesticides (µg/L)										
Sample Name	Sample Date	Bromophos-ethyl	Carbophenothion	Chlorfenvinphos	Chlorpyrifos	Chlorpyrifos- methyl	Demeton-S- methyl	Diazinon	Dichlorvos	Dimenthoate	Ethion	Fenamiphos	Fenthion
						·							
		0.40	-0.10	<0.10	<0.050	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB01	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10		< 0.050	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB02	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.050	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB03	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10			<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB04	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.050	<0.10	L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB05	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.050	<0.10	<0.10		1	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB05	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.050	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<u> </u>	-0.10		L

### Table 3a – Groundwater Analytical Results: Organophosphorus Pesticides (Ultra-trace)

Table 3b – Groundwater Analytical Results:	Organophosphorus Pesticides (Ultra-trace)
--	---

T				Organ	ochlorine Pesti	cides (µg/L)	T	
Sample Name	Sample Date	Malathion	Azinphos Methyl	Monocrotophos	Parathion	Parathion-methyl	Pirimphos-ethyl	Prothiofos
							<0.10	<0.10
MB01	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB02		<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10		
MB03	31/10/2007		<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB04	31/10/2007	<0.10		<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB05	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	1		<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
MB06	31/10/2007	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	~0.10		<u></u>

			Sample N	lame		
	MB01	MB02	MB03	MB04	MB05	MB06
			Sample	Date		
	31/10/2007	31/10/2007	31/10/2007	31/10/2007	31/10/2007	31/10/2007
Organochlorine Pesticides (µg/L)						
Aldrin	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
alpha-BHC	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
beta-BHC	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
delta-BHC	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
4.4' – DDD	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
4.4' – DDE	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
4.4' – DDT	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
DDT (total)	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Dieldrin	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
alpha-Endosulfan	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
beta-Endosulfan	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Endosulfan sulfate	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Endosulfan	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Endrin	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	< 0.010	<0.010
Endrin aldehyde	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Endrin ketone		<0.005	<0.005	< 0.005	<0.005	<0.005
Heptachlor	<0.005	< 0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Heptachlor epoxide	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
gamma-BHC	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Methoxychlor	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
cis-Chlordane	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
trans-Chlordane	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Total Chlordane	<0.010	-0.010				

### Table 5 – Groundwater Analytical Results: Organochlorine Pesticides - Water

### **APPENDIX H**

Environmer	Environmental Division				ALS
		CERTIFICATI	ERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS		
istador	· EP0705200		Раде	: 1 of 8	
Work Order Client	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	ү LTD	Laboratory	Environmental Division Perth	t
Contact	MS GINA PEMBERTON	, MS GINA PEMBERTON	Address	10 Hod Way Malaga WA Australia 6090	Australia 6090
Address				(	1
E-mail	gina@aceenvironmental.com.au	im.au	E-mail Telephone	Shaun.Crabb@alsenviro.com +61-8-9209 7655	HIO
Telephone	+61 08 9497 5000		Facsimile	+61-8-9209 7600	
Facsimile				NEPM 1999 Schedule BC	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
Project	J07030		מט הפעפו		-
Order number			Date Samples Received	02-NOV-2007	
C-O-C number			Issue Date	21-NOV-2007	
Sampler	. G.P				
Site			No. of samples received	2	
Quote number	EN-062-07		No. of samples analysed	: 7	******
This report supe release	supersedes any previous report(s) with this reference.	h this reference. Results apply to the	ne sample(s) as submitted.	All pages of this report have	have been checked and approved
This Certificate of	This Certificate of Analysis contains the following information:	ation.			
<ul> <li>General (</li> </ul>	General Comments				
<ul> <li>Analytical Results</li> </ul>	l Results				
<ul> <li>Surrogate</li> </ul>	Surrogate Control Limits	ла с фер у формала С. Облари на кледититити С.С. <b>и мини и ОСР и и о ок</b> он <b>и мини и предоставите и и осрование со с</b> обращата и се осрование со собращата со с	- με το τουτός της τη από την από την παράπους την πατοπορηματίας την πόσου του παράπορη της την βορημούς του τ	ODVIDUATION OF NOTING AND	يستريك بالمراقب المراقب المستعمرية المراقبة المستعمر المراقب والمراقب والمراقب المراقب الم
<b>VIAN</b>	NATA Accredited Laboratory 825 This document is issued in	ies ment has been in compliance with	electronically signed by the authorized procedures specified in 21 CFR Part 11.	rized signatories indic	ated below. Electronic signing has Accreditation Category
	accordance with NATA	Signatories			
WORLD RECOGNISED	accreditation requirements. Accredited for compliance with	Ashwini Sharma Celine Conceicao PHALAK INTHAKESONE	Inorganics Co-ordinator Spectroscopist Organics Co-ordinator		Inorganics Inorganics Organics
ACCREDITATION	ISO/IEC 17025.		Senior Chemist - Organics		Perth Urganics

10 Hou Way Malaga WA Ausitalia 5090 Tel. +61-8-9209 7655 Fax. +61-8-9209 7650 www.alsglobal.com A Campbell Bicchers Lurvited Company Environmental Division Perth Partof the ALS Laboratory Group Provinsional Mission Mit Anstrate R99

: 3 of 8	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	- J07030
Page	Work Order	Client	Project



## **General Comments**

The analytical procedures used by the Environmental Division have been developed from established internationally recognized procedures such as those published by the USEPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house developed procedures are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request.

Where moisture determination has been preformed, results are reported on a dry weight basis.

Where a reported less than (<) result is higher than the LOR, this may be due to primary sample extract/digestate dilution and/or insuffient sample for analysis.

Where the LOR of a reported result differs from standard LOR, this may be due to high moisture content, insufficient sample (reduced weight employed) or matrix interference.

When date(s) and/or time(s) are shown bracketed, these have been assumed by the laboratory for process purposes.

CAS Number = Chemistry Abstract Services number LOR = Linnit of reporting Key:

\* = This result is computed from individual analyte detections at or above the level of reporting

<b>N</b>
S -

: 4 of 8	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	J07030	
Page	Work Order	Client	Project	

Page

### Analytical Results

		Cie	Client cample ID	MB01	WD07			
Sub-Matrix: WATER	3C	ono ant samplin	Client samuling date / time	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00
		unduras ino	d date / mile			ED0705200-003	EP0705200-004	EP0705200-005
	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	EP0705200-001	EPU/USZUU-UUZ			
compound				A DATE OF A				
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS		200	1/2000	<0.001	0.003	0.002	<0.001	<0.001
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	Ш <u>9</u> /г		0.0002	0.0001	0.0002	0.0004
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	2000-0			<0.001	<0.001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	-00.02			0 NO 3
	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.003	0.002	<b>600.0</b>	400.0
Copper		0 001	ma/L	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.003	100.0>
Lead	1438-82-1		1,5~	0.001	0.006	0.001	0.002	0.002
Nickel	7440-02-0	1.00.0	111g/L ,		0.02A	0.017	0.020	0.019
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.023	+70-0			
ECOTEE: Discolved Mercury by FIMS				A STATE OF A			100001	
	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	1000.0>	1000.07	
mercury								
EP080/071: Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons	15	5	1/	002	<20	<20	<20	<20
C6 - C9 Fraction		70	нg/г	07	< ¥0	<50	<50	<50
C10 - C14 Fraction		50	hg/L	00		<100	<100	<100
C14 - C28 Fraction	I	100	hg/L	400	0012		-20 -20	<50
		50	р9/Г	100	70	002	27	
229 - U36 Fraction								
EP080: BTEX	C 07 FE	-	ua/L		2	5	٢	2
Benzene	143-2	- (	1 7	<2	<2	<2	\$2	\$
Toluene	108-88-3	<b>v</b> (	LG(L	, ,	<>	<2	<2	∽
Ethylbenzene	100-41-4	7	нg/г	4	~>	<2	<2	\$
Xylene	108-38-3 106-42-3	7	hg/L	~	4 ç	<>	<2	ć2
ortho-Xylene	95-47-6	2	hg/L	<2	22	1		
EB130A: Organophosphorus Pesticides (Ultra-trace)	(Ultra-trace)						0101	<ul><li>&lt;0.10</li></ul>
bi (2004) Oligani province and and a biomorphic static stati	4824-78-6	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	00	
101100103-501191	786-19-6	0.10	µg/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<ul> <li><ul> <li><ul> <li><ul></ul></li></ul></li></ul></li></ul>	00
Carbopnenouivor		010	ua/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Chlorfenvinphos (∠)	4/0-30-0		1/01	<0.050	<0.050	<0.050	<0.050	<0.050
Chlorpyrifos	7-99-1767		1 1/51	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	5598-13-0	0.10	Р9/Г	0	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Demeton-S-methyl	919-86-8		µ9/г		<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Diazinon	333-41-5		µg/г	0.01	-010 -010	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Dichlorvos	62-73-7		hg/L	01.02	2010 2010	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Dimethoate	60-51-5		hg/L	20.10		<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Ethion	563-12-2		hg/L	<0.10	00 		<0.10	<0.10
Fanaminhos	22224-92-6	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	<0.10	0.07		<0.10
Easthion	55-38-9	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	<0.10	×0.10		<0.10 <0.10
	121-75-5	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10 5		2010
A		0.10	hg/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	×0. 10	
Azinpnos meuryi	6002-00-4		ua/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	×0.10
Monocrotophos				<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Parathion	7-96-96		Т с Г	-010 	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
		010	hg/L	20.10	2	2000 C		

<b>N</b>	Concernment of the second seco
- D	And in case of the local division of the loc
$\sim$	

: 5 of 8	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	. J07030	
Page	Work Order	Client	Project	

## Analytical Results

Analytical Results				,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,				MB05
Course Manadrices WAA TER		Clier	Client sample ID	MB01	MB02	MBV3	MDV4	21 OCT 2007 15:00
	Olie	ant sampling	Client sampling date / time	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-UU1-ZUU1 19.UU	01-001-2000 10:00 EDATAE200-005
a demonstration of the second s	CAS Mumher	LOR	Unit	EP0705200-001	EP0705200-002	EP0705200-003	EP0/05200-004	CO0-00760/043
Compound								
EP130A: Organophosphorus Pesticides (ultra-frace) - col		0.10	ua/L	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Pirimphos-ethyl	23303-1-14-0022	0 0	- 22	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10
Prothiofos	34643-46-4	2.0	J J					1
EP131A: Organochlorine Pesticides			/	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Aldrin	309-00-2	0.010	р9/г	01002	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
alpha-BHC	319-84-6	0.010	µg/г		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
beta-BHC	319-85-7	0.010	hg/L		<0.010 <0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
delta-BHC	319-86-8	0.010	hg/L	<0.010		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
4.4-DDD	72-54-8	0.010	µg/L	01.0.>		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
4.4'-DDE	72-55-9	0.010	hg/L	<0.010		<0.010 <0.010	<0.010	<0.010
4.4'-DDT	50-29-3	0.010	hg/L	<0.010		<0.010 <0.010	<0.010	<0.010
		0.010	hg/L	<0.010	20.010		<010	<0.010
nicidatio	60-57-1	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010	\$0.010 \$0.010	01000	<0.010
Dielarii 	959-98-8	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	0.00	<0.010 <0.010
alpha-Endosultan	222-22 0 22213_65_9	0.010	нg/L	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	010.05	
beta-Endosuitan		0 010	ua/L	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	000
Endosulfan sulfate	2-10-1001	0.010	na/L	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	010.02
^ Endosulfan (sum)	1-82-011	0.00	1 jp 1	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Endrin	/2-20-8		1 201	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Endrin aldehyde	7421-93-4	0.010	1/64	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Endrin ketone	53494-70-5	0.010	нg/г	2000	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005
Heptachlor	76-44-8	<b>900.0</b>	µg/г "		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Heptachlor epoxide	1024-57-3	0.010	hg/L	0.0.0	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	118-74-1	0.010	hg/L	\$0.010		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
gamma-BHC	58-89-9	0.010	hg/L	<0.010		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
Methoxychlor	72-43-5	0.010	hg/L	<0.010		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
cis-Chlordane	5103-71-9	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	01000	<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
trans-Chlordane	5103-74-2	0.010	hg/L	<0.010		<0.010	<0.010	<0.010
<ul> <li>Total Chlordane (sum)</li> </ul>		0.010	hg/L	~0.UU	200			and the second
EPORNS: TPH(VVBTEX Surrogates						103	110	105
4 9-Dickloroethane-04	17060-07-0	0.1	%	106	104		101	102
	2037-26-5	0.1	%	103	104	103	- 0-	93.8
	460-00-4	0.1	%	92.9	92.8	95.9	00.3	2.2.2
4-Bromofluorobenzene	1 00-00+							:
EP130S: Organophosphorus Pesticide Surrogate	s urrogate		20	111	94.2	72.4	59.1	65.4
DEF	78-48-8	L-0	\$	E				
EP131S: OC Pesticide Surrogate					75.0	55.6	54.4	77.6
Dibromo-DDE	21655-73-2	0.1	%	00.4				
Second and a second								

A Campbell Brothers Limited Company



: 6 of 8	; EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	5 J07030
Page	Work Order	Client	Project

Results
cal
viic
Anal
~

	NVA V
•	Cub Matrice
•	

•								
Sub-Matrix: WATER		Clier	Client sample ID	MB06	QA1			
	Clie	int sampling	Client sampling date / time	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00			
لىدۇرىغا بىلىغانىيە مەممۇرە بىلەر مەرەپ ئەسۇمانىتەردەم مەمەمەردەر يەمەمەر يەرەپ يەرەپ يەرەپ بەرىتەر مەرەپ مەمەمەر بەرەپ يەرەپ يەرە يەرەپ يەرەپ يەر	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	EP0705200-006	EP0705200-007			
Compound	0.00							
EGUZUF, UISSOIVEU MERAIS BY IVE THO	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	0.002	<0.001			
	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	0.0002	0.0002			
Caulture	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001			
	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.002		1	
	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001			
LEAU Nickol	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.002			
MICABI 71	7440-66-6	0.005	ma/L	0.014	0.027	1		•
			,					
EGUSST: DISSOIVED MERCULY OF LIND	7439-97-6	0.0001	ma/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	-		I
mercury			,					
EP080/071: Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons	50	ç	101	<20	<20			
C6 - C9 Fraction		2	1 44		100			1
C10 - C14 Fraction		00	<b>H</b> 9/L	<100	600	[		
C15 - C28 Fraction		3	µ9/г	001	110			
C29 - C36 Fraction	1	50	hg/L	0 <b>c</b> >	<u></u>			
EP080: BTEX								
Benzene	71-43-2	-	hg/L	~	Þ			
Toluene	108-88-3	7	hg/L	<2	5		1	
Ethylbenzene	100-41-4	2	hg/L	<2	<2			
Xylene	108-38-3 106-42-3	2	hg/L	<2	<2			
	95-47-6	2	hg/L	2	\$	1		
C0130A: Orazionhosnhoriis Pesticides ([]]tra-trage)	(Iltractrated)			a contraction of the second				
	4824-78-6	0.10	na/L	<0.10	<0.10			
Dratiopilos-euryi Cortoshoon	786-19-6	0.10	на/L	<0.10	<0.10			
	170-00-8	0.10	na/L	<0.10	<0.10	1	I	
Ciliorerivinos (z) Chamies	7971 <u>-88-</u> 7	0.050	ua/L	<0.050	<0.050		-	
Chlorovitos motivul	5598-13-0 5598-13-0	0.10	ng/L	<0,10	<0.10	1		
	010-000 019-86-8	0.10	ng/L	<0.10	<0.10		ł	
	333_41-5	0.10	ng/L	<0.10	<0.10			
	62-73-7	0.10	na/L	<0.10	<0.10	1		
	60-51-5 60-51-5	0.10	na/L	<0.10	<0.10	1	1	-
Ulfilelioale	50-1-0 562 10-0	0 10	חס/ך 	<0.10	<0.10	ł	1	
	3-71-000	010	ua/L	<0.10	<0.10	1	1	
renamipnos	0-76-47777	0 10	- 6-	<0.10	<0.10			
Fenthion		010	1/01	<0.10	<0.10			ł
Malathion	c-c/-LZL		1 - 7		<0.10			l
Azinphos Methyl	86-50-0	0.10	н9/г		<0.10			
Monocrotophos	6923-22-4	0.10	µ9/L	50.10 2010	50.10 20.10			
Parathion	56-38-2	0.10	hg/L	~0. I 0				
Parathion-methyl	298-00-0	0.10	hg/L		00			a Carnohali Rrotheis Limiteri Cornoan

A Campbell Brothers Limited Company



. 7 of 8	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	J07030
Page	Work Order	Client	Project

## Analytical Results

Analytical Results				******				
Surbudgrive WATER		Client	Client sample ID	MB06	uA1			AND CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DES
	Clier	Client sampling date / time	date / time	31-OCT-2007 15:00	31-OCT-2007 15:00		1	
en egym van K. Balva an de Staten were en gewaarde de gewaarde de maar en gewaarde en gewaarde en een een gewaa		1.08	Unit	EP0705200-006	EP0705200-007			
Compound								
EP130A: Organophosphorus Pesticides (U	des (Ultra-trace) - Continued	inued		( <b>1</b> ) '	<0.10			-
Pirimphos-ethvl	23505-41-1	0.10	hg/L	50. IU				
Prothiofos	34643-46-4	0.10	µg/L	<0.10	0.10			
EP131A: Organochlorine resuunes	6-00-00c	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010		I	
Aldrin		0 010	ua/L	<0.010	<0.010		I	
alpha-BHC	318-04-0		1,01	<0.010	<0.010		I	
beta-BHC	319-85-7		тчуг 	<0.010	<0.010		1	
delta-BHC	319-86-8	0.010	не г		<0.010		ł	
4.4'-DDD	72-54-8	0.010	hg/L	010.07	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~			
4.4-DDE	72-55-9	0.010	µg/L	010.0×	0-0.07			
A'-DDT	50-29-3	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010			
		0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	60-57-1	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010			
	050 08-8	0.010	na/L	<0.010	<0.010			
alpha-Endosultan	0 10 01000	0 010	na/L	<0.010	<0.010			
beta-Endosultan	0 10		1/01	<0.010	<0.010			
Endosulfan sulfate	1031-0/-8		1 1/21	<0.010	<0.010			
A Endosulfan (sum)	115-29-7	0.010	HQ F	-010 -010	<0.010		ł	1
Endrin	72-20-8	0.010	hg/L		<0.010			
Endrin aldehyde	7421-93-4	0.010	hg/L	0.0.0	~ 010 C			ł
Endrin ketone	53494-70-5	0.010	hg/L	<0.010				
	76-44-8	0.005	hg/L	<0.005	GUU.U>			
	1024-57-3	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010			
	118-74-1	0.010	µg/L	<0.010	<0.010			
	58-80-0	0.010	hg/L	<0.010	<0.010			
gamma-bHC	72-43-5	0.010	па/Г	<0.010	<0.010			
Methoxycnior	5102-20 5102-71-9	0.010	ng/L	<0.010	<0.010	Andrea and and and and a state of the state		
cis-Chlordane		0.010	ua/L	<0.010	<0.010			
trans-Chlordane	0100-74-4	0100	- 21	<0.010	<0.010			
<ul> <li>Total Chlordane (sum)</li> </ul>	1	0.010	i Š					
EP080S: TPH(V)/BTEX Surrogates			č	444	108	-		
1.2-Dichloroethane-D4	17060-07-0	0.1	%		40E			
Toluene-D8	2037-26-5	0.1	%	103	<b>COI</b>			
	460-00-4	0.1	%	92.4	94.5	1		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
4-Bromonuorobenzene								
EP130S: Organophosphorus Pasticide Surruy		5	%	62.6	45.9	Ę		
DEF	/ 6-40-0		2					
EP131S: OC Pesticide Surrogate			2	501	58.7			
Dibromo-DDE	21655-73-2	0.1	%	20				
Sectors and a sector structure s								

8 of 8 EP0705200 ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD J07030 Page Work Order

### Surrogate Control Limits Client Project

Stub-Matrix: WATER		Recovery Limits (%)	mits (%)
	CAS Number	том	High
Compound FP080S: TPH(V)/BTEX Surrogates			
1 2-Dichloroethane-D4	17060-07-0	70.0	130
Toluene-D8	Ñ	70.0	130
4-Bromofluorobenzene	460-00-4	70.0	130
EPTARS Organoahosphorus Pastielöle Surro	ionale		
	78-48-8	32	136.4
CEL FP131S: OC Pesticide Surrogate			
Dihromo-DDF	21655-73-2	10	136
		A NAMED AND ADDRESS OF A DRIVEN AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS A	

		QUALITY CON	UALITY CONTROL REPORT	
Work Order	: EP0705200		Page	: 1 of 9
Client	: ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD MS GINA PEMBERTON	ry LTD	Laboratory Contact	Environmental Division Perth Michael Sharp
Address	SHOP 17/2 SOUTH WEST	SHOP 17/2 SOUTH WESTERN HIGHWAY ARMADALE WA	Address	: 10 Hod Way Malaga WA Australia 6090
E-mail Telephone Facsimite	AUSTRALIA 6112 gina@aceenvironmental.com.au +61 08 9497 5000	om.au	E-mail Telephone Facsimile	: Shaun.Crabb@alsenviro.com : +61-8-9209 7655 : +61-8-9209 7600
Project	02030		QC Level	: NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
Site C-O-C number Sampler	d.9		Date Samples Received Issue Date	: 02-NOV-2007 : 21-NOV-2007
Order number			No. of samples received	: 7
Quote number	EN-062-07		No. of samples analysed	-
This report super release. This Quality Contro Laboratory Method Bla	<ul> <li>This report supersedes any previous report(s) with this reference.</li> <li>release.</li> <li>This Quality Control Report contains the following information:</li> <li>Laboratory Duplicate (DUP) Report; Relative Percentage Difference (RPD)</li> <li>Method Blank (MB) and Laboratory Control Spike (LCS) Report; Recovery</li> <li>Matrix Spike (MS) Report; Recovery and Acceptance Limits</li> </ul>	h this reference. Results apply to the lation: ation: age Difference (RPD) and Acceptance Limits S) Report: Recovery and Acceptance Limits Limits	sample(s) as submitted.	
NATA	NATA Accredited Laboratory 825 This document is issued in	Signatories This document has been electronically signed by the autho carried out in compliance with procedures specified in 21 CFR Part 11. Signatories	ally signed by the authorized s specified in 21 CFR Part 11. <i>Position</i>	orized signatories indicated below. Electronic signing has Accreditation Category
	accreditation requirements. Accredited for compliance with	Ashwini Sharma Celine Conceicao Du M. INTTU MESONE	Inorganics Co-ordinator Spectroscopist Orranics Co-ordinator	ہر Inorganics Organics

A Campbell Brothers Limited Company

Enuironmental Division Perth Part of the ALS Laboratory Group 10 Hod Way Malege WA Australia 6090 Tel. 461-8-2209 7655 Fex. +61-8-9209 7000 www.alsglobal.com

: 3 of 9	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	: J07030
Page	Work Order	Client	Project



## **General Comments**

The analytical procedures used by the Environmental Division have been developed from established internationally recognized procedures such as those published by the USEPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house developed procedures are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request.

Where moisture determination has been preformed, results are reported on a dry weight basis.

Where a reported less than (<) result is higher than the LOR, this may be due to primary sample extract/digestate dilution and/or insuffient sample for analysis.

Where the LOR of a reported result differs from standard LOR, this may be due to high moisture content, insufficient sample (reduced weight employed) or matrix interference.

Anonymous = Refers to samples which are not specifically part of this work order but formed part of the QC process lot

CAS Number = Chemistry Abstract Services number Key

LOR = Limit of reporting RPD = Relative Percentage Difference

# = Indicates failed QC

: 4 of 9	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	; J07030
Page	Work Order	Client	Project



# Laboratory Duplicate (DUP) Report

The quality control term Laboratory Duplicate refers to a randomly selected intralaboratory split. Laboratory duplicates provide information regarding method precision and sample heterogeneity. The permitted ranges for the Relative Percent Deviation (RPD) of Laboratory Duplicates are specified in ALS Method QWI-EN/38 and are dependent on the magnitude of results in comparison to the level of reporting. Result < 10 times LOR-No Limi

					Laworatory +	Laboratory Duplicate (DOI ) hopon		
de una concerne	1911. 1911	CAS Number	LOR	υοά	Original Result	Duplicate Result	RPD (%)	Recovery Limits (%)
Laboratory sample ID Client sample ID	Compound							
EC070F. Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS	etals by ICP-MS (QC Lot: 531440)			:	100 0	100.00		No Limit
	EG020A-F: Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	-0.001	<b>.</b>	
	EG020A-F- Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	0.0002	0.0001	0.0	
		7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.0	No Limit
		7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.001	0.0	No Limit
	EGUZUA-F: Copper	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.0	No Limit
	EG020A-F: Lead	7440-02-0	0 001	ma/L	0.001	0.001	0.0	No Limit
	EG020A-F: Nickel	7440-66-6	0.005	ma/L	0.023	0.023	0.0	No Limit
	EG020A-F: Zinc		100.0		Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
EP0705201-004	EG020A-F: Arsenic	7-00-0147	- 00.0	1 19 11 2 22	Anonymotis	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	EG020A-F: Cadmium	8-64-0447	0.0001	1116/L			A continued	Anonymous
	EG020A-F: Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Alloliyilious	
	EG020A_F. Conner	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
		7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	FOUZUATE, LEGU	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
		7440-66-6	0 005	ma/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	0A-F: Zinc			,	· · · ·			
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS(QC Lot: 528260)		7130-07-6	0.0001	ma/l	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
EB0712792-013	EG035F: Mercury	7.130-07-6	0 0001	, ma/l	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0	No Limit
EP0705200-006	EG035F: Mercury	0-12-21-0		1			Burrowwagmar war waren da an dar	
Eposono34: Totol Beiroloum Hudrocarhons (OC   01: 528877)	thans (OC Lat: 528877)					and the second se		
	EDD71.010 Fraction		50	hg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
EP0705030-001		1	100	hg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
		1	50	hg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	EPU/1: C29 - C36 Fraction							
EP080/071: Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons(QC Lot: 533833)	rbons (QC Lot: 533833)		ç	1/211	Anomymorie	Anonymoils	Anonymous	Anonymous
EP0705167-001	EP080: C6 - C9 Fraction		07	hg/۲				
	EPORO: C6 - C9 Fraction		20	hg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Alluliyilious	
EP0/051/1-005							· ·	
EP080: BTEX (QC Lot: 533833)		71-43-2	-	hg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
EP0705167-001		108-88-3	2	ug/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	EPU80: I Oluene	<u> </u>	6	na/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	EP080: Ethylbenzene		1 (		Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	EP080: meta- & para-Xylene	108-38-3	V	HG/ L	200 Million			
		100-42-3	¢	/ <b>~</b>	Anonymolis	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
	EP080: ortho-Xylene		7	191		Anonymouls	Anonymous	Anonymous
EP0705171-005	EP080: Benzene	/1-43-2	1	hg/L	chalityiityi		- Contractory	Anonymouls
	EP080: Toluene	108-88-3	2	hg/L	Anonymous		Spollivito	
	FDR0. Ethvibenzene	100-41-4	7	hg/L	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anunymuus
		1						

: 5 of 9	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENT	- J07030
Page	Work Order	Client	Project

ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD J07030



Laboratory Duplicate (DUP) Report	Recovery Limits (%)	Anonymous Anonymous Anonymous Anonymous	Anonymous
	RPD (%)	Anonymous	Anonymous
Laboratory Duplicate (DUP) Report	Original Result Duplicate Result	Anonymous	Anonymous Anonymous
Laboratory Du	Original Result	Anonymous	Anonymous
	Unit	hg/L	н9/Г
	LOR	2	2
	Jub-Matrix: WATER Cash and the control of the contr	d EP080: meta- & para-Xylene 108-38-3	
Project : July 200	Sub-Matrix: WATER	EP080: BTEX (QC Lot: 533333) - continue EP0705171-005	EP080: ortho-Xylene

Page	6 of 9
Work Order	EP0705200
Client	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD
Project	J07030



# Method Blank (MB) and Laboratory Control Spike (LCS) Report

parameter is to monitor potential laboratory contamination. The quality control term Laboratory Control Sample (LCS) refers to a certified reference material, or a known interference free matrix spiked with target The quality control term Method / Laboratory Blank refers to an analyte free matrix to which all reagents are added in the same volumes or proportions as used in standard sample preparation. The purpose of this QC Laboratory Control Spike (LCS) Report analytes. The purpose of this QC parameter is to monitor method precision and accuracy independent of sample matrix. Dynamic Recovery Limits are based on statistical evaluation of processed LCS.

Method: Compound					Spike	Spike Recovery (%)	Recovery	Recovery Limits (%)
fiethod: Compound						Design research as a second research and second re		
tethod: Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	Result	Concentration	TCS	LOW	High
anne als der directe av leit His (OC) als								
EGUZUT: DISSOVED NETAIS BY ICT-MO (CCCUL DUITAN)	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.1 mg/L	114	70	130
EGUZUA-F. Arsenic	7440-43-9	0.0001	ma/L	<0.0001	0.1 mg/L	98.7	70	130
EG020A-F: Cadmium	7440-47-3	0.001	ma/L	<0.001	0.1 mg/L	107	70	130
EG020A-F: Chromium	7440-50-8	0.001	ma/L	<0.001	0.1 mg/L	97.7	70	130
EGUZUA-F: Copper	7439-92-1	0.001	ma/L	<0.001	0.1 mg/L	104	70	130
EGUZUA-F: Lead	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.1 mg/L	99.8	70	130
EG020A-F: Nickel	7440-66-6	0.005	ma/L	<0.005	0.1 mg/L	103	70	130
EG020A-F: Zinc			) 					
FGU35F. DISSOIVED MERCURY by TIMO (GCLOR 220200)	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	0.010 mg/L	106	80.5	117
EP080/0/11: 10tal Petroleum hydrocarbons (WCLOL 32001/1)		50	ua/L	<50	400 µg/L	70.6	44.5	122
		100	ng/L	<100	400 µg/L	89.0	55.1	143
EPU/1. C13 - C28 Flaction	na mana na mana pana mana na ma Mana mana na ma	50	ng/L	<50	400 µg/L	88.8	53.6	128
	21 AL 50000		-					
EPUSUUA : 1 Dial Fertuleum nyarotarubus (35 EPUSO: Ca - Ca Frantion		20	hg/L	<20	320 µg/L	108	74.2	142
	71-43-2	-	µg/L	<1	20 µg/L	97.5	72.6	122
ETVOU. Delizere EDVON. Tolinona	108-88-3	2	hg/L	<2	20 µg/L	98.6	71.1	123
	100-41-4	2	µg/L	<2	20 µg/L	98.0	71.9	121
EPV00. Ethyldericelle EDnon. motal & nara Yvlana	108-38-3	2	ng/L	<2	40 µg/L	94.0	72.3	122
	106-42-3							
EP080. ortho-Xvlene	95-47-6	2	µg/L	<2	20 µg/L	97.8	72.3	121
ED430A: Ormonombreenhorits Poeficidae ([][fra-frace) (OCL of: 528413)	trace) (OCI of 528413)							
EP130. Romanhas-ethvl	4824-78-6	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	78.2	35.4	143
ED130. Carbonation	786-19-6	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	77.5	5.13	171
EF 130. Val Dopresion 191 E B 130. Chlorfenvinnhos (7)	470-90-8	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	0.9 µg/L	86.1	44.6	155
	2921-88-2	0.050	µg/L	<0.050	1.0 µg/L	82.5	38.5	145
EF 130. Citic) 9/11/05 ED 130. Chlorovrifoe_methvl	5598-13-0	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	86.1	40.3	135
ED130: Demetro-S-interupt	919-86-8	0.10	µg/L	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	83.3	20.7	178
	333-41-5	0.10	hg/L	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	84.6	38.7	146
EF 130, Dichlarvas	62-73-7	0.10	µg/L	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	97.7	18.4	151

Sub-Matrix: WATER         Consolid         Consolid <th></th> <th></th> <th>Laboratory Control Spike (LCS) Report</th> <th>S) Report</th> <th></th>			Laboratory Control Spike (LCS) Report	S) Report	
	•	Spike	Spike Recovery (%)	Recovery Limits (%)	nits (%)
phosphiorus Pesticides (Uttra-tracea)         (Ocl oct. 538.413)         continued           a         66-51-5         0.10         P           a         563-12-2         0.10         P           a         563-12-5         0.10         P           a         55-38-9         0.10         P           wethyl         86-50-0         0.10         P           wethyl         86-50-0         0.10         P           methyl         59-38-2         0.10         P           pios         56-38-2         0.10         P           methyl         386-34-4         0.10         P           ethyl         346-34-4         0.10         P           c         319-86-7         0.010         P           c         72-55-9         0.010         P           dosufan         959-96-8         0.010         P <th>Result</th> <th>Concentration</th> <th>FCS</th> <th>Tow</th> <th>High</th>	Result	Concentration	FCS	Tow	High
Se3-12-2         0.10         H           herbyl $55-38-9$ 0.10         H           herbyl $121-75-5$ 0.10         H           herbyl $86-50-0$ 0.10         H           herbyl $238-0-0$ 0.10         H           effyl $3463-36-4$ 0.10         H           effyl $329-56-9$	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	71.9	27.4	131
nichos         22224-92-6         0.10         H           on $25-38-9$ 0.10         H           on $25-38-9$ 0.10         H           os Mettyl $86-50-0$ 0.10         H           os Mettyl $86-50-0$ 0.10         H           indophos $66-38-2$ 0.10         H           indophos $236-0-0$ 0.10         H           indophos $238-38-1$ 0.10         H           indophos $36-9-2$ 0.10         H           indophos $36-26-9$ 0.10         H           indophos $36-26-9$ 0.10         H           indophos $36-26-9$ 0.10         H           indophos $16-6-7+1$ 0.10         H <t< td=""><td>&lt;0.10</td><td>1.0 µg/L</td><td>0.77</td><td>36.1</td><td>147</td></t<>	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	0.77	36.1	147
attyl $55-38-9$ $0.10$ $1$ attyl $86-50-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $121-75-5$ $0.10$ $1$ $121-75-5$ $0.10$ $1$ $121-75-5$ $0.10$ $1$ $100$ $86-50-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $100$ $86-50-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $100$ $86-50-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $100$ $86-50-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $100$ $86-50-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $100$ $86-58-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $100$ $238-00-0$ $0.10$ $1$ $1000$ $238-346-4$ $0.10$ $1$ $1000$ $12-54-8$ $0.010$ $1$ $1000$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $1$ $1000$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $1$ $1000$ $172-54-8$ $0.010$ $1$ $1000$ $172-54-8$ $0.010$ $1$ $1000$ $1100$ $1100$ $1000$ $1000$ $1100$ <td< td=""><td>&lt;0.10</td><td>1.0 µg/L</td><td>62.6</td><td>4.43</td><td>168</td></td<>	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	62.6	4.43	168
Interval	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	82.1	23.2	145
Methyl         86-50-0         0.10         H           ophos $66-50-0$ 0.10         H           ophos $66-38-2$ 0.10         H           methyl $6923-224$ 0.10         H           methyl $56-38-2$ 0.10         H           methyl $56-38-2$ 0.10         H           methyl $2380-00-0$ 0.10         H           ethyl $2380-94-1$ 0.10         H           ochlorine Pesticides (OCLot: 52312) $309-00-2$ 0.010         H           othol $72-54-8$ 0.010         H         H $c         72-54-8         0.010         H         H           c         72-54-8         0.010         H         H           c         72-54-8         0.010         H$	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	82.2	40.7	136
6923-22-4 $0.10$ $H$ 56-38-2 $0.10$ $H$ 56-38-2 $0.10$ $H$ 56-38-1 $0.10$ $H$ 56-38-2 $0.10$ $H$ 56-38-1 $0.10$ $H$ 336-00-0 $0.10$ $H$ 336-00-2 $0.010$ $H$ 339-85-7 $0.010$ $H$ 319-85-8 $0.010$ $H$ 319-85-7 $0.010$ $H$ $319-85-7$ $0.010$ $H$ $131-86-8$ $0.010$ $H$ $122-56-9$ $0.010$ $H$ $101$ $115-29-7$ $0.010$ $101$ $115-29-7$ $0.010$ $116-9-14-9$ $0.010$ $H$ $115-29-7$ $0.010$ $H$ $115-29-7$ $0.010$	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	75.5	1.35	163
56-38-2     0.10     1       56-38-2     0.10     1       23505-41-1     0.10     1       23505-41-1     0.10     1       34643-46-4     0.10     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       72-54-9     0.010     1       72-56-9     0.010     1       72-56-9     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       1031-07-8     0.010     1       115-29-7     0.010     1       72-50-8     0.010     1       1031-07-8     0.010     1       115-29-7     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1       7421-93-4     0.010     1	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	12.0	10	86.3
298-00-0     0.10     1       23505-41-1     0.10     1       23505-41-1     0.10     1       34643-46-4     0.10     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       72-54-8     0.010     1       72-54-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       1031-07-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     7       72-20-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1	<0,10	1.0 µg/L	83.8	35.5	141
23505-41-1     0.10     1       23505-41-1     0.10     1       34643-46     0.10     1       34643-46     0.10     1       319-84-6     0.010     1       319-84-5     0.010     1       319-85-7     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       72-54-8     0.010     1       72-54-8     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       1031-07-8     0.010     1       152-59-9     0.010     1       160-57-1     0.010     1       172-20-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	87.0	31.1	144
2000000     0.10       34643-46.4     0.10       34643-46.4     0.10       319-84-6     0.010       319-84-5     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       72-54-8     0.010       72-55-9     0.010       60-57-1     0.010       959-98-8     0.010       959-98-8     0.010       115-29-7     0.010       122-20-8     0.010       72-20-8     0.010       72-20-8     0.010       72-20-8     0.010	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	72.2	38.9	142
J4043-46-4     0.10       319-84-6     0.010       319-84-5     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       319-86-8     0.010       72-55-9     0.010       50-29-3     0.010       50-29-3     0.010       959-98-8     0.010       959-98-8     0.010       1031-07-8     0.010       115-29-7     0.010       122-20-8     0.010       72-20-8     0.010       72-20-8     0.010	<0.10	1.0 µg/L	80.0	40	138
309-00-2     0.010     1       319-84-6     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       319-86-8     0.010     1       72-54-8     0.010     1       72-54-8     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       72-55-9     0.010     1       50-29-3     0.010     1       50-29-3     0.010     1       50-29-3     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       959-98-8     0.010     1       72-50-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1       72-20-8     0.010     1					
319-86-5 $0.010$ $319-86-8$ $0.010$ $319-86-8$ $0.010$ $319-86-8$ $0.010$ $319-86-8$ $0.010$ $72-56-9$ $0.010$ $72-56-9$ $0.010$ $72-56-9$ $0.010$ $72-56-9$ $0.010$ $72-56-9$ $0.010$ $959-98-8$ $0.010$	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	78.3	35.8	139
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	64.0	19.7	153
$n_{15-05-1}$ $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $72-55-9$ $0.010$ $72-55-9$ $0.010$ $72-55-9$ $0.010$ $72-55-9$ $0.010$ $80-57-1$ $0.010$ $80-57-1$ $0.010$ $80-57-1$ $0.010$ $80-57-1$ $0.010$ $80-57-1$ $0.010$ $10-7-8$ $0.010$ $10-10^{-1}$ $115-29-7$ $n$ (sum) $72-20-8$ $0.010$ $n$ (sum) $72-20-8$ $0.010$	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	80.8	43.8	136
72-54-8 $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $72-54-8$ $0.010$ $80-29-3$ $0.010$ $80-29-3$ $0.010$ $80-29-3$ $0.010$ $80-29-3$ $0.010$ $80-29-38-8$ $0.010$ $80-29-38-8$ $0.010$ $80-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10$	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	78.6	37.4	144
12-54-0     0.010       72-55-9     0.010       72-55-9     0.010       50-29-3     0.010       dosultan      0.010       dosultan     959-98-8     0.010       an sulfate     1031-07-8     0.010       an sulfate     115-29-7     0.010       an (sum)     72-20-8     0.010       dehyde     7421-33-4     0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	85.0	37.5	145
(1) $50-29-3$ $0.010$ $50-29-3$ $0.010$ $50-29-3$ $0.010$ $50-29-3$ $0.010$ $00010$ $0.57-1$ $0.010$ $00010$ $0.59-38-8$ $0.010$ $00010$ $0.59-38-8$ $0.010$ $00010$ $0.010$ $0.010$ $00010$ $0.010$ $0.010$ $00010$ $115-29-7$ $0.010$ $00010$ $72-20-8$ $0.010$ $00010$ $72-20-8$ $0.010$	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	81.5	30.5	146
by constant     0.010        0.010        0.010       sulfan     60-57-1     0.010       sulfan     959-98-8     0.010       ulfan     33213-65-9     0.010       sulfate     1031-07-8     0.010       sulfate     115-29-7     0.010       f(sum)     72-20-8     0.010       ftyde     7421-93-4     0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	86.8	31	151
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	<0.010				I
dosultan     959-98-8     0.010       dosultan     959-98-8     0.010       dosultan     33213-65-9     0.010       fan sulfate     1031-07-8     0.010       fan (sum)     72-20-8     0.010       idehyde     7421-93-4     0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	87.2	34.4	145
33213-65-9 0.010 33213-65-9 0.010 1031-07-8 0.010 715-29-7 0.010 72-20-8 0.010 7421-93-4 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	76,5	30.2	141
(1031-07-8 0.010) 115-29-7 0.010 72-20-8 0.010 7421-93-4 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	91.9	30.3	148
115-29-7 0.010 72-20-8 0.010 7421-83-4 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	83.6	19.1	150
72-20-8 0.010 7421-93-4 0.010	<0.010				
aldehyde 7421-93-4 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	105	13	165
	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	74.9	28.3	134
53494-70-5 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	76.1	15.1	146
ne	<0.005	0.1 µg/L	76.4	33.2	148
1024-57-3 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	74.6	36	143
118-74-1 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	62.6	14	146
snzene (п∪в) 58-89-9 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	67.2	27.2	147
72-43-5 0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	82.6	34.4	150
0.010	<0.010	0.1 µg/L	78.6	15.4	152

ge : 8 of 9	Work Order ; EP0705200	ent ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	ject ; J07030	
Page	Work (	Client	Project	

	Method Blank (MB) Report		*******	Laboratory Control Spike (LCS) Report	S) Report	
Sub-Matrix: WATER		i	Spike	Spike Spike Recovery (%) Recovery Limits (%)	Recovery Limits (%)	imits (%)
Too Arrive Contraction Contrac	I AB	Result	Concentration	rcs	LOW	High
Method: Compound						
E1/31A. Organocritotitie resurintes (*CEVX) 274-12 0.010 μg/L <0.010 0.1 μg/L 81.0 45.1 140 5124.1.014 μg/L 510-142 0.010 μg/L	0.010 µg/L	μg/L <0.010 0.1 μg/L 81.0 45.1 140	0.1 µg/L	81.0	45.1	140
EP131A: Total Chlordane (sum) 0.010	0.010 µg/L	рд/L <0.010 — — — — — — — — —				

I

ALS

: 9 of 9	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	- J07030	
Page	Work Order	Client	Project	



## Matrix Spike (MS) Report

The quality control term Matrix Spike (MS) refers to an intralaboratory split sample spiked with a representative set of target analytes. The purpose of this QC parameter is to monitor potential matrix effects on analyte recoveries. Static Recovery Limits as per laboratory Data Quality Objectives (DQOs). Ideal recovery ranges stated may be waived in the event of sample matrix interference. Marrix Spike (MS) Report

Cub Matrix MATER			nd				
Cub-Manix				Spike	Spike Recovery (%)	Recovery Limits (%)	mits (%)
			CAS Number	Concentration	SM	LOW	High
Laboratory sample ID	Crient sample IU	Method: Compound					
EG020F: Dissolved M	EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS (QCLot: 531440)			:		с Г	007
EDA706000 001	MR01	FG020A-F. Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.2 mg/L	201	0/	20
			7440-43-9	0.05 mg/L	101	70	130
			7440-47-3	0.2 mg/L	106	70	130
			7440-50-8	0.2 mg/L	101	70	130
			7439-92-1	0.2 mg/L	104	70	130
			7440-02-0	0.2 mg/L	0.66	70	130
			7440-66-6	0.2 mg/L	103	70	130
Perset: Dianohod 16	Fromsee Birnshind Mominal In EIMS (OC) of 528260)						
EG0351, 05501760 m		EG035F: Mercury	7439-97-6	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
EP080/071: Total Petr	EP080/071: Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (QCLot: 533833)						
EP0705167-006	Anonymous	EP080: C6 - C9 Fraction		Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
EDARA BIEY (OCLAF 539833)	L ALBRENT						
ED0706167.006		FP080 Benzene	71-43-2	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
		FP080 Totuene	108-88-3	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous	Anonymous
		A MARK AND AND A MARKAN AND AND A MARKAN AND A MARKAN AND A MARKAN AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND A					

	Environmental Division		V
	INTERPRE	TIVE QUALITY CONTROL REPORT	REPORT
Work Order	: EP0705200	P age	: 1 of 6
Client Contact	: ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD : MS GINA PEMBERTON	Laboratory Contact	Environmental Division Perth Michael Sharp
Address	SHOP 17/2 SOUTH WESTERN HIGHWAY ARMADALE WA	Address	10 Hod Way Malaga WA Australia 6090
E-mail Telephone Facsimile	AUSTRALIA 6112 gina@aceenvironmental.com.au +61 08 9497 5000	E-mail Telephone Facsimile	: Shaun.Crabb@alsenviro.com : +61-8-9209 7655 : +61-8-9209 7600
Project	, J07030	QC Level	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
Site	:	Date Samples Received	- 02-NOV-2007
C-O-C number Sampler		Issue Date	21-NOV-2007
Order number	<b>I</b> .		
Quote number	EN-062-07	No. of samples received No. of samples analysed	2
<ul> <li>s report supersectes any previou</li> <li>is Interpretive Quality Control Re</li> <li>Analysis Holding Time Cc</li> <li>Quality Control Paramete</li> <li>Brief Method Summaries</li> <li>Summary of Outliers</li> </ul>	This report supersedes any previous report(s) with this reference. Results apply to the sample(s) as submitted. All pages of this report have been checked and approved for release. This Interpretive Quality Control Report contains the following information: Analysis Holding Time Compliance Quality Control Parameter Frequency Compliance Brief Method Summaries Cummary of Outliers	d. All pages of this report have been	checked and approved for release.

A Campbell Brothers Limited Company

### ALS

# Analysis Holding Time Compliance

for laboratory produced leachates is assumed as the completion date of the leaching process. Outliers for holding time are based on USEPA SW 846. APHA, AS and NEPM (1996). A listing of breaches is provided in dilutions and reruns. Information is also provided re the sample container (preservative) from which the analysis aliquot was taken. Elapsed period to analysis represents number of days from sampling where no The following report summarises extraction / preparation and analysis times and compares with recommended holding times. Dates reported represent first date of extraction or analysis and precludes subsequent extraction / digestion is involved or period from extraction / digestion where this is present. For composite samples, sampling date is assumed to be that of the oldest sample contributing to the composite. Sample date the Summary of Outliers.

Holding times for leachate methods (excluding elutriates) vary according to the analytes being determined on the resulting solution. For non-volatile analytes, the holding time compliance assessment compares the leach the equivalent solition. These solition times are: Organics (14 days): Mercury (28 days) & other metals (180 days). A recorded breach therefore does not leach date with the shortest analyte holding time for the equivalent soli method. These solition times are: Organics (14 days): Mercury (28 days) & other metals (180 days). A recorded breach therefore does not guarantee a breach for all non-volatile parameters.

guarantee a breach for all non-volatile parameters.					Evaluation	Holding time bit	Evaluation: $x =$ Holding time breach : $\checkmark$ = Within holding time.	nolding time.
Matrix: WATER		Samole Date	Extra	Extraction / Preparation			Analysıs	
Method			Date extracted	Due for extraction	Evaluation	Date analysed	Due for analysis	Evaluation
Container / Client Sample ID(s)								
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS						**************************************		
Clear Plastic Bottle - Filtered; Lab-acidified		31-OCT-2007	ļ	I	1	12-NOV-2007	28-APR-2008	>
MB01,	MB02,				*******			
MB03,	MB04,							
MB05,	MB06,							
QA1								
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Clear Plastic Bottle - Fittered; Lab-acidified		24 OCT 2007		1	ļ	12-NOV-2007	28-NOV-2007	>
MB01.	MB02,	1007-100-10						
MB03	MB04,					a.a6.7		
MB05,	MB06,					h., P. province -		
QA1								
Eposo/071: Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons								
Amber Glass Bottle - Unpreserved		24 OCT 2007	07-NOV-2007	07-NOV-2007	>	08-NOV-2007	18-DEC-2007	>
MB01,	MB02,	1007-100-10			•			
MB03,	MB04,							
MB05,	MB06,							
QA1								
Amber VOC Vial - HCI or NaHSO4		31-OCT-2007	I	I		14-NOV-2007	14-NOV-2007	>
MB01,	MB02,	}						
MB03,	MB04,							
MB05,	MB06,							
QA1								
EP080. BTEX								
Amber VOC Vial - HCI or NaHSO4		21-OCT-2007	l	I	I	14-NOV-2007	14-NOV-2007	>
MB01.	MB02,							
MB03.	MB04,							
MB05.	MB06,							
DA1	ης τροσιατιστιστηθαιου ολομού στου τη παρητή το όποιος μήτρου στο μποτοποιομού τη ποιουτού στου το το το το το το του το ποριο το					ğuumu ara a manu ara ar		

- ΡΤΥ LTD JO7030



				Evaluation:	x = Holding time t	Evaluation: $x =$ Holding time breach; $v =$ Within holding time.	i halding time.
Matrix: WAI EK	Sample Date	Ext	Extraction / Preparation			Analysis	
	-	Date extracted	Date extracted Due for extraction	Eveluation	Date analysed	Due for analysis	Evaluation
Container/ Lufeik Semijue iz/s/							
EP130A: Organophosphorus Pesticides (Ultra-trace)							
Amber Glass Bottle - Unpreserved	1000 L000 50			•	13-NOV-2007	18-DFC-2007	>
MB01, MB02,	31-001-2007	1007-AON-70		>			•
MB03, MB04,							
MB05,							
QA1							
EP131A: Organochlorine Pesticides							
Amber Glass Bottle - Unpreserved		2000 ACH 20		`	13_NOV_2007	18-DFC-2007	>
MB01, MB02,	31-001-2007	1002-VON-10	1007-101-10	>	1007-1001-01		•
MB03, MB04,							
MB05,							





7

# Quality Control Parameter Frequency Compliance

The following report summarises the frequency of laboratory QC samples analysed within the analytical lot(s) in which the submitted sample(s) was(where) processed. Actual rate should be greater than or equal to the expected rate. A listing of breaches is provided in the Summary of Outliers.

Evaluation: x = Quality Control frequency not within specification ; X = Quality Control frequency within specification. Quality Control Specification

Count Anatrial Methods         Anatrial Expected         Expected	
Method         OC         Recular         Actual         Expected           EG0205F         2         20         10.0         10.0           EG0204F         2         20         10.0         10.0           EF071         1         19         5.3         10.0           EF071         1         19         5.3         10.0           EF071         1         19         5.3         10.0           mace)         E9131A         1         19         5.0         5.0           mace)         E9131A         1         11         9.1         5.0         5.0           mace)         E9131A         1         11         9.1         5.0         5.0         5.0           mace)         E9131A         1         19         5.3         5.0         5.0           mace)         E9030AF         1         20         5.0         5.0         5.0         5.0           mace)         E9131A         1         11         9.1         5.0         5.0         5.0         5.0           mace)         E9131A         1         1         10         5.0         5.0         5.0         5.0         <	
EG035F     2     20     10.0     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       E0020AF     2     20     10.0     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       E020AF     1     20     5.0     10.0     10       E020AF     1     20     5.0     10.0     10       E020AF     1     1     11     20     5.0     10       mace)     EP131A     1     1     11     20     5.0     1       mace)     E9030     1     20     5.0     5.0     1     2       mace)     EP131A     1     1     19     5.0     5.0       mace)     E90304F     1     20     5.0     5.0     5.0       mace)     EP131A     1     1     19     5.0     5.0       mace)     EP0304F     1     1     19     5.0     5.0       mace)     EP0304F     1     1     19     5.0     5.0       mace)     EP0304     1<	
EG035F     2     20     10.0     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10.0       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       EP071     2     20     10.0     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0     5.0     5.0       Iace)     EP131A     1     11     19     5.3     5.0       Iace)     EP131A     1     11     19     5.3     5.0       Iace)     EP030     1     20     5.0     5.0     5.0       Iace)     EP030     1     1     19     5.3     5.0       Iace)     EP131A     1     1     19     5.0     5.0       Iace)     EP030     1     20     5.0     5.0     5.0       Iace)     EP131A     1     1     19     5.0     5.0       Iace)     EP030AF     1     20     5.0     5.0     5.0       Iace)     EP131A     1     1     19     5.0     5.0       Iace)     EP030	
EG035F     2     20     10.0     10       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       EP071     2     20     10.0     10     10       EG020AF     1     2     20     10.0     10       P     E9071     1     1     19     5.3     10       P     E9035F     1     20     5.0     5.0     5       P     E9131A     1     11     20     5.0     5       P     E9131A     1     11     19     5.3     3       P     E9131A     1     11     19     5.3     3       P     E9131A     1     19     5.0     5.0       P     E9131A	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EP071     2     20     10.0     10.0       EP071     1     1     19     5.3     10       EP080     2     20     10.0     11       EG035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       EG035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       EG035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       EG035F     1     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     19     5.0       EP131A     1     11     19     5.3       EP131A     1     11     19     5.3       EP131A     1     19     5.3     1       EP131A     1     19     5.3     1       EP131A     1     19     5.3     1       EP131A     1     19     5.0     5.0       EP131A     1     19     5.3     1       EP030A     1     20     5.0     5.0       EP030     1     20     5.0     5.0       EP030     1     20     5.0     5.0       E0080     1     20     5.0     5.0       E0080     1     20     5.0     5.0       E0080     1 <td< td=""><td>NEDM 1000 Schedule R(3) and ALS OCS3 requirement</td></td<>	NEDM 1000 Schedule R(3) and ALS OCS3 requirement
EP071     1     1     19     5.3     71       EP080     2     20     10.0     11       E(355F     1     20     5.0     7       E(3204F     1     20     5.0     7       E(3204F     1     20     5.0     7       E(3204F     1     11     9.1     9.1       E(3204F     1     19     5.0     5.0       E(3204F     1     19     5.3     9.1       E(30204F     1     20     5.0     5.0       (11)     11     19     5.3     9.1       (12)     E(30204F     1     20     5.0       (13)     E(30204F     1     19     5.3       (14)     1     11     19     5.0       (13)     E(13)     1     1     19       (14)     1     1     19     5.0       (14)     1     1     19     5.0       (13)     1     1     19     5.0       (14)     1     1     1     1       (15)     1     20     5.0     5.0       (14)     1     1     1     1       (15)     1     20	
EP080     2     20     10.0     11       EP080     2     20     10.0     11       E035F     1     20     5.0     9.1       E0305F     1     20     5.0     9.1       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP071     1     13     5.3     9.1       E0020AFF     1     20     5.0     5.0       E011     1     11     19     5.0       E7130     1     20     5.0     5.0       E7131A     1     11     19     5.0       E7130     1     20     5.0     5.0       E7131     1     11     19     5.3       E7131     1     19     5.3     5.0       E7035     1     20     5.0     5.0       E7035     1     20     5.0     5.0	
E7080       2       20       5.0       5         EG025F       1       20       5.0       5.0       5         E7131A       1       11       20       5.0       5       5         E7130       1       1       11       20       5.0       5       5         E7130       1       1       11       20       5.0       5       5       5         E7130       1       1       19       5.3       5	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EG035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       EC025F     1     20     5.0     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     19     5.3       EP071     1     19     5.3     1       EC020AFF     1     20     5.0     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     20     5.0     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP071     1     11     19     5.3       EP035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       EP036F     1     20     5.0     5.0	
EG035F     1     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     19     5.3       EP071     1     19     5.3     9.1       EP080     1     20     5.0     5.0       EP080     1     20     5.0     5.0       E2020AF     1     20     5.0     5.0       E2035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       E20304F     1     11     11     9.1       E20304F     1     20     5.0     5.0       E20304F     1     11     11     9.1       E20304F     1     20     5.0     5.0       E20304F     1     11     11     9.1       E20304F     1     20     5.0     5.0	NFPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EG020A-F       1       20       5.0       5.0         EP131A       1       11       9.1       9.1         EP131A       1       1       11       9.1       9.1         EP071       1       1       1       1       9.1       9.1         EP037       1       1       1       19       5.3       9.1         EP036       1       20       5.0       5.0       5.0       9.1         EQ020A-F       1       20       5.0       5.0       5.0       9.1         EP131A       1       1       1       20       5.0       5.0       5.0         EP031A       1       1       11       20       5.0       5.0       5.0         EP031       1       1       11       11       9.1       5.0       5.0       5.0         EP030       1       8       12.5       5.0<	
EPUZUATT 1 11 11 9.1 5 EP131A 1 11 11 9.1 5 EP071 1 19 5.3 9 EP020AF 1 20 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS WOSS requirements
EP131A     1     1       EP131A     1     1       EP071     1     8       EP071     1     19       E0035F     1     20       E0020A-F     1     20       E0131A     1     19       E020A-F     1     20       E020A-F     1     20       E021A     1     11       E021A     1     20       E021A     1     20       E021A     1     11       E021A     1     20       E020     5.0       E020     5.0       E020     5.0       E020     1       E020     5.0	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EP130     1     8     1.2.5       EP071     1     1     19     5.3       E035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       E0304-F     1     20     5.0     5.0       E0304-F     1     20     5.0     5.0       E131A     1     11     20     5.0       E7130     1     8     12.5       E7130     1     1     19     5.0       E7131     1     11     9.1       E7130     1     8     12.5       E7071     1     19     5.3       E7035F     1     20     5.0       E7035F     1     20     5.0	NFPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EP071     1     19     5.3       EP080     1     20     5.0       EC035F     1     20     5.0       EC020A-F     1     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     20     5.0       EP130     1     8     12.5       EP130     1     1     19     5.3       E0031     1     20     5.0     5.0       E0035F     1     20     5.0     5.0       E0035F     1     20     5.0     5.0	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EP080     1     20     5.0       EG035F     1     20     5.0       E9131A     1     11     20       E9131A     1     11     3.1       E9131A     1     11     3.1       E9131A     1     11     3.1       E9131A     1     11     3.1       E9071     1     11     9.1       E9080     1     20     5.0       E0035F     1     20     5.0       E0035F     1     20     5.0	NFPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EG035F     1     20     5.0       EG020A-F     1     20     5.0       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP130     1     8     12.5       EP071     1     19     5.0       EP080     1     20     5.0       E0035F     1     20     5.0	
EG035F     1     20     5.0       EG020A-F     1     20     5.0       EC9131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP130     1     8     12.5       EP071     1     19     5.3       EP080     1     20     5.0       E035F     1     20     5.0	
ECUUSAT     1     20     50       EC020A-F     1     20     50       EC011A     1     11     9.1       EP131A     1     11     9.1       EP071     1     19     5.3       EP080     1     20     5.0       EP080     1     20     5.0       E0035F     1     20     5.0	NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EG020A-F 1 20 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	<ul> <li>NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement</li> </ul>
EP131A     1     11     3.1       EP130     1     8     12.5       EP071     1     19     5.3       EP080     1     20     5.0       E035F     1     20     5.0	<ul> <li>NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement</li> </ul>
EP130     1     8     12.5       EP071     1     19     5.3       EP080     1     20     5.0       E035F     1     20     5.0	V NFPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
EP071 1 19 53 53 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50	NFPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
1 20 <b>5.0</b> 1 20 <b>5.0</b>	NIEDM 1000 Schedule B(3) and ALS OCS3 requirement
1 20 5.0	
1 20 5.0	
-	<ul> <li>ALS QCS3 requirement</li> </ul>
nan da manana aka muu ka kuu anan ka kuu anan ka kuu anan manan manana muu anan muu anan muu anan muu anan muu	<ul> <li>ALS QCS3 requirement</li> </ul>
5.0	<ul> <li>ALS QCS3 requirement</li> </ul>

: 5 of 6	EP0705200	: ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	J07030	
Page	Work Order	Client	Project	



## **Brief Method Summaries**

The analytical procedures used by the Environmental Division have been developed from established internationally recognized procedures such as those published by the US EPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house developed procedures are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request. The following report provides brief descriptions of the analytical procedures employed for results reported in the which at S methods have been developed are provided within the Method Descriptions.

trainer and the second of the second of the second of the second parts of the second parts of the second parts	Method	Matrix	ttemoo Descriptions – structure – st. de name international de la construction de la construction de la constru Interno
Analysical metods Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS - Suite A	EG020A-F	WATER	(APHA 21st ed., 3125, USEPA SW846 - 6020, ALS QWI-EN/EG020): The ICPMS technique utilizes a highly efficient argon plasma to ionize selected elements. Ions are then passed into a high vacuum mass spectrometer, which separates the analytes based on their distinct mass to charge ratios prior to their measurement by a discrete dynode ion detector.
Dissolved Mercury by FIMS	EG035F	WATER	AS 3550, APHA 21st ed. 3112 Hg - B (Flow-injection (SnCl2)(Cold Vapour generation) AAS) FIM-AAS is an automated flameless atomic absorption technique. A bromate/bromide reagent is used to oxidise any organic mercury compounds in the filtered sample. The ionic mercury is reduced online to atomic mercury vapour by SnCl2 which is then purged into a heated quartz cell. Quantification is by comparing absorbance against a calibration curve. This method is compliant with NEPM (1999) Schedule B(3) (Appdx. 2).
TPH - Semivolatile Fraction	EP071	WATER	USEPA SW 846 - 8015A The sample extract is analysed by Capillary GC/FIU and quantification is by comparison against an established 5 point calibration curve of n-Alkane standards. This method is compliant with NEPM (1999) Schedule B(3) (Appdx. 2)
TPH Volatiles/BTEX	EP080	WATER	USEPA SW 846 - 8260B Water samples are directly purged prior to ariarys by Capinal y Compound with quantification is by comparison against an established 5 point calibration curve. This method is compliant with NEPM (1999) Schedule B(3) (Appdx. 2)
Organophosphorus Pesticides (I IItra-trace)	EP130	WATER	USEPA Method 3640 (GPC cleanup), 8141 (GC/FPU - Capillary Column) Triis meurou is compliant with with (1999) Schedule B(3) (Appdx. 2)
Organochlorine Pesticides (Ultra-trace)	EP131A	WATER	USEPA Method 3640 (GPC cleanup).3620 (Florisil), 8081/8082 (GC/UECU/UECU). Tills method is compliant with NEPM (1999) Schedule B(3) (Appdx. 2)
Preparation Methods	Method	Matrix	Method Descriptions
Separatory Funnel Extraction of Liquids	ORG14	WATER	USEPA SW 846 - 3510B 500 mL to 1L of sample is transferred to a separatory tunnel and serially extracted unec times using 60mL DCM for each extract. The resultant extracts are combined, dehydrated and concentrated for analysis. This method is compliant with NEPM (1999) Schedule B(3) (Appdx. 2). ALS default excludes sediment which may be resident in the container.
Sep. Funnel Extraction of Liquids (Ultra-trace pesticides.)	ORG14-UTP	WATER	USEPA 3510 Samples are extracted into dichloromethane, concentrated and exchanged into an appropriate solvent for GPC and florisil cleanup as required. This method is compliant with NEPM (1999) Schedule B(3) (Appdx. 2). ALS default excludes sediment which may be resident in the container.

: 6 of 6	EP0705200	ACE ENVIRONMENTAL PTY LTD	J07030	
Page	Work Order	Client	Project	



## Summary of Outliers

# **Outliers : Quality Control Samples**

The following report highlights outliers flagged in the Quality Control (QC) Report. Surrogate recovery limits are static and based on USEPA SW846 or ALS-QWI/EN/38 (in the absence of specific USEPA limits). This report displays QC Outliers (breaches) only.

# Duplicates, Method Blanks, Laboratory Control Samples and Matrix Spikes

- For all matrices, no Method Blank value outliers occur.
- For all matrices, no Duplicate outliers occur.
- For all matrices, no Laboratory Control outliers occur.
- For all matrices, no Matrix Spike outliers occur.

## Regular Sample Surrogates

For all regular sample matrices, no surrogate recovery outliers occur.

# **Outliers : Analysis Holding Time Compliance**

This report displays Holding Time breaches only. Only the respective Extraction / Preparation and/or Analysis component is/are displayed.

# No Analysis Holding Time Outliers exist.

# **Outliers : Frequency of Quality Control Samples**

The following report highlights breaches in the Frequency of Quality Control Samples.

### Matrix: WATER

•••••	
rol Specification	C Regular Actual Expected 1 19 5.3 10.0 NEPM 1999 Schedule B(3) and ALS QCS3 requirement
ty Con.	M 1999
Qual	NEP
ate (%)	Expected
œ	5.3
Count Rate (%)	0C Regular
	Metrod Laboratory Duplicates (DUP) TPH - Semivolatile Fraction
e	DUP) . ction
andle a w	icates ( tile Frac
a line iso	iry Dup ∍mivola
Deality Control S	Method aborati FPH - Se
: Mi	

CHAIN OF CLISTODY DOCUMENTATION	VTION			<
CLIEN ACE Environmental PL	11:00 - 4 - 4 - 4 - 4 - 4 - 4 - 4 - 4 - 4 -			SIV
MINRESSIOFICE Stop 17/2 JOURN - WEDELTON	this interest	(08) 94	1 Jernorue	Australian Laboratory Services Ply Ltd
	0	(it Hilderent to report) Same	as above	
	11: NO EN/062/07	ANALYSIS REQUIRED including SUITES (role - suite codes must be listeri to altitaci suite prices)	e listed to attract sume p	«ices)
FOR LÁBURATORY USE ONLY COMMENTS / SPECIAL HANDLING/ COOLER SEAL (circle appropriate)	HANDI NG / S LOKAGE OR DIPOSAL	Si Di Si		<u>Notes</u> e.g. Highly contaminated samples e.g. "Hight PAHs expected" Extra volume for OC or frace LORs etc.
EMPERATURE		10/ 2.4 i 2(		
vo IUN (nole S = Stul, W≠Water)		50 P.441 M		
$\sqrt{D}$ $\sqrt{D}$ $\sqrt{D}$ $\sqrt{2}$ $\sqrt{2}$ $\sqrt{2}$	anto n atka	Environm	/ision	
Q M B0 2		Work Order		ND: STA & HMS
(1) MB03		<u>V</u> EP0705200	00	appoint ( c-m-ut
6 MB05				do dissolved
Q Q AI	<b>^</b>			wetals only.
		Telephone : + 61-8-9209 7655	19 7655	Not field filtered.
		RECEIVED BY	- 1.10	METHOD OF SHIPMENT
Name G. Peruberton	Date 2/11/07	Name Wite 30~44	Jate 211167 [Inte: 8:32	
loi A & Name	Date	Naine: Date Cof		1 tansport Co
OI Water Container Codes: P = Unpreserved Plastic, N = Nitric Preserved Plastic, OPC, = Nitric Preserved ORC, SH = Sudum Hydroxite/Cd Preserved, S = Sudium Hydroxite Preserved Plastic, AG = Anther Glass Unpreserved Class. Water Container Codes: P = Ulpreserved Plastic, K = Formaddeltyte Prescrived Class.	served Plastic, ORC = Nitric Preservert OR sufficient Drosenvert Arthor Glass H = H	ORC = Nitur Preservert ORC, SH = Sodum Hydroxide/Cd Preserved, S = Sodium Hydroxice Preserverd Plastir, AG = Aniber Glass Unpreserved, avord Amber Glass. Н = HCL preserved Plastic, HS = HC) preserved Speciation bottle, SP = Sudium: Preserved Plastic, F = Formaldehyte Prescr	eserveed Plastic, AG = 7 tunt Preserved Plastic, 1	vinber Glass Unpreserved. F ≤ Formaldehyrte Prescrved Class.
V = VOA Vial HCI Preserved VS = VOA Vial Subhuric Preserved. SG = Subulu Fre / = Zinc Areitate Preserved Rottle, E = E()1A Preserved Rottles, ST = Sterile Rottle,	- Sumuric Freedom ASS = Plastic Rad for Acid S Norde Bottle, ASS = Plastic Rad for Acid S	eres of that in And for And Supphale Solis, R ≠ Unpreserved Bag		

AUSTRALIAN LABORATORY SERVICES P/L

COC Page 1 of 1

1 ...



### 09.181-001-LWMS (20-9-11)

### DEPARTMENT OF WATER CORRESPONDENCE

**APPENDIX C** 

### CITY OF COCKBURN – Development Area 19 (Muriel Court) Local Water Management Strategy





looking after all our water needs

Your ref: 09.181 L001 Our ref: RF2130 Enquiries: Brett Dunn

6 October 2009

ENV Australia PO Box 7480 PERTH WA 6850 BY:

Attn: Margaret Dunlop

Dear Margaret,

### RE: PROPOSED HYDROLOGICAL MONITORING TO INFORM LOCAL WATER MANAGEMENT STRATEGY - DEVELOPMENT AREA 19, MURIEL COURT, COCKBURN

Thank you for you correspondence dated 2<sup>nd</sup> October 2009, regarding proposed hydrological monitoring to inform a Local Water Management Strategy (LWMS) for the abovementioned site.

Specifically, this proposal proposes to determine groundwater levels for the site based on 6 months site specific monitoring data (inclusive of a winter) and correlated to Department of Water's (DoW's) long term bore datasets to inform the LWMS. Monitoring will continue through the structure planning process and a minimum of 18 months site specific data will be collected to refine the estimated Maximum Groundwater Level (MGL).

The DoW wishes to advise it is satisfied with the above approach to inform the future LWMS.

If you wish to discuss the above please contact the DoW's Mandurah Office on (08) 9550 4222.

Yours Sincerely

Adrian Parker Program Manager – Urban Water Management Kwinana Peel Region

### APPENDIX D

### **PRELIMINARY VEGETATION REPORT**





### Memorandum

To: Allen Blood

From: Dave Bright

Date: 1 November 2007

### Re: Vegetation Assessment of Muriel Court

### Allen

All lots covered by the Muriel Court Structure Plan were desk-top assessed for remnant vegetation. This was followed by an on-ground vegetation survey, conducted during the period mid July to end of August 2007.

Whilst there were many lots that supported isolated native trees, only three areas contained remnant vegetation of any significance:

- Area 1 Lot 39 Verna Court
- Area 2 Lots 53, 54 and 56 Muriel Court
- Area 3 Lots 80, 20, 21, 100, 101 and 102 Muriel Court, Lots 52, and 81 North Lake Road, Lots 53, 54, and 55 Tea Tree Close, and Lot 35 Kentucky Court

### <u>Area 1</u>

The bushland on Lot 39 Verna Court is generally in poor to very poor condition. The original vegetation would probably have been Grasstree heathland, Xanthorrhoea preissii, with occasional Coastal Blackbutt, Eucalyptus todtiana and WA Christmas
Trees, Nuytsia floribunda. There are two small areas of slightly better ('fair') quality bushland at the southern end of the lot. It is recommended that the larger area be preserved although considerable weed control and some revegetation work will be required.



'Poor' condition bushland

'Fair' condition bushland



Has some ecological value but <u>considerable</u> weed control/reveg work is required

Recommend preserving although some weed control/reveg work is required

### <u>Area 2</u>

The bushland on Lot 53 Muriel Court is a monoculture of Spearwood, *Kunzea glabrescens* with two Stout Paperbarks along the northern boundary. Whilst the core is in very good condition, the firebreaks are very wide and weedy. It has some ecological value and the Spearwood is fairly easy to restore, however there are better areas worth preserving.

Lot 54 Muriel Court supports a monoculture of Flooded Gums, *Eucalyptus rudis*, comprising a stand of mature specimens near the northern boundary with saplings of several ages to the south. I consider these are worth preserving.

Lot 56 Muriel Court supports Heathland with Holly Banksia, *Banksia ilicifolia*. It has the highest diversity of all the remnants. I strongly recommend preserving this although some weed control/reveg work is required.



### <u>Area 3</u>

Lots 80, 20, 21, 100, 101 and 102 Muriel Court, Lots 52, and 81 North Lake Road, Lots 53, 54, and 55 Tea Tree Close, and Lot 35 Kentucky Court support a large wetland remnant in 'fair' to 'good' condition. The wetland exhibits a degree of 'zoning', with Stout Paperbarks, *Melaleuca preissiana*, along the north western edge, Flooded Gum, *Eucalyptus rudis*, in the core and mostly Freshwater Paperbarks, *Melaleuca raphiophylla*, in the south eastern corner. There is very little native understorey; it having been replaced by grass (predominantly Kikuyu) and Arum Lily. Sydney Golden Wattle, *Acacia longifolia*, is the major woody weed.





Recommend preserving although some weed control/reveg work is required N.B. this area has now been almost completely cleared.

> Strongly recommend preserving although some weed control/ reveg work is required

Has some ecological value but <u>considerable</u> weed control/reveg work is required

### Summary

It is recommended that priority be given to preserving the remnant bushland on Lots 54 and 56 Muriel Court, and the wetland remnant centred on Lot 52 North Lake Road and Lots 55 and 53 Tea Tree Close.

# **APPENDIX E**

# **POST DEVELOPMENT WATER BALANCE**



## Muriel Court Water Balance Summary

Pre-Development	Drainage and
	Infiltration (ML/yr)
Pre Development	164

Post-Development	Drainage and
	Infiltration (ML/yr)
R20 Houses	10.06
R25 Houses	64.33
R40 Houses	26.60
R60 Houses	46.32
R80 Houses	43.74
R160 Apartment Blocks	55.77
Commercial	69.74
Irrigated POS	21.37
Non-irrigated POS	0.00
Roads and verges	147.27
POS and apartment block irrigation (from bores)	-77.18
Total recharge to groundwater and drains	408.03

% increase of recharge

248.98

#### Assumptions

Land areas are as provided by City of Cockburn, 17/11/2009 Local Centre is assumed to be commercial Estimated area of garden = 65% of OS area for low density Estimated area of garden = 45% of OS area for med density Estimated area of garden = 30% of OS area for high density Persons per house from Water Corporation (2007) quoting ABS (2001) No lot drainage and no sub-surface drainage Rain on Hard Surfaces is 4.5% Evap, 95.5% stormwater (WAWA, 1987) Rain and irrigation has a 17.5% surface loss

Verge has been calculated as a scaled average based on average verge length per block and total verge area based on road reserve

References to GHD (2005) are to Non-potable Water Use: Guidelines for developers and their consultants (draft)

References to Water Authority of Western Australia (1987) are to Perth Urban Water Balance Study: Volume 2 - Data Collection & Analysis Techniques

References to Water Corporation (2007) are to Water Supply Consumption Tool

References to Davidson (1995) are to Hydrogeology and Groundwater Resources of the Perth Region Western Australia

Residential Density	Lot Density Code	Area (ha)	Area %	Number of Houses/Units	Persons per house	Avg Lot size (m²)	Min % open space (OS)	Min area OS on average block (m <sup>2</sup> )	Estimated area of house (m <sup>2</sup> )	of Hardstand	Estimated area		Total Hard surfaces - not roof (Ha)
Low	R20	1.63	3.7	33	2.79	500	50	250	250	88	163	1.11	0.29
Low	R25	10.55	23.6	301	2.79	350	50	175	175	61	114	7.11	1.84
Medium	R40	4.10	9.2	186	1.73	220	45	99	121	54	45	3.26	1.01
Medium	R60	8.57	20.8	476	1.73	180	45	81	99	45	36	6.83	2.12
High	R80	6.92	17.1	554	1.48	125	60	75	50	53	23	5.68	2.91
High	R160	8.83	25.6	1413	1.48	63	60	38	25	26	11	7.24	3.71
Total (where applicable)		40.60	100.0	2963								31.24	11.88

#### Rainfall as per Jandakot, 1972 - 2009, Evaporation as per Medina 1983 - 2009

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Totals
Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	832.2
Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117	74.4	54	55.8	71.3	96	145.7	195	241.8	1724.8
Rainfall - Evaporation (mm)	-246	-204	-177	-74	34	110	125	55	-10	-98	-166	-232	-883

		Roof Area		Hardstand
Commercial	Lot Area (m <sup>2</sup> )	(m²)	Garden (m <sup>2</sup> )	(m²)
Commercial	96,200	76,960	9,620	9,620
Total Commercial	96,200	76,960	9,620	9,620

2963

Other	ha	m²	
Irrigated POS	6.820	68,200	
Bush and Wetland	0	0	
Total POS	6.820	68,200	
Road Reserve	21.730	217,300	
Road Reserve as Road	15.646	156,456	
Road Reserve as verge	6.084	60,844	28% of road reserve from WAPC road design criteri
School	0.000	0	
Total Area	78.770	787,700	

Number of dwellings

### Pre-clearing water balance

Bushland, assuming 25% of rainfall becomes recharge (as per Davidson, 1995)

Total rainfall for site	655,524 kL/yr for site
Total flow to groundwater and drains	163,881 kL/yr for site
	164 ML/yr for site

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from R20 Households Irrigation and Household runoff.

Assumes that household irrigation includes non-swale verges, calculated as per assumptions sheet Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
Α	Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
В	Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
С	Evap-Trans (mm)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
	GHD (2005)- gives ratios over an annual basis (ex-house Single) (L/house/day)	911	911	841	561	280	140	35	35	70	351	771	911	484.75
	Irrigation in this subdivision (L/house/day)	611	611	564	376	188	94	23	23	47	235	517	611	325.00
Е	Irrigation kL/house/month	18.93	17.10	17.48	11.28	5.82	2.82	0.73	0.73	1.41	7.30	15.51	18.93	118.03
F	Garden Rainfall (kL/house/month)	2.31	2.81	2.55	7.00	17.60	26.62	29.30	20.54	13.99	7.75	4.79	1.58	136.84
G	Roof splash (10% of rain falling on roofs)	0.36	0.43	0.39	1.08	2.71	4.10	4.51	3.16	2.15	1.19	0.74	0.24	21.05
н	Paving runoff	1.19	1.45	1.31	3.60	9.05	13.69	15.07	10.56	7.19	3.99	2.47	0.81	70.37
I	Total input to gardens Surface evaporation and interception	22.78	21.79	21.73	22.97	35.18	47.22	49.60	34.99	24.75	20.22	23.50	21.56	346.30
J	losses	3.99	3.81	3.80	4.02	6.16	8.26	8.68	6.12	4.33	3.54	4.11	3.77	60.60
К	Total input - surface evap	18.80	17.98	17.93	18.95	29.02	38.95	40.92	28.87	20.42	16.69	19.39	17.79	285.69
L	Potential Evap for area	29.62	25.16	21.86	13.31	8.46	6.14	6.35	8.11	10.92	16.57	22.18	27.50	196.20
М	Total input - potential evap	-10.82	-7.18	-3.93	5.64	20.56	32.81	34.57	20.76	9.50	0.11	-2.79	-9.71	89.50
N	Therefore infiltration to groundwater from gardens(kL/house)	0.00	0.00	0.00	5.64	20.56	32.81	34.57	20.76	9.50	0.11	0.00	0.00	123.94
-	TOTAL GARDEN INFILTRATION FOR R20 LOTS	0	0	0	186	678	1083	1141	685	313	4	0	0	4090
	Water to soakwells or drains from roof (kL/house/month)	3.1	3.7	3.4	9.3	23.3	35.2	38.7	27.2	18.5	10.2	6.3	2.1	180.95
P1	Wastewater infiltrated on site (kL/house/month)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00
Q	TOTAL SOAKWELL OR DRAIN INFILTRATION FOR R20 LOTS (KL)	101	123	111	306	768	1161	1278	896	611	338	209	69	5971
R	Total Irrigation Water Use for R20 Lots (kL)	625	564	577	372	192	93	24	24	46	241	512	625	3895

Garden Irrigation of 2L per m2 per day (Water Corporation, 2007)

Assumes paving runoff flows to garden rather than drains

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from R25 Households Irrigation and Household runoff. Excludes Swales

Assumes that household irrigation includes non-swale verges, calculated as per assumptions sheet Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Νον	Dec	Total
Α	Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
В	Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
С	Evap-Trans (mm)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
	GHD (2005)- gives ratios over an annual basis (ex-house Single) (L/house/day)	911	911	841	561	280	140	35	35	70	351	771	911	484.75
D	Irrigation in this subdivision (L/house/day)	428	428	395	263	131	66	16	16	33	165	362	428	227.50
Е	Irrigation kL/house/month	13.25	13.25	12.24	8.16	4.07	2.04	0.51	0.51	1.02	5.11	11.22	13.25	84.63
F	Garden Rainfall (kL/house/month)	1.62	1.97	1.79	4.90	12.32	18.63	20.51	14.38	9.79	5.43	3.36	1.10	95.79
G	Roof splash (10% of rain falling on roofs)	0.25	0.30	0.27	0.75	1.90	2.87	3.16	2.21	1.51	0.83	0.52	0.17	14.74
н	Paving runoff	0.83	1.01	0.92	2.52	6.33	9.58	10.55	7.39	5.04	2.79	1.73	0.57	49.26
I	Total input to gardens Surface evaporation and interception	15.95 2.79	16.54 2.89	15.21 2.66	16.34 2.86	24.62 4.31	33.12 5.80	34.72 6.08	24.49 4.29	17.36 3.04	14.16 2.48	16.81 2.94	15.09	244.41 42.77
•	losses					-							2.64	
К	Total input - surface evap	13.16	13.64	12.55	13.48	20.31	27.32	28.64	20.21	14.32	11.68	13.87	12.45	201.64
L	Potential Evap for area	20.73	17.61	15.30	9.32	5.92	4.30	4.44	5.68	7.64	11.60	15.53	19.25	137.34
М	Total input - potential evap	-7.58	-3.97	-2.75	4.16	14.39	23.02	24.20	14.53	6.67	0.08	-1.65	-6.80	64.30
N	Therefore infiltration to groundwater from gardens(kL/house)	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.16	14.39	23.02	24.20	14.53	6.67	0.08	0.00	0.00	87.06
0	TOTAL GARDEN INFILTRATION FOR R20 LOTS	0	0	0	1253	4331	6930	7284	4373	2009	24	0	0	26,205
Р	Water to soakwells or drains from roof (kL/house/month)	2.1	2.6	2.4	6.5	16.3	24.6	27.1	19.0	13.0	7.2	4.4	1.5	126.66
P1	Wastewater infiltrated on site (kL/house/month)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00
Q	TOTAL SOAKWELL OR DRAIN INFILTRATION FOR R25 LOTS (kL)	643	783	711	1951	4903	7416	8163	5723	3898	2160	1336	439	38,125
R	Total Irrigation Water Use for R25 Lots (kL)	3989	3989	3683	2457	1226	613	153	153	307	1537	3376	3989	25,474

Garden Irrigation of 2L per m2 per day (Water Corporation, 2007)

Assumes paving runoff flows to garden rather than drains

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from R40 Households Irrigation and Household runoff. Excludes Swales

Assumes that household irrigation includes non-swale verges, calculated as per assumptions sheet Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
Α	Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
В	Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
С	Evap-Trans (mm)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
D	GHD (2005)- gives ratios over an annual basis (ex-house Single) (L/house/day)	911	911	841	561	280	140	35	35	70	351	771	911	484.75
D	Irrigation in this subdivision (L/house/day)	167	167	155	103	51	26	c	6	13	65	142	167	89.10
-								6	-					
E	Irrigation kL/house/month	5.19	4.69	4.79	3.09	1.60	0.77	0.20	0.20	0.39	2.00	4.25	5.19	32.36
F	Garden Rainfall (kL/house/month)	0.63	0.77	0.70	1.92	4.82	7.30	8.03	5.63	3.84	2.13	1.31	0.43	37.52
G	Roof splash (10% of rain falling on roofs)	0.17	0.21	0.19	0.52	1.31	1.98	2.18	1.53	1.04	0.58	0.36	0.12	10.19
н	Paving runoff	0.74	0.90	0.82	2.24	5.63	8.52	9.38	6.57	4.48	2.48	1.53	0.50	43.79
I	Total input to gardens	6.73	6.57	6.50	7.78	13.36	18.57	19.79	13.93	9.74	7.18	7.46	6.24	123.85
	Surface evaporation and interception													
J	losses	1.18	1.15	1.14	1.36	2.34	3.25	3.46	2.44	1.70	1.26	1.30	1.09	21.67
к	Total input - surface evap	5.56	5.42	5.36	6.42	11.02	15.32	16.33	11.49	8.04	5.93	6.15	5.15	102.18
L	Potential Evap for area	8.12	6.90	5.99	3.65	2.32	1.68	1.74	2.22	2.99	4.54	6.08	7.54	53.79
М	Total input - potential evap	-2.57	-1.48	-0.63	2.77	8.70	13.64	14.59	9.27	5.04	1.38	0.07	-2.39	48.39
N	Therefore infiltration to groundwater from gardens(kL/house)	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.77	8.70	13.64	14.59	9.27	5.04	1.38	0.07	0.00	55.46
0	TOTAL GARDEN INFILTRATION FOR R40 LOTS	0	0	0	515	1619	2536	2713	1724	938	257	13	0	10,315
Р	Water to soakwells or drains from roof (kL/house/month)	1.5	1.8	1.6	4.5	11.3	17.0	18.8	13.1	9.0	5.0	3.1	1.0	87.58
P1	Wastewater infiltrated on site (kL/house/month)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00
Q	TOTAL SOAKWELL OR DRAIN INFILTRATION FOR R40 LOTS (kL)	275	335	304	834	2095	3169	3488	2445	1666	923	571	188	16,290
R	Total Irrigation Water Use for R40 Lots (kL)	966	872	891	575	297	144	37	37	72	372	791	966	6,019

Garden Irrigation of 2L per m2 per day (Water Corporation, 2007)

Assumes paving runoff flows to garden rather than drains

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from R60 Households Irrigation and Household runoff

Assumes that household irrigation includes non-swale verges, calculated as per assumptions sheet Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
Α	Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
В	Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
С	Evap-Trans (mm)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
D	GHD (2005)- gives ratios over an annual basis (ex-house Single) (L/house/day)	911	911	841	561	280	140	35	35	70	351	771	911	484.75
D	Irrigation in this subdivision (L/house/day)	137	137	126	84	42	21	5	5	11	53	116	137	72.90
Е	Irrigation kL/house/month	4.25	3.84	3.92	2.53	1.31	0.63	0.16	0.16	0.32	1.64	3.48	4.25	26.48
F	Garden Rainfall (kL/house/month)	0.52	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	6.37
G	Roof splash (10% of rain falling on roofs)	0.14	0.17	0.16	0.43	1.07	1.62	1.78	1.25	0.85	0.47	0.29	0.10	8.34
н	Paving runoff	0.60	0.74	0.67	1.83	4.61	6.97	7.67	5.38	3.66	2.03	1.26	0.41	35.83
I	Total input to gardens Surface evaporation and interception	5.51	5.28	5.28	5.32	7.52	9.75	10.15	7.32	5.36	4.67	5.56	5.29	77.01
J	losses	0.96	0.92	0.92	0.93	1.32	1.71	1.78	1.28	0.94	0.82	0.97	0.93	13.48
к	Total input - surface evap	4.55	4.35	4.35	4.39	6.20	8.05	8.37	6.04	4.42	3.85	4.59	4.36	63.53
L	Potential Evap for area	6.64	5.64	4.90	2.99	1.90	1.38	1.42	1.82	2.45	3.72	4.98	6.17	44.01
М	Total input - potential evap	-2.10	-1.29	-0.55	1.41	4.30	6.67	6.95	4.22	1.98	0.14	-0.39	-1.81	19.53
N	Therefore infiltration to groundwater from gardens(kL/house)	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.41	4.30	6.67	6.95	4.22	1.98	0.14	0.00	0.00	25.66
-	TOTAL GARDEN INFILTRATION FOR R60 LOTS	0	0	0	670	2048	3175	3309	2010	940	64	0	0	12,217
	Water to soakwells or drains from roof (kL/house/month)	1.2	1.5	1.3	3.7	9.2	13.9	15.3	10.8	7.3	4.1	2.5	0.8	71.65
P1	Wastewater infiltrated on site (kL/house/month)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00
Q	TOTAL SOAKWELL OR DRAIN INFILTRATION FOR R60 LOTS (kL)	575	701	636	1746	4386	6634	7303	5120	3487	1932	1195	393	34,108
R	Total Irrigation Water Use for R60 Lots (kL)	2022	1826	1866	1205	621	301	78	78	150	779	1656	2022	12,603

Garden Irrigation of 2L per m2 per day (Water Corporation, 2007)

Assumes paving runoff flows to garden rather than drains

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from R80 Households Irrigation and Household runoff.

Assumes that household irrigation includes non-swale verges, calculated as per assumptions sheet Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
А	Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
В	Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
С	Evap-Trans (mm)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
D	GHD (2005)- gives ratios over an annual basis (ex-house Single) (L/house/day)	911	911	841	561	280	140	35	35	70	351	771	911	484.75
D	Irrigation in this subdivision (L/house/day)	85	85	78	52	26	13	3	3	6	33	72	85	45.00
Е	Irrigation kL/house/month	2.62	2.37	2.42	1.56	0.81	0.39	0.10	0.10	0.19	1.01	2.15	2.62	16.34
F	Garden Rainfall (kL/house/month)	0.32	0.39	0.35	0.97	2.44	3.69	4.06	2.84	1.94	1.07	0.66	0.22	18.95
G	Roof splash (10% of rain falling on roofs)	0.07	0.09	0.08	0.22	0.54	0.82	0.90	0.63	0.43	0.24	0.15	0.05	4.21
н	Paving runoff	0.71	0.87	0.79	2.16	5.43	8.21	9.04	6.34	4.32	2.39	1.48	0.49	42.22
I	Total input to gardens Surface evaporation and interception	3.72	3.71	3.64	4.91	9.21	13.11	14.10	9.91	6.88	4.71	4.44	3.37	81.72
J	losses	0.65	0.65	0.64	0.86	1.61	2.29	2.47	1.73	1.20	0.82	0.78	0.59	14.30
к	Total input - surface evap	3.07	3.06	3.00	4.05	7.60	10.81	11.63	8.18	5.68	3.89	3.66	2.78	67.42
L	Potential Evap for area	4.10	3.48	3.03	1.84	1.17	0.85	0.88	1.12	1.51	2.29	3.07	3.81	27.17
М	Total input - potential evap	-1.03	-0.42	-0.02	2.21	6.43	9.96	10.75	7.06	4.16	1.59	0.59	-1.02	40.25
N	Therefore infiltration to groundwater from gardens(kL/house)	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.21	6.43	9.96	10.75	7.06	4.16	1.59	0.59	0.00	42.76
0	TOTAL GARDEN INFILTRATION FOR R80 LOTS	0	0	0	1223	3562	5519	5957	3909	2307	883	327	0	23,686
Р	Water to soakwells or drains from roof (kL/house/month)	0.6	0.7	0.7	1.9	4.7	7.0	7.7	5.4	3.7	2.0	1.3	0.4	36.19
P1	Wastewater infiltrated on site (kL/house/month)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00
Q	TOTAL SOAKWELL OR DRAIN INFILTRATION FOR R80 LOTS (kL)	338	412	374	1026	2578	3900	4293	3009	2050	1136	702	231	20,049
R	Total Irrigation Water Use for R80 Lots (kL)	1452	1312	1341	866	446	216	56	56	108	560	1190	1452	9,054

Garden Irrigation of 2L per m2 per day (Water Corporation, 2007)

Assumes paving runoff flows to garden rather than drains

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from R160 Households Irrigation and Household runoff.

Assumes that household irrigation includes non-swale verges, calculated as per assumptions sheet Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
Α	Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
В	Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
С	Evap-Trans (mm)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
D	GHD (2005)- gives ratios over an annual basis (ex-house Single) (L/house/day)	911	911	841	561	280	140	35	35	70	351	771	911	484.75
D	Irrigation in this subdivision (L/house/day)	42	42	39	26	13	6	2	2	3	16	36	42	22.50
Е	Irrigation kL/house/month	1.31	1.18	1.21	0.78	0.40	0.19	0.05	0.05	0.10	0.51	1.07	1.31	8.17
F	Garden Rainfall (kL/house/month)	0.16	0.19	0.18	0.48	1.22	1.84	2.03	1.42	0.97	0.54	0.33	0.11	9.47
G	Roof splash (10% of rain falling on roofs)	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.11	0.27	0.41	0.45	0.32	0.22	0.12	0.07	0.02	2.11
					-	-	-			-				
н	Paving runoff	0.36	0.43	0.39	1.08	2.71	4.11	4.52	3.17	2.16	1.20	0.74	0.24	21.11
T	Total input to gardens	1.86	1.86	1.82	2.45	4.61	6.55	7.05	4.96	3.44	2.36	2.22	1.69	40.86
J	Surface evaporation and interception losses	0.33	0.32	0.32	0.43	0.81	1.15	1.23	0.87	0.60	0.41	0.39	0.30	7.15
к	Total input - surface evap	1.54	1.53	1.50	2.02	3.80	5.41	5.82	4.09	2.84	1.94	1.83	1.39	33.71
L	Potential Evap for area	2.05	1.74	1.51	0.92	0.59	0.43	0.44	0.56	0.76	1.15	1.54	1.90	13.58
М	Total input - potential evap	-0.51	-0.21	-0.01	1.10	3.21	4.98	5.38	3.53	2.08	0.80	0.29	-0.51	20.13
	Therefore infiltration to groundwater					-								
Ν	from gardens(kL/house)	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.10	3.21	4.98	5.38	3.53	2.08	0.80	0.29	0.00	21.38
0	TOTAL GARDEN INFILTRATION FOR R160 LOTS	0	0	0	1559	4543	7039	7597	4985	2942	1126	417	0	30,206
0	Water to soakwells or drains from roof	0	0	0	1555	4545	7055	7557	4505	2342	1120	417	0	30,200
Р	(kL/house/month)	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.9	2.3	3.5	3.9	2.7	1.9	1.0	0.6	0.2	18.09
P1	Wastewater infiltrated on site (kL/house/month)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00
Q	TOTAL SOAKWELL OR DRAIN INFILTRATION FOR R160 LOTS (kL)	431	525	477	1,309	3,288	4,973	5,474	3,838	2,614	1,448	896	295	25,568
R	Total Irrigation Water Use for R160 LOTS (kL)	1,852	1,673	1,710	1,104	569	275	71	71	138	714	1,517	1,852	11,546

Garden Irrigation of 2L per m2 per day (Water Corporation, 2007)

Assumes paving runoff flows to garden rather than drains

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from Commerical areas

Includes both irrigation and rainfall

It is assumed that total commercial consumption is 0.800 kL/m<sup>2</sup>GLA/year (Water Corporation, 2007) Roof area is assumed to be equivalent to GLA. Irrigation for the commercial area is 5% of total consumption (Water Corporation, 2007) Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

Assumes that household irrigation includes non-swale verges, calculated as per assumptions sheet

A Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation B

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
Monthly Rainfall (mm)	14.6	17.7	15.1	42.9	108.7	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.4	10.0	842.7
Monthly Evaporation (mm)	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
Evap-Trans (mm)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
GHD (2005)- gives ratios over an annual basis (ex-house Single)													
H (L/house/day)	911	911	841	561	280	140	35	35	70	351	771	911	484.75
Irrigation in this subdivision (L/day)	36158	36158	33380	22266	11113	5557	1389	1389	2778	13931	30601	36158	19240.00
Irrigation kL/house/month	1120.90	1120.90	1034.77	690.26	344.51	172.26	43.06	43.06	86.13	431.87	948.64	1120.90	7157.28
Garden Rainfall (kL/house/month)	140.45	170.27	145.26	412.70	1045.69	1575.76	1734.49	1215.97	828.28	458.87	282.83	96.20	8106.77
Roof splash (10% of rain falling on roofs)	112.36	136.22	116.21	330.16	836.56	1260.60	1387.59	972.77	662.63	367.10	226.26	76.96	6485.42
A Paving runoff	134.13	162.61	138.73	394.13	998.64	1504.85	1656.43	1161.25	791.01	438.22	270.10	91.87	7741.97
V Total input to gardens	1507.85	1590.01	1434.97	1827.24	3225.40	4513.46	4821.57	3393.06	2368.05	1696.07	1727.84	1385.93	29491.44
D Surface evaporation and interception losses	263.87	278.25	251.12	319.77	564.45	789.86	843.78	593.78	414.41	296.81	302.37	242.54	5161.00
P Total input - surface evap	1243.97	1311.75	1183.85	1507.47	2660.96	3723.61	3977.80	2799.27	1953.64	1399.26	1425.46	1143.39	24330.44
Q Potential Evap for area	1753.53	1489.56	1294.27	787.88	501.01	363.64	375.76	480.13	646.46	981.14	1313.13	1628.28	11614.80
Total input - potential evap	-509.56	-177.81	-110.42	719.60	2159.95	3359.97	3602.04	2319.14	1307.17	418.11	112.33	-484.89	12715.64
Therefore infiltration to groundwater from gardens(kL/house)	0.00	0.00	0.00	719.60	2159.95	3359.97	3602.04	2319.14	1307.17	418.11	112.33	0.00	13998.32
TOTAL GARDEN INFILTRATION FOR COMMERCIAL LOTS	0	0	0	720	2160	3360	3602	2319	1307	418	112	0	13,998
Water to soakwells or drains from roof (kL/house/month)	965.7	1170.8	998.8	2837.7	7190.2	10834.9	11926.3	8361.0	5695.3	3155.2	1944.7	661.5	55742.18
Wastewater infiltrated on site (kL/house/month)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.00
TOTAL SOAKWELL OR DRAIN INFILTRATION FOR COMMERCIAL LOTS													
(kL)	965.7	1,171	999	2,838	7,190	10,835	11,926	8,361	5,695	3,155	1,945	661	55,742
Total Irrigation Water Use for Commercial Lots (kL)	1120.9	1,121	1,035	690	345	172	43	43	86	432	949	1,121	7,157

#### Total Recharge to groundwater from Irrigated POS

Includes both irrigation and rainfall Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation Assume that 30% is shrubs, rest is irrigated lawn

		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	Мау	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
А	Monthly Rainfall	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
В	Monthly Evaporation	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
с	Evapotranspiration (assume 70% of Evaporation)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
	Irrigating at ET rate for Grass as per DoE/SRT													
D	2004 (kL/ha/d) when evap exceeds rainfall	58.80	55.30	43.40	27.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	32.90	45.50	54.60	317.8
Е	Shrub Irrig (kL/d/ha) from GHD (2005)	34	33	21	9	0	0	0	0	0	9	15	31	152
	Average volume per ha assuming 30% shrubs (kl/d/ha)	51.36	48.61	36.68	21.81	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	25.73	36.35	47.52	268.06
F	Average volume per ha assuming 30% shrubs (kl/month/ha)	1592.16	1361.08	1137.08	654.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	797.63	1090.50	1473.12	8105.87
	For Total Irrigated POS													
G	Monthly irrigation (kL/month)	10,859	9,283	7,755	4,462	0	0	0	0	0	5,440	7,437	10,047	55,282
н	Rainfall (kL/month)	968	1,180	1,071	2,939	7,386	11,171	12,296	8,620	5,872	3,253	2,012	662	57,431
Т	Total input (kL/month)	11,827	10,462	8,826	7,402	7,386	11,171	12,296	8,620	5,872	8,693	9,449	10,708	112,713
J	Surface evaporation and interception losses	2,070	1,831	1,544	1,295	1,293	1,955	2,152	1,509	1,028	1,521	1,654	1,874	19,725
К	Total input - surface evap	9,757	8,632	7,281	6,106	6,093	9,216	10,145	7,112	4,844	7,172	7,796	8,834	92,988
L	Evapotranspiration for area	12,431	10,560	9,176	5,586	3,552	2,578	2,664	3,404	4,583	6,956	9,309	11,544	82,342
М	Total input - evapotranspiration	-2,674	-1,929	-1,894	521	2,542	6,638	7,481	3,708	261	216	-1,514	-2,709	10,646
N	Therefore infiltration to groundwater from irrigated POS (kL/month)	0	0	0	521	2,542	6,638	7,481	3,708	261	216	0	0	21,367

Non-irrigated POS

0.00 % of development area Therefore 24.76% of predevelopment recharge 0.00 ML/yr

#### Total Recharge from roads and verges

Assumes no irrigation of these areas Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation

#### Pavement

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
Monthly Rainfall	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
Monthly Evaporation	260	221	192	117	74	54	56	71	96	146	195	242	1724.8
Evap-Trans	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
Rainfall falling on roads (kL)	2,222	2,707	2,456	6,743	16,944	25,627	28,209	19,776	13,471	7,463	4,615	1,518	131,752
Evaporation losses (kL)	100	122	111	303	762	1,153	1,269	890	606	336	208	68	5,929
Runoff from roads (kL)	2,122	2,585	2,346	6,440	16,182	24,474	26,940	18,886	12,865	7,127	4,408	1,449	125,823
Rain falling on drainage structures (kL)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Interception losses (kL)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Evapotranspiration (kL)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total rainfall on roads, minus total losses (kL)	2,122	2,585	2,346	6,440	16,182	24,474	26,940	18,886	12,865	7,127	4,408	1,449	125,823
Therefore water losses from roads (kL/month)	2,122	2,585	2,346	6,440	16,182	24,474	26,940	18,886	12,865	7,127	4,408	1,449	125,823

Includes both irrigation and rainfall Epot=0.7\*Pan Evaporation Assume all verges are lawn Assume all verge is irrigated at POS rates

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
Monthly Rainfall	14.2	17.3	15.7	43.1	108.3	163.8	180.3	126.4	86.1	47.7	29.5	9.7	842.1
Monthly Evaporation	260.4	221.2	192.2	117.0	74.4	54.0	55.8	71.3	96.0	145.7	195.0	241.8	1724.8
Evapotranspiration (assume 70% of Evaporation)	182.3	154.8	134.5	81.9	52.1	37.8	39.1	49.9	67.2	102.0	136.5	169.3	1207.4
Irrigating at ET rate for Grass as per DoE/SRT													
2004 (kL/ha/d) when evap exceeds rainfall	58.80	55.30	43.40	27.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	32.90	45.50	54.60	317.8
Average volume per ha/month	1822.80	1714.30	1345.40	846.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1019.90	1410.50	1692.60	9851.8
For Total Irrigated verge													
Monthly irrigation (kL/month)	11,091	10,430	8,186	5,149	0	0	0	0	0	6,205	8,582	10,298	59,942
Rainfall (kL/month)	864	1,053	955	2,622	6,589	9,966	10,970	7,691	5,239	2,902	1,795	590	51,237
Total input (kL/month)	11,955	11,483	9,141	7,772	6,589	9,966	10,970	7,691	5,239	9,108	10,377	10,889	111,179
Surface evaporation and interception losses	2,092	2,010	1,600	1,360	1,153	1,744	1,920	1,346	917	1,594	1,816	1,906	19,456
Total input - surface evap	9,863	9,474	7,541	6,412	5,436	8,222	9,050	6,345	4,322	7,514	8,561	8,983	91,723
Evapotranspiration for area	11,091	9,421	8,186	4,983	3,169	2,300	2,377	3,037	4,089	6,205	8,305	10,298	73,461
Total input - evapotranspiration	-1,228	52	-644	1,428	2,268	5,922	6,674	3,308	233	1,308	256	-1,315	
Therefore infiltration to groundwater from irrigated POS (kL/month)	0	52	0	1,428	2,268	5,922	6,674	3,308	233	1,308	256	0	21,450

# APPENDIX F SERVICING REPORT





**Shaping the Future** 



# CITY OF COCKBURN DEVELOPMENT AREA NO.19 SERVICING REPORT (VERSION 2)

22 January 2008 Job No. E07007

City of Cockburn



### Cardno BSD Pty Ltd

ABN 77 009 119 000 Cardno BSD Centre 2 Bagot Road Subiaco WA 6008 PO Box 155, Subiaco Western Australia 6904 Australia Telephone: 08 9273 3888 Facsimile: 08 9388 3831 International: +61 8 9273 3888 reception@cardno.com.au www.cardno.com.au

Document	Control				
Version	Data	Author		Reviewer	
Version	Date	Name	Initials	Name	Initials
1	25 June 2007	Wayne Burns	10	Jeremy Cordina	/
2	22 January 2008	Wayne Burns	1115	Wayne Burns	111

"© 2006 Cardno (Qld) Pty Ltd All Rights Reserved. Copyright in the whole and every part of this document belongs to Cardno (Qld) Pty Ltd and may not be used, sold, transferred, copied or reproduced in whole or in part in any manner or form or in or on any media to any person without the prior written consent of Cardno (Qld) Pty Ltd."

Koltasz Smith L:\2007\E07007 - Development Area 19 Structure Plan\Correspondence\03 - Design Records\Reports\E07007-03-Servicing Report(V2)-WB.doc



# **DEVELOPMENT AREA 19 - SERVICING REPORT (VERSION 1)**

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1.	INTR	ODUCTION	. 2
	1.1	Background	.2
	1.2	Site location	.2
	1.3	Site Description	. 2
2.		ER SUPPLY	
	2.1	Servicing Strategy	. 3
	2.2	Cost Implications	. 3
3.		TEWATER	
	3.1	Servicing Strategy	. 4
		3.1.1 Existing Services	.4
		3.1.2 Proposed Connection	. 4
	3.2	Cost Implications	.4
4.	ROAL	DWORKS	. 5
	4.1	Road Upgrades	. 5
		Cost Implications	
5.	STOP	RMWATER	7
5.			
		Cockburn Central & Solomon Road Development Areas – Arterial Drainage Schem	
	State -	Development Area 19 Local Water Management Strategy	
	ALL AND A	Proposed Stormwater Infrastructure	
	Contraction of the second	Cost Implications	
6.	GAS	SUPPLY	. 9
	6.1	Servicing Strategy	9
		6.1.1 Existing Services	9
		6.1.2 Proposed Services	9
	6.2	Cost Implications	9
7.	POW	ER SUPPLY	10
8.	TELE	COMMUNICATIONS	11
	8.1	Servicing Strategy	11



## **APPENDICES**

- APPENDIX A Locality Plan
- Water Corporation Existing Water Supply Mains APPENDIX B
- APPENDIX C Proposed Water Distribution Main
- APPENDIX D Water Corporation Wastewater Planning
- APPENDIX E Proposed Arterial Drainage Scheme
- APPENDIX F **Existing Gas Mains**



### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Servicing Report has been prepared by Cardno BSD for Koltasz Smith, Town Planning Consultants to further the development of the Area 19 District Structure Plan, to be submitted to and approved by the City of Cockburn and Western Australian Planning Commission.

The report identifies the existing service lines associated with various services necessary to the provided for the future development of the land in an urban form.

This report constitutes Version 2 of the report which is a revision of the report which was first prepared and submitted on the 25 June 2007. The revised version provides further information and clarification of details which were unavailable at the time the initial version was produced.



#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background

Koltasz Smith and Associates are currently preparing a District Structure Plan (DSP) for the area depicted as Development Area No.19 under the City of Cockburn's Town Planning Scheme No.3. As part of the preparation of the DSP, details for the future servicing of the site are required. To this end, Cardno BSD have been commissioned by Koltasz Smith on behalf of the City of Cockburn and associated landowners to undertake investigations on the servicing requirements to facilitate the preparation of the DSP and ultimately the lands development. This report represents the findings of these investigations.

#### 1.2 Site location

Development Area 19 is located within the City of Cockburn, approximately 16km south of the Perth Central Business District and 10km south east of Fremantle. The site is bounded by the Kwinana Freeway road reservation to the east, North Lake Road to the south, Semple Court to the west and Verna Court to the north. The established residential suburb of South Lake abuts the site west of Semple Court.

#### 1.3 Site Description

The site is comprised of some 86 properties, with the majority of these being between 5,000m<sup>2</sup> to 2.0ha in area. The properties are largely occupied by semi-rural/residential uses, with dwellings surrounded by paddocks and pockets of existing vegetation and dampland areas scattered throughout.



#### 2. WATER SUPPLY

#### 2.1 Servicing Strategy

Preliminary advice from the Water Corporation has indicated that existing 150mm dia water reticulation mains are located directly south (North Lake Rd) and east (Kentucky Ct) of the site, however these mains have insufficient capacity to service the lot yields which are expected to be generated from the development of the site. In this regard, a 400mm dia steel water distribution main exists approximately 550 metres south of the site, within the Beeliar road reserve, which is large enough to be able to service the site.

The location of these existing Water Mains is indicated on the drawings found under Appendix B.

In order to connect the site to this main, an extension would be required to be made, which would most likely be located within the North Lake road reserve and connect to the site via the Kentucky road reserve, as shown in the drawing found within Appendix C.

#### 2.2 **Cost Implications**

The total cost of extending the 400mm dia water distribution main is estimated to be in the order of \$550,000. This extension will constitute a pre-funded item for which the capital expenditure of constructing the main would be refunded to developers over a timeframe. which would be negotiated with the water Corporation. The cost of providing the extension would not constitute an item under any future cost contributions scheme and would be a cost which the Water Corporation would require initial subdividers/developers within the site to take on.

Standard headworks contributions will be required to be paid by developers on a per lot basis, currently headworks costs for this location are being charged at a rate of \$3,183 per lot.



#### 3. WASTEWATER

#### 3.1 Servicing Strategy

#### 3.1.1 **Existing Services**

The Water Corporation have advised that a 600mm dia sewer main is currently being constructed within the North Lake road reserve, which abuts the mixed use zone that forms the southern boundary of Development Area No.19. Construction of this main is expected to be completed within the second half of 2007 and will provide sufficient capacity to service the sites wastewater disposal requirements.

Furthermore, a 225mm dia sewer main currently extends adjacent to Berrigan Drive, which connects to Semple Court at the sites northwestern corner. Both sewer mains connect back to the Water Corporation's Jandakot Pump Station No.1 located on Barrine Gardens in South Lake.

The Water Corporation's wastewater planning for the region is attached under Appendix C.

#### 3.1.2 **Proposed Connection**

Given the proximity of wastewater mains with sufficient capacity to service the site, connection to the regional reticulated wastewater system would be able to be made by connecting to the existing mains that lie adjacent to the site.

#### 3.2 Cost Implications

Given the above, pre-funded capital connections costs will be able to be maintained to a minimum, however, developers will be required to cover the cost of reticulation systems within land holdings and standard headworks contributions will be required to be paid on a per lot basis.

Headworks costs within this location are currently being charged at a rate of \$1,469 per lot.



### 4. ROADWORKS

### 4.1 Road Upgrades

The road network proposed within the Draft DSP requires the construction and modification of roads, which are considered to provide benefit to the entire development area as opposed to only those new lots abutting them. In this regard, some of the roads proposed are internal within the plan and provide a direct benefit to the land in terms of facilitating for traffic and providing access to future lots. Other roadworks are external from the site and are necessary to facilitate the proposed design.

These roadworks are as follows:-

- The upgrade of Muriel Ct and Kentucky Court to the standard of a Neighbourhood Connector A as described in Liveable Neighbourhoods;
- The upgrade of the southern portion of Semple Court (approx 250m) to the standard of an Integrator B as described in Liveable Neighbourhoods;
- The construction of a realigned northern portion of Semple Court (apprx 850m) to the standard of an Integrator B as described in Liveable Neighbourhoods;
- The realignment and construction of the southern portion of Elderberry Drive, to the standards of the existing road (10m wide pavement);
- The construction of signalised traffic intersections at the junction of Berrigan and Elderberry Drive, Semple Court and North Lake Drive and Kentucky Court and North Lake Drive.
- The upgrade of North Lake Road to a dual carriageway with central median strip and dual use path.

### 4.2 Cost Implications

The table below provides estimated construction costs for the various works described above. In considering the costs provided below it should be noted that the figures provided have been prepared on current construction rates, without the benefit of any initial engineering investigations or detailed design. Accordingly these costs do not account for any required earthworks or road level changes, road drainage costs, the relocation, raising or lowering of existing services or site remediation costs.

Development Area 19 - Regio	onal Roadwo	rks
Item	Total Cost	Difference
Standard Access Road		
Internal Roads		
<u>New Semple Ct (850m)</u> - Constructed to Integraor B standard and includes 2 roundabouts and paved median	\$800,000	\$450,000
Old Semple Ct (250m) - Constructed to Integrator B standard and includes the demolition and removal of the existing road surface	\$230,000	\$135,000
Muriel/Kentucky Ct (1375m) - Constructed to Neighbourhood Connector A standard and includes the demolition and removal of the existing road surface	\$1,200,000	\$680,000

Koltasz Smith

L:\2007\E07007 - Development Area 19 Structure Plan\Correspondence\03 - Design Records\Reports\E07007-03-Servicing Report(V2)-WB.doc

22 January 2008 Page 5



Eldeberry Drive (250m) - Constructed to the stanards of the existing road and includes terminating Culs-de-sac	\$260,000
Berrigan Drive Intersection - Traffic signal controlled intersection, including civil works and traffic management during construction	\$480,000
Semple Ct Intersection - Traffic signal controlled intersection, including civil works and traffic management during construction	\$430,000
Kentucky Ct Intersection - Traffic signal controlled intersection, including civil works and traffic management during construction	\$430,000
Modifications to Semple Ct - Includes the demolition and removal of existing pavement and kerbing and installation of new pavement and kerbing.	\$65,000

Costs for internal roads indicate not only the final estimated total for construction of the road but also the difference in cost due to the roads regional function. In this regard items such as the additional pavement area, kerbing and median strip paving requirements constitute the difference in cost in comparison to if the road was constructed to an access road standard. In considering these items for any cost contribution scheme, it is there fore reasonable that the refund to affected landowners comprise this difference only rather than any contributions scheme being utilised to fully fund the cost of roads.

With respect to external roadworks, no land within the development area benefits directly from these works but rather there is an overall benefit to the development area in facilitating the proposed design, accordingly it is considered that any cost contributions scheme covering these items should apportion the cost of works out amongst units on a pro-rata basis.

Further to the above, it should be noted that with respect to the upgrade works to North Lake Road, units created from within the development area are considered to represent only a portion of users benefiting from its upgrade and therefore any contributions towards improvements to this road, should be relative to the percentage patronage of the road resulting from the development of the site.



#### 5. STORMWATER

#### Cockburn Central & Solomon Road Development Areas -5.1 Arterial Drainage Scheme Review

Prior to the preparation of the Development Area 19 District Structure Plan commencing, the City of Cockburn commissioned David Wills and Associates (DWA), to undertake a study of the subject site and surrounding lands titled the Cockburn Central & Solomon Road Development Areas - Arterial Drainage Scheme Review (ADSR), to assist in resolving technical issues associated with the provision of an integrated stormwater drainage system, to facilitate the anticipated future development of the site and surrounding areas.

The study separates its study area into 8 'sub-catchment areas' of which the subject site comprises areas 4, 5 and 6 as shown in Appendix 4 attached. The study proposes a strategy 'to formalise the drainage flow paths into Lake Yangebup, whilst maximising infiltration and implementing sound water resource management principles to assist in improving water quality discharging to Lake Yangebup.'

The study also recommends a suitable groundwater control level be adopted which can be maintained by way of groundwater control basins or subsoil drainage which then flow to Yangebup Lake.

#### **Development Area 19 Local Water Management Strategy** 5.2

The Local Water Management Strategy (LWMS) was prepared by Cardno BSD to develop a strategy for stormwater management that closely follows the principals of the DWA Arterial Drainage Scheme Review, relevant to the District Structure Plan proposed.

Sub-catchment areas provided in the ADSR report were altered only slightly for the LWMS to suit the proposed District Structure Plan for Development Area 19. Based upon the altered catchment areas and proposed zoning of the District Structure Plan, approximate volumes of runoff were determined for each catchment area to provide a better understanding of the likely best method of stormwater management.

As design levels are yet to be determined for Development Area 19, a detailed strategy was not provided. However, available options and recommended recommendations for stormwater management were provided.

#### 5.3 **Proposed Stormwater Infrastructure**

Stormwater infrastructure for the development on a regional scale would require:-

- The upgrading of both the existing Semple Court and North Lake Road open drain to a landscaped channel;
- The extension of the existing 450mm diameter pipe under Berrigan Drive to 0 connect Development Area 19 up to 'Lakelands', groundwater collection and compensating basins/swales;
- A subsoil drainage network required to assist in setting the regional groundwater 0 control level; and
- Outlet pipes within basins in POS to discharge to the regional network. 0

Koltasz Smith L:\2007\E07007 - Development Area 19 Structure Plan\Correspondence\03 - Design Records\Reports\E07007-03-Servicing Report(V2)-WB.doc



#### 5.4 **Cost Implications**

The table below provides estimated construction costs for the various stormwater treatment works described above. In considering the costs provided below it should be noted that the figures provided have been prepared on current construction rates, without the benefit of any initial engineering investigations or detailed design. Accordingly these costs do not account for any required earthworks, fill or level changes, road drainage costs, the relocation, raising or lowering of existing services or site remediation costs.

Development Area 19 - Regional Stormwater	r Works
Item	Total Cost
External Infrastructure	
New Semple Ct Open Drain (3000sq.m) - Constructed to North Lake Road Open Drain with Landscaping and Landscaping Features	\$150,000
North Lake Road Landscaped Channel (20000sq.m) - Constructed from Kentucky Ct to Lake Yangebup with Landscaping and Landscaping Features	\$1,000,000
Berrigan Drive Pipeline Extension (350m) - Constructed from site to Berrigan Dr with associated connections and road crossings	\$110,000
Internal Infrastructure	
<u>Groundwater Collection and Compensating Basins</u> (6000sq.m) - Constructed within POS to included some landscaping	\$72,000
Basin Discharge Pipework (1850m) - 300mmdia pipeline from basins to regional network, including trenching	\$140,000
Subsoil Drainage (2050m) - Subsoil drainge to control groundwater level throughout major roads and POS where no Groundwater Collection Basin	\$175,000

With respect to the above stormwater drainage costs, all lots within the development area are considered to benefit equally from the completion of these works and accordingly it is considered that any cost contributions scheme covering these items should apportion the cost of works out amongst units on a pro-rata basis



#### 6. GAS SUPPLY

#### 6.1 Servicing Strategy

#### 6.1.1 **Existing Services**

The drawing provided under Appendix 5 indicates the location of current gas mains existing within the land and surrounding area. In this regard, the red lines depict high pressure gas transmission lines, which are accessible to the site from its southern (North Lake Rd) and eastern (Kentucky Ct) boundaries. The green lines depict medium pressure gas transmission lines, which traverse the site within the Muriel Court road reserve and are also accessible to the site from its western (Semple Court) and northern (Verna Ct) boundaries.

#### 6.1.2 **Proposed Services**

Whilst gas services will be able to be connected to the site via the existing service lines detailed above, Alinta has advised that it is difficult to determine if the existing infrastructure has the capacity to service the area without any knowledge of timing or staging of the development, however it is likely that some reinforcement of the existing network will be required if the entire site was to be developed in the near future.

#### 6.2 **Cost Implications**

Any reinforcement of the existing service network would require capital contributions from developers, however, given that the need or extent of any upgrades is at this stage unknown, the costs of strengthening the service are unable to be determined.



#### POWER SUPPLY 7.

Based on the Current Western Power network within the area, servicing the sites power requirements will involve the following:

Existing Transmission Towers of 330kV and 132kV remain in a corridor to the south of the subdivision, which will not impact on the lots facing North Lake Rd, the easement, however will have a visual impact on the Mixed Use Business lots, unless North Lake Rd is realigned in which case new easement requirements may apply.

A high Voltage 22kV cable is currently installed on the north side of North Lake Rd, which appears to be a dedicated feeder from APM Zone Substation, and may not be available for supply to this area.

Other High Voltage aerials exist around the proposed area, which would indicate that some small stage development could occur without significant infrastructure being needed prior to any residential lots being released.

However, in order for the total area to be completed and based on the R codes supplied, a new High Voltage feeder would be required from APM Zone substation to supply the total demand. The funding for this would be on a full cost basis and implemented on the current Western Power Economic System Pool, where the Developer pays a per kVA system charge on the residential lots which in turn allows Western Power to credit the high voltage costs back to the Developer via the HV system pool.

At present commercial and industrial lots are not included in the System Pool, so are at full cost to the Developer unless they are included with a residential stage and the residential load is greater than the commercial load.

With this in mind it would be expected to start initial development in the residential area.

Current costs per lot for materials for residential lots are in the order of \$4,200 per lot. Costs for commercial lots are in the order of \$10-12k per lot.



#### 8. **TELECOMMUNICATIONS**

#### 8.1 Servicing Strategy

Telstra have provided advice indicating that they could provide telecommunications services to dwellings within the development, which includes the following: -

- Up to 4 telephone services to each dwelling;
- High speed internet service 10 & 20Mbps (scaleable up to 100Mpbs);
- Foxtel digital subscription TV service;
- Digital free to air television service (providing a desirable 'clean roof' development); and
- o Next G (3G) mobile coverage.

Telstra have indicated the cost for connection of the above services would be at \$3,150 per dwelling, which is a cost, which would be taken on by developers at construction. No regional connection costs would apply at a district structure planning level.

# **APPENDIX A**

Locality Plan



# Water Corporation Existing Water Supply Mains



TAC. GN - - E. TINL WR -? K. ........



atten iken 2 - purstime such wante

# **APPENDIX C**

**Proposed Water Distribution Main** 



## **APPENDIX D**

# Water Corporation Wastewater Planning



ATTACHMENT 3 -PROPOSED SEWER MAINE & LOCATION OF SANDAKOT PUMP STATION (PS) No.1 CATCHMENT ALAOTO DES SEWER DESUGN FLOW 4 SLAS 44008 CATCHMENT 170 . 036 SEWER DESLEN FLOW 6 4L75

# **APPENDIX E**

**Proposed Arterial Drainage Scheme** 





### LEGEND:

۲

STUDY AREA BOUNDARY SUBCATCHMENT AREAS DRAINAGE PIPELINES PROPOSED LIMIT OF SUBSOIL INSTALLATION WITHIN 300m OF AREA 2 INFILTRATION BASIN POSSIBLE P.O.S. BOUNDARY EXISTING OPEN DRAIN

HIGH VOLTAGE POWER PYLONS

POSSIBLE GROUNDWATER CONTROL BASIN LOCATION

POSSIBLE INFILTRATION BASIN

### NOTE:

AREAS, FLOWS AND STORAGE ARE SUBJECT TO REFINEMENT OF THE STRUCTURE PLANNING AND LAND USE AND CAN BE CHANGED AS REQUIRED.

8	WILH	Raised for	and and a set of the second		
A	17.13.04	Revied for	Information		
KEY	DATE		NESCRIPTION	-	
GRD-	LOCA	AL	DATUR	AHD	
	ulting En	and As gineers	sociates 2	STICH WA	dass dasda da dass da dass da dass
Loc	kburn (		Drainage		
Pre	s line	Arterial	Drainage		
SCALE	-16111		ORIGIN	AL	A1
OLSION D W		DATE 21.11.84	Arpeneija	84	16
DRAIDTS		DATE 23.11.14	banie wille All RUNA Graden	NE ME ANI	(Plug
PE	ANY IN TH	DAVE WELS	ART WITHOUT TH	E WAITTE	
)es 90	030	80	DWG M	a	

## **APPENDIX F**

**Existing Gas Mains** 



# APPENDIX G CALCULATION OF AAMGL



#### Bore 3157

6/06/1975	mAHD 21.940	Years Max
11/07/1975 13/08/1975	22.110 22.710	
B/09/1975	22.710	
14/10/1975	22.710	
12/11/1975	22.620	22.79
15/03/1976	22.040	
23/04/1976	21.790	
13/05/1976	21.730 21.730	
14/07/1976	21.700	
21/09/1976	22.240	22.24
7/09/1981	22.490	
21/10/1981	22.470	22.47
19/03/1985	21.890	
19/03/1985 9/04/1985	21.890 21.860	
9/04/1985	21.860	
16/07/1985	22.060	
12/08/1985	22.350	
9/09/1985	22.520	
14/10/1985 13/11/1985	22.510 22.400	
13/11/1985	22.400	22.52
30/01/1986	22.010	22.02
19/02/1986	21.900	
18/03/1986	21.830	
10/04/1986	21.900	
12/05/1986	21.630	
16/06/1986	21.730 22.090	
13/08/1986	22.630	
16/09/1986	22.850	
22/10/1986	22.750	
18/11/1986	22.630	
18/12/1986	22.450	22.85
28/01/1987	22.200 22.030	
16/03/1987	21.930	
13/04/1987	21.850	
13/05/1987	21.900	
10/06/1987	21.930	
15/07/1987	22.270	
13/08/1987 7/09/1987	22.680 22.730	
19/10/1987	22.680	
12/11/1987	22.590	
14/12/1987	22.450	22.73
28/01/1988	22.230	
25/02/1988	22.020	
14/03/1988 27/04/1988	21.920 21.755	
27/04/1988	21.755 21.870	
13/06/1988	22.140	
22/07/1988	22.590	
18/08/1988	22.960	
14/09/1988	22.900	
26/10/1988 22/11/1988	22.860 22.795	
22/11/1988	22.795	22.96
17/01/1989	22.440	22.90
10/02/1989	22.290	
27/02/1989	22.250	
23/03/1989	22.070	
19/04/1989	21.950	
20/04/1989 20/04/1989	21.940 21.940	
20/04/1989	21.940	
29/05/1989	21.990	
30/06/1989	22.030	
	22.140	
24/07/1989	22.590	
29/08/1989		
29/08/1989 22/09/1989	22.660	
29/08/1989		22.66
29/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989	22.660 22.630	22.66
29/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989	22.660 22.630 22.450	22.66
29/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 4/01/1990 23/01/1990 15/02/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 22.090	22.66
29/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 4/01/1990 23/01/1990 15/02/1990 12/03/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 22.090 21.980	22.66
29/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 23/01/1990 23/01/1990 15/02/1990 12/03/1990 3/04/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 22.090 21.980 21.890	22.66
29/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 23/01/1990 23/01/1990 15/02/1990 12/03/1990 3/04/1990 10/05/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 22.090 21.980 21.890 21.870	22.66
29/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 23/01/1990 23/01/1990 15/02/1990 12/03/1990 3/04/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 22.090 21.980 21.890	22.66
22)08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 27/11/1989 23/01/1990 23/01/1990 15/02/1990 12/03/1990 9/04/1990 10/05/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 22.090 21.980 21.890 21.870 21.840	22.66
229/08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 27/11/1989 23/01/1990 23/01/1990 15/02/1990 10/05/1990 9/06/1990 9/06/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 22.090 21.980 21.890 21.870 21.840 21.910	22.66
22)08/1989 22/09/1989 19/10/1989 27/11/1989 27/11/1989 23/01/1990 15/02/1990 15/02/1990 12/03/1990 10/05/1990 10/05/1990 9/06/1990 9/06/1990	22.660 22.630 22.450 22.310 22.230 21.980 21.890 21.870 21.870 21.840 21.910 22.210	22.66

Date 4/01/1991	mAHD 21.970	Years Max
14/02/1991	21.740	
11/03/1991	21.630	
3/04/1991 21/05/1991	21.500 21.430	
12/06/1991	21.430	
11/07/1991	22.060	
5/08/1991	22.410	
16/09/1991	22.620	
7/10/1991	22.640	
12/11/1991	22.520 22.460	00.04
9/12/1991 7/01/1992	22.460	22.64
6/02/1992	22.340	
9/03/1992	22.500	
1/04/1992	22.460	
19/05/1992	22.310	
10/06/1992	22.300	
13/07/1992 12/08/1992	22.650 22.800	
3/09/1992	22.800	
10/09/1992	22.960	
7/10/1992	22.940	
9/11/1992	22.790	
2/12/1992	22.730	22.96
7/01/1993	22.600	
3/02/1993 4/03/1993	22.440 22.270	
2/04/1993	22.270	
4/05/1993	22.010	
3/06/1993	22.020	
7/07/1993	22.150	
10/08/1993	22.360	
6/09/1993 12/10/1993	22.550 22.690	
4/11/1993	22.590	
6/12/1993	22.480	22.69
7/01/1994	22.310	
4/02/1994	22.150	
4/03/1994	22.030	
7/04/1994 4/05/1994	21.820 21.680	
7/06/1994	21.810	
5/07/1994	22.170	
9/08/1994	22.710	
8/09/1994	22.800	
7/10/1994	22.740	
7/11/1994 5/12/1994	22.620 22.560	00.0
6/01/1995	22.340	22.8
6/02/1995	22.110	
28/02/1995	21.980	
3/04/1995	21.790	
5/05/1995	21.640	
12/06/1995	21.840	
5/07/1995 8/08/1995	21.910 22.390	
8/09/1995	22.590	
5/10/1995	22.540	
13/11/1995	22.570	22.59
9/01/1996	22.340	
13/02/1996	22.080	
7/03/1996 4/04/1996	21.960 21.800	
13/05/1996	21.630	
11/06/1996	21.550	
2/07/1996	21.880	
9/08/1996	22.400	
12/09/1996	22.590	
3/10/1996 7/11/1996	22.710 22.630	
3/12/1996	22.630	22.71
3/01/1997	22.340	22.11
5/02/1997	22.160	
4/03/1997	22.000	
2/04/1997	21.900	
13/05/1997	21.710	
4/06/1997	21.830	
1/07/1997 5/08/1997	21.900 22.010	
2/09/1997	22.010	
1/10/1997	22.380	
4/11/1997	22.280	
1/12/1997	22.160	22.38

Date	mAHD	Years Max
6/01/1998	21.970	
2/02/1998 4/03/1998	21.820 21.650	
31/03/1998	21.590	
4/05/1998	21.460	
3/06/1998	21.450	
1/07/1998 5/08/1998	21.650 21.820	
2/09/1998	22.050	
1/10/1998	22.230	
27/10/1998	22.220	
26/11/1998 6/01/1999	22.100 21.910	22.23
3/02/1999	21.910	
4/03/1999	21.650	
8/04/1999	21.490	
4/05/1999	21.390	
4/06/1999 30/06/1999	21.450 21.610	
23/07/1999	21.820	
7/09/1999	22.160	
5/10/1999	22.390	
29/10/1999	22.480	
3/12/1999 6/01/2000	22.340 22.160	22.48
1/02/2000	22.100	
29/02/2000	22.060	
30/03/2000	21.920	
1/05/2000	21.850	
1/06/2000 4/07/2000	21.800 22.180	
1/08/2000	22.180	
31/08/2000	22.770	
29/09/2000	22.720	
1/11/2000	22.600	
6/12/2000 3/01/2001	22.450 22.310	22.77
31/01/2001	22.310	
7/03/2001	21.940	
30/03/2001	21.810	
30/04/2001	21.670	
31/05/2001 27/06/2001	21.770 21.820	
27/08/2001	21.820	
29/08/2001	22.470	
14/09/2001	22.570	
28/09/2001	22.610	
17/10/2001 26/10/2001	22.610 22.660	
4/12/2001	22.480	22.66
3/01/2002	22.320	22.00
31/01/2002	22.170	
27/02/2002	22.000	
3/04/2002 24/04/2002	21.800 21.840	
29/05/2002	21.040	
27/06/2002	22.010	
25/07/2002	22.300	
22/08/2002	22.410	
26/09/2002 29/10/2002	22.500 22.380	
4/12/2002	22.670	
31/12/2002	22.120	22.5
30/01/2003	21.910	
26/02/2003 26/03/2003	21.780 21.630	
1/05/2003	21.630	
28/05/2003	21.640	
25/06/2003	21.710	
30/07/2003	22.310	
27/08/2003 1/10/2003	22.630 22.720	
30/10/2003	22.720	
28/11/2003	22.480	22.72
6/01/2004	22.280	
29/01/2004	22.140	
26/02/2004 25/03/2004	21.980 21.820	
23/03/2004	21.820	
21/05/2004	21.720	
30/06/2004	21.910	
29/07/2004	22.080	
31/08/2004 28/09/2004	22.430 22.460	
26/10/2004	22.400	
23/11/2004	22.320	
21/12/2004	22.220	22.46

19/04/2005         21.690           17/05/2005         21.250           14/06/2005         22.420           26/07/2005         22.850           23/08/2005         22.890           29/09/2005         22.890           20/07/2006         22.890           20/07/2006         22.800           20/07/2006         22.800           20/07/2006         22.410           20/07/2006         22.100           20/07/2006         22.100           20/07/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         21.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/10/2007         21.130           11/05/2007         21.400           12/01/2007         21.400           13/09/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.700           13/09/2007         22.300           7/01/2008         22.300	25/01/2005	mAHD	Years Max
22/03/2005         21.750           19/04/2005         21.750           19/04/2005         21.680           17/05/2005         21.250           14/06/2005         22.450           23/08/2005         22.930           28/09/2005         22.850           23/08/2005         22.980           20/09/2005         22.980           20/07/2005         22.660           30/01/2006         22.100           27/04/2006         22.100           28/06/2006         21.970           28/09/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           11/07/2007         21.670           18/12/2007         21.500           11/07/2007         21.670           11/06/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
19/04/2005         21.690           17/05/2005         21.250           14/06/2005         22.420           26/07/2005         22.850           23/08/2005         22.890           29/09/2005         22.890           20/07/2006         22.890           20/07/2006         22.800           20/07/2006         22.800           20/07/2006         22.410           20/07/2006         22.100           20/07/2006         22.100           20/07/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         21.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/10/2007         21.130           11/05/2007         21.400           12/01/2007         21.400           13/09/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.700           13/09/2007         22.300           7/01/2008         22.300			
17/05/2005         21.250           14/06/2005         22.420           26/07/2005         22.850           23/08/2005         22.980           23/08/2005         22.980           23/08/2005         22.980           23/08/2005         22.980           23/07/2005         22.980           20/07/2005         22.980           20/07/2006         22.410           21/12/2005         22.600           22/02/2006         22.410           28/06/2006         21.970           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2007         21.810           11/07/2007         21.610           11/05/2007         22.300           20/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300			
14/06/2005         22.420           26/07/2005         22.850           23/08/2005         22.930           29/09/2005         22.930           29/09/2005         22.890           30/11/2005         22.680           30/11/2005         22.680           30/11/2005         22.680           30/01/2006         22.210           22/02/2006         22.410           22/02/2006         22.100           28/06/2006         21.370           28/06/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2007         21.810           14/02/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         22.320           20/12/2007         22.320           20/12/2007         22.320           20/12/2007         22.320           11/05/2007         22.320           20/12/2007         22.320           20/12/2008         21.820           7/02/2008         21.820 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
26/07/2005         22.850           23/08/2005         22.930           29/09/2005         22.930           29/09/2005         22.980           26/10/2005         22.890           20/11/2005         22.660           30/01/2006         22.510           27/04/2006         22.160           27/04/2006         22.100           27/04/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2007         21.610           18/12/2007         21.500           11/07/2007         21.610           11/07/2007         21.610           11/07/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2008         21.920           10/02/007         22.300           7/01/2008         21.800           10/03/2008         21.800           10/03/2008         21.800           10/03/2008         22.800			
23/08/2005         22.830           23/08/2005         22.830           28/09/2005         22.880           26/10/2005         22.890           30/11/2005         22.660           30/11/2006         22.510           22/02/2006         22.410           29/03/2006         22.210           27/04/2006         22.040           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2007         21.610           14/02/2007         21.500           11/07/2007         21.610           11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.800           11/07/2007         22.360           5/05/2008         21.800           14/08/2008         22.730           30/9/2008         22.660		-	
29/09/2005         22.980           28/10/2005         22.880           30/11/2005         22.890           30/11/2005         22.600           21/12/2005         22.610           22/02/2006         22.110           27/04/2006         22.100           27/04/2006         22.100           28/06/2006         21.170           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.000           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.000           28/07/2006         22.000           28/07/2006         22.000           28/07/2007         21.1500           11/07/2007         21.1500           11/05/2007         22.310           5/07/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.820           7/02/008         21.1500           11/05/2007         22.300           5/02/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.820           7/02/208         21.750           5/06/2008         21.750			
26/10/2005         22.890           30/11/2005         22.760           21/12/2005         22.660           30/01/2006         22.510           22/02/2006         22.410           29/03/2006         22.210           27/04/2006         22.410           28/05/2006         22.300           28/05/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/07/2007         21.310           11/05/2007         21.440           12/06/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/01/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.800			
30/11/2005         22.760           21/1/2005         22.660           21/1/2005         22.660           22/02/2006         22.410           22/02/2006         22.410           22/02/2006         22.210           22/02/2006         22.210           22/02/2006         22.210           22/02/2006         22.210           28/05/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.300           28/10/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         21.380           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
21/12/2005         22.660         22.98           21/12/2006         22.510         22.98           30/01/2006         22.510         22.98           20/02/2006         22.410         29/03/2006         22.160           29/03/2006         22.210         22.160         28/05/2006         22.160           28/05/2006         22.300         28/05/2006         22.300         22.300           28/05/2006         22.300         22.300         22.300         22.320           28/05/2006         22.300         22.300         22.300         22.320           28/05/2006         22.300         22.300         22.32         22.32           18/12/2006         22.300         22.300         22.301           18/02/2007         21.610         14/02/2007         21.610           11/05/2007         22.300         22.300         22.390           11/07/2007         22.300         22.300         22.390           11/07/2007         22.300         22.300         22.390           10/02/2007         22.300         22.300         22.390           10/02/2007         22.300         22.300         22.390           10/02/2008         21.800         30.99/20			
30/01/2006         22.510           22/02/2006         22.410           29/03/2006         22.210           27/04/2006         22.160           28/05/2006         22.040           28/05/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/06/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.010           12/01/2007         21.610           14/02/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.300           29/08/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           5/10/2008         21.820           7/02/2008         21.820           7/02/2008         22.680           14/08/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680			
22/02/2006         22.410           29/03/2006         22.410           29/03/2006         22.210           27/04/2006         22.100           26/05/2006         22.100           26/05/2006         22.000           28/06/2006         22.320           28/06/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2007         21.500           11/07/2007         21.610           15/03/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.600           11/05/2007         22.310           5/12/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.820           9/01/2008         21.820           9/01/2008         21.820           10/02/2008         22.180           11/07/2008         22.680           11/11/1/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         21.810 <td></td> <td></td> <td>22.98</td>			22.98
29/03/2006         22.210           27/04/2006         22.160           28/05/2006         22.040           28/06/2006         21.970           28/07/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.300           28/11/2006         22.010           29/11/2006         22.010           12/01/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.500           15/03/2007         21.440           12/06/2007         22.320           7/11/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           10/1/2008         22.680           11/01/2008         22.680           11/01/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680     <			
22.100         22.160           22104/2006         22.160           28/05/2006         22.1970           28/07/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.320           28/07/2006         22.300           28/11/2006         22.300           28/11/2006         22.010           18/12/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         22.300           7/01/2008         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2008         21.920           9/01/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.920           10/03/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.680           11/01/2008         22.680           11/01/2008         22.680           11/1/1/2008         22.680           11/1/1/2008         22.680			
26/05/2006         22.040           28/05/2006         21.970           26/07/2006         22.520           29/08/2006         22.300           29/08/2006         22.300           28/07/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.300           28/11/2006         22.000           18/12/2006         22.000           18/12/2007         21.1750           15/03/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.400           12/06/2007         21.300           11/07/2007         21.610           18/02/2007         22.300           7/02/2007         22.300           11/05/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.820           5/05/2008         21.820           20/7/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.660           11/1/12/008         22.660           12/02/2009         22.800           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810		22.210	
28/06/2006         21.970           28/06/2006         21.970           26/07/2006         22.520           29/08/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.210           29/08/2006         22.210           29/07/2006         22.210           29/11/2006         22.010           12/01/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.600           11/05/2007         21.610           11/05/2007         22.310           5/12/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           9/01/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.920           10/06/2008         21.920           20/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810		22.160	
26/07/2006         22.520           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.080           18/12/2006         22.010           12/01/2007         21.500           15/03/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.310           5/10/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.820           13/09/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.820           10/02/2008         21.820           10/03/2008         21.820           10/03/2008         22.180           14/04/2008         22.800           12/07/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.480           12/02/2009         21.810           9/04/2008         22.610           14/05/2009         21.810	26/05/2006	22.040	
29/08/2006         22.320           28/09/2006         22.300           28/09/2006         22.300           26/10/2006         22.300           29/11/2006         22.010           12/01/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.750           15/03/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.920           7/02/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.610           11/11/2008         22.680           9/12/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810	28/06/2006	21.970	
28/09/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.300           28/10/2006         22.210           29/11/2006         22.000           18/12/2006         22.010           18/12/2007         21.1910           14/02/2007         21.1910           14/02/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/01/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.920           9/01/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.680           11/01/2008         22.680           11/01/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810	26/07/2006		
26/10/2006         22.210           28/10/2006         22.210           29/11/2006         22.080           18/12/2006         22.010           12/01/2007         21.910           12/01/2007         21.750           15/03/2007         21.610           16/02/2007         21.300           11/05/2007         21.610           12/06/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.380           5/10/2007         22.380           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.830           11/0/1/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           9/01/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         21.810           9/04/2008         21.810           9/04/2008         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810	29/08/2006	22.320	
29/11/2006         22.080           18/12/2006         22.010           12/01/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.610           11/05/2007         21.610           11/05/2007         21.610           11/07/2007         21.610           13/09/2007         22.010           13/09/2007         22.010           13/09/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.820           16/10/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.180           10/1/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           10/12/009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.800           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         22.680	28/09/2006		
18/12/2006         22.010           18/12/2007         21.910           12/01/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.750           15/03/2007         21.610           15/03/2007         21.500           15/03/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.610           18/04/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         22.310           5/02/2007         22.300           5/12/2007         22.300           5/12/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.820           19/03/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.820           10/06/2008         22.800           12/07/2008         22.680           12/07/2008         22.680           12/07/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         22.450     <	26/10/2006	22.210	
12/01/2007         21.910           12/01/2007         21.910           14/02/2007         21.750           15/03/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.500           15/03/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.380           11/05/2007         21.440           12/06/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.380           7/11/2007         22.380           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.820           19/03/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           11/1/1/2008         22.680           11/1/1/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810	29/11/2006	22.080	
14/02/2007         21.750           15/03/2007         21.610           15/03/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.300           11/05/2007         21.300           11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.300           5/11/2007         22.300           5/12/2007         22.300           5/12/2007         22.300           5/10/2008         21.760           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           9/11/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           9/12/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810      <	18/12/2006	22.010	22.32
15/03/2007         21.610           15/03/2007         21.610           16/04/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.400           12/06/2007         21.870           8/08/2007         22.010           13/09/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.300           5/10/2007         22.300           5/12/2007         22.300           5/10/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.820           19/03/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.820           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810	12/01/2007	21.910	
11/07/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.500           11/05/2007         21.440           12/06/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.310           5/10/2007         22.310           5/12/2007         22.320           9/01/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.920           207/12/08         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           19/12/2008         22.610           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         21.820           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580 <td>14/02/2007</td> <td>21.750</td> <td></td>	14/02/2007	21.750	
11/105/2007         21.440           12/06/2007         21.380           11/107/2007         21.380           11/107/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.010           3/09/2007         22.310           5/10/2007         22.330           7/11/2007         22.360           5/12/2007         22.320           9/01/2008         21.820           7/02/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           12/07/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.690           8/01/2009         22.580 <td>15/03/2007</td> <td>21.610</td> <td></td>	15/03/2007	21.610	
12/06/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.310           5/09/2007         22.380           7/11/2007         22.380           7/11/2007         22.380           7/11/2007         22.380           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.820           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         21.810           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580	16/04/2007	21.500	
12/06/2007         21.380           11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.010           13/09/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/11/2007         22.300           7/02/2008         21.920           8/04/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           12/07/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         21.810           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580           14/05/2009         22.580      <	11/05/2007	21.440	
11/07/2007         21.670           8/08/2007         22.010           13/09/2007         22.310           5/10/2007         22.380           7/11/2007         22.380           5/12/2007         22.3230           9/01/2008         22.080           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.730           3/09/2008         22.680           14/08/2008         22.680           9/11/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.610           14/05/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.590      <	12/06/2007		
13/09/2007         22.310           5/10/2007         22.390           5/11/2007         22.390           5/12/2007         22.390           7/11/2007         22.390           7/01/2008         22.080           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           17/11/2008         22.680           19/02/2008         22.610           14/05/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.820           11/10/2009         22.800           12/03/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.650           8/09/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580 <td>11/07/2007</td> <td></td> <td></td>	11/07/2007		
13/09/2007         22.310           5/10/2007         22.390           5/11/2007         22.390           5/12/2007         22.390           7/11/2007         22.390           7/01/2008         22.080           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           17/11/2008         22.680           19/02/2008         22.610           14/05/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.820           11/10/2009         22.800           12/03/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.650           8/09/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580 <td></td> <td>22.010</td> <td></td>		22.010	
5/10/2007         22.390           7/11/2007         22.360           5/12/2007         22.300           9/01/2008         22.080           7/02/2008         21.920           9/01/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           10/1/1/2008         22.680           10/1/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           10/2/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.140           14/05/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580           8/10/2009         22.580           8/10/2009         22.580 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>			
7/11/2007         22.360           5/12/2007         22.330           22.39         22.39           9/01/2008         22.080           7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.820           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.140           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580           8/10/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580			
5/12/2007         22.230         22.39           9/01/2008         22.080         7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.920         19/03/2008         21.750           19/03/2008         21.750         5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.750         5/06/2008         21.820           2/07/2008         22.680         14/08/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680         11/11/2008         22.280           12/02/2009         22.280         22.73         14/06/2009           12/03/2009         21.810         21.810         21.810           9/04/2009         21.820         11/06/2009         21.820           14/06/2009         21.810         9/04/2009         21.820           9/04/2009         21.820         11/06/2009         22.140           9/07/2009         22.100         14/08/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.580         8/09/2009         22.580           8/10/02009         22.580         22.580         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580         22.720         22.720			
9/01/2008         22.080           7/02/2008         21.920           18/03/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           9/12/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.880           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.450			22.20
7/02/2008         21.920           19/03/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.800           16/10/2008         22.600           11/11/2008         22.610           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.630           9/10/2009         22.630           8/09/2009         22.630           8/09/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580			22.35
19/03/2008         21.760           8/04/2008         21.830           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.610           11/11/2008         22.610           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/04/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.600           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.580           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490			
8/04/2008         21.830           8/04/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.750           5/06/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           11/11/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/03/2009         21.800           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.690           8/09/2009         22.580           8/10/2009         22.580           3/11/2/2009         22.580			
5/05/2008         21.750           5/05/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           11/11/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           12/02/2009         22.280           12/03/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.820           14/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.180           14/08/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.580           8/10/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.450			
5/06/2008         21.920           2/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.610           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.580           4/10/2009         22.580           8/09/2009         22.580           8/10/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580			
2/07/2008         22.180           14/08/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.610           11/01/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.580           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490           22.72			
14/08/2008         22.730           3/09/2008         22.680           16/10/2008         22.660           11/11/2008         22.660           11/11/2008         22.610           22.73         22.73           14/01/2009         22.610           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         21.990           14/05/2009         21.820           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580			
3/09/2008         22.680           16//0/2008         22.660           11/11/2008         22.660           9/12/2008         22.610           12/11/2008         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.280           12/03/2009         21.990           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/05/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580			
16/10/2008         22.660           11/1/2008         22.680           9/12/2008         22.610           12/02/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.190           12/02/2009         21.920           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.580			
11/11/2008         22.880           9/12/2008         22.610           9/12/2009         22.450           14/01/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/03/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.820           9/07/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490           22.72         22.72			
9/12/2008         22.610         22.73           14/01/2009         22.450         12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.280         22.73           12/03/2009         22.280         21.810           9/04/2009         21.820         10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100         14/05/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.680         8/09/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580         3/12/2009         22.490			
14/01/2009         22.450           12/02/2009         22.280           12/02/2009         22.280           12/03/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.990           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490           22.72			
12/02/2009         22.280           12/03/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.990           14/05/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490           22.72         22.72			22.73
12/03/2009         22.140           9/04/2009         21.990           14/05/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.680           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490			
9/04/2009         21.990           14/05/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490	12/02/2009	22.280	
14/05/2009         21.820           10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490	12/03/2009	22.140	
10/06/2009         21.810           9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490	9/04/2009	21.990	
9/07/2009         22.100           14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490	14/05/2009	21.820	
14/08/2009         22.450           8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490		21.810	
8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490	10/06/2009	22.100	
8/09/2009         22.690           8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490	10/06/2009 9/07/2009		
8/10/2009         22.720           4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490           22.72	9/07/2009	22.450	
4/11/2009         22.580           3/12/2009         22.490         22.72	9/07/2009		
3/12/2009 22.490 22.72	9/07/2009 14/08/2009	22.690	
	9/07/2009 14/08/2009 8/09/2009 8/10/2009	22.690 22.720	
22.200	9/07/2009 14/08/2009 8/09/2009 8/10/2009 4/11/2009	22.690 22.720 22.580	22 72
	9/07/2009 14/08/2009 8/09/2009 8/10/2009 4/11/2009 3/12/2009	22.690 22.720 22.580 22.490	22.72

#### Calculation of AAMGL

Calculated AAMGL for 3157			22.61	mAHD
Measured Level (22/9/2009)			22.72	mAHD
Difference between calculated				
and measured			-0.10	mAHD
				-
22/09/2009		calculated AAMGL		
	(mAHD)	(mA	(HD)	
MC1	21.647	21.55		
MC2	23.131	23.03		
MC3	21.914	21.81		
MC4	23.804	23.70		
MC5	20.674	20	.57	
MC6	24.087	23	.99	
DoW 3157	22.715	22	.61	